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PART I
 

Item 1.  Business
 

General
 

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (Annual Report) contains forward-looking statements. These
forward-looking statements include predictions regarding our future:
 

 • revenues and profits;
 

 • gross margin;
 

 • customer concentration;
 

 • customer buying patterns;
 

 • research and development expenses;
 

 • sales and marketing expenses;
 

 • general and administrative expenses;
 

 • pricing and cost reduction activities;
 

 • income tax provision and effective tax rate;
 

 • realization of deferred tax assets;
 

 • cash flows from employee participation in employee stock programs;
 

 • liquidity and sufficiency of existing cash, cash equivalents, and investments for near-term
requirements;

 

 • purchase commitments;
 

 • product development and transitions;
 

 • competition and competing technology;
 

 • outcomes of pending or threatened litigation; and
 

 • financial condition and results of operations as a result of recent accounting pronouncements.
 

You can identify these and other forward-looking statements by the use of words such as “may,” “will,”
“should,” “expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “believes,” “estimates,” “predicts,” “intends,” “potential,”
“continue,” or the negative of such terms, or other comparable terminology. Forward-looking statements
also include the assumptions underlying or relating to any of the foregoing statements.
 

Our actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a
result of various factors, including those set forth below under the heading “Risk Factors.” All
forward-looking statements included in this document are based on information available to us on the date
hereof. We assume no obligation to update any forward-looking statements.
 

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (“Brocade” or the “Company”) designs, develops, markets, sells,
and supports data storage networking and application infrastructure management solutions, offering a line of
storage networking products, software and services that enable companies to implement highly available,
scalable, manageable, and secure environments for data storage applications. The Brocade SilkWorm family
of storage area networking (“SAN”) switches is designed to help companies reduce the cost and complexity
of managing business information within a data storage environment, ensure high availability of mission
critical applications and serve as a platform for corporate data backup and disaster recovery. The Brocade
Tapestry family of application infrastructure solutions addresses a range of additional IT challenges within the
data center, both within and around the SAN, through software and systems that complement and utilize a
shared storage environment. Brocade products are installed around the world at companies, institutions, and
other entities ranging from large enterprises to small and medium size businesses. Brocade products and
services are marketed, sold, and supported worldwide
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to end-user customers through distribution partners, including original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”),
value-added distributors, systems integrators, and value-added resellers.
 

We were incorporated in California on August 24, 1995 and re-incorporated in Delaware on May 14,
1999. Our mailing address and executive offices are located at 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, California
95110. Our telephone number is (408) 333-8000. Our corporate website is www.brocade.com. The
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K,
and amendments to reports filed pursuant to Sections 13(a) and 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, are available free of charge on our website when such reports are available on the U.S. Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) website. The public may read and copy any materials filed by the
Company with the SEC at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Washington, DC 20549.
The public may obtain information on the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at
1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maintains an Internet site that contains reports, proxy and information statements
and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov. The
contents of these websites are not incorporated into this filing. Further, the Company’s references to the URLs
for these websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.
 

Products and Services
 

We offer a line of storage networking products and services and a SAN management operating system
that enables companies to network application servers with storage devices through a SAN. Our products and
services are designed to help companies reduce the cost and complexity of managing business information
within a data storage environment while enabling high levels of availability of mission critical business
applications. In addition, our products assist companies in the development and delivery of disaster recovery
programs, and in meeting compliance issues regarding data management. Our products are generally used in
conjunction with application servers and storage subsystems, SAN interconnection components such as host
bus adapters, and storage management software applications and tools. By networking servers and storage,
companies can more easily share and consolidate server and storage resources; centralize and simplify data
management; scale and provision storage resources more effectively, and improve application efficiency,
performance and availability. As a result, companies are able to better utilize information technology (“IT”)
assets, improve productivity of IT personnel, reduce capital and operational expenditures, and more reliably
and securely store, manage, and administer business information.
 

We believe that as the need for data storage grows, companies will look to further simplify the
complexity of storing, managing, and administering their data, while looking to maximize their IT
investments and reduce capital expenditures. SANs, which have been installed at many of the world’s leading
companies since the mid-1990’s, provide a platform that helps companies optimize their IT assets and support
future data growth. We also believe companies will continue to expand the size and scope of their SANs and
the number and types of applications that their SANs support. Consequently, components of SAN
environments, which are also commonly referred to as SAN fabrics, will originate from different server,
storage, and application providers, and will become increasingly heterogeneous.
 

Since our inception, we have been a pioneer and innovator in developing the market for SAN-based
solutions, and have grown to be a market leader in storage networking infrastructure. We believe that the
future evolution of the storage networking market will be led by the providers of products and services that
simplify the management of heterogeneous storage environments and maximize end-users’ IT investments on
an ongoing basis. We also believe that storage networking infrastructure will evolve to provide increased
capabilities that enable new types of storage management applications that simplify storage management,
increase operational efficiencies, and reduce operating expense. As a result, many of our initiatives and
investments are aimed at expanding the capabilities enabled by SANs, increasing end-to-end interoperability,
protecting end-user investments in existing and new IT resources, and making it easier for our OEM and
application partners to deliver products that manage heterogeneous storage environments.
 

Storage Networking Switches
 

Our SilkWorm family of fabric switches, predominantly based on the Fibre Channel protocol, are devices
that provide bandwidth and high-speed routing of data. They range from low cost entry-level 8-port switches
to 256-port
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enterprise-class director switches and are available in different form-factors, including fixed-port services,
modular chassis, and embedded blades. Our SilkWorm Directors are highly reliable solutions for deploying
enterprise-class SANs in mission-critical environments. All SilkWorm products support key applications such
as data backup, remote mirroring, and high-availability clustering as well as high-volume transaction
processing applications such as ERP and data warehousing. These products have been designed to meet the
storage networking needs of end-users in environments ranging from small and medium-size businesses to
large enterprises with SAN fabrics that scale to thousands of ports, spread across multiple locations around
the world. Our SilkWorm family of switches share a set of advanced fabric services that enable key SAN
management functionality that we believe is valuable to customers and unique to Brocade.
 

SAN Management Operating System
 

Brocade Fabric Operating System (“Fabric OS”) is the operating system that provides the core
infrastructure for deploying SANs. As the foundation for our family of SilkWorm switches, Fabric OS helps
ensure the reliable and high-performance data transport that is critical for scalable SAN fabrics
interconnecting multiple servers and storage devices. Our SAN management operating system also includes a
common set of optional advanced fabric services that build upon the foundation of Fabric OS and help
improve performance, availability, scalability, and the overall functionality of the network. These fabric
services include the ability to proactively monitor the health and performance of the SAN, the ability to
aggregate bandwidth between fabric switches to deliver higher performance for storage applications, and the
ability to securely control data access in multi-vendor SAN environments. In addition, we offer management
tools that enable end-users to manage and administer their SANs. We believe that our Fabric OS provides us
with an advantage in the storage networking market, enabling differentiation and increasing optional
licensable features and services.
 

Intelligent Fabric Application Platforms
 

We believe that some of the next generation storage management applications will be fabric-based, rather
than server or storage array-based. In general, this means that elements of certain storage related applications
will reside in the network of Storage Area Network switches, commonly referred to as the “fabric”, rather
than in the server or storage array. We believe this will allow for increased centralization of storage
management functions and higher performance of storage related applications. We also believe that these
fabric-based applications, such as fabric-based routing services, storage volume management, data
replication, and data migration, will accelerate the migration of intelligence into the SAN fabric and minimize
operational cost and complexity for the end-user. The SilkWorm Fabric Application Platform (“SilkWorm
Fabric AP”) is an intelligent switching platform designed to host SAN fabric-based storage management
applications while integrating with existing Brocade SAN infrastructures. As a result, we believe this platform
can provide a highly scalable solution for managing server and storage environments much more efficiently.
Brocade is working closely with its OEM partners to create new fabric-based applications and migrate
existing storage management applications to the SilkWorm Fabric AP.
 

Tapestry Application Infrastructure Solutions
 

In fiscal year 2005, we began introducing certain Tapestry application infrastructure solutions. Brocade
Tapestry solutions are comprised of software and/or systems that are typically connected to a customer’s
shared storage environment to provide new capabilities for the customer that extends and complement the
SAN connectivity and management of our SilkWorm switches. Tapestry Wide Area File Services (“WAFS”)
allows organizations to better centrally manage file-based data by allowing fast and easy sharing of file-based
data from a central headquarters site to remote branch offices. This solution alleviates the need for branch
offices to maintain file-based data, perform data backups and other data management functions, and allows a
company to better meet data consistency and compliance issues by maintaining a single, secure version of a
file at the central site. Tapestry Application Resource Manager (“ARM”) provides the ability for customers to
rapidly and flexibly provision their application servers with server operating systems (such as Microsoft
Windows or Linux), applications, important software drivers, and application data that resides in a storage
network. We believe that this capability saves staff and operational time, provides for more flexible use of
servers, and allows companies to better manage and track their software usage. Tapestry Data Migration
Manager (“DMM”) is a system that provides a fast and predictable
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way to migrate data across heterogeneous storage devices that are connected to a SAN. Brocade plans to
continue to develop and deliver Tapestry solutions that utilize and extend the capabilities of shared storage to
meet evolving data center and IT challenges.
 

Brocade Services
 

Brocade also offers a range of professional services to facilitate customer projects, to assist customers in
the design, implementation, and operation of their SAN, and to provide extended customer support. These
services address a number of customer risk factors that must be managed during the life cycle of a SAN, and
are valued because they bring valuable experience and expertise to a customer challenge or solution. Brocade
services may be delivered directly to end-user customers, or via partners as a component of a broader service
and support offering.
 

Industry Initiatives
 

We work with industry-leading companies to facilitate the development of standards, technologies,
products, and services that focus on the simplification of heterogeneous storage management, and the
implementation and management of storage networking environments. We have an open approach to SAN
management and work with nearly every leading provider of storage and SAN management applications and
technologies.
 

Industry Standards Development
 

Since our inception, we have been a major contributor to the evolution of industry standards ranging from
Fibre Channel communication technology to SAN interoperability to storage and SAN management. We
contribute to related industry standards committees, and have authored or co-authored the majority of the
Fibre Channel protocol standards in existence today.
 

Storage Networking Environment Interoperability
 

As SANs have increased in size and comprise more and different types of server, storage, and
interconnection devices, the need for interoperability among those devices has similarly increased. We have
invested a significant amount of resources for purposes of providing interoperability among Brocade solutions
and the servers, storage, and storage management applications that run in the Brocade environment, as well as
in driving standards for interoperability among SAN interconnection devices. We also certify Brocade
solutions in operational storage environments through our own testing programs, our partners’ testing and
qualification initiatives, and through certification programs for third party products, such as the Brocade
Fabric Aware program, which we offer as a resource to our application and technology partners. Through our
testing initiatives, we also certify interoperability configurations of common customer environments, such as
remote data backup in a multi-vendor server and storage environment.
 

Application Interoperability
 

An important aspect of managing storage environments is the management software used to administer,
manage, and provision storage resources and data. Our products offer advanced fabric services that allow
third-party developers of storage software applications to gain additional functionality and simplify the
development of their applications.
 

Education and Technical Certification Services
 

Our education and training organization delivers high-quality, technical education and training on
Brocade technology that encompasses design, implementation, and management solutions to our partners and
their customers. Brocade curriculum is delivered worldwide using diverse methodologies, which include
instructor led classes and a robust online web based training portfolio as well as a “live” virtual classroom
capability. Brocade Education Services trains over 14,000 IT professionals annually in this way. The Brocade
SAN Certification Program offers certification on Brocade SANs for IT professionals who have completed
certain tests administered by an independent testing organization. This certification program is designed to
measure the knowledge and proficiency of IT professionals in SAN solutions and technologies, and to help
ensure that our customers receive
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superior customer service and support. Over 5,500 IT professionals are now certified on Brocade solutions.
Our education and training services are made available through our own education facilities and through our
worldwide training provider network.
 

Distribution Model
 

Our products are marketed, sold, and supported worldwide primarily through a wide range of distribution
partners, including OEM partners, value-added distributors, and reseller partners, including systems
integrators.
 

 • Our OEM partners are leading storage systems and subsystems providers who offer our products under
their own private label or as Brocade branded solutions. Sales of SilkWorm products through OEM
partners comprise the majority of our business.

 

 • Other distribution partners include Brocade-authorized value added distributors, systems integrators,
and value-added resellers. These partners are authorized by us to market, sell, and support our products
and services. Some of these partners also sell training and other value-added services.

 

We have OEM or distribution agreements with the majority of the companies that sell the world’s storage
systems and subsystems. In addition, we employ a worldwide overlay sales force to assist our distribution
partners in marketing Brocade SAN solutions, assessing SAN requirements and designing, implementing, and
maintaining Brocade-based SANs.
 

Customers
 

Our major OEM customers for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 included Dell Computer
Corporation, EMC Corporation (“EMC”), Fujitsu Siemens, Hitachi Data Systems, Inc., Hewlett-Packard
Company (“HP”), IBM Corporation (“IBM”), Network Appliance, Inc., Siemens AG, Sun Microsystems,
Inc., and Unisys Corporation. Our primary non-OEM customers for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005
included Bell Microproducts, GE Access Distribution, Tokyo Electron Limited, and XIOTech.
 

For the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, EMC, HP, and IBM each
represented greater than ten percent of our total revenues for combined totals of 71 percent, 70 percent, and
67 percent of our total revenues, respectively. The level of sales to any OEM customer may vary from quarter
to quarter, and we expect that significant customer concentration will continue for the foreseeable future. The
loss of, or a decrease in the level of sales to, or a change in the ordering pattern of, any one of these customers
could have a material adverse impact on our financial condition or results of operations. In addition, because
the majority of our sales are derived from a small number of OEM partners, when they experience
seasonality, we experience similar seasonality. However, because all of our OEM partners do not have the
same fiscal calendar, the amount of seasonality we experience is mitigated.
 

Geographic Information
 

Historically, domestic revenues have been between 60 percent and 75 percent of total revenues. For the
year ended October 29, 2005, domestic and international revenues were approximately 63 percent and
37 percent of our total revenues, respectively. For the year ended October 30, 2004, domestic and
international revenues were approximately 65 percent and 35 percent of our total revenues, respectively, and
for the year ended October 25, 2003, domestic and international revenues were approximately 67 percent and
33 percent of our total revenues, respectively. Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the
location of the customer to which our products are shipped. International revenues primarily consist of sales
to customers in Western Europe and the greater Asia Pacific region. For the years ended October 29, 2005
and October 30, 2004, international revenues increased primarily as a result of faster growth in the Asia
Pacific region. However, certain OEM customers take possession of our products domestically and then
distribute these products to their international customers. Because we account for all of those OEM revenues
as domestic revenues, we cannot be certain of the extent to which our domestic and international revenue mix
is impacted by the practices of our OEM customers.
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Acquisitions and Investments
 

Our acquisition and investment strategy is focused on facilitating the evolution and expansion of the SAN
market and enabling companies to further simplify storage management. We have made equity investments in
companies that develop technology or provide services that are complementary to or broaden the markets for
our products and further our business objectives. On January 27, 2003, we completed our acquisition of
Rhapsody Networks, Inc. (“Rhapsody”), a privately held technology company based in Fremont, California.
This acquisition resulted in the addition of the SilkWorm Fabric AP and SilkWorm Multiprotocol Router to
our product offerings.
 

On May 3, 2005, we completed our acquisition of Therion Software Corporation (“Therion”), a privately
held developer of software management solutions for the automated provisioning of servers over a storage
network based in Redmond, Washington. As of the acquisition date we owned approximately 13% of
Therion’s equity interest through investments totaling $1.0 million. Therion was a development stage
company with no recognized revenue and a core technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility.
Accordingly, the acquisition of Therion was accounted for as an asset purchase.
 

On May 3, 2005 we announced a strategic relationship to deliver Wide Area File Services (“WAFS”) to
enterprise customers on Microsoft’s Windows Server 2003 platform with Tacit Networks, Inc. (“Tacit”), a
leader in enterprise-wide remote office IT solutions. We have added Tacit’s WAFS solution to our Tapestry
product portfolio. Under agreements entered into in connection with our investment, we will market the
solution to our partners and customers worldwide, and will partner with Tacit in customer support and on
product development programs.
 

As of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, the carrying value of our investments in non-publicly
traded companies was $3.8 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
 

Research and Development
 

The industry in which we compete is subject to rapid technological developments, evolving industry
standards, changes in customer requirements, and new product introductions. As a result, our success
depends, in part, on our ability to continue to enhance our existing solutions and to develop and introduce
new solutions that improve performance and reduce the total cost of ownership in the storage environment.
We have invested significantly in product research and development. We continue to enhance and extend our
products, and increase the speed, performance, and port-density of our switching platform. We also continue
to expand the value-added services of our intelligent platform to enable more functionality for end customers,
OEM partners, and application partners and to further simplify storage management.
 

Our products are designed to support current industry standards and will continue to support emerging
standards that are consistent with our product strategy. Our products have been designed around a common
platform architecture, which facilitates the product design, development, and testing cycle, and reduces the
time to market for new products and features. We intend to continue to leverage this common architecture to
develop and introduce additional hardware and software products and enhancements in the future.
 

Our product development process includes the certification of our products by our OEM partners, which
is referred to as the product qualification process. During this process, we support our OEM partners in the
testing of our new products to insure they meet quality and functionality, and inoperability requirements. The
process is completed once the OEM partner has certified the product and announced general availability of
that product to their customers. This process generally is completed in a range of two to four months.
 

For the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, our research and
development expenses totaled $130.9 million, $142.0 million, and $145.9 million, respectively. All
expenditures for research and development costs have been expensed as incurred. In fiscal 2006, we expect to
increase our level of investment, in absolute dollars, in research and development.
 

Competition
 

The current and potential market for SAN solutions and technologies is competitive and subject to rapid
technological change. Major storage systems and server providers are continually introducing new
SAN-oriented
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solutions and products, and enhancing existing SAN-oriented solutions and products. We believe our primary
competition is from providers of SAN switching products for interconnecting servers and storage, including
Cisco Systems Inc. (“Cisco”), QLogic Corporation (“Qlogic”), and McDATA Corporation (“McDATA”).
 

As the SAN market evolves, additional technologies may become available for interconnecting servers
and storage. To the extent that these products provide the ability to network servers and storage and support
high-performance, block-data storage applications, they may compete with our current and future products.
Competitive products include, but are not limited to, non-Fibre Channel based emerging products based on
Gigabit Ethernet, 10 Gigabit Ethernet and InfiniBand. In addition, networking companies, manufacturers of
networking equipment, or other companies may develop competitive products. Our OEM partners or other
partners could also develop and introduce products that compete with our product offerings. We believe the
competitive factors in this market include product performance and features, product reliability, price, size
and extent of installed base, ability to meet delivery schedules, customer service, technical support, and
distribution channels.
 

Some of our competitors have longer operating histories and significantly greater human and financial
resources than us. These competitors may have the ability to devote a larger number of sales personnel to
focus on the SAN industry, compete with us and potentially change the current distribution model. Our
competitors could also adopt more aggressive pricing policies and devote greater resources to the
development, promotion, and sale of their products than us. As a result, they may be able to respond more
quickly to changes in customer or market requirements. We may not have the financial resources, technical
expertise or marketing, manufacturing, distribution, and support capabilities to compete successfully against
current or future competitors. This could materially harm our business.
 

Manufacturing
 

We use a third-party contract manufacturer, Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. (“Foxconn”), to
manufacture our products. Foxconn invoices us based on prices and payment terms mutually agreed upon and
set forth in purchase orders we issue to them. Although the purchase orders we place with our contract
manufacturers are cancelable, we could be required to purchase all unused material not cancelable, returnable
or usable by other customers.
 

We use Foxconn for final turnkey product assembly, but we also maintain key component selection and
qualification expertise internally. We design and develop the key components of our products, including
application-specific integrated circuits (“ASICs”) and operating system and other software, as well as certain
details in the fabrication and enclosure of our products. In addition, we determine the components that are
incorporated into our products and we select appropriate suppliers of those components.
 

Although we use standard parts and components for our products where possible, our contract
manufacturer, Foxconn, currently purchases, on our behalf, several key components used in the manufacture
of our products from single and limited supplier sources. Our principal single source components are ASICs.
Our principal limited source components include microprocessors, certain connectors, certain logic chips,
power supplies, and programmable logic devices. In addition, we license certain software from third parties
that is incorporated into our Fabric Operating System and other software. If we are unable to buy or license
these components on a timely basis, we may not be able to deliver our products to customers in a timely
manner. We use rolling forecasts based on anticipated product orders to determine component requirements.
If we overestimate component requirements, we may have excess inventory, which would increase our costs.
If we underestimate component requirements, we may have inadequate inventory, which could interrupt the
manufacturing process and result in lost or deferred revenue. In addition, lead times for components vary
significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms, and demand for a component
at a given time. We also may experience shortages of certain components from time to time, which also could
delay the manufacturing and sales processes.
 

We are also subject to various environmental and other regulations governing product safety, materials
usage, packaging and other environmental impacts in the various countries where our products are sold. For
example, many of our products are subject to laws and regulations that restrict the use of mercury, hexavalent
chromium, cadmium and other substances, and require producers of electrical and electronic equipment to
assume responsibility for collecting, treating, recycling and disposing of our products when they have reached
the end of their
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useful life. In Europe, substance restrictions will apply to products sold after July 1, 2006, and one or more of
our OEM partners may require compliance with these or more stringent requirements by an earlier date. In
addition, recycling, labeling, financing and related requirements have already begun to apply to products we
sell in Europe. Where necessary, we are redesigning our products to ensure that they comply with these
requirements as well as related requirements imposed by our OEM customers. We are also working with our
suppliers to provide us with compliant materials, parts and components. If our products do not comply with
the European substance restrictions, we could become subject to fines, civil or criminal sanctions, and
contract damage claims. In addition, we could be prohibited from shipping non-compliant products into the
European Union, and required to recall and replace any products already shipped, if such products were found
to be non-compliant, which would disrupt our ability to ship products and result in reduced revenue, increased
obsolete or excess inventories and harm to our business and customer relationships. Our suppliers may also
fail to provide us with compliant materials, parts and components, which could impact our ability to timely
produce compliant products and may disrupt our business. Various other countries and states in the United
States have issued, or are in the process of issuing, other environmental regulations that may impose
additional restrictions or obligations and require further changes to our products.
 

Patents, Intellectual Property, and Licensing
 

We rely on a combination of patents, copyrights, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality agreements,
and other contractual restrictions with employees and third parties to establish and protect our proprietary
rights. Despite these precautions, the measures we undertake may not prevent misappropriation or
infringement of our proprietary technology. These measures may not preclude competitors from
independently developing products with functionality or features similar to our products.
 

We maintain a program to identify and obtain patent protection for our inventions. As of December 31,
2005, we have been issued eleven patents in the United States that are currently in force and have over 100
patent applications pending in the United States. The normal expiration dates of our issued patents in the
United States range from 2012 to 2023. It is possible that we will not receive patents for every application we
file. Furthermore, our issued patents may not adequately protect our technology from infringement or prevent
others from claiming that our products infringe the patents of those third parties. Our failure to protect our
intellectual property could materially harm our business. In addition, our competitors may independently
develop similar or superior technology, duplicate our products, or design around our patents. It is possible that
litigation may be necessary in the future to enforce our intellectual property rights, to protect our trade secrets,
or to determine the validity and scope of the proprietary rights of others. Litigation could result in substantial
costs and diversion of resources and could materially harm our business.
 

Some of our products are designed to include software or other intellectual property licensed from third
parties. While it may be necessary in the future to seek or renew licenses relating to various aspects of our
products, we believe that such licenses generally could be obtained on commercially reasonable terms.
However, failure to obtain such licenses on commercially reasonable terms could materially harm our
business.
 

We have received, and may receive in the future, notice of claims of infringement of other parties’
proprietary rights. Infringement or other claims could be asserted or prosecuted against us in the future, and it
is possible that past or future assertions or prosecutions could harm our business. Any such claims, with or
without merit, could be time-consuming, result in costly litigation and diversion of technical and management
personnel, cause delays in the development and release of our products, or require us to develop
non-infringing technology or enter into royalty or licensing arrangements. Such royalty or licensing
arrangements, if required, may require us to license back our technology or may not be available on terms
acceptable to us, or at all. For these reasons, infringement claims could materially harm our business.
 

Backlog
 

Our business is characterized by short lead-time orders and fast delivery schedules. Sales of our products
are generally made pursuant to contracts and purchase orders that are cancelable without significant penalties.
These commitments are subject to price negotiations and to changes in quantities of products and delivery
schedules in order to reflect changes in customers’ requirements and manufacturing availability. In addition,
actual shipments
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depend on the manufacturing capacity of suppliers and the availability of products from such suppliers. As a
result of the foregoing factors, we do not believe that backlog at any given time is a meaningful indicator of
our ability to achieve any particular level of revenue or financial performance.
 

Employees
 

As of October 29, 2005, we had 1,160 employees. We have not experienced any work stoppages and
consider our relations with employees to be good. Employees are currently located in our United States
headquarters in San Jose, California; our European headquarters in Geneva, Switzerland; our Asia Pacific
headquarters in Singapore; and offices throughout North America, Europe, and Asia Pacific. Competition for
technical personnel in the computing industry continues to be significant. We believe that our success
depends in part on our ability to hire, assimilate, and retain qualified personnel. We cannot assure you that we
will continue to be successful at hiring, assimilating, and retaining employees in the future.
 

Certain Financial Information
 

Financial information relating to foreign and domestic sales and operations for the three years ended
October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, is set forth in Note 12, “Segment Information,” of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements attached hereto. Financial information relating to revenues,
income and total assets for the three years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003,
can be found in Item 6 “Selected Financial Data” and also in our Consolidated Financial Statements attached
hereto.
 

Brocade, the Brocade B weave logo, Fabric OS, Secure Fabric OS, and SilkWorm are registered
trademarks and Tapestry is a trademark of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., in the United States and
in other countries. All other brands, products, or service names are or may be trademarks or service marks of,
and are used to identify, products or services of their respective owners.
 

Item 1A.  Risk Factors
 

Our future revenue growth depends on our ability to introduce new products and services on a timely basis
and achieve market acceptance of these new products and services.
 

The market for SANs is characterized by rapidly changing technology and accelerating product
introduction cycles. Our future success depends upon our ability to address the rapidly changing needs of our
customers by developing and supplying high-quality, cost-effective products, product enhancements and
services on a timely basis, and by keeping pace with technological developments and emerging industry
standards. This risk will become more pronounced as the SAN market becomes more competitive and subject
to increased demand for new and improved technologies.
 

We have recently introduced a significant number of new products, primarily in our SilkWorm product
family, which accounts for a substantial portion of our revenues. For example, during fiscal year 2005 we
introduced the SilkWorm 48000 Director, the SilkWorm 200E entry level fabric switch, four new switch
modules for bladed server solutions, and a new release of Fabric Manager software. We also launched two
new software products, the Tapestry Application Resource Manager solution and the Tapestry Wide Area File
Services solution, as well as new service and support offerings. In addition, we recently announced our new
Tapestry Data Migration Manager solution. As of December 31, 2005, two of our three Tapestry offerings,
Tapestry Application Resource Manager and Tapestry Data Migration Manager were still in the evaluation
stage at various customers and only our Tapestry Wide Area File Services solution was generally available
and shipping for revenue. We have also begun investing in new service offerings. We must achieve
widespread market acceptance of our new products and service offerings in order to realize the benefits of our
investments. The rate of market adoption is also critical. The success of our product and service offerings
depend on numerous factors, including our ability:
 

 • to properly define the new products and services;
 

 • to timely develop and introduce the new products and services;
 

 • to differentiate our new products and services from our competitors’ offerings; and
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 • to address the complexities of interoperability of our products with our OEM partners’ server and storage products
and our competitors’ products.

 

Some factors impacting market acceptance are also outside of our control, including the availability and price of
competing products, technologies; product qualification requirements by our OEM partners, which can cause delays in the
market acceptance; and the ability of our OEM partners to successfully distribute, support and provide training for our
products. If we are not able to successfully develop and market new and enhanced products and services, our business and
results of operations will be harmed.
 

We are currently diversifying our product and service offerings to include software applications and support services,
and our operating results will suffer if these initiatives are not successful.
 

Starting in the second half of fiscal year 2004, we began making a series of investments in the development and
acquisition of new technologies and services, including new switch modules for bladed server solutions, new hardware
and software solutions for information technology infrastructure management and new service and support offerings.
Some of these offerings are focused on new markets that are adjacent or parallel to our traditional market. Our strategy is
to derive competitive advantage and drive incremental revenue growth through such investments. However, we cannot be
certain that our new strategic offerings will achieve market acceptance, or that we will benefit fully from the substantial
investments we have made and plan to continue to make in them. In addition, these investments have caused, and will
likely continue to result in, higher operating expenses and if they are not successful, our operating income and operating
margin will deteriorate.
 

For instance, we have hired a number of additional employees, and plan to continue to add additional personnel and
resources, to further develop and market software applications, including three recently introduced solutions, a Tapestry
Application Resource Manager solution, a Tapestry Data Migration Manager solution and a Tapestry Wide Area File
Services solution, and our service offerings. In addition, our acquisition of Therion Software Corporation and our
investment in a strategic partnership contributed to the software applications associated with these solutions. In addition,
because some of these offerings may be different from the areas that we have historically focused on, we may face a
number of additional challenges, such as:
 

 • successfully identifying market opportunities;
 

 • developing new customer relationships;
 

 • expanding our relationship with our existing OEM partners and end-users;
 

 • managing different sales cycles;
 

 • hiring qualified personnel on a timely basis;
 

 • establishing effective distribution channels and alternative routes to market; and
 

 • estimating the level of customer acceptance and rate of market adoption.
 

These new product and service offerings also may contain some features that are currently offered by our OEM
partners, which could cause conflicts with partners on whom we rely to bring our current products to customers and thus
negatively impact our relationship with such partners. In addition, if we are unable to successfully integrate new offerings
that we develop, license or otherwise acquire into our existing base of products and services, our business and results of
operations may be harmed.
 

We are also investing in an expanded service initiative, which may be costly and may not gain market acceptance. For
instance, we recently announced the availability of new professional services designed to assist customers in designing,
installing, operating and supporting shared storage infrastructures. Traditionally, we have relied on our OEM partners and
third parties to provide such support for end-users of our products and services, and we cannot be sure that this change in
our business model will result in anticipated revenues. For instance, staffing support centers involves cost and revenue
structures that are different from those used in selling hardware and licensing software. We also intend to significantly
increase headcount to provide these services and staff support centers. Revenue will be dependent on our ability to utilize
service providers, and if we do not effectively manage
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costs relative to revenue, our services initiative will not be successful. In addition, bringing the service initiative to market
may be competitive with our OEM partners and other distribution channel partners.
 

Increased market competition may lead to reduced sales, margins, profits and market share.
 

The SAN market is becoming increasingly more competitive as new products, services and technologies are
introduced by existing competitors and as new competitors enter the market. Increased competition in the past has resulted
in greater pricing pressure, and reduced sales, margins, profits and market share. Moreover, new competitive products
could be based on existing technologies or new technologies that may or may not be compatible with our SAN technology.
Competitive products include, but are not limited to, non-Fibre Channel based emerging products utilizing Gigabit
Ethernet, 10 Gigabit Ethernet, InfiniBand, and iSCSI (Internet Small Computer System Interface).
 

Currently, we believe that we principally face competition from providers of Fibre Channel switching products for
interconnecting servers and storage. These competitors include Cisco Systems, McDATA Corporation (which completed
its acquisition of Computer Network Technology Corporation (“CNT”) on June 1, 2005) and QLogic Corporation. In
addition, our OEM partners, who also have relationships with some of our current competitors, could become new
competitors by developing and introducing products competitive with our product offerings, choosing to sell our
competitors’ products instead of our products, or offering preferred pricing or promotions on our competitors’ products.
Competitive pressure will likely intensify as our industry experiences further consolidation in connection with acquisitions
by us, our competitors and our OEM partners.
 

Some of our competitors have longer operating histories and significantly greater human, financial and capital
resources than us. Our competitors could adopt more aggressive pricing policies than us. We believe that competition
based on price may become more aggressive than we have traditionally experienced. Our competitors could also devote
greater resources to the development, promotion, and sale of their products than we may be able to support and, as a result,
be able to respond more quickly to changes in customer or market requirements. Our failure to successfully compete in the
market would harm our business and financial results.
 

Our competitors may also pressure our distribution model of selling products to customers through OEM solution
providers by focusing a large number of sales personnel on end-user customers or by entering into strategic partnerships.
For example, one of our competitors has formed a strategic partnership with a provider of network storage systems, which
includes an agreement whereby our competitor resells the storage systems of its partner in exchange for sales by the
partner of our competitor’s products. Such strategic partnerships, if successful, may influence us to change our traditional
distribution model.
 

If our assumptions regarding our revenues and margins do not materialize, our future profitability could be adversely
affected.
 

We incurred a net loss of $7.2 million in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005 and were not profitable for the full fiscal
years 2004 or 2003, and we may not be profitable in the future. We make our investment decisions and plan our operating
expenses based in part on future revenue projections. However, our ability to accurately forecast quarterly and annual
revenues is limited, as discussed below in “Our quarterly and annual revenues and operating results may fluctuate in future
periods due to a number of factors, which could adversely affect the trading price of our stock.” In addition, we are
diversifying our product and service offerings and expanding into other markets that we have not historically focused on,
including new and emerging markets. As a result, we face greater challenges accurately predicting our revenue and
margins with respect to these other markets. Developing new offerings will also require significant, upfront, incremental
investments that may not result in revenue for an extended period of time, if at all. Particularly as we seek to diversify our
product and service offerings, we expect to incur significant costs and expenses for product development, sales, marketing
and customer services, most of which are fixed in the short-term or incurred in advance of receipt of corresponding
revenue. As a result, in the short-term, we may not be able to decrease our spending to offset any unexpected shortfall in
revenues. If our projected revenues and margins do not materialize, our future profitability could be adversely affected.
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The prices of our products have declined in the past, and we expect the price of our products to continue to
decline, which could reduce our revenues, gross margins and profitability.
 

The average selling price per port for our products has declined in the past, and we expect it to continue
to decline in the future as a result of changes in product mix, competitive pricing pressure, increased sales
discounts, new product introductions by us or our competitors, the entrance of new competitors or other
factors. For example, since the second half of fiscal year 2004, we have introduced and began shipping a
number of new products that expand and extend the breadth of our product offerings. Several of these new
products have lower per unit revenues, gross margin, and profitability characteristics than our traditional
products. If we are unable to offset any negative impact that changes in product mix, competitive pricing
pressures, increased sales discounts, enhanced marketing programs, new product introductions by us or our
competitors, or other factors may have on us by increasing the number of ports shipped or reducing product
manufacturing cost, our total revenues and gross margins will decline.
 

In addition, to maintain our gross margins we must maintain or increase the number of ports shipped,
develop and introduce new products and product enhancements, and continue to reduce the manufacturing
cost of our products. While we have successfully reduced the cost of manufacturing our products in the past,
we may not be able to continue to reduce cost of production at historical rates. Moreover, most of our
expenses are fixed in the short-term or incurred in advance of receipt of corresponding revenue. As a result,
we may not be able to decrease our spending to offset any unexpected shortfall in revenues. If this occurs, we
could incur losses, our operating results and gross margins could be below our expectations and the
expectations of investors and stock market analysts, and our stock price could be negatively affected.
 

Our failure to successfully manage the transition between our new products and our older products may
adversely affect our financial results.
 

As we introduce new or enhanced products, we must successfully manage the transition from older
products to minimize disruption in customers’ ordering patterns, avoid excessive levels of older product
inventories and provide sufficient supplies of new products to meet customer demands. When we introduce
new or enhanced products, we face numerous risks relating to product transitions, including the inability to
accurately forecast demand, and manage different sales and support requirements due to the type or
complexity of the new products.
 

For example, we recently introduced 4 Gigabit per second (“Gbit”) technology solutions that replace
many of our 2 Gbit products. During the third quarter of fiscal year 2005, our net revenue was $122.3 million,
down 16 percent from $144.8 million reported in the second quarter of fiscal year 2005 and 19 percent from
$150.0 million reported in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004. We believe that the transition from 2 Gbit
products to 4 Gbit products was a significant factor contributing to the drop in our revenue in the third quarter
of fiscal year 2005. We also recorded a $3.4 million and $1.8 million write-down during the third and fourth
quarters of fiscal year 2005, respectively, for excess and obsolete inventory due largely to the faster than
expected product transition.
 

We depend on OEM partners for a majority of our revenues, and the loss of any of these OEM partners or
a decrease in their purchases could significantly reduce our revenues and negatively affect our financial
results.
 

We depend on recurring purchases from a limited number of large OEM partners for the majority of our
revenue. As a result, these large OEM partners have a significant influence on our quarterly and annual
financial results. Our agreements with our OEM partners are typically cancelable, non-exclusive, have no
minimum purchase requirements and have no specific timing requirements for purchases. For the year ended
October 29, 2005, three customers each represented ten percent or more of our total revenues for a combined
total of 71 percent. We anticipate that our revenues and operating results will continue to depend on sales to a
relatively small number of customers. The loss of any one significant customer, or a decrease in the level of
sales to any one significant customer, or unsuccessful quarterly negotiation on key terms, conditions or timing
of purchase orders placed during a quarter, could seriously harm our business and financial results.
 

In addition, some of our OEM partners purchase our products for their inventories in anticipation of
customer demand. These OEM partners make decisions to purchase inventory based on a variety of factors,
including their product qualification cycles and their expectations of end customer demand, which may be
affected by seasonality
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and their internal supply management objectives. Others require that we maintain inventories of our products
in hubs adjacent to their manufacturing facilities and purchase our products only as necessary to fulfill
immediate customer demand. If more of our OEM partners transition to a hub model, form partnerships,
alliances or agreements with other companies that divert business away from us; or otherwise change their
business practices, their ordering patterns may become less predictable. Consequently, changes in ordering
patterns may affect both the timing and volatility of our reported revenues. The timing of sales to our OEM
partners, and consequently the timing and volatility of our reported revenues, may be further affected by the
product introduction schedules of our OEM partners. We also may be exposed to higher risks of obsolete or
excess inventories. For example, during the third and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2005, we recorded
write-downs for excess and obsolete inventory of $3.4 million and $1.8 million, respectively, due to the faster
than expected transition from our 2 Gbit products to our 4 Gbit products.
 

Our OEM partners evaluate and qualify our products for a limited time period before they begin to
market and sell them. Assisting these distribution partners through the evaluation process requires significant
sales, marketing and engineering management efforts on our part, particularly if our products are being
qualified with multiple distribution partners at the same time. In addition, once our products have been
qualified, our customer agreements have no minimum purchase commitments. We may not be able to
effectively maintain or expand our distribution channels, manage distribution relationships successfully, or
market our products through distribution partners. We must continually assess, anticipate and respond to the
needs of our distribution partners and their customers, and ensure that our products integrate with their
solutions. Our failure to successfully manage our distribution relationships or the failure of our distribution
partners to sell our products could reduce our revenues significantly. In addition, our ability to respond to the
needs of our distribution partners in the future may depend on third parties producing complementary
products and applications for our products. If we fail to respond successfully to the needs of these groups, our
business and financial results could be harmed.
 

Our quarterly and annual revenues and operating results may fluctuate in future periods due to a number
of factors, which could adversely affect the trading price of our stock.
 

Our quarterly and annual revenues and operating results may vary significantly in the future due to a
number of factors, any of which may cause our stock price to fluctuate. Factors that may affect the
predictability of our annual and quarterly results include, but are not limited to, the following:
 

 • announcements, introductions, and transitions of new products by us and our competitors or our OEM
partners;

 

 • the timing of customer orders, product qualifications, and product introductions of our OEM partners;
 

 • seasonal fluctuations;
 

 • changes, disruptions or downturns in general economic conditions, particularly in the information
technology industry;

 

 • declines in average selling price per port for our products as a result of competitive pricing pressures or
new product introductions by us or our competitors;

 

 • the emergence of new competitors in the SAN market;
 

 • deferrals of customer orders in anticipation of new products, services, or product enhancements
introduced by us or our competitors;

 

 • our ability to timely produce products that comply with new environmental restrictions or related
requirements of our OEM customers;

 

 • our ability to obtain sufficient supplies of sole- or limited-sourced components, including
application-specific integrated circuits (or ASICs), microprocessors, certain connectors, certain logic
chips, and programmable logic devices;

 

 • increases in prices of components used in the manufacture of our products;
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 • our ability to attain and maintain production volumes and quality levels;
 

 • variations in the mix of our products sold and the mix of distribution channels through which they are
sold;

 

 • pending or threatened litigation;
 

 • stock-based compensation expense that is affected by our stock price;
 

 • new legislation and regulatory developments; and
 

 • other risk factors detailed in this section entitled “Risk Factors.”
 

Accordingly, the results of any prior periods should not be relied upon as an indication of future
performance. We cannot assure you that in some future quarter our revenues or operating results will not be
below our projections or the expectations of stock market analysts or investors, which could cause our stock
price to decline.
 

If we lose key personnel or are unable to hire additional qualified personnel, our business may be harmed.
 

Our success depends to a significant degree upon the continued contributions of key management,
engineering, sales and other personnel, many of whom would be difficult to replace. We believe our future
success will also depend, in large part, upon our ability to attract and retain highly skilled managerial,
engineering, sales and other personnel, and on the ability of management to operate effectively, both
individually and as a group, in geographically disparate locations. We have experienced difficulty in hiring
qualified personnel in areas such as application specific integrated circuits, software, system and test, sales,
marketing, service, key management and customer support. In addition, our past reductions in force could
potentially make attracting and retaining qualified employees more difficult in the future. Our ability to hire
qualified personnel may also be negatively impacted by our recent internal reviews and financial statement
restatements, related investigations by the SEC and Department of Justice (“DOJ”), and current level of our
stock price. The loss of the services of any of our key employees, the inability to attract or retain qualified
personnel in the future, or delays in hiring required personnel, particularly engineers and sales personnel,
could delay the development and introduction of, and negatively affect our ability to sell our products.
 

In addition, companies in the computer storage and server industry whose employees accept positions
with competitors may claim that their competitors have engaged in unfair hiring practices or that there will be
inappropriate disclosure of confidential or proprietary information. We may be subject to such claims in the
future as we seek to hire additional qualified personnel. Such claims could result in material litigation. As a
result, we could incur substantial costs in defending against these claims, regardless of their merits, and be
subject to additional restrictions if any such litigation is resolved against us.
 

The loss of our third-party contract manufacturer would adversely affect our ability to manufacture and
sell our products.
 

The loss of our third-party contract manufacturer could significantly impact our ability to produce our
products for an indefinite period of time. Qualifying a new contract manufacturer and commencing volume
production is a lengthy and expensive process. If we are required to change our contract manufacturer, if we
fail to effectively manage our contract manufacturer, or if our contract manufacturer experiences delays,
disruptions, capacity constraints, component parts shortages or quality control problems in its manufacturing
operations, shipment of our products to our customers could be delayed resulting in loss of revenues and our
competitive position and relationship with customers could be harmed.
 

The failure to accurately forecast demand for our products or the failure to successfully manage the
production of our products could negatively affect the supply of key components for our products and our
ability to manufacture and sell our products.
 

We provide product forecasts to our contract manufacturer and place purchase orders with it in advance
of the scheduled delivery of products to our customers. Moreover, in preparing sales and demand forecasts,
we rely largely on input from our distribution partners. Therefore, if we or our distribution partners are unable
to accurately forecast demand, or if we fail to effectively communicate with our distribution partners about
end-user demand or other
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time-sensitive information, sales and demand forecasts may not reflect the most accurate, up-to-date
information. If these forecasts are inaccurate, we may be unable to obtain adequate manufacturing capacity
from our contract manufacturer to meet customers’ delivery requirements, or we may accumulate excess
inventories. Furthermore, we may not be able to identify forecast discrepancies until late in our fiscal quarter.
Consequently, we may not be able to make adjustments to our business model. If we are unable to obtain
adequate manufacturing capacity from our contract manufacturer, if we accumulate excess inventories, or if
we are unable to make necessary adjustments to our business model, revenue may be delayed or even lost to
our competitors, and our business and financial results may be harmed. In addition, although the purchase
orders placed with our contract manufacturer are cancelable, in certain circumstances we could be required to
purchase certain unused material not returnable, usable by, or sold to other customers if we cancel any of our
orders. This purchase commitment exposure is particularly high in periods of new product introductions and
product transitions. If we are required to purchase unused material from our contract manufacturer, we would
incur unanticipated expenses and our business and financial results could be negatively affected.
 

Our business is subject to cyclical fluctuations and uneven sales patterns.
 

Many of our OEM partners experience uneven sales patterns in their businesses due to the cyclical nature
of information technology spending. For example, some of our partners close a disproportionate percentage of
their sales transactions in the last month, weeks and days of each fiscal quarter, and other partners experience
spikes in sales during the fourth calendar quarter of each year. Because the majority of our sales are derived
from a small number of OEM partners, when they experience seasonality, we experience similar seasonality.
For instance, we were exposed to significant seasonality in the second fiscal quarter of fiscal year 2005 in part
due to weaker spending in the enterprise product line during the first calendar quarter of 2005. In addition, we
have experienced quarters where uneven sales patterns of our OEM partners have resulted in a significant
portion of our revenue occurring in the last month of our fiscal quarter. This exposes us to additional
inventory risk as we have to order products in anticipation of expected future orders and additional sales risk
if we are unable to fulfill unanticipated demand. We are not able to predict the degree to which the seasonality
and uneven sales patterns of our OEM partners or other customers will affect our business in the future
particularly as we release new products.
 

We are dependent on sole source and limited source suppliers for certain key components.
 

We purchase certain key components used in the manufacture of our products from single or limited
sources. We purchase ASICs from a single source, and we purchase microprocessors, certain connectors,
logic chips, power supplies and programmable logic devices from limited sources. We also license certain
third-party software that is incorporated into our operating system software and other software products. If we
are unable to timely obtain these and other components or experience significant component defects, we may
not be able to deliver our products to our customers in a timely manner. As a result, our business and financial
results could be harmed.
 

We use rolling forecasts based on anticipated product orders to determine component requirements. If we
overestimate component requirements, we may have excess inventory, which would increase our costs. If we
underestimate component requirements, we may have inadequate inventory, which could interrupt the
manufacturing process and result in lost or delayed revenue. In addition, lead times for components vary
significantly and depend on factors such as the specific supplier, contract terms, and demand for a component
at a given time. We also may experience shortages of certain components from time to time, which also could
delay the manufacturing and sales processes. If we overestimate or underestimate our component
requirements, or if we experience shortages, our business and financial results could be harmed.
 

We have been named as a party to several class action and derivative action lawsuits arising from our
recent internal reviews and related restatements of our financial statements, and we may be named in
additional litigation, all of which could require significant management time and attention and result in
significant legal expenses and may result in an unfavorable outcome which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
 

We are subject to a number of lawsuits arising from our recent internal reviews and the related
restatements of our financial statements that have been filed, some purportedly on behalf of a class of our
stockholders, against us
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and certain of our executive officers claiming violations of securities laws and others purportedly on behalf of Brocade
against certain of our executive officers and board members, and we may become the subject of additional private or
government actions. The expense of defending such litigation may be significant. The amount of time to resolve these
lawsuits is unpredictable and defending ourselves may divert management’s attention from the day-to-day operations of
our business, which could adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows. In addition, an unfavorable
outcome in such litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.
 

As a result of our recent internal reviews and related restatements, we are subject to investigation by the SEC and DOJ,
which may not be resolved favorably and has required, and may continue to require, a significant amount of
management time and attention and accounting and legal resources, which could adversely affect our business, results
of operations and cash flows.
 

The SEC and the DOJ are currently conducting an investigation of the Company. We have been responding to, and
continue to respond to, inquiries from the SEC and DOJ. The period of time necessary to resolve the SEC and DOJ
investigation is uncertain, and these matters could require significant management and financial resources which could
otherwise be devoted to the operation of our business. If we are subject to an adverse finding resulting from the SEC and
DOJ investigation, we could be required to pay damages or penalties or have other remedies imposed upon us. The recent
restatements of our financial results, the ongoing SEC and DOJ investigations and any negative outcome that may occur
from these investigations could impact our relationships with customers and our ability to generate revenue. In addition,
considerable legal and accounting expenses related to these matters have been incurred to date and significant
expenditures may continue to be incurred in the future. The SEC and DOJ investigation could adversely affect our
business, results of operations, financial position and cash flows.
 

We may engage in future acquisitions and strategic investments that dilute the ownership percentage of our
stockholders and require the use of cash, incur debt or assume contingent liabilities.
 

As part of our business strategy, we expect to continue to review opportunities to buy or invest in other businesses or
technologies that we believe would complement our current products, expand the breadth of our markets or enhance our
technical capabilities, or that may otherwise offer growth opportunities. If we buy or invest in other businesses, products
or technologies in the future, we could:
 

 • incur significant unplanned expenses and personnel costs;
 

 • issue stock, or assume stock option plans that would dilute our current stockholders’ percentage ownership;
 

 • use cash, which may result in a reduction of our liquidity;
 

 • incur debt;
 

 • assume liabilities; and
 

 • spend resources on unconsummated transactions.
 

In addition, we are not currently eligible to file short-form registration statements on Form S-3. Although registration
statement on other forms are available, it could increase the cost of future acquisitions involving the issuance of stock until
such time that we regain eligibility on Form S-3.
 

We may not realize the anticipated benefits of past or future acquisitions and strategic investments, and integration of
acquisitions may disrupt our business and management.
 

We have in the past and may in the future acquire or make strategic investments in additional companies, products or
technologies. Most recently, we completed the acquisition of Therion Software Corporation and a strategic investment in
Tacit Networks in May 2005. We may not realize the anticipated benefits of these or any other acquisitions or strategic
investments, which involve numerous risks, including:
 

 • problems integrating the purchased operations, technologies, personnel or products over geographically disparate
locations, including San Jose, California; Redmond, Washington; and India;
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 • unanticipated costs, litigation and other contingent liabilities;
 

 • diversion of management’s attention from our core business;
 

 • adverse effects on existing business relationships with suppliers and customers;
 

 • risks associated with entering into markets in which we have no, or limited, prior experience;
 

 • incurrence of significant exit charges if products acquired in business combinations are unsuccessful;
 

 • incurrence of acquisition-related costs or amortization costs for acquired intangible assets that could
impact our operating results;

 

 • inability to retain key customers, distributors, vendors and other business partners of the acquired
business; and

 

 • potential loss of our key employees or the key employees of an acquired organization.
 

If we are not be able to successfully integrate businesses, products, technologies or personnel that we
acquire, or to realize expected benefits of our acquisitions or strategic investments, our business and financial
results may be adversely affected.
 

Our revenues will be affected by changes in domestic and international information technology spending
and overall demand for storage area network solutions.
 

In the past, unfavorable or uncertain economic conditions and reduced global information technology
spending rates have adversely affected our operating results. We are unable to predict changes in general
economic conditions and when information technology spending rates will be affected. If there are future
reductions in either domestic or international information technology spending rates, or if information
technology spending rates do not improve, our revenues, operating results and financial condition may be
adversely affected.
 

Even if information technology spending rates increase, we cannot be certain that the market for SAN
solutions will be positively impacted. Our storage networking products are sold as part of storage systems and
subsystems. As a result, the demand for our storage networking products has historically been affected by
changes in storage requirements associated with growth related to new applications and an increase in
transaction levels. Although in the past we have experienced historical growth in our business as
enterprise-class customers have adopted SAN technology, demand for SAN products in the enterprise-class
sector continues to be adversely affected by weak or uncertain economic conditions, and because larger
businesses are focusing on using their existing information technology infrastructure more efficiently rather
than making new equipment purchases. If information technology spending levels are restricted, and new
products improve our customers’ ability to utilize their existing storage infrastructure, the demand for SAN
products may decline. If this occurs, our business and financial results will be harmed.
 

Our business is subject to increasingly complex corporate governance, public disclosure, accounting, and
tax requirements that has increased both our costs and the risk of noncompliance.
 

We are subject to rules and regulations of federal and state government as well as the stock exchange on
which our common stock is listed. These entities, including the Public Company Accounting Oversight
Board, the SEC, the Internal Revenue Service and NASDAQ, have issued a significant number of new and
increasingly complex requirements and regulations over the course of the last several years and continue to
develop additional regulations and requirements in response to laws enacted by Congress, most notably the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Our efforts to comply with these requirements have resulted in, and are likely to
continue to result in, increased expenses and a diversion of management time and attention from
revenue-generating activities to compliance activities.
 

We are subject to periodic audits or other reviews by such governmental agencies. For example, in
November 2005, we were notified by the Internal Revenue Service that our domestic federal income tax
return for the year ended October 25, 2003 was subject to audit. The SEC also periodically reviews our public
company filings. Any such examination or review frequently requires management’s time and diversion of
internal resources and, in the
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event of an unfavorable outcome, may result in additional liabilities or adjustments to our historical financial
results.
 

Recent changes in accounting rules, including the expensing of stock options granted to our employees,
could have a material impact on our reported business and financial results.
 

The U.S. generally accepted accounting principles are subject to interpretation by the Financial
Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the PCAOB,
the SEC, and various bodies formed to promulgate and interpret appropriate accounting principles. A change
in these principles or interpretations could have a significant effect on our reported financial results.
 

We currently record any compensation expense associated with stock option grants to employees using
the intrinsic value method in accordance with Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25. On December 15,
2004, the FASB issued SFAS 123R, Share-Based Payment, which will require us to measure compensation
expense for employee stock options using the fair value method beginning the first quarter of fiscal year 2006,
which is the quarter ended January 28, 2006. SFAS 123R applies to all outstanding stock options that are not
vested at the effective date and grants of new stock options made subsequent to the effective date. As a result
of SFAS 123R, we will record higher levels of stock based compensation due to differences between the
valuation methods of SFAS 123R and APB 25.
 

Our future operating expenses may be adversely affected by changes in our stock price.
 

A portion of our outstanding stock options are subject to variable accounting. Under variable accounting,
we are required to remeasure the value of the options, and the corresponding compensation expense, at the
end of each reporting period until the option is exercised, cancelled or expires unexercised. As a result, the
stock-based compensation expense we recognize in any given period can vary substantially due to changes in
the market value of our common stock. Volatility associated with stock price movements has resulted in
compensation benefits when our stock price has declined and compensation expense when our stock price has
increased. For example, the market value of our common stock at the end of the first, second, third and fourth
quarters of fiscal year 2005 were $5.99, $4.35, $4.48 and $3.60 per share, respectively. Accordingly, we
recorded compensation benefit in the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005 of approximately $0.2 million. We are
unable to predict the future market value of our common stock and therefore are unable to predict the
compensation expense or benefit that we will record in future periods.
 

International political instability and concerns about other international crises may increase our cost of
doing business and disrupt our business.
 

International political instability may halt or hinder our ability to do business and may increase our costs.
Various events, including the occurrence or threat of terrorist attacks, increased national security measures in
the United States and other countries, and military action and armed conflicts, can suddenly increase
international tensions. Increases in energy prices will also impact our costs and could harm our operating
results. In addition, concerns about other international crises, such as the spread of severe acute respiratory
syndrome (“SARS”), avian influenza, or bird flu, and West Nile viruses, may have an adverse effect on the
world economy and could adversely affect our business operations or the operations of our OEM partners,
contract manufacturer and suppliers. This political instability and concerns about other international crises
may, for example:
 

 • negatively affect the reliability and cost of transportation;
 

 • negatively affect the desire and ability of our employees and customers to travel;
 

 • disrupt the production capabilities of our OEM partners, contract manufacturers and suppliers;
 

 • adversely affect our ability to obtain adequate insurance at reasonable rates; and
 

 • require us to take extra security precautions for our operations.
 

Furthermore, to the extent that air or sea transportation is delayed or disrupted, the operations of our
contract manufacturers and suppliers may be disrupted, particularly if shipments of components and raw
materials are delayed.
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We have extensive international operations, which subjects us to additional business risks.
 

A significant portion of our sales occur in international jurisdictions and our contract manufacturer has
significant operations in China. We also plan to continue to expand our international operations and sales
activities. Expansion of international operations will involve inherent risks that we may not be able to control,
including:
 

 • supporting multiple languages;
 

 • recruiting sales and technical support personnel with the skills to design, manufacture, sell, and support
our products;

 

 • increased complexity and costs of managing international operations;
 

 • increased exposure to foreign currency exchange rate fluctuations;
 

 • commercial laws and business practices that favor local competition;
 

 • multiple, potentially conflicting, and changing governmental laws, regulations and practices, including
differing export, import, tax, labor, anti-bribery and employment laws;

 

 • longer sales cycles and manufacturing lead times;
 

 • difficulties in collecting accounts receivable;
 

 • reduced or limited protection of intellectual property rights;
 

 • managing a development team in geographically disparate locations, including China and India;
 

 • more complicated logistics and distribution arrangements; and
 

 • political and economic instability.
 

To date, no material amount of our international revenues and costs of revenues have been denominated
in foreign currencies. As a result, an increase in the value of the United States dollar relative to foreign
currencies could make our products more expensive and, thus, not competitively priced in foreign markets.
Additionally, a decrease in the value of the United States dollar relative to foreign currencies could increase
our operating costs in foreign locations. In the future, a larger portion of our international revenues may be
denominated in foreign currencies, which will subject us to additional risks associated with fluctuations in
those foreign currencies. We currently do not have hedging program in place to offset our foreign currency
risk.
 

Undetected software or hardware errors could increase our costs, reduce our revenues and delay market
acceptance of our products.
 

Networking products frequently contain undetected software or hardware errors, or “bugs,” when first
introduced or as new versions are released. Our products are becoming increasingly complex and, particularly
as we continue to expand our product portfolio to include software-centric products, including software
licensed from third parties, errors may be found from time to time in our products. Some types of errors also
may not be detected until the product is installed in a heavy production or user environment. In addition, our
products are often combined with other products, including software, from other vendors. As a result, when
problems occur, it may be difficult to identify the source of the problem. These problems may cause us to
incur significant warranty and repair costs, divert the attention of engineering personnel from product
development efforts and cause significant customer relations problems. Moreover, the occurrence of hardware
and software errors, whether caused by another vendor’s SAN products or ours, could delay market
acceptance of our new products.
 

We rely on licenses from third parties and the loss or inability to obtain any such license could harm our
business.
 

Many of our products are designed to include software or other intellectual property licensed from third
parties. While it may be necessary in the future to seek or renew licenses relating to various aspects of our
products, we believe, based upon past experience and standard industry practice, that such licenses generally
could be obtained on commercially reasonable terms. Nonetheless, there can be no assurance that the
necessary licenses
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would be available on acceptable terms, if at all. Our inability to obtain certain licenses or other rights on
favorable terms could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial
condition.
 

If we fail to carefully manage the use of “open source” software in our products, we may be required to
license key portions of our products on a royalty free basis or expose key parts of source code.
 

Certain of our products or technologies acquired, licensed or developed by us may incorporate so-called
“open source” software. Open source software is typically licensed for use at no initial charge, but certain
open source software licenses impose on the licensee of the applicable open source software certain
requirements to license or make available to others both the open source software as well as the software that
relates to, or interacts with, the open source software. Our ability to commercialize products or technologies
incorporating open source software or otherwise fully realize the anticipated benefits of any such acquisition
may be restricted as a result of using such open source software.
 

We may be unable to protect our intellectual property, which could negatively affect our ability to compete.
 

We rely on a combination of patent, copyright, trademark, and trade secret laws, confidentiality
agreements, and other contractual restrictions on disclosure to protect our intellectual property rights. We also
enter into confidentiality or license agreements with our employees, consultants, and corporate partners, and
control access to and distribution of our technology, software, documentation, and other confidential
information. These measures may not preclude the disclosure of our confidential or propriety information, or
prevent competitors from independently developing products with functionality or features similar to our
products. Despite efforts to protect our proprietary rights, unauthorized parties may attempt to copy or
otherwise obtain and use our products or technology. Monitoring unauthorized use of our products is difficult,
and we cannot be certain that the steps we take to prevent unauthorized use of our technology, particularly in
foreign countries where the laws may not protect proprietary rights as fully as in the United States, will be
effective.
 

Third-parties may bring infringement claims against us, which could be time-consuming and expensive to
defend.
 

In recent years, there has been significant litigation in the United States involving patents and other
intellectual property rights. We have in the past been involved in intellectual property-related disputes,
including lawsuits with Vixel Corporation, Raytheon Company and McData Corporation, and we may be
involved in such disputes in the future, to protect our intellectual property or as a result of an alleged
infringement of the intellectual property of others. We also may be subject to indemnification obligations
with respect to infringement of third party intellectual property rights pursuant to our agreements with
customers. These claims and any resulting lawsuit could subject us to significant liability for damages and
invalidation of proprietary rights. Any such lawsuits, even if ultimately resolved in our favor, would likely be
time-consuming and expensive to resolve and would divert management’s time and attention. Any potential
intellectual property dispute also could force us to do one or more of the following:
 

 • stop selling, incorporating or using products or services that use the challenged intellectual property;
 

 • obtain from the owner of the infringed intellectual property a license to the relevant intellectual
property, which may require us to license our intellectual property to such owner, or may not be
available on reasonable terms or at all; and

 

 • redesign those products or services that use technology that is the subject of an infringement claim.
 

If we are forced to take any of the foregoing actions, our business and results of operations could be
materially harmed.
 

Our failure, or the failure of our customers, to comply with evolving industry standards and government
regulations could harm our business.
 

Industry standards for SAN products are continuing to evolve and achieve acceptance. To remain
competitive, we must continue to introduce new products and product enhancements that meet these industry
standards. All components of the SAN must interoperate together. Industry standards are in place to specify
guidelines for
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interoperability and communication based on standard specifications. Our products encompass only a part of
the entire SAN solution utilized by the end-user, and we depend on the companies that provide other
components of the SAN solution, many of whom are significantly larger than we are, to support the industry
standards as they evolve. The failure of these providers to support these industry standards could adversely
affect the market acceptance of our products.
 

In addition, in the United States, our products comply with various regulations and standards defined by
the Federal Communications Commission and Underwriters Laboratories. Internationally, products that we
develop will be required to comply with standards established by authorities in various countries. Failure to
comply with existing or evolving industry standards or to obtain timely domestic or foreign regulatory
approvals or certificates could materially harm our business.
 

We are subject to environmental regulations that could have a material adverse effect on our business.
 

We are subject to various environmental and other regulations governing product safety, materials usage,
packaging and other environmental impacts in the various countries where our products are sold. For
example, many of our products are subject to laws and regulations that restrict the use of mercury, hexavalent
chromium, cadmium and other substances, and require producers of electrical and electronic equipment to
assume responsibility for collecting, treating, recycling and disposing of our products when they have reached
the end of their useful life. In Europe, substance restrictions will apply to products sold after July 1, 2006, and
one or more of our OEM partners may require compliance with these or more stringent requirements by an
earlier date. In addition, recycling, labeling, financing and related requirements have already begun to apply
to products we sell in Europe. Where necessary, we are redesigning our products to ensure that they comply
with these requirements as well as related requirements imposed by our OEM customers. We are also
working with our suppliers to provide us with compliant materials, parts and components. If our products do
not comply with the European substance restrictions, we could become subject to fines, civil or criminal
sanctions, and contract damage claims. In addition, we could be prohibited from shipping non-compliant
products into the EU, and required to recall and replace any products already shipped, if such products were
found to be non-compliant, which would disrupt our ability to ship products and result in reduced revenue,
increased obsolete or excess inventories and harm to our business and customer relationships. Our suppliers
may also fail to provide us with compliant materials, parts and components, which could impact our ability to
timely produce compliant products and may disrupt our business. Various other countries and states in the
United States have issued, or are in the process of issuing, other environmental regulations that may impose
additional restrictions or obligations and require further changes to our products.
 

Business interruptions could adversely affect our business.
 

Our operations and the operations of our suppliers, contract manufacturer and customers are vulnerable to
interruption by fire, earthquake, hurricanes, power loss, telecommunications failure and other events beyond
our control. For example, a substantial portion of our facilities, including our corporate headquarters, is
located near major earthquake faults. In the event of a major earthquake, we could experience business
interruptions, destruction of facilities and loss of life. We do not carry earthquake insurance and have not set
aside funds or reserves to cover such potential earthquake-related losses. In addition, our contract
manufacturer has a major facility located in an area that is subject to hurricanes. In the event that a material
business interruption occurs that affects us or our suppliers, contract manufacturer or customers, shipments
could be delayed and our business and financial results could be harmed.
 

Provisions in our charter documents, customer agreements, Delaware law, and our stockholder rights plan
could prevent or delay a change in control of Brocade, which could hinder stockholders’ ability to receive
a premium for our stock.
 

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation and bylaws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or
acquisition that a stockholder may consider favorable. These provisions include:
 

 • authorizing the issuance of preferred stock without stockholder approval;
 

 • providing for a classified board of directors with staggered, three-year terms;
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 • prohibiting cumulative voting in the election of directors;
 

 • limiting the persons who may call special meetings of stockholders;
 

 • prohibiting stockholder actions by written consent; and
 

 • requiring super-majority voting to effect amendments to the foregoing provisions of our certificate of
incorporation and bylaws.

 

Certain provisions of Delaware law also may discourage, delay, or prevent someone from acquiring or
merging with us, and our agreements with certain of our customers require that we give prior notice of a
change of control and grant certain manufacturing rights following a change of control. In addition, we
currently have in place a stockholder rights plan. Our various anti-takeover provisions could prevent or delay
a change in control of Brocade, which could hinder stockholders’ ability to receive a premium for our stock.
 

We expect to experience volatility in our stock price, which could negatively affect stockholders’
investments.
 

The market price of our common stock has experienced significant volatility in the past and will likely
continue to fluctuate significantly in response to the following factors, some of which are beyond our control:
 

 • macroeconomic conditions;
 

 • actual or anticipated fluctuations in our operating results;
 

 • changes in financial estimates and ratings by securities analysts;
 

 • changes in market valuations of other technology companies;
 

 • announcements of financial results by us or other technology companies;
 

 • announcements by us, our competitors, customers, or similar businesses of significant technical
innovations, contracts, acquisitions, strategic partnerships, joint ventures or capital commitments;

 

 • losses of major OEM partners;
 

 • additions or departures of key personnel;
 

 • sales by us of common stock or convertible securities;
 

 • incurring additional debt; and
 

 • other risk factors detailed in this section.
 

In addition, the stock market has experienced extreme volatility that often has been unrelated to the
performance of particular companies. These market fluctuations may cause our stock price to fall regardless
of how the business performs.
 

Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments.
 

None.
 

Item 2.  Properties
 

Our principal administrative, sales and marketing, education, customer support, and research and
development facilities are located in approximately 432,000 square feet of office space in San Jose,
California. We currently occupy approximately 405,000 square feet of our total office space. Approximately
238,000 square feet of our office space is leased, and the remaining 194,000 is owned by Brocade. The leases
on our leased office space will expire in August 2010. In addition to the San Jose facilities, we also lease
sales, marketing, and administrative office space in various locations throughout the world.
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Item 3.  Legal Proceedings
 

From time to time, claims are made against us in the ordinary course of our business, which could result in litigation.
Claims and associated litigation are subject to inherent uncertainties and unfavorable outcomes could occur, such as
monetary damages, fines, penalties or injunctions prohibiting us from selling one or more products or engaging in other
activities. The occurrence of an unfavorable outcome in any specific period could have a material adverse affect on our
results of operations for that period or future periods.
 

On July 20, 2001, the first of a number of putative class actions for violations of the federal securities laws was filed in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against Brocade, certain of its officers and
directors, and certain of the underwriters for Brocade’s initial public offering of securities. A consolidated amended class
action captioned In Re Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation was filed on
April 19, 2002. The complaint generally alleges that various underwriters engaged in improper and undisclosed activities
related to the allocation of shares in Brocade’s initial public offering and seeks unspecified damages on behalf of a
purported class of purchasers of common stock from May 24, 1999 to December 6, 2000. The lawsuit against Brocade is
being coordinated for pretrial proceedings with a number of other pending litigations challenging underwriter practices in
over 300 cases as In Re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92(SAS). In October 2002, the individual
defendants were dismissed without prejudice from the action, pursuant to a tolling agreement. On February 19, 2003, the
Court issued an Opinion and Order dismissing all of the plaintiffs’ claims against Brocade. In June 2004, a stipulation of
settlement for the claims against the issuer defendants, including Brocade, was submitted to the Court for approval. On
August 31, 2005, the Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement. The settlement is subject to a number of
conditions, including final approval by the Court.
 

Beginning on or about May 19, 2005, several securities class action complaints were filed against Brocade and certain
of its current and former officers. These actions were filed on behalf of purchasers of Brocade’s stock from February 2001
to May 2005. These complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of California. On
January 12, 2006, the Court appointed a lead plaintiff and lead counsel and ordered that a consolidated complaint be filed
by March 3, 2006. The securities class action complaints allege, among other things, violations of sections 10(b) and 20(a)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The complaints seek unspecified
monetary damages and other relief against the defendants. The complaints generally allege that Brocade and the individual
defendants made false or misleading public statements regarding Brocade’s business and operations. These lawsuits
followed Brocade’s restatement of certain financial results due to stock-based compensation accounting issues.
 

Beginning on or about May 24, 2005, several derivative actions were also filed against certain of Brocade’s current
and former directors and officers. These actions were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California and in the California Superior Court in Santa Clara County. The complaints allege that certain of Brocade’s
officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties to Brocade by engaging in alleged wrongful conduct including
conduct complained of in the securities litigation described above. Brocade is named solely as a nominal defendant against
whom the plaintiffs seek no recovery. The derivative actions pending in the District Court for the Northern District of
California were consolidated and the Court created a Lead Counsel structure. The derivative plaintiffs filed a consolidated
complaint on October 7, 2005 and Brocade filed a motion to dismiss that action on October 27, 2005. On January 6, 2006,
Brocade’s motion was granted and the consolidated complaint was dismissed with leave to amend. The derivative actions
pending in the Superior Court in Santa Clara County were consolidated. The derivative plaintiffs filed a consolidated
complaint on September 19, 2005. Brocade filed a motion to stay that action in deference to the substantially identical
consolidated derivative action pending in the District Court, and on November 15, 2005, the Court stayed the action.
 

No amounts have been recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements associated with these matters.
 

Item 4.  Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
 

None.
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PART II
 

Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
 

Our common stock has been quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “BRCD” since our
initial public offering on May 24, 1999. Prior to this time, there was no public market for the stock. See
“Item 6 — Selected Financial Data” for the high and low bid prices per share of our common stock as
reported on the Nasdaq National Market, for the periods indicated.
 

According to records of our transfer agent, we had 707 stockholders of record at December 13, 2005 and
we believe there are a substantially greater number of beneficial holders. We did not pay dividends in fiscal
year 2004 or fiscal year 2005. We currently expect to retain future earnings, if any, for use in the operation
and expansion of our business and do not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreseeable future. See
Note 10, “Stockholders’ Equity,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for equity compensation
plan information.
 

The following table summarizes stock repurchase activity for the three months ended October 29, 2005
(in thousands, except per share amounts):
 
                     

        
Total Number

of   
Approximate

Dollar     

        
Shares

Purchased   
Value of Shares

that     

  
Total

Number      
as Part of
Publicly   May Yet Be     

  of Shares   Average Price   Announced   Purchased Under     

  Purchased(1)  
Paid per

Share   Program   the Program(2)     
 

July 31, 2005 - August 27, 2005   6  $ 4.04   —  $ 92,950     
August 28, 2005 - September 24,

2005   —   —   —  $ 92,950     
September 25, 2005 - October 29,

2005   —   —   —  $ 92,950     
                     

Total   6  $ 4.04   —  $ 92,950     
                     

 

 

(1) The total number of shares repurchased include those shares of Brocade common stock that employees
deliver back to Brocade to satisfy tax-withholding obligations at the settlement of restricted stock
exercises, and upon the termination of an employee, the forfeiture of either restricted shares or unvested
common stock as a result of early exercises. As of October 29, 2005, approximately 18,000 shares are
subject to repurchase by Brocade.

 

(2) In August 2004, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program for up to $100.0 million of
our common stock. The purchases may be made, from time to time, in the open market and will be
funded from available working capital. The number of shares to be purchased and the timing of
purchases will be based on the level of our cash balances, general business and market conditions, and
other factors, including alternative investment opportunities. As of October 29, 2005, we have purchased
1.2 million shares at an average price of $6.13 per share, and under this program $92.9 million remains
available for future repurchases.

25

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006



Table of Contents

 

Item 6.  Selected Financial Data
 

The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial
statements and related notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations,” and other financial information appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
 

The consolidated statement of operations data set forth below for each of the years in the three-year
period ended October 29, 2005, the consolidated balance sheet data as of October 29, 2005 and October 30,
2004, are derived from, and qualified by reference to, the audited financial statements appearing elsewhere in
this Annual Report on Form 10-K. The balance sheet data as of October 25, 2003 is derived from audited
financial statements not included herein. The statement of operations data for the years ended October 26,
2002 and October 27, 2001, and the balance sheet data as of October 26, 2002 and October 27, 2001, are
derived from unaudited financial statements not included herein.
 
                     

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,   October 26,   October 27,  
  2005(1)   2004(2)   2003(3)   2002   2001(4)  
              Unaudited(5)  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

Statement of Operations Data:                     
Net revenues  $ 574,120  $ 596,265  $ 525,277  $ 562,369  $ 513,030 
Cost of revenues   251,161   268,974   241,163   226,933   115,711 
                     

Gross margin   322,959   327,291   284,114   335,436   397,319 
                     

Operating expenses (benefits):                     
Research and development   130,936   141,998   145,896   125,058   (131,704)
Sales and marketing   101,202   102,445   115,075   108,784   (129,138)
General and administrative   25,189   24,593   21,306   7,583   (96,563)
Internal review and SEC

investigation costs   14,027   —   —   —   — 
Settlement of an

acquisition-related claim   —   6,943   —   —   — 
Amortization of deferred

stock compensation   1,512   537   649   969   1,082 
Restructuring costs (reversals)  (670)   8,966   20,828   —   — 
In-process research and

development   7,784   —   134,898   —   — 
Lease termination charge,

facilities lease losses and
other, net   —   75,591   —   —   49,888 

                     

Total operating expenses
(benefits)   279,980   361,073   438,652   242,394   (306,435)

                     

Income (loss) from operations   42,979   (33,782)   (154,538)   93,042   703,754 
Interest and other income, net   22,656   18,786   18,424   22,668   8,207 
Interest expense   (7,693)   (10,677)   (13,339)   (11,427)   — 
Gain on repurchases of

convertible subordinated debt   2,318   5,613   11,118   —   — 
Gain (loss) on investments, net   (5,062)   436   3,638   7,095   (16,092)
                     

Income (loss) before provision
for income taxes   55,198   (19,624)   (134,697)   111,378   695,869 

Income tax provision   12,077   14,070   11,852   5,343   9,506 
                     

Net income (loss)  $ 43,121  $ (33,694)  $ (146,549)  $ 106,035  $ 686,363 
                     

Net income (loss) per
share — basic  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)  $ 0.46  $ 3.10 
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  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,   October 26,   October 27,  
  2005(1)   2004(2)   2003(3)   2002   2001(4)  
              Unaudited(5)  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

Net income (loss) per
share — diluted  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)  $ 0.44  $ 2.94 

                     

Shares used in per share
calculation — basic   268,176   260,446   250,610   231,591   221,051 

                     

Shares used in per share
calculation — diluted   270,260   260,446   250,610   240,761   233,677 

                     

Balance Sheet Data:                     
Cash, cash equivalents,

investments and restricted
short-term investments  $ 764,402  $ 736,908  $ 835,565  $ 888,388  $ 255,148 

Working capital   309,736   434,162   355,634   534,777   237,682 
Total assets   985,681   987,382   1,063,174   1,171,367   448,488 
Non-current liabilities

associated with lease losses   12,481   16,799   16,518   22,602   30,896 
Convertible subordinated debt

and capital lease obligations   278,883   352,279   442,950   550,000   — 
Total stockholders’ equity   508,847   445,652   447,868   446,255   310,565 
 

Note: We report our fiscal year on a 52/53-week period ending on the last Saturday in October of each
year. Accordingly, the fiscal year ends for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2004 were October 29, 30, and 25,
respectively. As is customary for companies that use the 52/53-week convention, every 5th year contains a
53-week fiscal year. As a result, our fiscal year 2004 was a 53-week fiscal year. Also as a result, our second
quarter of fiscal year 2004 included one extra week and was 14 weeks in length. Fiscal years 2005 and 2003
were both 52-week fiscal years.
 

 

(1) The fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 includes the impact of the acquisition of Therion, which was
completed in the third quarter of fiscal year 2005. In connection with our acquisition of Therion, we
recorded in-process research and development expense of $7.8 million (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 also includes
Audit Committee internal review and SEC investigation costs of $14.0 million. In January 2005 we
announced that our Audit Committee completed an internal review regarding historical stock option
granting practices. Following the January 2005 Audit Committee internal review, on May 16, 2005, we
announced that additional information came to our attention that indicated that certain guidelines
regarding stock option granting practices were not followed and our Audit Committee had commenced
an internal review of our stock option accounting focusing on leaves of absence and transition and
advisory roles. Our Audit Committee review was completed in November 2005. In addition, in the fiscal
year ended October 29, 2005 we recorded a $5.1 million net loss on investments on the disposition of
portfolio investments primarily associated with the defeasance of the indenture agreement relating to our
2% Convertible Notes (see Note 8, “Convertible Subordinated Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements) and recorded a total of $2.3 million gain on repurchases of convertible
subordinated debt.

 

(2) The fiscal year ended October 30, 2004 includes the impact of restructuring costs of $9.0 million related
to a restructuring plan implemented during the three months ended May 1, 2004 (see Note 4,
“Restructuring Costs,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The fiscal year ended
October 30, 2004 also includes a net lease termination charge and other of $75.6 million. During the
three months ended January 24, 2004, we purchased a previously leased building located near our
San Jose headquarters for $106.8 million in cash. The $106.8 million consisted of $30.0 million for the
purchase of land and a building and $76.8 million for a lease termination fee (see Note 5, “Liabilities
Associated with Facilities Lease Losses,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). In
addition, in the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004 we recorded a
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$6.9 million charge in settlement of a claim relating to our acquisition of Rhapsody and recorded a total
of $5.6 million gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt.

 

(3) The fiscal year ended October 25, 2003 includes the impact of our acquisition of Rhapsody, which was
completed in the second quarter of fiscal year 2003. In connection with our acquisition of Rhapsody, we
recorded in-process research and development expense of $134.9 million (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of
the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). The fiscal year ended October 25, 2003 also includes
restructuring costs of $20.8 million (see Note 4, “Restructuring Costs,” of the Notes to Consolidated
Financial Statements), gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt of $11.1 million, and net
gains on the disposition of non-marketable private strategic investments of $3.6 million.

 

(4) The fiscal year ended October 27, 2001 includes the impact of the following items recorded during the
fourth quarter ended October 27, 2001: charges to cost of revenues of $7.7 million primarily associated
with the accrual of purchase commitments for excess inventory components related to a transition of
product offerings from 1 to 2 Gigabit per second (Gbit/sec) technology; charges included in operating
expenses of $45.5 million related to estimated facilities lease losses and the impairment of certain related
leasehold improvements following a comprehensive evaluation of real estate facility requirements;
charges included in operating expenses of $4.4 million related to the impairment of equipment no longer
used in research and development and sales and marketing efforts associated with a transition of product
offerings from 1 to 2 Gbit/sec technology; and losses on investments of $19.5 million related to
other-than-temporary declines in the fair value of private minority equity investments in non-publicly
traded companies as a result of significant deterioration in the private equity markets, and related
adjustment for income tax provisions.

 

(5) The unaudited selected consolidated financial data for fiscal year 2001 has been revised to reflect
adjustments related to the restatement described in Note 3, “Restatement of Consolidated Financial
Statement,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in the Company’s Form 10-K/A for fiscal
year ended October 30, 2004. As a result of the adjustments, our previously reported net income has
been reduced, or previously reported net loss has been increased, by approximately $47.3 million,
$0.7 million, and $2.2 million for fiscal years 2001, 2000, and 1999. These adjustments relate primarily
to stock-based compensation expense for certain employees on LOA and in transition or advisory roles
prior to ceasing employment with us.

 
                 

  First   Second   Third   Fourth  
  Quarter   Quarter   Quarter   Quarter  
  (In thousands, except per share and stock price amounts)  

 

Quarterly Data:                 
Fiscal Year Ended October 29, 2005                 
Net revenues  $ 161,578  $ 144,753  $ 122,273  $ 145,516 
Gross margin  $ 97,172  $ 82,834  $ 62,386  $ 80,567 
Income (loss) from operations  $ 30,162  $ 19,448  $ (14,311)  $ 7,680 
Net income (loss)  $ 27,943  $ 21,357  $ (7,235)  $ 1,056 
Per share amounts:                 

Basic  $ 0.10  $ 0.08  $ (0.03)  $ 0.00 
Diluted  $ 0.10  $ 0.08  $ (0.03)  $ 0.00 

Shares used in computing per share amounts:                 
Basic   266,218   268,043   268,765   269,679 
Diluted   271,422   269,823   268,765   270,311 

Closing prices:                 
High  $ 7.99  $ 6.42  $ 4.49  $ 4.49 
Low  $ 5.83  $ 4.35  $ 3.88  $ 3.51 
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  First   Second   Third   Fourth  
  Quarter   Quarter   Quarter   Quarter  
  (In thousands, except per share and stock price amounts)  

 

Fiscal Year Ended October 30, 2004                 
Net revenues  $ 145,040  $ 145,579  $ 150,040  $ 155,606 
Gross margin  $ 77,404  $ 78,793  $ 84,213  $ 86,881 
Income (loss) from operations  $ (68,154)  $ (6,214)  $ 18,635  $ 21,951 
Net income (loss)  $ (69,485)  $ 1,883  $ 13,620  $ 20,288 
Per share amounts:                 

Basic  $ (0.27)  $ 0.01  $ 0.05  $ 0.08 
Diluted  $ (0.27)  $ 0.01  $ 0.05  $ 0.08 

Shares used in computing per share amounts:                 
Basic   257,796   259,265   261,481   263,242 
Diluted   257,796   263,373   263,541   265,194 

Closing prices:                 
High  $ 7.95  $ 7.44  $ 6.14  $ 6.80 
Low  $ 5.49  $ 5.35  $ 4.41  $ 4.04 
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 

Results of Operations
 

We report our fiscal year on a 52/53-week period ending on the last Saturday in October of each year. Accordingly, the
fiscal year ends for fiscal years 2005, 2004, and 2004 were October 29, 30, and 25, respectively. As is customary for
companies that use the 52/53-week convention, every 5th year contains a 53-week fiscal year. As a result, our fiscal year
2004 was a 53-week fiscal year. Also as a result, our second quarter of fiscal year 2004 included one extra week and was
14 weeks in length. Fiscal years 2005 and 2003 were both 52-week fiscal years. The following table sets forth certain
financial data for the periods indicated as a percentage of total net revenues:
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

Net revenues   100.0%   100.0%   100.0%
Cost of revenues   43.7   45.1   45.9 
             

Gross margin   56.3   54.9   54.1 
             

Operating expenses:             
Research and development   22.8   23.8   27.8 
Sales and marketing   17.6   17.2   21.9 
General and administrative   4.4   4.1   4.0 
Internal review and SEC investigation costs   2.4   —   — 
Settlement of an acquisition-related claim   —   1.2   — 
Amortization of deferred stock compensation   0.3   0.1   0.1 
Restructuring costs (reversals)   (0.1)   1.5   4.0 
In-process research and development   1.4   —   25.7 
Lease termination charge and other, net   —   12.7   — 

             

Total operating expenses   48.8   60.6   83.5 
             

Income (loss) from operations   7.5   (5.7)   (29.4)
Interest and other income, net   3.9   3.2   3.5 
Interest expense   (1.3)   (1.8)   (2.5)
Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt   0.4   0.9   2.1 
Gain (loss) on investments, net   (0.9)   0.1   0.7 
             

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes   9.6   (3.3)   (25.6)
Income tax provision   2.1   2.4   2.3 
             

Net income (loss)   7.5%   (5.7)%   (27.9)%
             

 

Revenues.  Our revenues are derived primarily from sales of our SilkWorm family of products. Our SilkWorm
products, which range in size from 8 ports to 256 ports, connect servers and storage devices creating a SAN. Net revenues
for the year ended October 29, 2005 were $574.1 million, a decrease of four percent compared with net revenues of
$596.3 million for the year ended October 30, 2004. For the year ended October 29, 2005, the decrease in net revenues
reflected a 21 percent decline in average selling price per port, partially offset by an 11 percent increase in the number of
ports shipped. Net revenues for the year ended October 30, 2004 increased 14 percent compared with net revenues of
$525.3 million for the year ended October 25, 2003. For the year ended October 30, 2004, the increase in net revenues
reflected a 42 percent increase in the number of ports shipped, partially offset by a 22 percent decline in average selling
price per port. The declines in average selling prices are the result of a more competitive pricing environment. We believe
the increase in the number of ports shipped reflects higher demand for our products as end-users continue to consolidate
storage and servers infrastructures using SANS, expand SANs to support more applications, and deploy SANs in new
environments.
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We expect the number of ports shipped to fluctuate depending on the demand for our existing and recently introduced
products as well as the timing of product transitions by our OEM customers. We also expect that average selling price per
port will likely decline at rates consistent with the rates we experienced in the year ended October 29, 2005, unless they
are adversely affected by accelerated pricing pressures, new product introductions by us or our competitors, or other
factors that may be beyond our control.
 

Historically, domestic revenues have been between 60 percent and 75 percent of total revenues. Domestic and
international revenues were approximately 63 percent and 37 percent of our total revenues, respectively, for the year ended
October 29, 2005. For the year ended October 30, 2004, domestic and international revenues were approximately
65 percent and 35 percent of our total revenues, respectively, and for the year ended October 25, 2003, domestic and
international revenues were approximately 67 percent and 33 percent of our total revenues, respectively. Revenues are
attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the customer to which our products are shipped. International
revenues primarily consist of sales to customers in Western Europe and the greater Asia Pacific region. For the years
ended October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, international revenues have increased primarily as a result of faster growth
in the Asia Pacific region relative to North America and Europe. However, certain OEM customers take possession of our
products domestically and then distribute these products to their international customers. Because we account for all of
those OEM revenues as domestic revenues, we cannot be certain of the extent to which our domestic and international
revenue mix is impacted by the practices of our OEM customers.
 

A significant portion of our revenue is concentrated among a relatively small number of OEM customers. For the year
ended October 29, 2005, three customers, EMC, HP and IBM, each represented greater than ten percent of our total
revenues for a combined total of 71 percent of our total revenues. For the years ended October 30, 2004 and October 25,
2003, the same three customers each represented greater than ten percent of our total revenues for combined totals of
70 percent and 67 percent of our total revenues, respectively. We expect that a significant portion of our future revenues
will continue to come from sales of products to a relatively small number of OEM customers. Therefore, the loss of, or a
decrease in the level of sales to, or a change in the ordering pattern of, any one of these customers could seriously harm
our financial condition and results of operations.
 

Gross margin.  Gross margin for the year ended October 29, 2005 was 56.3 percent, an increase of 1.4 percent from
54.9 percent for the year ended October 30, 2004. Cost of goods sold consists of product costs, which are variable, and
manufacturing operations costs, which are generally fixed. For the year ended October 29, 2005, product costs relative to
net revenues decreased by 0.7 percent as compared to the year ended October 30, 2004 due to decreases in component and
manufacturing costs. Manufacturing operations costs relative to net revenues decreased by 0.5 percent principally due to
increases in number of ports shipped. In addition, gross margin increased by 0.2 percent due to higher stock compensation
expense in the year ended October 30, 2004 primarily as a result of changes in the market value of our common stock. For
the year ended October 30, 2004, gross margin increased by 0.8 percent from 54.1 percent for the year ended October 25,
2003. Product costs relative to net revenues decreased by 0.9 percent as compared to the year ended October 25, 2003 due
to decreases in component and manufacturing costs. Manufacturing operations costs relative to net revenues remained
consistent. In addition, gross margin decreased by 0.1 percent due to higher stock compensation expense in the year ended
October 30, 2004 primarily as a result of changes in the market value of our common stock. The decrease in product costs
relative to net revenues was primarily the result of lower component and manufacturing costs, partially offset by declines
in average unit selling prices of our products.
 

Gross margin is primarily affected by average selling price per port, number of ports shipped, and cost of goods sold.
We expect that average selling price per port for our products will continue to decline at rates consistent with the rates we
experienced in the year ended October 29, 2005, unless they are further affected by accelerated pricing pressures, new
product introductions by us or our competitors, or other factors that may be beyond our control. We believe that we have
the ability to partially mitigate the effect of declines in average selling price per port on gross margins through our product
and manufacturing operations cost reductions. However, the average selling price per port could decline at a faster pace
than we anticipate. If this dynamic occurs, we may not be able to reduce our costs fast enough to prevent a decline in our
gross margins. In addition, we must also maintain or increase current volume of ports shipped to maintain our current
gross margins. If we are unable to offset future reductions of average selling price per port with reductions in product and
manufacturing operations costs, or if as a result of future reductions in average selling price per port our revenues do not
grow, our gross margins would be negatively affected.
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We recently introduced several new products and expect to introduce additional new products in the future. As new or
enhanced products are introduced, we must successfully manage the transition from older products in order to minimize
disruption in customers’ ordering patterns, avoid excessive levels of older product inventories, and provide sufficient
supplies of new products to meet customer demands. Our gross margins may be adversely affected if we fail to
successfully manage the introductions of these new products.
 

Research and development expenses.  Research and development (“R&D”) expenses consist primarily of salaries and
related expenses for personnel engaged in engineering and R&D activities; fees paid to consultants and outside service
providers; nonrecurring engineering charges; prototyping expenses related to the design, development, testing and
enhancement of our products; depreciation related to engineering and test equipment; and IT and facilities expenses.
 

For the year ended October 29, 2005, R&D expenses decreased by $11.1 million, or eight percent, to $130.9 million,
compared with $142.0 million for the year ended October 30, 2004. This decrease is primarily due to a $14.0 million
decrease in salaries and head count related expenses as a result of the restructuring programs we implemented in the
second quarter of fiscal year 2004, partially offset by a $6.4 million increase in outside service providers due to continued
investment in offshore research and development. In addition, R&D expenses decreased by $2.6 million due to lower
stock compensation expense in the year ended October 29, 2005 primarily as a result of changes in the market value of our
common stock. Further, the decrease in R&D expenses reflects the effect of the extra week in the second quarter of fiscal
year 2004.
 

For the year ended October 30, 2004, R&D expenses decreased by $3.9 million, or three percent, to $142.0 million,
compared with $145.9 million for the year ended October 25, 2003. This decrease is primarily due to a $4.7 million
decrease in salaries and related expenses and a $2.9 million decrease in facilities expenses due to savings from our
building purchase, partially offset by a $2.4 million increase in expenses related to consulting and new product
development spending, including costs associated with new SilkWorm products we introduced during the second half of
fiscal year 2004. The decrease in salaries and related expenses reflects the effects of our restructuring programs, partially
offset by incremental expenses related to the extra week in the second quarter of fiscal year 2004. In addition, R&D
expenses increased by $0.5 million due to higher stock compensation expense in the year ended October 30, 2004
primarily as a result of changes in the market value of our common stock.
 

Excluding any stock option compensation related charges, which will vary depending on the changes in the market
value of our common stock, we currently anticipate that R&D expenses in fiscal year 2006 will increase in absolute dollars
as a result of investments in Tapestry products and other new technologies.
 

Sales and marketing expenses.  Sales and marketing expenses consist primarily of salaries, commissions and related
expenses for personnel engaged in marketing and sales; costs associated with promotional and travel expenses; and IT and
facilities expenses.
 

For the year ended October 29, 2005, sales and marketing expenses decreased by $1.2 million, or one percent, to
$101.2 million, compared with $102.4 million for the year ended October 30, 2004. This decrease is primarily due to a
$3.5 million decrease in salaries and head count related expenses, including lower commissions expenses due to lower
revenues, and a $1.7 million decrease in stock compensation expense primarily due to compensation for certain employees
on leaves of absences and in transition or advisory roles in the year ended October 30, 2004, partially offset by a
$3.1 million increase in sales and marketing program expenses. In addition, the decrease in sales and marketing expenses
reflects the effect of the extra week in the second quarter of fiscal year 2004.
 

For the year ended October 30, 2004, sales and marketing expenses decreased by $12.6 million, or 11 percent, to
$102.4 million, compared with $115.1 million for the year ended October 25, 2003. This decrease is primarily due to a
$9.0 million decrease in travel and marketing program expenses resulting from various cost-cutting actions and a
$5.5 million decrease in salaries and related expenses, which reflects the effect of headcount reductions that occurred in
the fiscal years 2004 and 2003, partially offset by incremental expenses related to the extra week in the second quarter of
fiscal year 2004. In addition, sales and marketing expenses increased by $1.4 million due to higher stock compensation
expense in the year ended October 30, 2004 primarily due to compensation for certain employees on leaves of absences
and in transition or advisory roles.
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Excluding any stock option compensation related charges, which will vary depending on the changes in the market
value of our common stock, we currently anticipate that sales and marketing expenses in fiscal year 2005 will increase in
absolute dollars as a result of additional costs to support Tapestry products and Brocade services.
 

General and administrative expenses.  General and administrative (G&A) expenses consist primarily of salaries and
related expenses for corporate executives, finance, human resources and investor relations, as well as recruiting expenses,
professional fees, corporate legal expenses, other corporate expenses, and IT and facilities expenses.
 

G&A expenses for the year ended October 29, 2005 increased by $0.6 million, or two percent, to $25.2 million,
compared with $24.6 million for the year ended October 30, 2004. The increase in G&A for fiscal year 2005 is primarily
due to a $1.5 million increase in professional service fees, partially offset by a $0.6 million decrease in stock
compensation expense primarily as a result of changes in the market value of our common stock.
 

For the year ended October 30, 2004, G&A expenses increased by $3.3 million, or 15 percent, compared with
$21.3 million for the year ended October 25, 2003. The increase in G&A for fiscal year 2004 is primarily due to increased
salaries and related expenses as a result of an increase in personnel. In addition, in fiscal year 2004 we incurred
incremental expenses related to the extra week in the second quarter of fiscal year 2004, as well as expenses related to
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. Further, for the year ended October 30, 2004 G&A expenses increased by
$0.5 million due to higher stock compensation expense in the year ended October 30, 2004 primarily as a result of changes
in the market value of our common stock.
 

Excluding any stock option compensation related charges, which will vary depending on the changes in the market
value of our common stock, we currently anticipate that G&A expenses in fiscal year 2005 will increase in absolute
dollars resulting from the cost to support Tapestry products and Brocade services.
 

Internal review and SEC investigation costs.  On January 24, 2005, we announced that our Audit Committee
completed an internal review regarding historical stock option granting practices. Following the January 2005 Audit
Committee internal review, on May 16, 2005, we announced that additional information had come to our attention that
indicated that certain guidelines regarding stock option granting practices were not followed and our Audit Committee had
commenced an internal review of our stock option accounting focusing on leaves of absence and transition and advisory
roles. Our Audit Committee review was completed in November 2005. In addition, we are undergoing an SEC and
Department of Justice (“DOJ”) joint investigation regarding our historical stock option granting practices. As a result, for
the year ended October 29, 2005, we recorded $14.0 million for professional service fees related to the completed internal
reviews and ongoing SEC investigation. We did not incur any internal review or SEC investigation costs during the years
ended October 30, 2004 or October 25, 2003.
 

Settlement of an acquisition-related claim.  In the second quarter of fiscal year 2004, we recorded a $6.9 million
charge in settlement of a claim relating to our acquisition of Rhapsody Networks, Inc. (“Rhapsody”). Under the terms of
the settlement, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 we issued 1.3 million shares of common stock to the former
Rhapsody shareholders in exchange for a release of claims.
 

Amortization of deferred stock compensation.  Amortization of deferred stock compensation was $1.5 million,
$0.5 million, and $0.6 million for the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003,
respectively. Amortization of deferred stock compensation includes stock compensation expenses related to our
acquisitions of Rhapsody and Therion Software Corporation (“Therion”). The deferred stock compensation represents the
intrinsic value of unvested restricted common stock and assumed stock options, and is amortized over the respective
remaining service periods on a straight-line basis. As of October 29, 2005, the remaining unamortized balance of deferred
stock compensation related to the Therion acquisition was approximately $1.2 million and the deferred stock
compensation related to the Rhapsody acquisition has been substantially amortized.
 

In addition to the deferred stock compensation connected with our acquisitions of Rhapsody and Therion, we have
recorded deferred stock compensation arising from stock option grants subject to variable accounting, change in
measurement dates and restricted stock award grants to certain employees. Compensation expense resulting from these
non-acquisition related grants are included in cost of revenues, R&D, sales and marketing, or G&A, based on
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the department of the employee receiving the award. Accordingly, amortization of deferred stock compensation does not
include the compensation expense arising from these awards.
 

Total stock-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and
October 25, 2003 was $0.4 million, $5.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively. Stock-based compensation expense related
to stock options subject to variable accounting will vary significantly as a result of future changes in the market value of
our common stock. In addition, we will recognize additional stock-based compensation expense beginning in the first
quarter of fiscal year 2006 as a result of implementation of SFAS 123R, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation.”
 

Restructuring Costs (Reversals).  Restructuring costs (reversals) for the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30,
2004, and October 25, 2003 were $(0.7) million, $9.0 million, and $20.8 million, respectively. For the year ended
October 29, 2005, we recorded a reduction of $0.7 million to restructuring costs related to recovery of previously recorded
restructuring costs. For the year ended October 30, 2004, restructuring costs consist of $10.5 million related to a
restructuring plan implemented during the three months ended May 1, 2004, and a reduction of $1.5 million to
restructuring costs related to our previously recorded restructuring liabilities, primarily due to lower than expected costs
related to outplacement costs and severance (see Note 4, “Restructuring Costs,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements). For the year ended October 25, 2003, restructuring costs consisted of $10.9 million related to a program to
restructure and reorganize certain business operations during the three months ended April 26, 2003, and $9.9 million
related to a company-wide restructuring program implemented during the three months ended January 25, 2003.
 

In-process research and development.  On May 3, 2005, we completed our acquisition of Therion, a privately held
company based in Redmond, Washington that developed software management solutions for the automated provisioning
of servers over a storage network. As of the acquisition date, Therion was a development stage company with no
recognized revenue and a core technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility. Accordingly, the acquisition
of Therion was accounted for as an asset purchase. In connection with this acquisition, we recorded a $7.8 million
in-process research and development charge, and allocated the remaining purchase price to net assets of $2.9 million,
deferred stock compensation of $1.5 million, and net liabilities of $0.1 million, based on fair values (see Note 3,
“Acquisitions,” of the Notes to Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements).
 

On January 27, 2003, we completed our acquisition of Rhapsody, a provider of next-generation intelligent switching
platforms. As of the acquisition date, Rhapsody was a development stage company that had no recognized revenue and a
core technology that required substantial additional resources to bring it to technological feasibility. Therefore, we
accounted for the acquisition as an asset purchase and allocated the total purchase price of $138.5 million to the assets
acquired, liabilities assumed, and acquired in-process R&D based on their respective fair values. We allocated the excess
of purchase price over the fair value of net assets received to acquired in-process R&D and acquired non-monetary assets
on a pro-rata basis. We expensed the acquired in-process R&D of $134.9 million during the three months ended April 26,
2003 because it had not yet reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future use (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,”
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). We completed the development of this technology in fiscal year 2004.
 

We did not record any acquired in-process R&D for the year ended October 30, 2004.
 

Lease termination charge and other, net.  Lease termination charge and other, net for the year ended October 30, 2004
was $75.6 million. During the three months ended January 24, 2004, we purchased a previously leased building located
near our San Jose headquarters for $106.8 million. Of the $106.8 million, $30.0 million was allocated to the purchase of
land and building and $76.8 million was considered a lease termination fee (see Note 5, “Liabilities Associated with
Facilities Lease Losses and Asset Impairment Charges,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). No lease
termination charge was recorded in any of the other periods presented.
 

Interest and other income, net.  Interest and other income, net increased to $22.7 million for the year ended
October 29, 2005, compared to $18.8 million for the year ended October 30, 2004 and $18.4 million for the year ended
October 25, 2003. For the year ended October 29, 2005, the increase was primarily due to higher average rates of return
due to investment mix and increase in interest rates, as well as increased average cash, cash equivalent, restricted
short-term investments and short-term and long-term investment balances. For the year ended October 30,
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2004, the increase was primarily as a result of higher average rates of return due to investment mix and increase in interest
rates, offset by decreased average cash, cash equivalent and investment balances.
 

Interest expense.  Interest expense was $7.7 million, $10.7 million and $13.3 million for the years ended October 29,
2005, October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003, respectively. Interest expense primarily represents the interest cost
associated with our convertible subordinated debt. The decrease in interest expense for both the years ended October 29,
2005 and October 30, 2004, compared with the year ended October 25, 2003 was primarily the result of the repurchases of
our convertible subordinated debt, resulting in a lower debt outstanding. As of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, the
outstanding balance of our convertible subordinated debt was $278.9 million and $352.3 million, respectively (see Note 8,
“Convertible Subordinated Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements).
 

Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt.  During the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004,
and October 25, 2003, we repurchased $73.4 million, $90.7 million, and $107.1 million in face value of our convertible
subordinated debt, respectively, on the open market. For the year ended October 29, 2005, we paid an average of $0.96 for
each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase price of $70.5 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $2.3 million.
For the year ended October 30, 2004, we paid an average of $0.93 for each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase
price of $84.4 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $5.6 million. For the year ended October 25, 2003, we paid an
average of $0.88 for each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase price of $94.4 million, which resulted in a pre-tax
gain of $11.1 million.
 

Gain (loss) on investments, net.  For the year ended October 29, 2005, net loss on investments was $5.1 million,
consisting of $5.2 million losses on the disposition of portfolio investments primarily associated with the defeasance of the
indenture agreement relating to our 2% Convertible Notes, offset by $0.1 million gains on the disposition of
non-marketable private strategic investments. For the year ended October 30, 2004, net gain on investments was
$0.4 million consisting of gains on the disposition of previously written down non-marketable private strategic
investments. For the year ended October 25, 2003, net gain on investments of $3.6 million consisting of gains on the
disposition of previously written down non-marketable private strategic investments of $5.8 million, offset by an
impairment charge of $2.2 million that resulted from an other-than-temporary decline in the estimated fair value of a
minority equity investment in a different non-publicly traded company. As of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, we
had net unrealized holding gains (losses) of $(4.2) million and $0.1 million, respectively, associated with our remaining
investment portfolio. The carrying value of our equity investments in non-publicly traded companies at October 29, 2005
and October 30, 2004 was $3.8 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
 

Provision for income taxes.  Estimates and judgments are required in the calculation of certain tax liabilities and in the
determination of the recoverability of certain of the deferred tax assets, which arise from variable stock option expenses,
net operating losses, tax carryforwards and temporary differences between the tax and financial statement recognition of
revenue and expense. SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes” (“SFAS 109”), also requires that the deferred tax
assets be reduced by a valuation allowance, if based on the weight of available evidence, it is more likely than not that
some portion or all of the recorded deferred tax assets will not be realized in future periods.
 

In evaluating our ability to recover our deferred tax assets, in full or in part, we consider all available positive and
negative evidence including our past operating results, the existence of cumulative losses in the most recent fiscal years
and our forecast of future taxable income on a jurisdiction by jurisdiction basis. In determining future taxable income, we
are responsible for assumptions utilized including the amount of state and federal pre-tax operating income, the reversal of
temporary differences and the implementation of feasible and prudent tax planning strategies. These assumptions require
significant judgments about the forecasts of future taxable income and are consistent with the plans and estimates we are
using to manage the underlying businesses. Cumulative losses incurred in four of the last seven fiscal years represented
sufficient negative evidence to require a full valuation allowance. As of October 29, 2005, we had a valuation allowance
against the deferred tax assets, which we intend to maintain until sufficient positive evidence exists to support reversal of
the valuation allowance. Future reversals or increases to our valuation allowance could have a significant impact on our
future earnings.
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In addition, the calculation of our tax liabilities involves dealing with uncertainties in the application of complex tax
regulations in a multitude of jurisdictions. We recognize potential liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues in the U.S. and
other tax jurisdictions based on our estimate of whether, and the extent to which, additional taxes will be due. If events
occur and the payment of these amounts ultimately proves to be unnecessary, the reversal of the liabilities would result in
tax benefits being recognized in the period when we determine the liabilities are no longer necessary. If our estimate of tax
liabilities proves to be less than the ultimate assessment, a further charge to expense would result.
 

In the year ended October 29, 2005, we have recorded an income tax provision of $12.1 million, compared to income
tax provision of $14.1 million and $11.9 million in the years ended October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003, respectively.
For the year ended October 29, 2005, our income tax provision is primarily for our international operations, a one time US
tax liability associated with the earnings repatriated pursuant to the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “AJCA”),
and domestic operations. We expect to continue to record an income tax provision for our international and domestic
operations in the future. Since we have a full valuation allowance against deferred tax assets which result from U.S.
operations, U.S. income tax expense or benefits are offset by releasing or increasing, respectively, the valuation allowance.
Our US federal income tax liability is reduced by the utilization of net operating loss and credit carry forwards from prior
years such that only alternative minimum tax results. To the extent these carryforwards are fully utilized against future
earnings, our US federal effective tax rate is expected to increase. To the extent that international revenues and earnings
differ from those historically achieved, a factor largely influenced by the buying behavior of our OEM partners, or
unfavorable changes in tax laws and regulations occur, our income tax provision could change.
 

The AJCA was enacted on October 22, 2004. One provision of the AJCA effectively reduces the tax rate on qualifying
repatriation of earnings held by foreign-based subsidiaries to approximately 5.25 percent. Normally, such repatriations
would be taxed at a rate of up to 35 percent. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year 2005, we made the decision that we would
repatriate approximately $78.2 million under the AJCA. This repatriation of earnings triggered a U.S. federal tax payment
of approximately $3.4 million and a state tax payment of approximately $0.6 million. These amounts are reflected in our
current income tax expense. Prior to the AJCA, we did not provide deferred taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign
subsidiaries as we intended to utilize these earnings through expansion of our business operations outside the United
States for an indefinite period of time. Going forward, we intend to indefinitely reinvest prospective foreign earnings.
 

In November 2005, we were notified by the Internal Revenue Service that our domestic federal income tax return for
the year ended October 25, 2003 was subject to audit. We believe we have adequate reserves to cover any potential
assessments that may result from the examination.
 

Liquidity and Capital Resources
 

Cash, cash equivalents, restricted short-term investments, and short-term and long-term investments were
$764.4 million as of October 29, 2005, an increase of $27.5 million over the prior year total of $736.9 million. For the year
ended October 29, 2005, we generated $125.9 million in cash from operating activities. Cash from operations significantly
exceeded net income for the year ended October 29, 2005 due to non-cash expense items, primarily related to depreciation
and amortization and a decrease in accounts receivable. Days sales outstanding in receivables for the year ended
October 29, 2005 was 44 days.
 

Net cash provided by investing activities for the year ended October 29, 2005 totaled $25.1 million and was primarily
the result of $335.6 million in net proceeds from sales and maturities of short and long-term investments and other
non-marketable investments, partially offset by $276.0 million cash used for purchases of restricted short-term
investments related to the defeasance of the indenture agreement relating to our 2% Convertible Notes, $27.3 million
invested in capital equipment, and $7.2 million cash used in connection with an acquisition.
 

Net cash used in financing activities for the year ended October 29, 2005 totaled $47.8 million. Net cash used in
financing activities was primarily the result of $70.5 million cash used for repurchases of our convertible subordinated
debt and $7.1 million cash used to repurchase our common stock under the stock repurchase program approved in August
2004 by our Board of Directors, partially offset by $29.7 million in net proceeds from employee participation in employee
stock programs and exercises of stock options.
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Net proceeds from the issuance of common stock related to employee participation in employee stock programs have
historically been a significant component of our liquidity. The extent to which our employees participate in these programs
generally increases or decreases based upon changes in the market price of our common stock. As a result, our cash flow
resulting from the issuance of common stock related to employee participation in employee stock programs will vary. As a
result of our voluntary stock options exchange program, which was completed in July 2003, we do not expect to generate
significant cash flow from the issuance of common stock related to the employee participation in employee stock
programs during fiscal year 2006 unless our future common stock price exceeds $6.54 per share, which is the exercise
price of the stock options granted under the exchange program.
 

We have a manufacturing agreement with Foxconn under which we provide twelve-month product forecasts and place
purchase orders in advance of the scheduled delivery of products to our customers. The required lead-time for placing
orders with Foxconn depends on the specific product. As of October 29, 2005, our aggregate commitment to Foxconn for
inventory components used in the manufacture of Brocade products was $42.4 million, net of purchase commitment
reserves of $6.6 million, which we expect to utilize during future normal ongoing operations. Although the purchase
orders we place with Foxconn are cancelable, the terms of the agreement requires us to purchase from Foxconn all
inventory components not returnable or usable by, or sold to, other customers of Foxconn. Our purchase commitments
reserve reflects our estimate of purchase commitments we do not expect to consume in normal operations.
 

On December 21, 2001, and January 10, 2002, we sold an aggregate of $550 million in principal amount of two
percent convertible subordinated notes due January 2007 (the “Notes” or “Convertible Subordinated Debt”) (see Note 8,
“Convertible Subordinated Debt,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements). Holders of the Notes may, in whole
or in part, convert the Notes into shares of our common stock at a conversion rate of 22.8571 shares per $1,000 principal
amount of notes (approximately 6.4 million shares may be issued upon conversion based on outstanding debt of
$278.9 million as of October 29, 2005) at any time prior to maturity on January 1, 2007, subject to earlier redemption.
Under the original term of the Notes, at any time on or after January 5, 2005, we were entitled to redeem the notes in
whole or in part at the following prices expressed as a percentage of the principal amount:
 
     

Redemption Period  Price  
 

Beginning on January 5, 2005 and ending on December 31, 2005   100.80% 
Beginning on January 1, 2006 and ending on December 31, 2006   100.40% 
On January 1, 2007   100.00% 
 

We are required to pay interest on January 1 and July 1 of each year, beginning July 1, 2002. Debt issuance costs are
being amortized over the term of the notes. The amortization of debt issuance costs will accelerate upon early redemption,
repurchase, or conversion of the notes. The net proceeds remain available for general corporate purposes, including
working capital and capital expenditures.
 

During fiscal years 2005 and 2004, the Company repurchased on the open market $73.4 million and $90.7 million in
face value of its Convertible Subordinated Debt, respectively. For the year ended October 29, 2005, the Company paid an
average of $0.96 for each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase price of $70.5 million, which resulted in a pre-tax
gain of $2.3 million. For the year ended October 30, 2004, the Company paid an average of $0.93 for each dollar of face
value for an aggregate purchase price of $84.4 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $5.6 million. As of October 29,
2005, the remaining balance outstanding of the convertible subordinated debt was $278.9 million.
 

On August 23, 2005, in accordance with the terms of the indenture agreement dated December 21, 2001 with respect
to the Convertible Subordinated Debt, the Company elected to deposit securities with the trustee of the Notes (the
“Trustee”), which fully collateralized the outstanding notes, and to discharge the indenture agreement. Pursuant to this
election, the Company provided an irrevocable letter of instruction to the Trustee to issue a notice of redemption on
June 26, 2006 and to redeem the Notes on August 22, 2006 (the “Redemption Date”). Over the course of the next year, the
Trustee, using the securities deposited with them, will pay to the noteholders (1) all the interest scheduled to become due
per the original note prior to the Redemption Date, and (2) all the principal and remaining interest, plus a call premium of
0.4% of the face value of the Notes, on the Redemption Date. As of October 29, 2005, the Company had an aggregate of
$277.2 million in interest-bearing U.S. securities with the
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Trustee. The securities will remain on the Company’s balance sheet as restricted short-term investments until the
Redemption Date. The Company recorded a loss on investments of $4.7 million in the three months ended October 29,
2005 with respect to the disposition of certain short-term and long-term investments that was necessary to deposit the
securities with the Trustee.
 

On November 18, 2003, we purchased a previously leased building located near our San Jose headquarters, and issued
a $1.0 million guarantee as part of the purchase agreements.
 

The following table summarizes our contractual obligations (including interest expense) and commitments as of
October 29, 2005 (in thousands):
 
                     

     Less than         
More
than  

  Total   1 Year   1-3 Years   3-5 Years   5 Years  
 

Contractual Obligations:                     
Convertible subordinated notes, including

interest  $ 286,401  $ 286,401  $ —  $ —  $ — 
Non-cancelable operating leases   69,868   16,298   28,105   25,465   — 
Purchase commitments, gross   49,060(1)   49,060   —   —   — 
                     

Total contractual obligations  $ 405,329  $ 351,759  $ 28,105  $ 25,465  $ — 
                     

Other Commitments:                     
Standby letters of credit  $ 8,343  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a 
                     

Guarantee  $ 1,015  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a  $ n/a 
                     

 

 

(1) Amount reflects total gross purchase commitments under our manufacturing agreement with Foxconn. Of this
amount, we have reserved $6.6 million for estimated purchase commitments that we do not expect to consume in
normal operations.

 

Share Repurchase Program.  In August 2004, our board of directors approved a share repurchase program for up to
$100.0 million of our common stock. The purchases may be made, from time to time, in the open market and will be
funded from available working capital. The number of shares to be purchased and the timing of purchases will be based on
the level of our cash balances, general business and market conditions, and other factors, including alternative investment
opportunities. To date, we have repurchased 1.2 million shares and $92.9 million remains available for future repurchases
under this program.
 

Equity Investments.  Under the terms of a certain investment agreement with a non-publicly traded company, the
Company may be required to make additional investments of up to $3.8 million if certain milestones are met. In addition,
the Company signed a licensing agreement with the same company, under which it may be required to pay up to
$5.7 million of prepaid license fees if certain milestones are met.
 

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, and cash expected to be
generated from future operations will be sufficient to meet our capital requirements at least through the next 12 months,
although we may elect to seek additional funding prior to that time, if available. Our future capital requirements will
depend on many factors, including our rate of revenue growth, the timing and extent of spending to support our product
development efforts and the expansion of our sales and marketing programs, the timing of introductions of new products
and enhancements to our existing products, and market acceptance of our products.
 

Critical Accounting Policies
 

Our discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is based upon our Consolidated Financial
Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation
of these Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts
of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate, on an
on-going basis, our estimates and judgments, including those related to sales returns, bad debts, excess inventory and
purchase commitments, investments, warranty obligations, restructuring costs,
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lease losses, income taxes, and contingencies and litigation. We base our estimates on historical experience and
assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results
may differ from these estimates.
 

The methods, estimates, and judgments we use in applying our most critical accounting policies have a significant
impact on the results that we report in our Consolidated Financial Statements. The SEC considers an entity’s most critical
accounting policies to be those policies that are both most important to the portrayal of a company’s financial condition
and results of operations, and those that require management’s most difficult, subjective or complex judgments, often as a
result of the need to make estimates about matters that are inherently uncertain at the time of estimation. We believe the
following critical accounting policies, among others, require significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of
our Consolidated Financial Statements:
 

 • Revenue recognition, and allowances for sales returns, sales programs, and doubtful accounts;
 

 • Stock-based compensation;
 

 • Warranty reserves;
 

 • Inventory and purchase commitment reserves;
 

 • Restructuring charges and lease loss reserves;
 

 • Litigation costs; and
 

 • Accounting for income taxes.
 

Revenue recognition, and allowances for sales returns, sales programs, and doubtful accounts.  Product revenue is
generally recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has occurred, the fee is fixed or
determinable, and collection is probable. However, for newly introduced products, many of our large OEM customers
require a product qualification period during which our products are tested and approved by the OEM customer for sale to
their customers. Revenue recognition, and related cost, is deferred for shipments to new OEM customers and for
shipments of newly introduced products to existing OEM customers until satisfactory evidence of completion of the
product qualification has been received from the OEM customer. In addition, revenue from sales to our master reseller
customers is recognized in the same period in which the product is sold by the master reseller (sell-through).
 

We reduce revenue for estimated sales returns, sales programs, and other allowances at the time of shipment. Sales
returns, sales programs, and other allowances are estimated based on historical experience, current trends, and our
expectations regarding future experience. Reductions to revenue associated with sales returns, sales programs, and other
allowances include consideration of historical sales levels, the timing and magnitude of historical sales returns, claims
under sales programs, and other allowances, and a projection of this experience into the future. In addition, we maintain
allowances for doubtful accounts, which are also accounted for as a reduction in revenue, for estimated losses resulting
from the inability of our customers to make required payments. We analyze accounts receivable, historical collection
patterns, customer concentrations, customer creditworthiness, current economic trends, changes in customer payment
terms and practices, and customer communication when evaluating the adequacy of the allowance for doubtful accounts. If
actual sales returns, sales programs, and other allowances exceed our estimate, or if the financial condition of our
customers was to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances and
charges may be required.
 

Service revenue consists of training, warranty, and maintenance arrangements, including post-contract customer
support (“PCS”) services. PCS services are offered under renewable, annual fee-based contracts or as part of multiple
element arrangements and typically include upgrades and enhancements to our software operating system software, and
telephone support. Service revenue, including revenue allocated to PCS elements, is deferred and recognized ratably over
the contractual period. Service contracts are typically one to three years in length. Training revenue is recognized upon
completion of the training.
 

Our multiple-element product offerings include computer hardware and software products, and support services. We
also sell certain software products and support services separately. Our software products are essential
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to the functionality of our hardware products and are, therefore, accounted for in accordance with Statement of Position
97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97-2”), as amended. We allocate revenue to each element based upon
vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of the element or, if VSOE is not available, by application
of the residual method. VSOE of the fair value for an element is based upon the price charged when the element is sold
separately. Revenue allocated to each element is then recognized when the basic revenue recognition criteria are met for
each element. Changes in the allocation of revenue to each element in a multiple element arrangement may affect the
timing of revenue recognition.
 

Stock-Based Compensation.  The Company accounts for its stock option plans and its Employee Stock Purchase Plan
in accordance with the provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued To
Employees,” (“APB 25”), whereby the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value on the date of grant
is recognized as compensation expense. Under the intrinsic value method of accounting, no compensation expense is
recognized in the Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations when the exercise price of the Company’s employee
stock option grants equals the market price of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, and the measurement
date of the option grant is certain. The measurement date is certain when the date of grant is fixed and determinable. When
the measurement date is not certain, then the Company records stock compensation expense using variable accounting
under APB 25. When variable accounting is applied to stock option grants, the Company remeasures the intrinsic value of
the options at the end of each reporting period or until the options are exercised, cancelled or expire unexercised.
Compensation expense in any given period is calculated as the difference between total earned compensation at the end of
the period, less total earned compensation at the beginning of the period. Compensation earned is calculated under an
accelerated vesting method in accordance with FASB Interpretation 28. As a result, changes in stock prices will change
the intrinsic value of the options and compensation expense or benefit recognized in any given period.
 

Warranty reserves.  We provide warranties on our products ranging from one to three years. Estimated future warranty
costs are accrued at the time of shipment and charged to cost of revenues based upon historical experience, current trends
and our expectations regarding future experience. If actual warranty costs exceed our estimate, additional charges may be
required.
 

Inventory and purchase commitment reserves.  We write down inventory and record purchase commitment reserves
for estimated excess and obsolete inventory equal to the difference between the cost of inventory and the estimated fair
value based upon forecast of future product demand, product transition cycles, and market conditions. Although we strive
to ensure the accuracy of our forecasts of future product demand, any significant unanticipated changes in demand or
technological developments could have a significant impact on the value of our inventory and commitments, and our
reported results. If actual market conditions are less favorable than those projected, additional inventory write-downs,
purchase commitment reserves, and charges against earnings might be required.
 

Restructuring charges and lease loss reserves.  We monitor and regularly evaluate our organizational structure and
associated operating expenses. Depending on events and circumstances, we may decide to take additional actions to
reduce future operating costs as our business requirements evolve. In determining restructuring charges, we analyze our
future operating requirements, including the required headcount by business functions and facility space requirements. Our
restructuring costs, and any resulting accruals, involve significant estimates made by management using the best
information available at the time the estimates are made, some of which may be provided by third parties. In recording
severance reserves, we accrue liability when all of the following conditions have been met: employees’ rights to receive
compensation for future absences is attributable to employees’ services already rendered; the obligation relates to rights
that vest or accumulate; payment of the compensation is probable; and the amount can be reasonably estimated. In
recording facilities lease loss reserves, we make various assumptions, including the time period over which the facilities
are expected to be vacant, expected sublease terms, expected sublease rates, anticipated future operating expenses, and
expected future use of the facilities. Our estimates involve a number of risks and uncertainties, some of which are beyond
our control, including future real estate market conditions and our ability to successfully enter into subleases or lease
termination agreements with terms as favorable as those assumed when arriving at our estimates. We regularly evaluate a
number of factors to determine the appropriateness and reasonableness of our restructuring and lease loss accruals
including the various assumptions noted above. If actual results differ significantly from our estimates, we may be
required to adjust our restructuring and lease loss accruals in the future.
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Litigation costs.  We are subject to the possibility of legal actions arising in the ordinary course of business. We
regularly monitor the status of pending legal actions to evaluate both the magnitude and likelihood of any potential loss.
We accrue for these potential losses when it is probable that a liability has been incurred and the amount of loss, or
possible range of loss, can be reasonably estimated. If actual results differ significantly from our estimates, we may be
required to adjust our accruals in the future.
 

Accounting for income taxes.  The determination of our tax provision is subject to judgments and estimates due to
operations in multiple tax jurisdictions inside and outside the United States. Sales to our international customers are
principally taxed at rates that are lower than the United States statutory rates. The ability to maintain our current effective
tax rate is contingent upon existing tax laws in both the United States and in the respective countries in which our
international subsidiaries are located. Future changes in domestic or international tax laws could affect the continued
realization of the tax benefits we are currently receiving and expect to receive from international sales. In addition, an
increase in the percentage of our total revenue from international customers or in the mix of international revenue among
particular tax jurisdictions could change our overall effective tax rate. Also, our current effective tax rate assumes that
United States income taxes are not provided for undistributed earnings of certain non-United States subsidiaries. These
earnings could become subject to United States federal and state income taxes and foreign withholding taxes, as
applicable, should they be either deemed or actually remitted from our international subsidiaries to the United States.
 

The carrying value of our net deferred tax assets is subject to a full valuation allowance. At some point in the future,
the Company may have sufficient United States taxable income to release the valuation allowance and accrue United
States tax. We evaluate the expected realization of our deferred tax assets and assess the need for valuation allowances
quarterly.
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, “Inventory Costs — an
amendment of ARB No. 43” (“SFAS 151”), which is the result of its efforts to converge U.S. accounting standards for
inventories with International Accounting Standards. SFAS No. 151 requires idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs,
and wasted material (spoilage) costs to be recognized as current-period charges. It also requires that allocation of fixed
production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.
SFAS No. 151 will be effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. We do not
expect the adoption of SFAS 151 will have material impact on its financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123R establishes standards for the accounting for
transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange for goods or services that are based on the fair value of the
entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity instruments. SFAS 123R does not change
the accounting guidance for share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees provided in SFAS 123 as
originally issued and EITF Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” SFAS 123R is effective for the first interim
or annual reporting period of the company’s first fiscal year that begins on or after June 15, 2005. We expect the adoption
of SFAS 123R to have a negative impact on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. See Note 2,
“Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information related
to the pro forma effects on our reported net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share of applying the fair value
recognition provision of the previous SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation.
 

In March 2005, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, released Staff Accounting Bulletin 107,
“Share-Based Payments,” (“SAB 107”). The interpretations in SAB 107 express views of the SEC staff, or staff,
regarding the interaction between SFAS 123R and certain SEC rules and regulations, and provide the staff’s views
regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. In particular, SAB 107 provides
guidance related to share-based payment transactions with non-employees, the transition from nonpublic
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to public entity status, valuation methods (including assumptions such as expected volatility and expected term), the
accounting for certain redeemable financial instruments issued under share-based payment arrangements, the classification
of compensation expense, non-GAAP financial measures, first-time adoption of SFAS 123R in an interim period,
capitalization of compensation cost related to share-based payment arrangements, the accounting for income tax effects of
share-based payment arrangements upon adoption of SFAS 123R, the modification of employee share options prior to
adoption of SFAS 123R and disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis subsequent to adoption of SFAS 123R.
SAB 107 requires stock-based compensation be classified in the same expense lines as cash compensation is reported for
the same employees. We will apply the principles of SAB 107 in conjunction with our adoption of SFAS 123R.
 

In June 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections” (“SFAS 154”), a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes”, and Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” The Statement
applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and changes the requirements for accounting for and reporting of a
change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of a
voluntary change in accounting principle unless it is impracticable. It is effective for accounting changes and corrections
of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for accounting changes
and corrections of errors made occurring in fiscal years beginning after June 1, 2005.
 

In June 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 143-1, “Accounting for Electronic Equipment Waste
Obligations” (“FSP 143-1”). FSP 143-1 was issued to address the accounting for obligations associated with Directive
2002/96/EC on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (the “Directive”) adopted by the European Union. The
Directive obligates a commercial user to incur costs associated with the retirement of a specified asset that qualifies as
historical waste equipment effective August 13, 2005. FSP 143-1 requires commercial users to apply the provisions of
SFAS 143, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, and the related FASB Interpretation No. 47,
Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, to the obligation associated with historical waste. FSP 143-1 is
effective the later of the first reporting period ending after June 8, 2005 or the date of the adoption of the law by the
applicable European Union-member. We are in the process of determining the effect of the adoption of FSP 143-1 will
have on our financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 

Our exposure to market risk due to changes in the general level of United States interest rates relates primarily to our
cash equivalents, short-term and long-term investment portfolios, and restricted short-term investments. Our cash, cash
equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, and restricted short-term investments are primarily maintained at six
major financial institutions in the United States. As of October 29, 2005, we did not hold any derivative instruments. The
primary objective of our investment activities is the preservation of principal while maximizing investment income and
minimizing risk.
 

The following table presents the hypothetical changes in fair values of our investments in debt securities issued by
United States government and its agencies as of October 29, 2005 that are sensitive to changes in interest rates (in
thousands):
 
                             

  Valuation of Securities   Fair Value   Valuation of Securities  
  Given an Interest Rate   as of   Given an Interest Rate  
  Decrease of X Basis Points   October 29,   Increase of X Basis Points  
Issuer  (150 BPS)   (100 BPS)   (50 BPS)   2005   50 BPS   100 BPS   150 BPS  
 

U.S. government, U.S.
government agencies and
municipal obligations  $ 416,737  $ 414,774  $ 412,824  $ 410,945  $ 408,981  $ 407,087  $ 405,210 

Corporate bonds and notes  $ 173,290  $ 172,671  $ 172,056  $ 171,456  $ 170,835  $ 170,229  $ 169,628 
                             

Total  $ 590,027  $ 587,445  $ 584,880  $ 582,401  $ 579,816  $ 577,316  $ 574,838 
                             

 

These instruments are not leveraged and are classified as available-for-sale. The modeling technique used measures the
change in fair values arising from selected potential changes in interest rates. Market changes reflect
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immediate hypothetical parallel shifts in the yield curve of plus or minus 50 basis points (BPS), 100 BPS, and 150 BPS,
which are representative of the historical movements in the Federal Funds Rate.
 

The following table (in thousands) presents our cash and cash equivalents, restricted short-term investments, and
short-term and long-term investments subject to interest rate risk and their related weighted average interest rates at
October 29, 2005. Carrying value approximates fair value.
 
         

     Average  
  Amount   Interest Rate  

 

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 182,001   3.4%
Restricted short-term investments   277,230   3.9%
Short-term investments   209,865   2.9%
Long-term investments   95,306   3.3%
         

Total  $ 764,402   3.4%
         

 

Our convertible subordinated debt is subject to a fixed interest rate and the notes are based on a fixed conversion ratio
into common stock. The notes are not listed on any securities exchange or included in any automated quotation system;
however, the notes are eligible for trading on the PortalSM  Market. On October 28, 2005, the last reported sale price, the
average bid and ask price on the Portal Market of our convertible subordinated notes due 2007 was 97.9, resulting in an
aggregate fair value of approximately $273.2 million. Our common stock is quoted on the Nasdaq National Market under
the symbol “BRCD.” On October 28, 2005, the last reported sale price of our common stock on the Nasdaq National
Market was $3.60 per share.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC:
 

We have audited accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and
subsidiaries (the Company) as of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, and the related consolidated statements of
operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended October 29, 2005. In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, we also have
audited the financial statement schedule as listed in Item 15(2). These consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these consolidated financial statements and financial statement schedule based on our audits.
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries as of October 29, 2005 and October 30,
2004, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended
October 29, 2005, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also in our opinion, the related
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole,
present fairly, in all material respects, the information set forth therein.
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries internal control over financial
reporting as of October 29, 2005, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), and our report dated January 16,
2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on management’s assessment of, and the effective operation of, internal control
over financial reporting.

 

/s/  KPMG LLP
 

Mountain View, California
January 16, 2006
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  
  (In thousands, except per share amounts)  

 

Net revenues  $ 574,120  $ 596,265  $ 525,277 
Cost of revenues   251,161   268,974   241,163 
             

Gross margin   322,959   327,291   284,114 
             

Operating expenses:             
Research and development   130,936   141,998   145,896 
Sales and marketing   101,202   102,445   115,075 
General and administrative   25,189   24,593   21,306 
Internal review and SEC investigation costs   14,027   —   — 
Settlement of an acquisition-related claim   —   6,943   — 
Amortization of deferred stock compensation   1,512   537   649 
Restructuring costs (reversals)   (670)   8,966   20,828 
In-process research and development   7,784   —   134,898 
Lease termination charge and other, net   —   75,591   — 

             

Total operating expenses   279,980   361,073   438,652 
             

Income (loss) from operations   42,979   (33,782)   (154,538)
Interest and other income, net   22,656   18,786   18,424 
Interest expense   (7,693)   (10,677)   (13,339)
Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt   2,318   5,613   11,118 
Gain (loss) on investments, net   (5,062)   436   3,638 
             

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes   55,198   (19,624)   (134,697)
Income tax provision   12,077   14,070   11,852 
             

Net income (loss)  $ 43,121  $ (33,694)  $ (146,549)
             

Net income (loss) per share — basic  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
             

Net income (loss) per share — diluted  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
             

Shares used in per share calculation — basic   268,176   260,446   250,610 
             

Shares used in per share calculation — diluted   270,260   260,446   250,610 
             

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
 
         

  October 29,   October 30,  
  2005   2004  
  (In thousands,  
  except par value)  

 

ASSETS
Current assets:         

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 182,001  $ 79,375 
Short-term investments   209,865   406,933 

         

Total cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments   391,866   486,308 
Restricted short-term investments   277,230   — 
Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $4,942 and $3,861 in 2005 and 2004,

respectively   70,104   95,778 
Inventories   11,030   5,597 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   23,859   19,131 

         

Total current assets   774,089   606,814 
Long-term investments   95,306   250,600 
Property and equipment, net   108,118   124,701 
Other assets   8,168   5,267 
         

Total assets  $ 985,681  $ 987,382 
         

 
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current liabilities:         
Accounts payable  $ 23,778  $ 40,826 
Accrued employee compensation   37,762   33,330 
Deferred revenue   45,488   34,886 
Current liabilities associated with lease losses   4,659   5,677 
Other accrued liabilities   73,783   57,933 
Convertible subordinated debt   278,883   — 

         

Total current liabilities   464,353   172,652 
Non-current liabilities associated with lease losses   12,481   16,799 
Convertible subordinated debt   —   352,279 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 9)         

Stockholders’ equity:         
Preferred stock, $0.001 par value 5,000 shares authorized, no shares issued and

outstanding   —   — 
Common stock, $0.001 par value, 800,000 shares authorized:         

Issued and outstanding: 269,695 and 264,242 shares at October 29, 2005 and
October 30, 2004, respectively   270   264 

Additional paid-in capital   855,563   832,655 
Deferred stock compensation   (3,180)   (5,174)
Accumulated other comprehensive income   (3,974)   860 
Accumulated deficit   (339,832)   (382,953)

         

Total stockholders’ equity   508,847   445,652 
         

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity  $ 985,681  $ 987,382 
         

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

 
                                 

              Accumulated          
        Additional   Deferred   Other      Total   Comprehensive 
  Common Stock   Paid-In   Stock   Comprehensive  Accumulated   Stockholders’   Income  
  Shares   Amount   Capital   Compensation  Income   Deficit   Equity   (Loss)  
  (In thousands)  

 

Balances at October 26,
2002   234,652  $ 235  $ 649,000  $ (6,348)  $ 6,078  $ (202,710)  $ 446,255  $ — 

Issuance of common
stock   3,511   3   11,641   —   —   —   11,644   — 

Issuance of common
stock related to the
Rhapsody acquisition  19,735   20   134,853   —   —   —   134,873   — 

Warrants issued related
to the Rhapsody
acquisition   —   —   1,939   —   —   —   1,939   — 

Change in deferred
stock compensation   —   —   (3,777)   3,777   —   —   —   — 

Deferred stock
compensation related
to the acquisition of
Rhapsody   —   —   —   (1,677)   —   —   (1,677)   — 

Deferred stock
compensation related
to the change in
measurement dates   —   —   1,571   (1,571)   —   —   —   — 

Amortization of
deferred stock
compensation   —   —   —   1,597   —   —   1,597   — 

Stock-based
compensation
expense   —   —   193   —   —   —   193   — 

Repurchase of common
stock   (257)   —   (126)   —   —   —   (126)   — 

Change in unrealized
gain (loss) on
marketable equity
securities and
investments, net of
tax   —   —   —   —   (1,094)   —   (1,094)   (1,094)

Change in cumulative
translation
adjustments   —   —   —   —   813   —   813   813 

Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   (146,549)   (146,549)   (146,549)
                                 

Balances at October 25,
2003   257,641   258   795,294   (4,222)   5,797   (349,259)   447,868   (146,830)

                                 

Issuance of common
stock   5,461   5   24,747   —   —   —   24,752   — 

Issuance of common
stock for
acquisition-related
claim   1,346   1   6,942   —   —   —   6,943   — 

Repurchase and
retirement of
common stock   (206)   —   (288)   —   —   —   (288)   — 

Change in deferred
stock compensation   —   —   3,335   (3,335)   —   —   —   — 

Deferred stock
compensation related
restricted stock
grants   —   —   1,705   (1,705)   —   —   —   — 

Amortization of
deferred stock
compensation   —   —   —   4,088   —   —   4,088   — 

Stock-based
compensation
expense   —   —   920   —   —   —   920   — 

Change in unrealized
gain (loss) on
marketable equity
securities and
investments, net of
tax   —   —   —   —   (5,219)   —   (5,219)   (5,219)

Change in cumulative
translation
adjustments   —   —   —   —   282   —   282   282 

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006



Net loss   —   —   —   —   —   (33,694)   (33,694)   (33,694)
                                 

Balances at October 30,
2004   264,242   264   832,655   (5,174)   860   (382,953)   445,652   (38,631)

                                 

Issuance of common
stock   6,665   7   30,032   —   —   —   30,039   — 

Repurchase and
retirement of
common stock   (62)   —   (326)   —   —   —   (326)   — 

Common stock
repurchase program   (1,150)   (1)   (7,049)   —   —   —   (7,050)   — 

Tax benefits from
employee stock
option transactions   —   —   2,571   —   —   —   2,571   — 

Change in deferred
stock compensation   —   —   (4,231)   4,231   —   —   —   — 

Deferred stock
compensation related
restricted stock
grants and Therion
acquisition   —   —   1,911   (1,622)   —   —   289   — 

Amortization of
deferred stock
compensation   —   —   —   (615)   —   —   (615)   — 

Change in unrealized
gain (loss) on
marketable equity
securities and
investments, net of
tax   —   —   —   —   (4,270)   —   (4,270)   (4,270)

Change in cumulative
translation
adjustments   —   —   —   —   (564)   —   (564)   (564)

Net income   —   —   —   —   —   43,121   43,121   43,121 
                                 

Balances at October 29,
2005   269,695  $ 270  $ 855,563  $ (3,180)  $ (3,974)  $ (339,832)  $ 508,847  $ 38,287 

                                 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  
  (In thousands)  

 

Cash flows from operating activities:             
Net income (loss)  $ 43,121  $ (33,694)  $ (146,549)
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating

activities:             
Tax benefit from employee stock plans   2,571   —   — 
Depreciation and amortization   46,203   52,162   46,941 
Loss on disposal of property and equipment   1,879   8,510   4,568 
Amortization of debt issuance costs   1,366   1,929   2,440 
(Gain) loss on investments and marketable equity securities, net   5,178   (202)   (3,640)
Gain on repurchases of convertible subordinated debt   (2,318)   (5,613)   (11,118)
Provision for doubtful accounts receivable and sales returns   2,955   3,406   3,137 
Non-cash compensation expense   377   5,008   1,790 
Settlement of an acquisition-related claim   —   6,943   — 
Non-cash restructuring charges   —   4,995   8,088 
In-process research and development   7,784   —   134,898 
Changes in assets and liabilities:             

Accounts receivable   21,312   (24,249)   19,635 
Inventories   (5,433)   (1,636)   1,441 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (4,196)   1,089   4,739 
Accounts payable   (17,117)   4,874   (24,394)
Accrued employee compensation   4,432   2,784   5,712 
Deferred revenue   10,602   14,994   (2,726)
Other accrued liabilities   12,394   6,595   7,206 
Liabilities associated with lease losses   (5,245)   (5,910)   (8,660)

             

Net cash provided by operating activities   125,865   41,985   43,508 
             

Cash flows from investing activities:             
Purchases of short-term investments   (254,642)   (98,126)   (53,954)
Purchases of long-term investments   (202,764)   (288,436)   (130,468)
Proceeds from maturities of short-term investments   618,063   72,025   62,543 
Proceeds from sales and maturities of long-term investments   178,428   118,078   30,859 
Proceeds from sales of marketable equity securities   —   —   5,454 
Purchases of property and equipment   (27,267)   (53,758)   (31,306)
Purchases of non-marketable minority equity investments   (3,498)   (500)   — 
Purchases of restricted short-term investments   (275,995)   —   — 
Cash acquired from (paid in connection with) an acquisition   (7,185)   —   2,453 

             

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities   25,140   (250,717)   (114,419)
             

Cash flows from financing activities:             
Repurchases of convertible subordinated debt   (70,485)   (84,366)   (94,386)
Accrual (settlement) of repurchase obligation   —   (9,029)   9,029 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net   29,720   21,207   11,515 
Common stock repurchase program   (7,050)   —   — 
Payments on assumed capital lease and debt obligations for Rhapsody acquisition   —   —   (12,583)

             

Net cash used in financing activities   (47,815)   (72,188)   (86,425)
             

Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash and cash equivalents   (564)   283   813 
             

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents   102,626   (280,637)   (156,523)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year   79,375   360,012   516,535 
             

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year  $ 182,001  $ 79,375  $ 360,012 
             

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:             
Common stock issued for acquisition of Rhapsody, net of acquisition costs  $ —  $ —  $ 137,134 

             

Net assets acquired from acquisition of Rhapsody  $ —  $ —  $ 3,556 
             

Cash paid for interest  $ 8,195  $ 11,165  $ 14,056 
             

Cash paid for income taxes  $ 3,193  $ 4,047  $ 4,831 
             

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

1.  Organization and Operations of Brocade
 

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (Brocade or the Company) designs, develops, markets, sells, and supports data
storage networking products and services, offering a line of storage networking products that enable companies to
implement highly available, scalable, manageable, and secure environments for data storage applications. The Brocade
SilkWorm family of storage area networking (SAN) products is designed to help companies reduce the cost and
complexity of managing business information within a data storage environment. In addition, the Brocade TapestryTM

family of application infrastructure solutions extends the ability to manage and optimize application and information
resources across the enterprise. Brocade products and services are marketed, sold, and supported worldwide to end-user
customers through distribution partners, including original equipment manufacturers (OEMs), value-added distributors,
systems integrators, and value-added resellers.
 

Brocade was reincorporated on May 14, 1999 as a Delaware corporation, succeeding operations that began on
August 24, 1995. The Company’s headquarters are located in San Jose, California.
 

Brocade, the Brocade B weave logo, Fabric OS, Secure Fabric OS, and SilkWorm are registered trademarks and
Tapestry is a trademark of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., in the United States and in other countries. All other
brands, products, or service names are or may be trademarks or service marks of, and are used to identify, products or
services of their respective owners.
 

2.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 

Fiscal Year
 

The Company’s fiscal year is the 52 or 53 weeks ending on the last Saturday in October. As is customary for
companies that use the 52/53-week convention, every fifth year contains a 53-week year. Fiscal years 2005 and 2003 were
both 52-week fiscal years. Fiscal year 2004 was a 53-week fiscal year. The second quarter of fiscal year 2004 consisted of
14 weeks, which is one week more than a typical quarter.
 

Principles of Consolidation
 

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Brocade Communication Systems, Inc. and its
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
 

Cash and Cash Equivalents
 

The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original or remaining maturity of three months or less at
the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
 

Investments and Equity Securities
 

Investment securities with original or remaining maturities of more than three months but less than one year are
considered short-term investments. Investment securities with original or remaining maturities of one year or more are
considered long-term investments. Short-term and long-term investments consist of debt securities issued by United States
government agencies, municipal government obligations, and corporate bonds and notes. In the first quarter of fiscal year
2005, the Company concluded that it was appropriate to classify its auction rate securities as short-term investments.
These investments were previously classified as cash and cash equivalents. Accordingly, we have revised our October 30,
2004 balance sheet to report these securities totaling $35.2 million as short-term investments on the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 

Short-term and long-term investments are maintained at three major financial institutions, are classified as
available-for-sale, and are recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Fair value is
determined using quoted market prices for those securities. Unrealized holding gains and losses are included as a separate
component of accumulated other comprehensive income on the accompanying Consolidated Balance
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Sheets, net of any related tax effect. Realized gains and losses are calculated based on the specific identification method
and are included in gain (loss) on investments, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 

Restricted short-term investments consists of debt securities issued by the United States government. These
investments are maintained at one major financial institution, and are recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets at fair value.
 

The Company recognizes an impairment charge when the declines in the fair values of its investments below the cost
basis are judged to be other-than-temporary. The Company considers various factors in determining whether to recognize
an impairment charge, including the length of time and extent to which the fair value has been less than the Company’s
cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, and the Company’s intent and ability to hold the
investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in market value.
 

Equity securities consist of equity holdings in public companies and are classified as available-for-sale when there are
no restrictions on the Company’s ability to immediately liquidate such securities. Marketable equity securities are
recorded on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets at fair value. Fair value is determined using quoted market
prices for those securities. Unrealized holding gains and losses are included as a separate component of accumulated other
comprehensive income on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, net of any related tax effect. Realized gains
and losses are calculated based on the specific identification method and are included in interest and other income, net on
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.
 

From time to time the Company makes equity investments in non-publicly traded companies. These investments are
included in other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets, and are generally accounted for under the cost
method if the Company does not have the ability to exercise significant influence over the respective company’s operating
and financial policies. The Company monitors its investments for impairment on a quarterly basis and makes appropriate
reductions in carrying values when such impairments are determined to be other-than-temporary. Impairment charges are
included in interest and other income, net on the Consolidated Statements of Operations. Factors used in determining an
impairment include, but are not limited to, the current business environment including competition and uncertainty of
financial condition; going concern considerations such as the rate at which the investee company utilizes cash, and the
investee company’s ability to obtain additional private financing to fulfill its stated business plan; the need for changes to
the investee company’s existing business model due to changing business environments and its ability to successfully
implement necessary changes; and comparable valuations. If an investment is determined to be impaired, a determination
is made as to whether such impairment is other-than-temporary (see Note 14). As of October 29, 2005 and October 30,
2004, the carrying values of the Company’s equity investments in non-publicly traded companies were $3.8 million and
$0.5 million, respectively.
 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 

Fair value of certain of the Company’s financial instruments, including cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable,
employee notes receivable, accounts payable, and accrued liabilities, approximate cost because of their short maturities.
The fair value of investments and marketable equity securities is determined using quoted market prices for those
securities or similar financial instruments. The fair value of convertible subordinated debt is determined using the average
bid and ask price on the Portal Market for the convertible debt.
 

Inventories
 

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out method. Inventory costs include
material, labor, and overhead. The Company records inventory write-down based on excess and obsolete inventories
determined primarily by future demand forecasts. All of our inventory is located offsite.
 

Property and Equipment
 

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation is computed
using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets. Estimated useful lives of four
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years are used for computer equipment, software, furniture and fixtures, except for the Company’s enterprise-wide,
integrated business information system, which is being depreciated over five to seven years. Estimated useful lives of up
to four years are used for engineering and other equipment. Estimated useful life of 30 years is used for buildings.
Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the
remaining term of the lease.
 

Notes Receivable from Non-Executive Employees
 

Prior to fiscal year 2003, the Company historically provided loans to various non-executive employees principally
related to the respective employees’ relocation to the San Francisco Bay area. The loans are generally evidenced by
secured promissory notes to the Company and bear interest at prevailing rates. Notes receivable from employees are
included in prepaid expenses and other current assets, and other assets in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets
depending upon their remaining term. As of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, the Company had outstanding loans
to various employees totaling less than $0.1 million and $1.6 million, respectively.
 

Accrued Employee Compensation
 

Accrued employee compensation consists of accrued wages, commissions, payroll taxes, vacation, payroll deductions
for the Company’s employee stock purchase plan, and other employee benefit payroll deductions.
 

Concentrations
 

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of cash
equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, restricted short-term investments, and accounts receivable. Cash, cash
equivalents, short-term and long-term investments, and restricted short-term investments are primarily maintained at six
major financial institutions in the United States. Deposits held with banks may be redeemed upon demand and may exceed
the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. The Company principally invests in United States government debt
securities, United States government agency debt securities and corporate bonds and notes, and limits the amount of credit
exposure to any one issuer.
 

A majority of the Company’s trade receivable balance is derived from sales to OEM partners in the computer storage
and server industry. As of October 29, 2005, three customers accounted for 37 percent, 18 percent, and 10 percent of total
accounts receivable. As of October 30, 2004, three customers accounted for 29 percent, 26 percent, and 20 percent of total
accounts receivable. The Company performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and does not require collateral on
accounts receivable balances. The Company has established reserves for credit losses and sales returns, and other
allowances. The Company has not experienced material credit losses in any of the periods presented.
 

For the fiscal years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, three customers each
represented greater than ten percent of the Company’s total revenues for combined totals of 71 percent, 70 percent, and
67 percent of total revenues, respectively. The level of sales to any single customer may vary and the loss of any one of
these customers, or a decrease in the level of sales to any one of these customers, could seriously harm the Company’s
financial condition and results of operations.
 

The Company currently relies on single and limited supply sources for several key components used in the
manufacture of its products. Additionally, the Company relies on one contract manufacturer for the production of its
products. The inability of any single and limited source suppliers or the inability of the contract manufacturer to fulfill
supply and production requirements, respectively, could have a material adverse effect on the Company’s future operating
results.
 

The Company’s business is concentrated in the storage area networking industry, which has been impacted by
unfavorable economic conditions and reduced global information technology (“IT”) spending rates. Accordingly, the
Company’s future success depends upon the buying patterns of customers in the storage area networking industry, their
response to current and future IT investment trends, and the continued demand by such customers for the Company’s
products. The Company’s continued success will depend upon its ability to enhance its existing
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products and to develop and introduce, on a timely basis, new cost-effective products and features that keep pace with
technological developments and emerging industry standards.
 

Revenue Recognition
 

Product revenue.  Product revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred, the fee is fixed or determinable, and collection is probable. However, for newly introduced products, many of
the Company’s large OEM customers require a product qualification period during which the Company’s products are
tested and approved by the OEM customer for sale to their customers. Revenue recognition, and related cost, is deferred
for shipments to new OEM customers and for shipments of newly introduced products to existing OEM customers until
satisfactory evidence of completion of the product qualification has been received from the OEM customer. Revenue from
sales to the Company’s master reseller customers is recognized in the same period in which the product is actually sold by
the master reseller (sell-through).
 

The Company reduces revenue for estimated sales returns, sales programs, and other allowances at the time of
shipment. Sales returns, sales programs, and other allowances are estimated based upon historical experience, current
trends, and the Company’s expectations regarding future experience. In addition, the Company maintains allowances for
doubtful accounts, which are also accounted for as a reduction in revenue. The allowance for doubtful accounts is
estimated based upon analysis of accounts receivable, historical collection patterns, customer concentrations, customer
creditworthiness, current economic trends, and changes in customer payment terms and practices.
 

Service revenue.  Service revenue consists of training, warranty, and maintenance arrangements, including
post-contract customer support (“PCS”) services. PCS services are offered under renewable, annual fee-based contracts or
as part of multiple element arrangements and typically include upgrades and enhancements to the Company’s software
operating system, and telephone support. Service revenue, including revenue allocated to PCS elements, is deferred and
recognized ratably over the contractual period. Service contracts are typically one to three years in length. Training
revenue is recognized upon completion of the training. Service and training revenue were not material in any of the
periods presented.
 

Multiple-element arrangements.  The Company’s multiple-element product offerings include computer hardware and
software products, and support services. The Company also sells certain software products and support services separately.
The Company’s software products are essential to the functionality of its hardware products and are, therefore, accounted
for in accordance with Statement of Position 97-2, “Software Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97-2”), as amended. The
Company allocates revenue to each element based upon vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) of the fair value of
the element or, if VSOE is not available, by application of the residual method. VSOE of the fair value for an element is
based upon the price charged when the element is sold separately. Revenue allocated to each element is then recognized
when the basic revenue recognition criteria are met for each element.
 

Warranty Expense.  The Company provides warranties on its products ranging from one to three years. Estimated
future warranty costs are accrued at the time of shipment and charged to cost of revenues based upon historical experience.
 

Software Development Costs
 

Eligible software development costs are capitalized upon the establishment of technological feasibility in accordance
with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 86, “Accounting for the Costs of Computer Software to be Sold,
Leased, or Otherwise Marketed.” Technological feasibility is defined as completion of designing, coding and testing
activities. Total eligible software development costs have not been material to date.
 

Costs related to internally developed software and software purchased for internal use are capitalized in accordance
with Statement of Position 98-1, “Accounting for Costs of Computer Software Developed or Obtained for Internal Use.”
During the year ended October 28, 2000, the Company purchased an enterprise-wide, integrated business information
system. As of October 29, 2005, a net book value of $3.5 million related to the purchase and
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subsequent implementation and upgrade of this system was included in property and equipment. These costs are being
depreciated over the initial estimated useful life of seven years.
 

Advertising Costs
 

The Company expenses all advertising costs as incurred. Advertising costs were not material in any of the periods
presented.
 

Impairment of Long-lived Assets
 

Long-lived assets to be held and used are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of such assets may not be recoverable. Determination of recoverability is based on an
estimate of undiscounted future cash flows resulting from the use of the asset and its eventual disposition. Measurement of
an impairment loss for long-lived assets that management expects to hold and use is based on the fair value of the asset as
estimated using a discounted cash flow model. Long-lived assets to be disposed of are reported at the lower of carrying
amount or fair value less costs to sell.
 

Income Taxes
 

Income tax expense is based on pretax financial accounting income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized
for the expected tax consequences of temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
reported amounts, along with net operating loss carryforwards and credit carryforwards. A valuation allowance is
recognized to the extent that it is more likely than not that the tax benefits will not be realized.
 

Computation of Net Income (Loss) per Share
 

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed using the weighted-average number of common shares outstanding
during the period, less shares subject to repurchase. Diluted net income (loss) per share is computed using the
weighted-average number of common shares and dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period. Dilutive
potential common shares result from the assumed exercise of outstanding stock options, by application of the treasury
stock method, that have a dilutive effect on earnings per share, and from the assumed conversion of outstanding
convertible debt if it has a dilutive effect on earnings per share.
 

Foreign Currency Translation
 

Assets and liabilities of non-United States subsidiaries that operate where the functional currency is the local currency
are translated to United States dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date with the resulting translation
adjustments recorded as a separate component of accumulated other comprehensive income. Income and expense accounts
are translated at average exchange rates during the period. Where the functional currency is the United States dollar,
translation adjustments are recorded in other income or expense.
 

Stock-Based Compensation
 

The Company accounts for its stock option plans and its Employee Stock Purchase Plan in accordance with the
provisions of Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued To Employees,” (“APB 25”),
whereby the difference between the exercise price and the fair market value on the date of grant is recognized as
compensation expense. Under the intrinsic value method of accounting, no compensation expense is recognized in the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Operations when the exercise price of the Company’s employee stock option
grants equals the market price of the underlying common stock on the date of grant, and the measurement date of the
option grant is certain. The measurement date is certain when the date of grant is fixed and determinable. When the
measurement date is not certain, then the Company records stock compensation expense using variable accounting under
APB 25. From 1999 through July 2003, the Company granted 98.8 million options subject to variable accounting as the
measurement date of the options grant was not certain. As of October 29, 2005, 3.3 million options with a weighted
average exercise price of $13.00 and a weighted average remaining life of 6.1 years remain outstanding and continue to be
accounted for under variable accounting. When variable accounting is applied to stock option grants, the Company
remeasures the intrinsic value of the options at the end of each
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reporting period or until the options are exercised, cancelled or expire unexercised. Compensation expense in any given
period is calculated as the difference between total earned compensation at the end of the period, less total earned
compensation at the beginning of the period. Compensation earned is calculated under an accelerated vesting method in
accordance with FASB Interpretation 28.
 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation,” (SFAS 123),
established a fair value based method of accounting for stock-based plans. Companies that elect to account for stock-based
compensation plans in accordance with APB 25 are required to disclose the pro forma net income (loss) that would have
resulted from the use of the fair value based method under SFAS 123.
 

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure an Amendment of FASB Statement No. 123” (SFAS 148), amended the disclosure requirements of SFAS 123
to require more prominent disclosures in both annual and interim financial statements regarding the method of accounting
for stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results. The pro forma information
resulting from the use of the fair value based method under SFAS 123 is as follows (in thousands except per share
amounts):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

Net income (loss)  $ 43,121  $ (33,694)  $ (146,549)
Add: Stock-based employee compensation expense (benefit) included in

reported net income (loss), net of tax   (616)   5,007   1,789 
Deduct: Stock-based compensation expense determined under fair value

based method, net of tax   (19,337)   (37,376)   (35,908)
             

Pro forma net profit (loss)  $ 23,168  $ (66,063)  $ (180,668)
             

Basic earnings (loss) per share:             
As reported  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
Pro Forma  $ 0.09  $ (0.25)  $ (0.72)

Diluted earnings (loss) per share:             
As reported  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
Pro Forma  $ 0.09  $ (0.25)  $ (0.72)

 

The fair value of stock options granted under the Plans during fiscal year 2005, and the fair value of common stock
issued under the Purchase Plan during fiscal year 2005, was approximately $27.7 million. Pro forma compensation
expense associated with stock options granted under the Plans during fiscal year 2005, and common stock issued under the
Purchase Plan during fiscal year 2005, was approximately $9.8 million.
 

When the measurement date is certain, the fair value of each option grant is estimated on the date of grant using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted-average assumptions for each respective fiscal year
ended:
 
                         

  Employee Stock Option Plans   Employee Stock Purchase Plan  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,   October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003   2005   2004   2003  

 

Expected dividend yield   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%   0.0%
Risk-free interest rate   3.7-4.1%   1.8-3.5%   1.2-3.0%   2.5-3.4%   1.0-1.5%   0.9-1.0%
Expected volatility   45.8%   52.0%   70.5%   45.8%   43.6%   63.5%
Expected life (in years)   2.8   2.7   1.9   0.5   0.5   0.5 
 

The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have
no vesting restrictions and are fully transferable. In addition, option-pricing models require the input of highly subjective
assumptions, including the expected stock price volatility. Because the Company’s employee stock options have
characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and because changes in the subjective input
assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing
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models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of the Company’s options. Under the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the weighted-average fair value of employee stock options granted during the years
ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, was $1.94 per share, $1.97 per share, and $1.96 per
share, respectively. When the measurement date is not certain, compensation cost is estimated based on the intrinsic value
of the award remeasured at the end of each reporting period.
 

Use of Estimates in Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements
 

The preparation of financial statements and related disclosures in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for, but not limited to, the useful lives of fixed assets,
allowances for doubtful accounts and product returns, inventory and warranty reserves, facilities lease losses and other
charges, fixed asset and investment impairment charges, accrued liabilities and other reserves, taxes, and contingencies.
Actual results could differ materially from these estimates.
 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In November 2004, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 151, “Inventory Costs — an
amendment of ARB No. 43” (“SFAS 151”), which is the result of its efforts to converge U.S. accounting standards for
inventories with International Accounting Standards. SFAS No. 151 requires idle facility expenses, freight, handling costs,
and wasted material (spoilage) costs to be recognized as current-period charges. It also requires that allocation of fixed
production overheads to the costs of conversion be based on the normal capacity of the production facilities.
SFAS No. 151 will be effective for inventory costs incurred during fiscal years beginning after June 15, 2005. The
Company does not expect the adoption of SFAS 151 will have material impact on its financial position, results of
operations, and cash flows.
 

In December 2004, the FASB issued a revision of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R supersedes APB Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock
Issued to Employees,” and its related implementation guidance. SFAS 123R establishes standards for the accounting for
transactions in which an entity incurs liabilities in exchange for goods or services that are based on the fair value of the
entity’s equity instruments or that may be settled by the issuance of those equity instruments. SFAS 123R does not change
the accounting guidance for share-based payment transactions with parties other than employees provided in SFAS 123 as
originally issued and EITF Issue No. 96-18, “Accounting for Equity Instruments That Are Issued to Other Than
Employees for Acquiring, or in Conjunction with Selling, Goods or Services.” SFAS 123R is effective for the first interim
or annual reporting period of the company’s first fiscal year that begins on or after June 15, 2005. The Company expects
the adoption of SFAS 123R to have a negative impact on its financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. See
Note 2, “Summary of Significant Accounting Policies,” of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements for information
related to the pro forma effects on the Company’s reported net income (loss) and net income (loss) per share of applying
the fair value recognition provision of the previous SFAS 123 to stock-based compensation.
 

In March 2005, the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, released Staff Accounting Bulletin 107,
“Share-Based Payments,” (“SAB 107”). The interpretations in SAB 107 express views of the SEC staff, or staff,
regarding the interaction between SFAS 123R and certain SEC rules and regulations, and provide the staff’s views
regarding the valuation of share-based payment arrangements for public companies. In particular, SAB 107 provides
guidance related to share-based payment transactions with non-employees, the transition from nonpublic to public entity
status, valuation methods (including assumptions such as expected volatility and expected term), the accounting for certain
redeemable financial instruments issued under share-based payment arrangements, the classification of compensation
expense, non-GAAP financial measures, first-time adoption of SFAS 123R in an interim period, capitalization of
compensation cost related to share-based payment arrangements, the accounting for income tax effects of share-based
payment arrangements upon adoption of SFAS 123R, the modification of employee share options prior to adoption of
SFAS 123R and disclosures in Management’s Discussion and Analysis subsequent to adoption of SFAS 123R. SAB 107
requires stock-based compensation be classified in the same expense lines as cash compensation is reported for the same
employees. The Company will apply the principles of SAB 107 in conjunction with its adoption of SFAS 123R.
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In June 2005, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 154, “Accounting Changes and
Error Corrections” (“SFAS 154”), a replacement of APB Opinion No. 20, “Accounting Changes”, and Statement of
Financial Accounting Standards No. 3, “Reporting Accounting Changes in Interim Financial Statements.” The Statement
applies to all voluntary changes in accounting principle and changes the requirements for accounting for and reporting of a
change in accounting principle. SFAS 154 requires retrospective application to prior periods’ financial statements of a
voluntary change in accounting principle unless it is impracticable. It is effective for accounting changes and corrections
of errors made in fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2005. Earlier application is permitted for accounting changes
and corrections of errors made occurring in fiscal years beginning after June 1, 2005.
 

In June 2005, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position No. 143-1, “Accounting for Electronic Equipment Waste
Obligations” (“FSP 143-1”). FSP 143-1 was issued to address the accounting for obligations associated with Directive
2002/96/EC on Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment (the “Directive”) adopted by the European Union. The
Directive obligates a commercial user to incur costs associated with the retirement of a specified asset that qualifies as
historical waste equipment effective August 13, 2005. FSP 143-1 requires commercial users to apply the provisions of
SFAS 143, Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, and the related FASB Interpretation No. 47,
Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations, to the obligation associated with historical waste. FSP 143-1 is
effective the later of the first reporting period ending after June 8, 2005 or the date of the adoption of the law by the
applicable European Union-member. The Company is in the process of determining the effect of the adoption of
FSP 143-1 will have on its financial position, results of operations, and cash flows.
 

Reclassifications
 

Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year balances in order to conform to the current year presentation
except where information required to make those reclassifications is not available. For fiscal years 2005 and 2004,
engineering costs related to the ongoing maintenance of existing products is included in cost of revenues. However, since
the information required to separately identify these costs in fiscal year 2003 was not available, these engineering costs are
included in research and development expense in fiscal year 2003.
 

3.  Acquisitions
 

Therion Software Corporation
 

On May 3, 2005, the Company completed its acquisition of Therion Software Corporation (“Therion”), a privately
held developer of software management solutions for the automated provisioning of servers over a storage network based
in Redmond, Washington. As of the acquisition date the Company owned approximately 13% of Therion’s equity interest
through investments totaling $1.0 million. Therion was a development stage company with no recognized revenue and a
core technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility. Accordingly, the acquisition of Therion was accounted
for as an asset purchase.
 

The total purchase price was $12.1 million, consisting of $9.3 million cash consideration for Therion’s preferred and
common stock holders, assumed stock options valued at $1.7 million, the Company’s initial investment of $1.0 million,
and direct acquisition cost of $0.1 million. Of the $9.3 million cash consideration, the Company paid $7.3 million upon
closing the transaction and recorded the remaining liability of $2.0 million to be paid over the next eighteen months. The
fair value of the assumed stock options was determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. In connection with
this acquisition, the Company recorded a $7.8 million in-process research and development charge, and allocated the
remaining purchase price to net assets of $2.9 million, deferred stock compensation of $1.5 million, and net liabilities of
$0.1 million, based on fair values.
 

Pro forma results of operations related to the Therion acquisition have not been presented since the result of Therion
operations were immaterial in relation to Brocade.
 

Rhapsody Networks, Inc.
 

On January 27, 2003, the Company completed its acquisition of Rhapsody Networks, Inc. (“Rhapsody”), a provider of
next-generation intelligent switching platforms. In exchange for all of the outstanding securities of Rhapsody, the
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Company issued 19.8 million shares of its common stock and assumed warrants to purchase 0.4 million shares of Brocade
common stock and options to purchase 0.3 million shares of Brocade common stock. In addition, in the second quarter of
fiscal year 2004, the Company recorded a $6.9 million charge in settlement of a claim relating to its acquisition of
Rhapsody. Under the terms of the settlement, in the third quarter of fiscal year 2004 the Company issued 1.3 million
shares of its common stock to the former Rhapsody shareholders in exchange for a release of claims.
 

The total purchase price was $138.5 million, consisting of Brocade common stock valued at $129.3 million; restricted
common stock, assumed warrants, and assumed options valued at $7.9 million, reduced by the intrinsic value of unvested
restricted stock and stock options of $1.7 million; and direct acquisition costs of $3.0 million. The value of the common
stock issued was determined based on the average of the five-day trading period ended November 7, 2002, or $6.95 per
share. The fair value of the restricted common stock, assumed warrants, and assumed options was determined using the
Black-Scholes option-pricing model. The deferred stock compensation of $1.7 million will be amortized over the
remaining service period on a straight-line basis.
 

As of the acquisition date, Rhapsody was a development stage company with no recognized revenue and a core
technology that had not yet reached technological feasibility. Technological feasibility is established when an enterprise
has completed all planning, designing, coding, and testing activities necessary to establish that the technology can be
utilized to meet design specifications, including functions, features, and technical performance requirements. The
Company incurred $17.2 million in expenses related to bringing the Rhapsody core technology to technological feasibility.
The Company completed the development of this technology in fiscal year 2004 and is beginning to generate revenues
related to this technology. Based upon the factors noted above, the Company concluded that for accounting purposes it
was not purchasing a business with an existing revenue stream, but rather a group of assets centered on a core technology
that the Company believes will ultimately be developed into a saleable product. As a result, the acquisition of Rhapsody
was accounted for as an asset purchase.
 

The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and acquired in-process research and
development (in-process R&D) based on their respective fair values. The excess of purchase price over the fair value of
net assets received was allocated to acquired in-process R&D and acquired non-monetary assets on a pro-rata basis.
 

The following table summarizes the allocation of purchase price for the acquisition of Rhapsody (in thousands):
 

 
             

        Allocated  
  Fair Value of   Allocation of   Fair Value of  
  Assets and   Excess   Assets and  
  Liabilities   Purchase Price   Liabilities  

 

Current assets  $ 20,766  $ —  $ 20,766 
Property and equipment   1,764   822   2,586 
Other assets   240   —   240 
             

Total assets acquired   22,770   822   23,592 
Current liabilities   (4,613)   —   (4,613)
Capital lease and debt obligations   (12,583)   —   (12,583)
Liabilities associated with facility lease loss   (2,840)   —   (2,840)
             

Total liabilities assumed   (20,036)   —   (20,036)
Acquired in-process R&D   92,015   42,883   134,898 
Excess purchase price   43,705   (43,705)   — 
             

Total purchase price  $ 138,454  $ —  $ 138,454 
             

 

The value assigned to acquired in-process R&D was estimated based on the income approach using discount rates
ranging from 35 percent to 45 percent. The income approach estimates the present value of the anticipated cash flows
attributable to the respective assets under development once they have reached technological feasibility. The anticipated
cash flows were based upon estimated prospective financial information, which was determined to be reasonable and
appropriate for use in reaching the value assigned to acquired in-process R&D. No intangible assets were identified. The
amount allocated to in-process R&D was expensed in the period of acquisition since the in-process R&D had not yet
reached technological feasibility and had no alternative future use.
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4.  Restructuring Costs
 

Fiscal 2004 Second Quarter Restructuring
 

During the three months ended May 1, 2004, the Company implemented a restructuring plan designed to optimize the
Company’s business model to drive improved profitability through reduction of headcount as well as certain structural
changes in the business. The plan encompassed organizational changes, which includes a reduction in force of 110 people,
or nine percent, announced on May 19, 2004. As a result, the Company recorded $10.5 million in restructuring costs
consisting of severance and benefit charges, equipment impairment charges, and contract termination and other charges.
Severance and benefits charges of $7.5 million consisted of severance and related employee termination costs, including
outplacement services, associated with the reduction of the Company’s workforce. Equipment impairment charges of
$1.2 million primarily consisted of excess equipment that is no longer being used as a result of the restructuring program.
Contract termination and other charges of $1.7 million were primarily related to the cancellation of certain contracts in
connection with the restructuring of certain business functions.
 

During the three months ended October 30, 2004, the Company recorded a reduction of $1.0 million to restructuring
costs, primarily because actual payments were lower than the estimated amount. No other material changes in estimates
were made to the fiscal 2004 second quarter restructuring accrual. As of October 29, 2005, there were no remaining
liabilities related to this restructuring.
 

Fiscal 2003 Second Quarter Restructuring
 

During the quarter ended April 26, 2003, the Company reevaluated certain aspects of its business model and completed
a program to restructure certain business operations, reorganize certain aspects of the Company, and reduce the
Company’s operating expense structure. The restructuring program included a workforce reduction of approximately nine
percent, primarily in the sales, marketing, and engineering organizations. In addition, as a result of the restructuring,
certain assets associated with reorganized or eliminated functions were determined to be impaired.
 

Total restructuring costs incurred of $10.9 million consisted of severance and benefit charges, equipment impairment
charges, and contract termination and other charges. Severance and benefits charges of $4.2 million consisted of severance
and related employee termination costs, including outplacement services, associated with the reduction of the Company’s
workforce. Equipment impairment charges of $5.2 million primarily consisted of excess equipment that is no longer being
used as a result of the restructuring program. Contract termination and other charges of $1.5 million were primarily related
to the cancellation of certain contracts in connection with the restructuring of certain business functions.
 

During the year ended October 29, 2005, the Company recorded a $0.7 million of restructuring reversal, primarily due
to recovery of amounts previously written off. During the year ended October 30, 2004, the Company recorded a reduction
of $0.5 million to restructuring costs, primarily due to lower than expected outplacement and contract termination costs.
No other material changes in estimates were made to the fiscal 2003 second quarter restructuring accrual. As of
October 29, 2005, there were no remaining liabilities related to this restructuring.
 

Fiscal 2003 First Quarter Restructuring
 

During the quarter ended January 25, 2003, the Company completed a restructuring program to reduce the Company’s
expense structure. The restructuring program included a company-wide workforce reduction of approximately 12 percent,
consolidation of excess facilities, and the restructuring of certain business functions. This restructuring program affected
all of the Company’s functional areas.
 

Total restructuring costs incurred of $10.1 million consisted of severance and benefit charges, equipment impairment
charges, and contract termination and other charges. Severance and benefits charges of $8.5 million consisted of severance
and related employee termination costs related to the reduction of the Company’s workforce, including outplacement
services and the write-off of unrecoverable employee loans of certain terminated employees. Contract termination charges
of $0.9 million were primarily related to the cancellation of certain contracts in connection with the restructuring of certain
business functions and the consolidation of excess facilities. Equipment
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impairment charges of $0.6 million were related to excess computer equipment resulting from the workforce reduction,
consolidation of excess facilities, and the restructuring of certain business functions.
 

No material changes in estimates were made to the fiscal 2003 first quarter restructuring accrual. As of October 29,
2005, there were no remaining liabilities related to this restructuring.
 

The following table summarizes the total restructuring costs incurred and charged to restructuring expense during the
second quarter of fiscal year 2004 and the first and second quarters of fiscal year 2003, costs paid or otherwise settled, and
the remaining unpaid or otherwise unsettled accrued liabilities (in thousands) as of October 29, 2005:
 
                 

     Contract        
  Severance   Terminations   Equipment     
  and Benefits   and Other   Impairment   Total  

 

Fiscal 2003 restructuring costs  $ 12,714  $ 2,425  $ 5,867  $ 21,006 
Cash payments   (10,019)   (1,938)   —   (11,957)
Non-cash charges   (2,221)   —   (5,867)   (8,088)
Adjustments   (178)   —   —   (178)

                 

Remaining accrued liabilities at October 25, 2003   296   487   —   783 
Cash payments for 2003 restructuring   (43)   (255)   —   (298)
Adjustments for 2003 restructuring   (225)   (232)   —   (457)

                 

Remaining accrued liabilities for 2003 restructuring   28   —   —   28 
                 

Fiscal 2004 second quarter restructuring costs   7,480   1,740   1,241   10,461 
Cash payments for 2004 restructuring   (5,661)   (1,692)   —   (7,353)
Non-cash charges   —   —   (1,241)   (1,241)
Adjustments   (981)   (48)   —   (1,029)

                 

Remaining accrued liabilities for 2004 restructuring   838   —   —   838 
                 

Total restructuring accrued liabilities at October 30, 2004  866   —   —   866 
Cash payments for 2003 restructuring   (28)   —   —   (28)
Cash payments for 2004 restructuring   (838)   —   —   (838)

                 

Total restructuring accrued liabilities at October 29, 2005 $ —  $ —  $ —  $ — 
                 

 

5.  Liabilities Associated with Facilities Lease Losses and Asset Impairment Charges
 

Lease Termination Charge and Other, Net
 

On November 18, 2003, the Company purchased a building located at its San Jose headquarters. This 194,000 square
foot facility was previously leased, and certain unused portions of the facility were previously reserved and included in the
facilities lease loss liability noted below. The total consideration for the building purchase was $106.8 million, consisting
of the purchase of land and building valued at $30.0 million and a lease termination fee of $76.8 million. The value of the
land and building as of the purchase date was determined based on the estimated fair market value of the land and
building. As a result of the building purchase, during the quarter ended January 24, 2004, the Company recorded
adjustments of $23.7 million to the previously recorded facilities lease loss reserve, deferred rent, and leasehold
improvement impairments related to the purchased facility.
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During the quarter ended January 24, 2004, the Company consolidated the engineering organization and development,
test and interoperability laboratories into the purchased facilities and vacated other existing leased facilities. As a result,
the Company recorded a charge of $20.9 million related to estimated facilities lease losses, net of expected sublease
income, on the vacated facilities. These charges represented the fair value of the lease liability based on assumptions
regarding the vacancy period, sublease terms, and the probability of subleasing this space. The assumptions that the
Company used were based on market data, including the then current vacancy rates and lease activities for similar
facilities within the area. Should there be changes in real estate market conditions or should it take longer than expected to
find a suitable tenant to sublease the remaining vacant facilities, adjustments to the facilities lease losses reserve may be
necessary in future periods based upon then current actual events and circumstances.
 

The following table summarizes the activity related to the lease termination charge and other, net incurred in the year
ended October 30, 2004 (in thousands):
 
     

Lease termination charge  $ 76,800 
Closing costs and other related charges   1,234 
Reversal of previously recorded facilities lease loss reserve   (23,731)
Additional reserve booked as a result of facilities consolidation   20,855 
Asset impairments associated with facilities consolidation   433 
     

Total charge, net  $ 75,591 
     

 

Facilities Lease Losses and Related Asset Impairment Charges
 

During the three months ended October 27, 2001, the Company recorded a charge of $39.8 million related to estimated
facilities lease losses, net of expected sublease income, and a charge of $5.7 million in connection with the estimated
impairment of certain related leasehold improvements. These charges represented the low-end of an estimated range of
$39.8 million to $63.0 million and may be adjusted upon the occurrence of future triggering events.
 

During the three months ended July 27, 2002, the Company completed a transaction to sublease a portion of these
vacant facilities. Accordingly, based on then current market data, the Company revised certain estimates and assumptions,
including those related to estimated sublease rates, estimated time to sublease the facilities, expected future operating
costs, and expected future use of the facilities. The Company reevaluates its estimates and assumptions on a quarterly
basis and makes adjustments to the reserve balance if necessary. No material adjustments were made to the facilities lease
losses reserve for the year ended October 30, 2004.
 

In November 2003 the Company purchased a previously leased building. In addition, the Company consolidated the
engineering organization and development, test and interoperability laboratories into the purchased facilities and vacated
other existing leased facilities. As a result, the Company recorded adjustments to the facilities lease loss reserve recorded
in fiscal year 2001 described above, and recorded additional reserves in connection with the facilities consolidation.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to the facilities lease loss reserve, net of expected sublease income
(in thousands):
 
     

  Lease Loss  
  Reserve  

 

Reserve balances at October 25, 2003  $ 24,277 
Reversal of previously recorded lease loss reserve associated with building purchase   (16,933)
Additional reserve booked as a result of November 2003 facilities leases   20,855 
Cash payments on facilities leases   (5,910)
Non-cash charges and other adjustments, net   187 
     

Reserve balances at October 30, 2004   22,476 
Cash payments on facilities leases   (5,202)
Non-cash charges and other adjustments, net   (134)
     

Reserve balances at October 29, 2005  $ 17,140 
     

 

Cash payments for facilities leases related to the above noted facilities lease loss reserve will be paid over the
respective lease terms through fiscal year 2010.
 

6.  Balance Sheet Details
 

The following tables provide details of selected balance sheet items (in thousands):
 
         

  October 29,   October 30,  
  2005   2004  

 

Inventories:         
Raw materials  $ 1,517  $ 1,950 
Finished goods   9,513   3,647 

         

Total  $ 11,030  $ 5,597 
         

Property and equipment, net:         
Computer equipment and software  $ 68,294  $ 63,524 
Engineering and other equipment   123,811   111,109 
Furniture and fixtures   4,136   4,429 
Land and building   30,000   30,000 
Leasehold improvements   41,696   39,520 

         

   267,937   248,582 
Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization   (159,819)   (123,881)

         

Total  $ 108,118  $ 124,701 
         

Other accrued liabilities:         
Income taxes payable  $ 36,923  $ 27,769 
Accrued warranty   1,746   4,669 
Inventory purchase commitments   6,634   4,326 
Accrued sales programs   8,327   8,231 
Accrued restructuring   —   866 
Other   20,153   12,072 

         

Total  $ 73,783  $ 57,933 
         

 

Leasehold improvements at October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004 are shown net of estimated impairments related to
facilities lease losses (see Note 5).
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7.  Investments and Equity Securities
 

The following tables summarize the Company’s investments and equity securities (in thousands):
 
                 

     Gross   Gross     
     Unrealized   Unrealized     
  Cost   Gains   Losses   Fair Value  

 

October 29, 2005                 
U.S. government and its agencies and municipal obligations  $ 413,574  $ —  $ (2,629)  $ 410,945 
Corporate bonds and notes   173,021   11   (1,576)   171,456 
Equity securities   34   2   —   36 
                 

Total  $ 586,629  $ 13  $ (4,205)  $ 582,437 
                 

Reported as:                 
Short-term investments              $ 209,865 
Restricted short-term investments               277,230 
Other current assets               36 
Long-term investments               95,306 

                 

Total              $ 582,437 
                 

 
                 

     Gross   Gross     
     Unrealized   Unrealized     
  Cost   Gains   Losses   Fair Value  

 

October 30, 2004                 
U.S. government agencies and municipal obligations  $ 526,953  $ 1,307  $ (972)  $ 527,288 
Corporate bonds and notes   130,604   146   (505)   130,245 
Equity securities   694   164   —   858 
                 

Total  $ 658,251  $ 1,617  $ (1,477)  $ 658,391 
                 

Reported as:                 
Short-term investments              $ 406,933 
Other current assets               858 
Long-term investments               250,600 

                 

Total              $ 658,391 
                 

 

For the year ended October 29, 2005, gross realized losses on sales of marketable equity securities were $5.2 million
primarily associated with the defeasance of the indenture agreement relating to the Company’s 2% Convertible Notes. For
the year ended October 30, 2004, gross realized gains on sales of marketable equity securities were $0.2 million. For the
year ended October 25, 2003, gross realized gains on sales of marketable equity securities were $2.7 million. At
October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, net unrealized holding gains (loss) of $(4.2) million and $0.1 million,
respectively, were included in accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying Consolidated Balance
Sheets.
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The following table provides the breakdown of the investments with unrealized losses at October 29, 2005 and
October 30, 2004 (in thousands):
 
                         

  Less than 12 Months   12 Months or Longer   Total  
     Gross      Gross      Gross  
     Unrealized      Unrealized      Unrealized  
  Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses  

 

October 29, 2005                         
U.S. government and its agencies

and municipal obligations  $ 324,219  $ (1,769)  $ 69,376  $ (860)  $ 393,595  $ (2,629)
Corporate bonds and notes   95,303   (1,050)   54,206   (526)   149,509   (1,576)
                         

Total  $ 419,522  $ (2,819)  $ 123,582  $ (1,386)  $ 543,104  $ (4,205)
                         

 
                         

  Less than 12 Months   12 Months or Longer   Total  
     Gross      Gross      Gross  
     Unrealized      Unrealized      Unrealized  
  Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses   Fair Value   Losses  

 

October 30, 2004                         
U.S. government agencies and

municipal obligations  $ 175,667  $ (972)  $ —  $ —  $ 175,667  $ (972)
Corporate bonds and notes   95,256   (427)   5,321   (78)   100,577   (505)
                         

Total  $ 270,923  $ (1,399)  $ 5,321  $ (78)  $ 276,244  $ (1,477)
                         

 

The gross unrealized losses related to fixed income securities were due to changes in interest rates. The Company’s
management has determined that the gross unrealized losses on its investment securities at October 29, 2005 are temporary
in nature. The Company reviews its investments to identify and evaluate investments that have indications of possible
impairment. Factors considered in determining whether a loss is temporary include the length of time and extent to which
fair value has been less than the cost basis, the financial condition and near-term prospects of the investee, and the
Company’s intent and ability to hold the investment for a period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in
market value. Substantially all of the Company’s fixed income securities are rated investment grade or better.
 

The following table summarizes the maturities of the Company’s investments in debt securities issued by United States
government agencies, municipal government obligations, and corporate bonds and notes as of October 29, 2005 (in
thousands):
 
         

  Amortized     
  Cost   Fair Value  

 

Less than one year  $ 489,680  $ 487,095 
Due in 1 - 2 years   83,226   81,872 
Due in 2 - 3 years   13,689   13,434 
         

Total  $ 586,595  $ 582,401 
         

 

8.  Convertible Subordinated Debt
 

On December 21, 2001, and January 10, 2002, the Company sold, in private placements pursuant to Section 4(2) of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended, an aggregate of $550 million in principal amount, two percent convertible
subordinated notes due January 2007 (the “Notes” or “Convertible Subordinated Debt”). The initial purchasers purchased
the Notes from the Company at a discount of 2.25 percent of the aggregate principal amount. Holders of the Notes may, in
whole or in part, convert the Notes into shares of the Company’s common stock at a conversion rate of 22.8571 shares per
$1,000 principal amount of notes (approximately 6.4 million shares
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may be issued upon conversion based on outstanding debt of $278.9 million as of October 29, 2005) at any time prior to
maturity on January 1, 2007, subject to earlier redemption. Under the original term of the Notes, at any time on or after
January 5, 2005, the Company was entitled to redeem the notes in whole or in part at the following prices expressed as a
percentage of the principal amount:
 
     

Redemption Period  Price  
 

Beginning on January 5, 2005 and ending on December 31, 2005   100.80% 
Beginning on January 1, 2006 and ending on December 31, 2006   100.40% 
On January 1, 2007   100.00% 
 

The Company is required to pay interest on January 1 and July 1 of each year, beginning July 1, 2002. Debt issuance
costs of $12.4 million are being amortized over the term of the notes. The amortization of debt issuance costs will
accelerate upon early redemption or conversion of the notes. The net proceeds remain available for general corporate
purposes, including working capital and capital expenditures. As of October 29, 2005, the remaining balance of
unamortized debt issuance costs was $1.4 million, which is included in prepaid expenses and other current assets in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets.
 

During fiscal years 2005 and 2004, the Company repurchased on the open market $73.4 million and $90.7 million in
face value of its Convertible Subordinated Debt, respectively. For the year ended October 29, 2005, the Company paid an
average of $0.96 for each dollar of face value for an aggregate purchase price of $70.5 million, which resulted in a pre-tax
gain of $2.3 million. For the year ended October 30, 2004, the Company paid an average of $0.93 for each dollar of face
value for an aggregate purchase price of $84.4 million, which resulted in a pre-tax gain of $5.6 million. As of October 29,
2005, the remaining balance outstanding of the convertible subordinated debt was $278.9 million.
 

On August 23, 2005, in accordance with the terms of the indenture agreement dated December 21, 2001 with respect
to the Convertible Subordinated Debt, the Company elected to deposit securities with the trustee of the Notes (the
“Trustee”), which fully collateralized the outstanding notes, and to discharge the indenture agreement. Pursuant to this
election, the Company provided an irrevocable letter of instruction to the Trustee to issue a notice of redemption on
June 26, 2006 and to redeem the Notes on August 22, 2006 (the “Redemption Date”). Over the course of the next year, the
Trustee, using the securities deposited with them, will pay to the noteholders (1) all the interest scheduled to become due
per the original note prior to the Redemption Date, and (2) all the principal and remaining interest, plus a call premium of
0.4% of the face value of the Notes, on the Redemption Date. As of October 29, 2005, the Company had an aggregate of
$277.2 million in interest-bearing U.S. securities with the Trustee. The securities will remain on the Company’s balance
sheet as restricted short-term investments until the Redemption Date. The Company recorded a loss on investments of
$4.7 million in the three months ended October 29, 2005 with respect to the disposition of certain short-term and
long-term investments that was necessary to deposit the securities with the Trustee.
 

The notes are not listed on any securities exchange or included in any automated quotation system, however, the notes
are eligible for trading on the PortalSM  Market. On October 28, 2005, the average bid and ask price on the Portal Market of
the notes was 97.9, resulting in an aggregate fair value of approximately $273.2 million.
 

9.  Commitments and Contingencies
 

Leases
 

The Company leases its facilities under various operating lease agreements expiring through August 2010. In
connection with these agreements the Company has signed unconditional, irrevocable letters of credit totaling $8.3 million
as security for the leases. In addition to base rent, many of the operating lease agreements require that the Company pay a
proportional share of the respective facilities’ operating expenses. Rent expense for the years ended October 29, 2005,
October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003 was $10.7 million, $11.2 million, and $22.7 million, respectively.
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Future minimum lease payments under all non-cancelable operating leases at October 29, 2005 were as follows (in
thousands):
 
     

  Operating  
Fiscal Year Ended October  Leases  
 

2006  $ 16,298 
2007   14,290 
2008   13,815 
2009   13,812 
2010   11,653 
     

Total minimum lease payments  $ 69,868 
     

 

As of October 29, 2005, the Company has recorded $17.1 million in facilities lease loss reserves related to future lease
commitments for unused space, net of expected sublease income (see Note 5).
 

Product Warranties
 

The Company provides warranties on its products ranging from one to three years. Estimated future warranty costs are
accrued at the time of shipment and charged to cost of revenues based upon historical experience. The Company’s accrued
liability for estimated future warranty costs is included in other accrued liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets. For the three months ended January 29, 2005, the Company recorded a warranty benefit of approximately
$1.9 million as a result of a change in warranty terms with a customer. The following table summarizes the activity related
to the Company’s accrued liability for estimated future warranty costs during the years ended October 29, 2005 and
October 30, 2004 (in thousands):
 
     

  Accrued  
  Warranty  

 

Balance at October 25, 2003  $ 3,723 
Liabilities accrued   2,890 
Claims paid   (474)
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties   (1,470)
     

Balance at October 30, 2004   4,669 
Liabilities accrued   1,053 
Claims paid   (582)
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties   (3,394)
     

Balance at October 29, 2005  $ 1,746 
     

 

In addition, the Company has standard indemnification clauses contained within its various customer contracts
whereby the Company indemnifies the parties to whom it sells its products with respect to the Company’s product
infringing upon any patents, trademarks, copyrights, or trade secrets, as well as against bodily injury or damage to real or
tangible personal property caused by a defective Company product. As of October 29, 2005, there have been no known
events or circumstances that have resulted in an indemnification related liability to the Company.
 

Manufacturing and Purchase Commitments
 

The Company has a manufacturing agreement with Hon Hai Precision Industry Co. (“Foxconn”) under which the
Company provides twelve-month product forecasts and places purchase orders in advance of the scheduled delivery of
products to the Company’s customers. The required lead-time for placing orders with Foxconn depends on the specific
product. As of October 29,2005, the Company’s aggregate commitment to Foxconn for inventory components used in the
manufacture of Brocade products was $42.4 million, net of purchase commitment reserves of $6.6 million, which the
Company expects to utilize during future normal ongoing operations. The Company’s purchase orders placed with
Foxconn are cancelable, however if cancelled, the agreement with Foxconn requires the
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Company to purchase from Foxconn all inventory components not returnable, usable by, or sold to, other customers of
Foxconn.
 

Legal Proceedings
 

From time to time, claims are made against the Company in the ordinary course of its business, which could result in
litigation. Claims and associated litigation are subject to inherent uncertainties and unfavorable outcomes could occur,
such as monetary damages, fines, penalties or injunctions prohibiting the Company from selling one or more products or
engaging in other activities. The occurrence of an unfavorable outcome in any specific period could have a material
adverse affect on the Company’s results of operations for that period or future periods.
 

On July 20, 2001, the first of a number of putative class actions for violations of the federal securities laws was filed in
the United States District Court for the Southern District of New York against the Company, certain of its officers and
directors, and certain of the underwriters for the Company’s initial public offering of securities. A consolidated amended
class action captioned In Re Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation was filed
on April 19, 2002. The complaint generally alleges that various underwriters engaged in improper and undisclosed
activities related to the allocation of shares in the Company’s initial public offering and seeks unspecified damages on
behalf of a purported class of purchasers of common stock from May 24, 1999 to December 6, 2000. The lawsuit against
the Company is being coordinated for pretrial proceedings with a number of other pending litigations challenging
underwriter practices in over 300 cases as In Re Initial Public Offering Securities Litigation, 21 MC 92(SAS). In October
2002, the individual defendants were dismissed without prejudice from the action, pursuant to a tolling agreement. On
February 19, 2003, the Court issued an Opinion and Order dismissing all of the plaintiffs’ claims against the Company. In
June 2004, a stipulation of settlement for the claims against the issuer defendants, including the Company, was submitted
to the Court for approval. On August 31, 2005, the Court granted preliminary approval of the settlement. The settlement is
subject to a number of conditions, including final approval by the Court.
 

Beginning on or about May 19, 2005, several securities class action complaints were filed against the Company and
certain of its current and former officers. These actions were filed on behalf of purchasers of the Company’s stock from
February 2001 to May 2005. These complaints were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern District of
California. On January 12, 2006, the Court appointed a lead plaintiff and lead counsel and ordered that a consolidated
complaint be filed by March 3, 2006. The securities class action complaints allege, among other things, violations of
sections 10(b) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 promulgated thereunder. The complaints
seek unspecified monetary damages and other relief against the defendants. The complaints generally allege that the
Company and the individual defendants made false or misleading public statements regarding the Company’s business and
operations. These lawsuits followed the Company’s restatement of certain financial results due to stock-based
compensation accounting issues.
 

Beginning on or about May 24, 2005, several derivative actions were also filed against certain of the Company’s
current and former directors and officers. These actions were filed in the United States District Court for the Northern
District of California and in the California Superior Court in Santa Clara County. The complaints allege that certain of the
Company’s officers and directors breached their fiduciary duties to the Company by engaging in alleged wrongful conduct
including conduct complained of in the securities litigation described above. The Company is named solely as a nominal
defendant against whom the plaintiffs seek no recovery. The derivative actions pending in the District Court for the
Northern District of California were consolidated and the Court created a Lead Counsel structure. The derivative plaintiffs
filed a consolidated complaint on October 7, 2005 and the Company filed a motion to dismiss that action on October 27,
2005. On January 6, 2006, Brocade’s motion was granted and the consolidated complaint was dismissed with leave to
amend. The derivative actions pending in the Superior Court in Santa Clara County were consolidated. The derivative
plaintiffs filed a consolidated complaint on September 19, 2005. The Company filed a motion to stay that action in
deference to the substantially identical consolidated derivative action pending in the District Court, and on November 15,
2005, the Court stayed the action.
 

No amounts have been recorded in the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements associated with these matters.
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10.  Stockholders’ Equity
 

Stock Option Exchange Program
 

On December 9, 2002, the Company announced that its Board of Directors approved a voluntary stock option
exchange program (the Exchange Program) for employees. Under the Exchange Program, employees were offered the
opportunity to exchange an aggregate of approximately 67.3 million outstanding stock options with exercise prices equal
to or greater than $12.00 per share for new stock options to be granted at an exchange ratio determined by the date the
exchanged stock options were granted. Participating employees other than the then Chief Executive Officer (CEO) would
receive new stock options in exchange for their eligible outstanding stock options at an exchange ratio of either 1 for 1, 1
for 2, or 1 for 3, depending on the grant date of the exchanged stock option. The then CEO would receive new stock
options in exchange for eligible outstanding stock options at an exchange ratio of 1 for 10.
 

In accordance with the Exchange Program, on January 9, 2003, the Company cancelled 58.7 million outstanding stock
options and issued promises to grant new stock options to participating employees. On July 10, 2003, the first business day
that was six months and one day after the cancellation of the exchanged options, the Company granted to participating
employees 26.6 million new stock options at an exercise price of $6.54 per share. The exercise price per share of the new
stock options was equal to the fair market value of the Company’s common stock at the close of regular trading on
July 10, 2003. As of October 29, 2005, 13.0 million of these options, or approximately five percent of the Company’s
outstanding common stock, remain outstanding and could have a dilutive effect on the Company’s future earnings per
share to the extent that the future market price of the Company’s common stock exceeds $6.54 per share. No financial or
accounting effect to the Company’s financial position, results of operations, or cash flows for the years ended October 29,
2005, October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003 was associated with this transaction.
 

Stockholder Rights Plan
 

On February 5, 2002, the Company’s Board of Directors adopted a stockholder rights plan. Under the plan, the
Company declared and paid a dividend of one right for each share of common stock held by stockholders of record as of
the close of business on February 19, 2002. Each right initially entitles stockholders to purchase a fractional share of the
Company’s preferred stock at $280 per share. However, the rights are not immediately exercisable and will become
exercisable only upon the occurrence of certain events. If a person or group acquires or announces a tender or exchange
offer that would result in the acquisition of 15 percent or more of the Company’s common stock while the stockholder
rights plan remains in place, then, unless the rights are redeemed by the Company for $0.001 per right, the rights will
become exercisable by all rights holders except the acquiring person or group for shares of the Company or the third party
acquirer having a value of twice the right’s then-current exercise price. The stockholder rights plan may have the effect of
deterring or delaying a change in control of Brocade.
 

Employee Stock Purchase Plan
 

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved the adoption of the Company’s 1999 Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(the Purchase Plan), and the Company’s shareholders approved the Purchase Plan in April 1999. The Purchase Plan
permits eligible employees to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock through payroll deductions at 85 percent
of the fair market value at certain plan-defined dates. The maximum number of shares of the Company’s common stock
available for sale under the Purchase Plan is 37.2 million shares, plus an annual increase to be added on the first day of the
Company’s fiscal year, equal to the lesser of 20.0 million shares, or 2.5 percent of the outstanding shares of common stock
at such date. Accordingly, on October 30, 2005 and October 31, 2004, 6.7 million and 6.6 million additional shares,
respectively, were made available for issuance under the Purchase Plan. During the years ended October 29, 2005,
October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, the Company issued 2.8 million shares, 2.3 million shares, and 2.4 million
shares, respectively, under the Purchase Plan. At October 29, 2005, 28.3 million shares were available for future issuance
under the Purchase Plan.
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Deferred Stock Compensation
 

In the three months ended July 29, 2005, the Company recorded $1.5 million of deferred stock compensation in
connection with its acquisition of Therion. In addition, in the second quarter of fiscal 2003, the Company also recorded
$1.7 million of deferred stock compensation in connection with its acquisition of Rhapsody. The deferred stock
compensation represents the intrinsic value of unvested restricted common stock and assumed stock options, and is being
amortized over the respective remaining service periods on a straight-line basis (see Note 3, “Acquisitions,” of the Notes
to Consolidated Financial Statements). As of October 29, 2005, the remaining unamortized balance of the deferred stock
compensation related to the Therion acquisition was approximately $1.2 million and the deferred stock compensation
related to the Rhapsody acquisition has been substantially amortized.
 

In addition to the deferred stock compensation connected with the Company’s acquisitions of Rhapsody and Therion,
the Company has recorded deferred stock compensation arising from stock option grants subject to variable accounting,
change in measurement dates and restricted stock award grants to certain employees. Compensation expense resulting
from these non-acquisition related grants are included in cost of revenues, R&D, sales and marketing, or G&A, based on
the department of the employee receiving the award. Accordingly, the consolidated statements of operations caption
entitled “amortization of deferred stock compensation” does not include the compensation expense arising from these
awards. As of October 29, 2005, the remaining unamortized balance of non-acquisition related deferred stock
compensation was $2.0 million.
 

Deferred stock compensation is presented as a reduction of stockholders’ equity and amortized ratably over the vesting
period of the applicable options. The Company recorded $1.5 million, $0.5 million, and $0.6 million, as amortization of
deferred stock compensation during the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003,
respectively. Deferred stock compensation is decreased in the period of forfeiture for any accrued but unvested
compensation arising from the early termination of an option holder’s services.
 

Total stock-based compensation expense recognized for the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and
October 25, 2003 was $0.4 million, $5.0 million and $1.7 million, respectively. At October 29, 2005, total unamortized
deferred stock compensation was $3.2 million.
 

1999 Director Option Plan
 

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved the 1999 Director Option Plan (the “Director Plan”) and the
Company’s shareholders approved the Director Plan in April 1999. The Director Plan provides for the grant of common
stock to Directors of the Company. At October 29, 2005, the Company had reserved 1.6 million shares of authorized but
unissued shares of common stock for future issuance under the Director Plan. Of this amount, 1.1 million shares were
outstanding, and 0.5 million shares were available for future grants.
 

1999 Stock Plan
 

In March 1999, the Board of Directors approved the Company’s 1999 Stock Plan (the “1999 Plan”) and the
Company’s shareholders approved the 1999 Plan in April 1999. The 1999 Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock
options and/or nonstatutory stock options to employees. Per the terms of the 1999 Plan, the maximum number of shares of
the Company’s common stock available for sale under the 1999 Plan is 132.0 million shares, plus an annual increase to be
added on the first day of the Company’s fiscal year, equal to the lesser of 40.0 million shares, or 5.0 percent of the
outstanding shares of common stock at such date. Accordingly, on October 30, 2005 and October 31, 2004, 13.5 million
and 13.2 million additional shares, respectively, were made available for grant under the 1999 Plan. At October 29, 2005,
the Company had reserved 73.0 million shares of authorized but unissued shares of common stock for future issuance
under the 1999 Plan. Of this amount, 32.4 million shares were outstanding, and 40.6 million shares were available for
future grants.
 

1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan
 

In September 1999, the Board of Directors approved the Company’s 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan (the “NSO
Plan”). The NSO Plan provides for the grant of nonstatutory stock options to employees and consultants. A
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total of 51.4 million shares of common stock have been reserved for issuance under the NSO Plan. At October 29, 2005,
the Company had reserved approximately 45.0 million shares of authorized but unissued shares of common stock for
future issuance under the NSO Plan. Of this amount, 11.1 million shares were outstanding, and 33.9 million shares were
available for future grants.
 

Rhapsody Stock Option Plan
 

In January 2003, in connection with the Rhapsody acquisition, the Company assumed the Rhapsody’s Stock Option
Plan (the “Rhapsody Plan”). The Rhapsody Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options and/or nonstatutory
stock options to employees and consultants. At October 29, 2005, there were 0.2 million shares outstanding, and there
were no available shares for future grants under the Rhapsody Plan.
 

Therion Stock Option Plan
 

In May 2005, in connection with the Therion acquisition, the Company assumed the Therion’s Stock Option Plan (the
“TherionPlan”). The Therion Plan provides for the grant of incentive stock options and/or nonstatutory stock options to
employees and consultants. At October 29, 2005, there were 0.4 million shares outstanding under the Therion Plan, and
there were no available shares for future grants.
 

Stock Options
 

The Company, under the various stock option plans (the “Plans”) discussed above, grants stock options for shares of
common stock to employees and directors. In accordance with the Plans, the stated exercise price for non-qualified stock
options shall not be less than 85 percent of the estimated fair market value of common stock on the date of grant. Incentive
stock options may not be granted at less than 100 percent of the estimated fair market value of the common stock, and
stock options granted to a person owning more than 10 percent of the combined voting power of all classes of stock of the
Company must be issued at 110 percent of the fair market value of the stock on the date of grant. The Plans provide that
the options shall be exercisable over a period not to exceed ten years. The majority of options granted under the Plans vest
over a period of four years. Certain options granted under the Plans vest over shorter periods. At October 29, 2005, the
Company had cumulatively reserved 120.2 million shares of authorized but unissued shares of common stock for future
issuance under the Plans. Of this amount, 45.2 million shares were outstanding, and 75.0 million shares were available for
future grants.
 

The following table summarizes stock option plan activity under all of the Plans (in thousands except per share
amounts):
 
                         

  Fiscal Year Ended   Fiscal Year Ended   Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29, 2005   October 30, 2004   October 25, 2003  
     Weighted      Weighted      Weighted  
     Average      Average      Average  
     Exercise      Exercise      Exercise  
  Shares   Price   Shares   Price   Shares   Price  

 

Outstanding at beginning of year   49,524  $ 7.12   46,591  $ 7.70   78,982  $ 34.71 
Granted   11,488  $ 5.15   15,319  $ 5.52   42,272  $ 6.04 
Exercised   (3,836)  $ 4.98   (2,705)  $ 4.83   (1,113)  $ 0.61 
Cancelled   (11,997)  $ 8.02   (9,681)  $ 7.52   (73,550)  $ 35.82 
                         

Outstanding at end of year   45,179  $ 6.59   49,524  $ 7.14   46,591  $ 7.70 
                         

Exercisable at end of year   25,963  $ 7.52   24,654  $ 7.99   19,475  $ 8.33 
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The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding and exercisable at October 29, 2005 (in
thousands except number of years and per share amounts):
 
                     

  Options Outstanding        
     Weighted      Options Exercisable  
     Average   Weighted      Weighted  
     Remaining  Average      Average  
Range of Exercise Prices  Number   Years   Exercise Price   Number   Exercise Price  
 

$0.01 - $4.93   9,041   6.58  $ 3.72   2,919  $ 3.34 
$4.97 - $6.93   34,071   6.59  $ 6.08   21,174  $ 6.19 
$7.06 - $25.34   1,552   5.24  $ 14.93   1,363  $ 15.45 
$28.11 - $45.53   181   4.47  $ 36.96   181  $ 36.97 
$62.00 - $104.94   334   4.73  $ 81.39   326  $ 81.39 
                     

$0.01 - $104.94   45,179   6.52  $ 6.59   25,963  $ 7.52 
                     

 

From May 1999 through July 2003, the Company granted 98.8 million options subject to variable accounting as the
measurement date of the options grant was not certain. As of October 29, 2005, 3.3 million options with a weighted
average exercise price of $13.00 and a weighted average remaining life of 6.1 years remain outstanding and continue to be
accounted for under variable accounting.
 

The dilutive impact of potential common shares associated with stock options, by application of the treasury stock
method, for the year ended October 29, 2005 were 2.1 million. There was no dilutive impact of potential common shares
associated with stock options, by application of the treasury stock method, for the years ended October 30, 2004 or
October 25, 2003, as the Company had a net loss for each of those years.
 

Equity Compensation Plan Information
 

The following table summarizes information, as of October 29, 2005, with respect to shares of the Company’s
common stock that may be issued under the Company’s existing equity compensation plans (in thousands except per share
amounts):
 
             

  A   B   C  
        Number of Securities  
        Remaining Available  
  Number of   Weighted   for Future Issuance  
  Securities to be   Average   Under Equity  
  Issued upon   Exercise Price   Compensation Plans  
  Exercise of   of Outstanding   (Excluding Securities  
Plan Category  Outstanding Options   Options   Reflected in Column A)  
 

Equity compensation plans approved by
shareholders(1)   34,093(3)  $ 6.17   41,129(4)

Equity compensation plans not approved by
shareholders(2)   11,086(5)  $ 7.88   33,828 

             

Total   45,179  $ 6.59   74,957 
             

 

 

(1) Consists of the Purchase Plan, the Director Plan, the 1999 Plan, the Rhapsody Plan, and the Therion Plan. Both the
Rhapsody Plan and Therion Plan were assumed in connection with acquisitions.

 

(2) Consists solely of the NSO Plan.
 

(3) Excludes purchase rights accruing under the Purchase Plan. As of October 29, 2005, the Purchase Plan had a
shareholder-approved reserve of 37.2 million shares, of which 28.3 million shares were available for future issuance.

 

(4) Consists of shares available for future issuance under the Purchase Plan, the Director Plan, the 1999 Plan, the
Rhapsody Plan, and the Therion Plan.

 

(5) Substantially all shares were granted prior to fiscal year ended October 25, 2003.
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Employee 401(k) Plan
 

The Company sponsors the Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. 401(k) Plan (the Plan), which qualifies under
Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code and is designed to provide retirement benefits for its eligible employees
through tax deferred salary deductions.
 

Through December 31, 2001, employees could contribute from 1 percent to 20 percent of their eligible compensation
to the Plan. Effective January 1, 2002, the employee contribution limit was increased to 60 percent of eligible
compensation. Employee contributions are limited to a maximum annual amount as set periodically by the Internal
Revenue Service. The Company matches employee contributions dollar for dollar up to a maximum of $1,500 per year per
person. Beginning as of the first day of fiscal year 2006, the Company will match employee contributions dollar for dollar
up to a maximum of $2,000 per year per person. All matching contributions vest immediately. The Company’s matching
contributions to the Plan totaled $1.4 million, $1.5 million, and $1.5 million for the years ended October 29, 2005,
October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, respectively.
 

11.  Income Taxes
 

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

United States  $ 20,398  $ (46,684)  $ (137,293)
International   34,800   27,060   2,596 
             

Total  $ 55,198  $ (19,624)  $ (134,697)
             

 

The provision for income taxes consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

Federal:             
Current  $ 2,942  $ —  $ — 
Deferred   —   —   — 

             

   2,942   —   — 
             

State:             
Current   2,826   428   431 
Deferred   —   —   — 

             

   2,826   428   431 
             

Foreign:             
Current   6,309   13,642   11,421 
Deferred   —   —   — 

             

   6,309   13,642   11,421 
             

Total  $ 12,077  $ 14,070  $ 11,852 
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The difference between the United States federal statutory rate and the Company’s income tax provision for financial
statement purposes consisted of the following:
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
October

29,   
October

30,   
October

25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

Provision for (benefit from) income taxes at statutory rate   35.0%   (35.0)%   (35.0)%
State taxes, net of federal tax benefit   4.1   1.8   0.3 
Foreign income taxed at other than U.S. rates   (10.7)   14.7   7.5 
In-process research and development   4.9   —   35.0 
Research and development credit   (0.3)   (31.5)   (10.7)
Other permanent items   2.9   1.7   (0.9)
Tax on repatriated foreign earnings under Act, net of credits   7.2   —   — 
Change in valuation allowance   (21.2)   120.0   12.6 
             

Provision for income taxes   21.9%   71.7%   8.8%
             

 

The American Jobs Creation Act of 2004 (the “AJCA”) was enacted on October 22, 2004. One provision of the AJCA
effectively reduces the tax rate on qualifying repatriation of earnings held by foreign-based subsidiaries to approximately
5.25 percent. Normally, such repatriations would be taxed at a rate of up to 35 percent. In the fourth quarter of fiscal year
2005, the Company made the decision that it would repatriate approximately $78.2 million under the AJCA. This
repatriation of earnings triggered a U.S. federal tax payment of approximately $3.4 million and a state tax payment of
approximately $0.6 million. These amounts are reflected in the current income tax expense. Prior to the AJCA, the
Company did not provide deferred taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries as the Company intended to
utilize these earnings through expansion of its business operations outside the United States for an indefinite period of
time.
 

The Company intends to indefinitely reinvest any undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that are not repatriated
under the AJCA and therefore has not provided deferred taxes on approximately $38.9 million of undistributed earnings as
of October 29, 2005. If these earnings were distributed to the United States in the form of dividends or otherwise, or if the
shares of the relevant foreign subsidiaries were sold or otherwise transferred, the Company could be subject to additional
U.S. income taxes, subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits, and foreign withholding taxes. Determination of the
amount of unrecognized deferred income tax liability related to these earnings is not practicable.
 

The components of net deferred tax assets are as follows (in thousands):
 
         

  October 29,   October 30,  
  2005   2004  

 

Net operating loss carryforwards  $ 157,393  $ 152,744 
Variable stock option compensation charge   4,957   5,741 
Tax credit carryforwards   66,046   62,883 
Reserves and accruals   57,631   70,135 
Capitalized research expenditures   22,257   27,526 
Net unrealized losses on investments   1,675   3,569 
Other   177   262 
         

Total   310,136   322,860 
Less: Valuation allowance   (310,136)   (322,860)
         

Net deferred tax assets  $ —  $ — 
         

 

During the year ended October 29, 2005, the Company had a change in valuation allowance of $12.7 million. The
cumulative valuation allowance has been placed against the gross deferred tax assets. The valuation allowance
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will be reduced in the period in which the Company is able to utilize the deferred tax assets on its tax return, resulting in a
reduction in income tax payable. The tax benefit of these credits and loss carryforwards attributable to non compensatory
stock options will be accounted for as a credit to shareholders’ equity rather than a reduction of income tax expense.
Included in the valuation allowance is $162.9 million and $159.1 million as of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004,
respectively, that would be credited to shareholders’ equity associated with stock options.
 

As of October 29, 2005, the Company had federal net operating loss carryforwards of $425.7 million and state net
operating loss carryforwards of $193.0 million. Additionally, the Company has $36.2 million of federal tax credits and
$45.9 million of state tax credits. The federal net operating loss and other tax credit carryforwards expire on various dates
between 2016 through 2024; the state net operating loss carryforwards expire on various dates between 2007 through
2024. Under the current tax law, net operating loss and credit carryforwards available to offset future income in any given
year may be limited by statute or upon the occurrence of certain events, including significant changes in ownership
interests.
 

12.  Segment Information
 

The Company is organized and operates as one operating segment: the design, development, manufacturing, marketing
and selling of infrastructure for storage area networks (“SANs”). The Chief Executive Officer is the Company’s Chief
Operating Decision Maker (CODM), as defined by SFAS 131, “Disclosures about Segments of an Enterprise and Related
Information.” The CODM allocates resources and assesses the performance of the Company based on consolidated
revenues and overall profitability.
 

Revenues are attributed to geographic areas based on the location of the customer to which products are shipped.
Domestic revenues include sales to certain OEM customers who take possession of Brocade products domestically and
then distribute those products to their international customers. Domestic and international revenues were 63 percent and
37 percent of total revenues, respectively, for the year ended October 29, 2005, 65 percent and 35 percent of total
revenues, respectively, for the year ended October 30, 2004, and 67 percent and 33 percent of total revenues, respectively,
for the year ended October 25, 2003. To date, service revenue has not exceeded 10 percent of total revenues.
 

For the year ended October 29, 2005, three customers accounted for 29 percent, 21 percent, and 21 percent of total
revenues, respectively. For the year ended October 30, 2004, the same three customers accounted for 29 percent,
22 percent, and 19 percent of total revenues, respectively. For the year ended October 25, 2003, also the same three
customers accounted for 30 percent, 20 percent, and 17 percent of total revenues, respectively. The level of sales to any
single customer may vary and the loss of any one of these customers, or a decrease in the level of sales to any one of these
customers, could have a material adverse impact on the Company’s financial condition or results of operations.
 

Geographic information for the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003 are presented
below (in thousands).
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

Net Revenues:             
North America (principally the United States)  $ 373,710  $ 387,225  $ 351,576 
Europe, the Middle East, and Africa   139,741   153,114   134,669 
Asia Pacific   60,669   55,926   39,032 

             

Total  $ 574,120  $ 596,265  $ 525,277 
             

 

The majority of the Company’s assets as of October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003 were
attributable to its United States operations.
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13.  Interest and Other Income, net
 

Interest and other income, net consisted of the following (in thousands):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

Interest income  $ 22,270  $ 19,619  $ 19,099 
Other income (expense), net   386   (833)   (675)
             

Total  $ 22,656  $ 18,786  $ 18,424 
             

 

14.  Gain on Investments, net
 

Net loss on investments of $5.1 million for the year ended October 29, 2005 consisted of $5.2 million losses on the
disposition of portfolio investments primarily associated with the defeasance of the indenture agreement relating to the
Company’s 2% Convertible Notes, offset by $0.1 million gains on the disposition of non-marketable private strategic
investments. Net gain on investments of $0.4 million for the year ended October 30, 2004 consisted of gains on the
disposition of non-marketable private strategic investments. Net gain on investments of $3.6 million for the year ended
October 25, 2003 consisted of a gain on the disposition of private strategic investments of $3.1 million, and a gain of
$2.7 million that resulted from the acquisition of a non-publicly traded company in which the Company had a minority
equity investment, offset by an impairment charge of $2.2 million that resulted from an other-than-temporary decline in
the estimated fair value of a equity investment in a different non-publicly traded company. The carrying value of the
Company’s equity investments in non-publicly traded companies at October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004 was
$3.8 million and $0.5 million, respectively.
 

15.  Net Income (Loss) per Share
 

The following table presents the calculation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per common share (in thousands,
except per share amounts):
 
             

  Fiscal Year Ended  
  October 29,   October 30,   October 25,  
  2005   2004   2003  

 

Net income (loss)  $ 43,121  $ (33,694)  $ (146,549)
             

Basic and diluted net income (loss) per share:             
Weighted-average shares of common stock outstanding   268,256   260,849   251,275 
Less: Weighted-average shares of common stock subject to repurchase   (80)   (403)   (665)

             

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic net income (loss) per
share   268,176   260,446   250,610 
Dilutive potential common shares   2,084   —   — 

             

Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted net income per share   270,260   260,446   250,610 
             

Basic net income (loss) per share  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
             

Diluted net income (loss) per share  $ 0.16  $ (0.13)  $ (0.58)
             

 

For the years ended October 29, 2005, potential common shares in the form of stock options to purchase 30.6 million
weighted-average shares of common stock were antidilutive and, therefore, not included in the computation of diluted
earnings per share. For the years ended October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003, stock option outstanding of 49.5 million
shares and 46.6 million shares, respectively, were antidilutive as the Company had a net loss and, therefore, not included
in the computation of diluted earnings per share. In addition, for the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004 and
October 25, 2003, potential common shares resulting from the potential
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conversion of the Company’s convertible subordinated debt of 6.8 million, 9.2 million and 12.0 million weighted-average
common shares were antidilutive, respectively, and, therefore, not included in the computation of diluted earnings per
share.
 

16.  Related Party and Other Transactions
 

Larry W. Sonsini was a director of Brocade until March 2005. Mr. Sonsini is a member and Chairman and CEO of
Wilson Sonsini Goodrich & Rosati, Professional Corporation (“WSGR”), the Company’s principal outside legal counsel.
Aggregate fees billed to the Company by WSGR for legal services rendered, including general corporate counseling,
litigation services, merger and acquisition related services, and services related to the Company’s audit committee internal
review and SEC investigation, during the years ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, were
$6.7 million, $0.6 million, and $1.2 million, respectively. The Company believes that the services rendered to the
Company by WSGR have been on terms no more favorable than those with unrelated parties.
 

The Company reimbursed Mr. Gregory L. Reyes, Brocade’s former Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive
Officer, for expenses incurred by Mr. Reyes in the operation of his private plane when used for Brocade business.
Mr. Reyes also served as a Director of Brocade until April 2005, and Advisor until July 2005. During fiscal years 2005,
2004 and 2003, the Company incurred expenses of approximately zero, $360,000 and $300,000, respectively, for expenses
incurred by Mr. Reyes pursuant to this reimbursement agreement. The amount reimbursed to Mr. Reyes was consistent
with the Company’s employee travel expense reimbursement policy and, the Company believes, the amount was at or
below the market rate charged by charter carriers for comparable travel arrangements.
 

The Company also has an agreement with San Jose Sharks, L.P., which is a limited partnership in which Mr. Reyes has
a general partnership interest. Under the agreement, Brocade receives marketing and advertising services and use of
certain facilities owned by the limited partnership. During fiscal years 2005, 2004 and 2003, we made payments of
approximately $149,000, $360,000 and $472,000, respectively, pursuant to this agreement. We entered into this agreement
before Mr. Reyes acquired his interest in the limited partnership. We believe that the terms we received under the
agreement were no more or less favorable than those with unrelated parties.
 

During the normal course of business the Company purchases certain equipment from vendors who are also its
customers and with whom the Company has contractual arrangements. The equipment purchase by the Company is
primarily used for testing purposes in its development labs or otherwise consumed internally. The Company believes that
all such transactions are on an arms-length basis and subject to terms no more favorable than those with unrelated parties.
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Item 9.  Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 

None.
 

Item 9A.  Controls and Procedures
 

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, after evaluating the effectiveness of the
Company’s “disclosure controls and procedures” (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of the period covered by this report, have concluded that the Company’s
disclosure controls and procedures are effective and are designed to ensure that the information it is required to disclose is
recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the necessary time periods.
 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the changes to the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the quarter ended October 29, 2005 as required by paragraph
(d) of Rules 13a-15 and 15d-15 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and have concluded that there
were no such changes that materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting. As part of the Company’s ongoing process improvement and compliance efforts, the Company
continued to strengthen automated controls within its enterprise resource program (or “ERP”) system during the fourth
quarter of fiscal year 2005. The Company believes that its disclosure controls and procedures were operating effectively as
of October 29, 2005.
 

Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
 

The management of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate
internal control over financial reporting. Our internal control system was designed to provide reasonable assurance to the
company’s management and board of directors regarding the preparation and fair presentation of published financial
statements. Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rule 13a-15(f) or 15d-15(f) promulgated under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers and effected by the company’s board of directors, management and other personnel, to
provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and includes those policies and procedures
that:
 

 • pertain to the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company;

 

 • provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial
statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the
company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and

 

 • provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

 

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, do not expect that our disclosure
controls and procedures or internal control over financial reporting will prevent all error and all fraud. A control system no
matter how well designed and implemented, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the control system’s
objectives will be met. Further, the design of a control system must reflect the fact that there are resource constraints, and
the benefits of controls must be considered relative to their costs. Because of the inherent limitations in all control
systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance that all control issues within a company are detected.
The inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can
occur because of simple error or mistakes. Controls can also be circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by
collusion of two or more people or by management
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override of the controls. Because of the inherent limitations in a cost-effective control system, misstatements due to error
or fraud may occur and may not be detected.
 

Our management assessed the effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting as of October 29, 2005. In
making this assessment, it used the criteria based on the framework set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework.” Based on our assessment we
believe that, as of October 29, 2005, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on those criteria.
 

Our Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm, KPMG LLP, has issued an audit report on our assessment of our
internal control over financial reporting. The report of KPMG LLP appears on the next page.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
 

THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND STOCKHOLDERS
BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC:
 

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying “Management’s Report on Internal Control
Over Financial Reporting,” that Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of October 29, 2005, based on criteria established in “Internal
Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting
and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assessment and an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting based on our audits.
 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audits included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those polices and
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded
as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles,
and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management
and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial
statements.
 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements.
Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
 

In our opinion, management’s assessment that the Company maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of October 29, 2005, is fairly stated, in all material respects, based on criteria established in “Internal
Control — Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(COSO). Also, in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial
reporting as of October 29, 2005, based on the criteria established in “Internal Control — Integrated Framework” issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).
 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of
the years in the three-year period ended October 29, 2005, and the related financial statement schedule, and our report
dated January 16, 2006 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and financial
statement schedule.
 

/s/ KPMG LLP
 

Mountain View, California
January 16, 2006
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Item 9B.  Other Information
 

None.

 

PART III
 

Certain information required by Part III is incorporated by reference from the Company’s definitive Proxy Statement
to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission in connection with the solicitation of proxies for the Company’s
2006 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement”) .
 

Item 10.  Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant
 

The information required by this Item with respect to the Company’s directors is incorporated by reference to the
information in the section entitled “Election of Directors” in the Proxy Statement. The information required by this Item
with respect to the Company’s executive officers is incorporated by reference from the Proxy Statement under the heading
“Executive Officers.” The information required by this Item with respect to disclosure of any known late filing or failure
by an insider to file a report required by Section 16 of the Exchange Act is incorporated by reference to the section entitled
“Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance” in the Proxy Statement.
 

The Board of Directors has adopted a Code of Ethics for Principal Executive and Senior Financial Officers (the “Code
of Ethics”), which applies to the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and any other principal
financial officer, Controller and any other principal accounting officer, and any other person performing similar functions.
The Code of Ethics is available on our website at www.brocade.com, on the Investor page. We will also provide a copy of
the Code of Ethics upon request made by email to investor-relations@brocade.com or in writing to Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc., Attention: Investor Relations, 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, California 95110.
Brocade will disclose any amendment to the Code of Ethics or waiver of a provision of the Code of Ethics, including the
name of the officer to whom the waiver was granted, on our website at www.brocade.com, on the Investor page.
 

Item 11.  Executive Compensation
 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled
“Executive Compensation and Other Matters” in the Proxy Statement.
 

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters
 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled
“Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management” in the Proxy Statement.
 

Item 13.  Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled “Certain
Relationships and Related Transactions” in the Proxy Statement.
 

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Services
 

The information required by this Item is incorporated by reference from the information in the section entitled
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditors” in the Proxy Statement.
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PART IV
 

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
 

The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K
 

(1) Financial Statements:
 

Reference is made to the Index to Consolidated Financial Statements of Brocade Communications Systems,
Inc. under Item 8 in Part II of this Form 10-K.

 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules:
 

The following financial statement schedule of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. for the years ended
October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003, is filed as part of this Annual Report and should be
read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial Statements of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.

 
     

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts   Page 88 
 

(3) Exhibits:
 

Item 601 of Regulation S-K requires the exhibits listed below. Each management contract or compensatory
plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Form 10-K has been identified.

 
     

Exhibit   
Number  Description of Document

 

 2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brocade, Rhapsody Networks, Inc., and certain other
parties dated November 5, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 2.2

 

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brocade, Rhapsody Networks,
Inc., and certain other parties dated January 5, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 from
Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 3.1
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 3.2
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant amended as of April 22, 2005 (incorporated by reference
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 3.3

 

Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating Preferred Stock
of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on February 11, 2002)

 4.1
 

Form of Registrant’s Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 4.2

 

Preferred Stock Rights Agreement dated as of February 7, 2002 between Brocade and Wells Fargo Bank
MN, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A
filed on February 11, 2002)

 4.3
 

Form of Convertible Debenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 26, 2002)

 10.1

 

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Brocade and each of its directors and executive
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 10.2

 

Master Equipment Lease Agreement between Venture Lending & Leasing, Inc. and Brocade dated
September 5, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 10.3#

 

Acknowledgement between Wind River Systems, Inc. and Brocade dated April 22, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as
amended)
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 10.4#

 

Manufacturing Agreement between Solectron California Corporation and Brocade dated July 30, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 31, 1999, as amended)

 10.5

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated December 17, 1999 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1999, as amended)

 10.6

 

First Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated February 16, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.22 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 28, 2000)

 10.7

 

Second Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated August 11, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.8

 

Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated January 5, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
January 29, 2000)

 10.9

 

First Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated March 21,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.10

 

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated
September 20, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.11

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated July 26, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 28, 2000)

 10.12#

 

Purchase Agreement between Compaq Computer Corporation and Brocade dated February 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.13#

 

Purchase Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated January 25, 2000 (EMC Purchase
Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.14#

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated December 18, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 27, 2001)

 10.15

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated November 13, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
January 25, 2003)

 10.16#

 

Goods Agreement between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated April 15,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.17

 

Amendment #1 to the Goods Agreement between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.18#

 

Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 27, 2001)

 10.19#

 

Amendment #3 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.20#

 

Amendment #4 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)
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 10.21#

 

Statement of Work #2 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 27, 2001)

 10.22

 

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated
January 22, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 27, 2001)

 10.23

 

Lease Agreement between MV Golden State San Jose, LLC and Brocade dated December 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 27, 2001)

 10.24#

 

Amendment No. 5 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.25#

 

Amendment No. 6 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.26#

 

Amendment No. 7 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.27#

 

Amendment No. 8 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
January 25, 2003)

 10.28#

 

Amendment No. 1 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.29

 

Amendment No. 2 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.30#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated January 28, 2000 (2000
OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.31#

 

Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated
April 20, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.32

 

Letter Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated January 25, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.33#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated April 20, 2001 (2001
OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.34#

 

Amendment No. 1 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated July 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.35†

 

Amendment No. 2 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated November 6, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.36#

 

Amendment No. 3 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated February 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.37#

 

Amendment No. 4 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated June 5, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)
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 10.38#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 25,
2003)

 10.39#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated
April 5, 2003 (HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.40

 

Amendment Number One to HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hon
Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated April 5, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.41#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland SarL and Hon
Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated May 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.42#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Solectron Corporation dated February 21,
2003 (Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.43

 

Amendment No. 1 to Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Solectron
Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 from Brocade’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.44#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland SarL and
Solectron Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.45#

 

Amendment No. 2 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated February 18, 2003.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.46#

 

Amendment No. 3 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated July 30, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 25, 2003)

 10.47#

 

Amendment #10 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.48#

 

Amendment #11 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.49#

 

Amendment #14 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.50#

 

Statement of Work #3 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated
December 15, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.51#

 

Amendment No. 4 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated October 29, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended January 24, 2004)

 10.52

 

Third Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. dated
November 30, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.53

 

Fourth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)
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 10.54

 

Fifth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.55

 

Sixth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.56

 

Real Estate Sale and Lease Termination Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, LLC and Brocade effective
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.57

 

Grant Deed from EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications Systems Skyport LLC dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.58

 

Fourth Amendment to the Skyport Plaza Declaration of Common Easements, Covenants, Conditions and
Restrictions dated October 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.59

 

Guaranty of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. to EOP Skyport I, L.L.C dated November 18, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended January 24, 2004)

 10.60

 

Right of First Offer Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications Systems
Skyport LLC dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 from Brocade’s
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.61#

 

Amendment #15 dated March 26, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 1, 2004)

 10.62#

 

Amendment No. 6 dated April 27, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended May 1, 2004)

 10.63#

 

Amendment No. 5 dated May 4, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended July 31, 2004)

 10.64#

 

Amendment #1 dated May 12, 2004 to Statement of Work #3 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2004)

 10.65#

 

Amendment #18 dated October 5, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.77 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.66#

 

Amendment No. 7 dated July 28, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.67#

 

Amendment No. 8 dated November 1, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.68#

 

Amendment #1 dated November 2, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.80 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.69#

 

Amendment #2 dated October 27, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.81 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.70*
 

Employment Letter for Gregory L. Reyes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.83 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)
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 10.71*
 

Employment Letter for Antonio Canova (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.84 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.72*
 

Employment Letter for Michael Klayko (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.85 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.73*
 

Employment Letter for Don Jaworski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.86 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.74*
 

Employment Letter for James Lalonde (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.87 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.75*
 

Change of Control arrangements with Paul Bonderson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.89 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.76†

 

Amendment #19 dated January 28, 2005 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business
Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.88 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.77†

 

Amendment #3 dated November 22, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.89 from
Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.78*

 

Change of Control Retention Agreement entered into by Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and
Michael Klayko dated March 9, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.90 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.79*

 

Form of Change of Control Retention Agreement entered into by Brocade Communications Systems,
Inc. and each of Antonio Canova, Don Jaworski, T.J. Grewal, Jay Kidd, Michael Vescuso, Luc Moyen
and Tom Buiocchi dated March 9, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.91 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.80*
 

Terms of Employment Agreement with Gregory L. Reyes (incorporated by reference from Brocade’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2005)

 10.81†

 

Amendment #10 dated March 20, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.82†

 

Amendment #11 dated March 25, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.83*/**  Senior Leadership Plan as amended and restated as of October 21, 2005
 10.84*

 
Therion Software Corporation 2004 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from
Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.85

 

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated
July 27, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.86†

 

Amendment #21 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation
and Brocade dated June 28, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.87†

 

Amendment #13 dated July 12, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.88*

 

Form of Change of Control Retention Agreement between the Company and Ian Whiting dated May 1,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.89*/**  Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Plan and related forms of agreements
 10.90*

 

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related forms of agreements (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
July 30, 2005)
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 10.91*

 

Amended and Restated 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan and related forms of agreements
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.92*/**  Employment Letter for Ian Whiting dated May 1, 2005
 10.93†/**

 
Amendment #22 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation
and Brocade dated August 12, 2005

 10.94†/**
 

Amendment #6 to Statement of Work No. 3 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade dated September 13, 2005

 10.95†/**
 

Statement of Work No. 4 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated
August 12, 2005

 10.96†/**
 

Amendment #14 dated October 24, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
dated January 25, 2000

 12.1**  Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
 21.1**  Subsidiaries of Registrant
 23.1**  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 24.1**  Power of attorney (see signature page)
 31.1**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
 31.2**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
 32.1**

 
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 

 

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to
Item 14(c) of Form 10-K.

 

** Filed herewith
 

# Confidential treatment granted as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

 

† Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.
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SCHEDULE II
 

VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
 

Years Ended October 29, 2005, October 30, 2004, and October 25, 2003
 
                 

     Additions        
  Balance at   Charged to      Balance at  
  Beginning of   Expenses/      End of  
Description  Period   Revenues   Deductions*   Period  

  (In thousands)  
 

Allowance for doubtful accounts:                 
2005  $ 409  $ 200  $ (142)  $ 467 
2004  $ 639  $ —  $ (230)  $ 409 
2003  $ 1,927  $ (491)  $ (797)  $ 639 

Sales returns and allowances:                 
2005  $ 3,452  $ 2,755  $ (1,732)  $ 4,475 
2004  $ 3,541  $ 3,406  $ (3,495)  $ 3,452 
2003  $ 1,836  $ 3,628  $ (1,923)  $ 3,541 

 

* Deductions related to the allowance for doubtful accounts and sales returns and allowances represent amounts written
off against the allowance less recoveries.
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SIGNATURES
 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

 

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.

 

 By: /s/  Michael Klayko
Michael Klayko
Chief Executive Officer

 

January 18, 2006

 

POWER OF ATTORNEY
 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Michael Klayko, and Richard Deranleau, and each of them, his true and lawful attorneys-in-fact, each with full
power of substitution, for him in any and all capacities, to sign any amendments to this report on Form 10-K and to file the
same, with exhibits thereto and other documents in connection therewith, with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
hereby ratifying and confirming all that each of said attorneys-in-fact or their substitute or substitutes may do or cause to
be done by virtue hereof.
 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the
following persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:
 
       

Signature  Title  Date

 

/s/  Michael Klayko
Michael Klayko  

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer and Director)  

January 18, 2006

     
/s/  Richard Deranleau
Richard Deranleau

 

Vice President, Accounting and
Interim Chief Financial Officer (Principal

Financial and Accounting Officer)  

January 18, 2006

     
/s/  David L. House
David L. House  

Chairman of the Board
 

January 18, 2006

     
/s/  L. William Krause
L. William Krause  

Lead Director
 

January 18, 2006

     
/s/  Neal Dempsey
Neal Dempsey  

Director
 

January 18, 2006
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Signature  Title  Date

 

     
/s/  Seth D. Neiman
Seth D. Neiman  

Director
 

January 18, 2006

     
/s/  Christopher B. Paisley
Christopher B. Paisley  

Director
 

January 18, 2006

     
/s/  Sanjay Vaswani
Sanjay Vaswani  

Director
 

January 18, 2006

     
/s/  Robert Walker
Robert Walker  

Director
 

January 18, 2006
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Exhibit   
Number  Description of Document

 

 2.1

 

Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brocade, Rhapsody Networks, Inc., and certain other
parties dated November 5, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for
the quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 2.2

 

First Amendment to Agreement and Plan of Reorganization by and among Brocade, Rhapsody Networks,
Inc., and certain other parties dated January 5, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.2 from
Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 25, 2003)

 3.1
 

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 3.2
 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registrant amended as of April 22, 2005 (incorporated by reference
from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 3.3

 

Certificate of Designation of Rights, Preferences and Privileges of Series A Participating Preferred Stock
of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s
Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on February 11, 2002)

 4.1
 

Form of Registrant’s Common Stock certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s
Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 4.2

 

Preferred Stock Rights Agreement dated as of February 7, 2002 between Brocade and Wells Fargo Bank
MN, N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A
filed on February 11, 2002)

 4.3
 

Form of Convertible Debenture (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 26, 2002)

 10.1

 

Form of Indemnification Agreement entered into between Brocade and each of its directors and executive
officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form S-1
(Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 10.2

 

Master Equipment Lease Agreement between Venture Lending & Leasing, Inc. and Brocade dated
September 5, 1996 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13from Brocade’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as amended)

 10.3#

 

Acknowledgement between Wind River Systems, Inc. and Brocade dated April 22, 1999 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.18from Brocade’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (Reg. No. 333-74711), as
amended)

 10.4#

 

Manufacturing Agreement between Solectron California Corporation and Brocade dated July 30, 1999
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 31, 1999, as amended)

 10.5

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated December 17, 1999 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 31, 1999, as amended)

 10.6

 

First Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated February 16, 2000 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.22 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 28, 2000)

 10.7

 

Second Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated August 11, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.8

 

Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated January 5, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
January 29, 2000)

 10.9

 

First Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated March 21,
2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.10

 

Second Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated
September 20, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.11

 

Master Lease Agreement between Spieker Properties and Brocade dated July 26, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 28, 2000)
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 10.12#

 

Purchase Agreement between Compaq Computer Corporation and Brocade dated February 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.13#

 

Purchase Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated January 25, 2000 (EMC Purchase
Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended October 28, 2000)

 10.14#

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated December 18, 2000 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.23 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 27, 2001)

 10.15

 

Extension Agreement between EMC Corporation and Brocade dated November 13, 2002 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended
January 25, 2003)

 10.16#

 

Goods Agreement between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated April 15,
1999 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.24 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.17

 

Amendment #1 to the Goods Agreement between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.25 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.18#

 

Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.26 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 27, 2001)

 10.19#

 

Amendment #3 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.27 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.20#

 

Amendment #4 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.28 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal year ended October 27, 2001)

 10.21#

 

Statement of Work #2 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.29 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
October 27, 2001)

 10.22

 

Third Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated
January 22, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 27, 2001)

 10.23

 

Lease Agreement between MV Golden State San Jose, LLC and Brocade dated December 1, 2000
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 27, 2001)

 10.24#

 

Amendment No. 5 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.25#

 

Amendment No. 6 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.26#

 

Amendment No. 7 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.37 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.27#

 

Amendment No. 8 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
January 25, 2003)

 10.28#

 

Amendment No. 1 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)

 10.29

 

Amendment No. 2 to Statement of Work No. 2 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the
fiscal quarter ended April 27, 2002)
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 10.30#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated January 28, 2000 (2000
OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.31#

 

Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated
April 20, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.39 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.32

 

Letter Amendment to 2000 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated January 25, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.33#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated April 20, 2001 (2001
OEM Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.41 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.34#

 

Amendment No. 1 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated July 1, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.42 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.35†

 

Amendment No. 2 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated November 6, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.36#

 

Amendment No. 3 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated February 1, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.44 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.37#

 

Amendment No. 4 to 2001 OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company
dated June 5, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.45 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 27, 2002)

 10.38#

 

OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 from Brocade’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 25,
2003)

 10.39#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hon Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated
April 5, 2003 (HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.40

 

Amendment Number One to HHPI Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Hon
Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated April 5, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.50 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.41#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland SarL and Hon
Hai Precision Industry Co., Ltd. dated May 1, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.51 from
Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.42#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Solectron Corporation dated February 21,
2003 (Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.52
from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.43

 

Amendment No. 1 to Solectron Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade and Solectron
Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 from Brocade’s Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.44#

 

Manufacturing and Purchase Agreement between Brocade Communications Switzerland SarL and
Solectron Corporation dated March 21, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.54 from Brocade’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.45#

 

Amendment No. 2 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated February 18, 2003.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended April 26, 2003)

 10.46#

 

Amendment No. 3 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated July 30, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 25, 2003)
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 10.47#

 

Amendment #10 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.48#

 

Amendment #11 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.56 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.49#

 

Amendment #14 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.50#

 

Statement of Work #3 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated
December 15, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.60 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.51#

 

Amendment No. 4 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC dated October 29, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.61 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended January 24, 2004)

 10.52

 

Third Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. dated
November 30, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.62 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.53

 

Fourth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.63 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.54

 

Fifth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.55

 

Sixth Amendment to Lease between Spieker Properties and Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.65 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.56

 

Real Estate Sale and Lease Termination Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, LLC and Brocade effective
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.66 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.57

 

Grant Deed from EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications Systems Skyport LLC dated
November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.67 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for
the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.58

 

Fourth Amendment to the Skyport Plaza Declaration of Common Easements, Covenants, Conditions and
Restrictions dated October 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68 from Brocade’s Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.59

 

Guaranty of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. to EOP Skyport I, L.L.C dated November 18, 2003
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.69 from Brocade’s Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter
ended January 24, 2004)

 10.60

 

Right of First Offer Agreement between EOP-Skyport I, L.L.C to Brocade Communications Systems
Skyport LLC dated November 18, 2003 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 from Brocade’s
Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended January 24, 2004)

 10.61#

 

Amendment #15 dated March 26, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.71 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended May 1, 2004)

 10.62#

 

Amendment No. 6 dated April 27, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.72 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended May 1, 2004)

 10.63#

 

Amendment No. 5 dated May 4, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.73 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the fiscal
quarter ended July 31, 2004)

 10.64#

 

Amendment #1 dated May 12, 2004 to Statement of Work #3 between International Business Machines
Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.76 from Brocade’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q for the fiscal quarter ended July 31, 2004)
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 10.65#

 

Amendment #18 dated October 5, 2004 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business
Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.77 from Brocade’s Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.66#

 

Amendment No. 7 dated July 28, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.78 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.67#

 

Amendment No. 8 dated November 1, 2004 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.79 from Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal
year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.68#

 

Amendment #1 dated November 2, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.80 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.69#

 

Amendment #2 dated October 27, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.81 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.70*
 

Employment Letter for Gregory L. Reyes (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.83 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.71*
 

Employment Letter for Antonio Canova (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.84 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.72*
 

Employment Letter for Michael Klayko (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.85 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.73*
 

Employment Letter for Don Jaworski (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.86 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.74*
 

Employment Letter for James Lalonde (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.87 from Brocade’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.75*
 

Change of Control arrangements with Paul Bonderson (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.89 from
Brocade’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 30, 2004)

 10.76†

 

Amendment #19 dated January 28, 2005 to Statement of Work #1 between International Business
Machines Corporation and Brocade (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.88 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.77†

 

Amendment #3 dated November 22, 2004 to OEM Purchase Agreement between Brocade and
Hewlett-Packard Company dated December 16, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.89 from
Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.78*

 

Change of Control Retention Agreement entered into by Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. and
Michael Klayko dated March 9, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.90 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.79*

 

Form of Change of Control Retention Agreement entered into by Brocade Communications Systems,
Inc. and each of Antonio Canova, Don Jaworski, T.J. Grewal, Jay Kidd, Michael Vescuso, Luc Moyen
and Tom Buiocchi dated March 9, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.91 from Brocade’s
quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended January 29, 2005)

 10.80*
 

Terms of Employment Agreement with Gregory L. Reyes (incorporated by reference from Brocade’s
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 21, 2005)

 10.81†

 

Amendment #10 dated March 20, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.82†

 

Amendment #11 dated March 25, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended April 30, 2005)

 10.83*/**  Senior Leadership Plan as amended and restated as of October 21, 2005
 10.84*

 
Therion Software Corporation 2004 Stock Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 from
Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.85

 

Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement between Comerica Bank-California and Brocade dated
July 27, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q
for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)
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 10.86†

 

Amendment #21 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation
and Brocade dated June 28, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 from Brocade’s quarterly
report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.87†

 

Amendment #13 dated July 12, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.88*

 

Form of Change of Control Retention Agreement between the Company and Ian Whiting dated May 1,
2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.89*/**  Amended and Restated 1999 Stock Plan and related forms of agreements
 10.90*

 

Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan and related forms of agreements (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.7 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
July 30, 2005)

 10.91*

 

Amended and Restated 1999 Nonstatutory Stock Option Plan and related forms of agreements
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 from Brocade’s quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the
quarter ended July 30, 2005)

 10.92*/**  Employment Letter for Ian Whiting dated May 1, 2005
 10.93†/**

 
Amendment #22 to Statement of Work No. 1 between International Business Machines Corporation
and Brocade dated August 12, 2005

 10.94†/**
 

Amendment #6 to Statement of Work No. 3 between International Business Machines Corporation and
Brocade dated September 13, 2005

 10.95†/**
 

Statement of Work No. 4 between International Business Machines Corporation and Brocade dated
August 12, 2005

 10.96†/**
 

Amendment #14 dated October 24, 2005 to EMC Purchase Agreement between Brocade and EMC
dated January 25, 2000

 12.1**  Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
 21.1**  Subsidiaries of Registrant
 23.1**  Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
 24.1**  Power of attorney (see signature page)
 31.1**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Executive Officer
 31.2**  Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification by the Chief Financial Officer
 32.1**

 
Certification by the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

 

 

* Indicates management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit pursuant to
Item 14(c) of Form 10-K.

 

** Filed herewith
 

# Confidential treatment granted as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

 

† Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portions were omitted and filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006
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Exhibit 10.83

BROCADE SENIOR LEADERSHIP PLAN

Revised: October 21, 2005

PURPOSE

The Brocade Senior Leadership Plan is designed to link incentive compensation with Company performance.

TIMING

Performance against Company objectives is measured on six-month cycles (Plan Periods), which run concurrently with the first and
second halves of Brocade’s fiscal year. Payout of earned cash bonuses, if any, occurs on an annual basis.

ELIGIBILITY

Regular full-time and part-time Vice President (VP) level employees are eligible to participate in the Senior Leadership Plan Program.

Participants must be regular (full-time or part-time) employees at the end of the fiscal year to be eligible to receive a Senior
Leadership Plan Payout.

PARTICIPANT PERFORMANCE

As each Plan Period begins, participants must complete a VP Performance Contract. Performance contracts should be tied to company
and departmental goals as outlined by the board of directors (i.e., company priorities and initiatives). All goals must be tied to overall
company objectives and have defined measurements.

Before Performance Contracts for Executive VPs are final, they are to be reviewed and approved by Finance, Human Resources, and
the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). Performance Contracts for Functional VPs are reviewed and approved by the applicable Executive
VP.

At the end of each Plan Period, actual performance against the plan’s financial metric goals is determined by Finance and provided to
the plan participants. Performance against goals is then assessed by the Participant and then reviewed and assessed by the VP’s
manager, in order to determine each participant’s bonus payout for the period. The Compensation Committee reviews and approves all
Section 16 Officers’ performance and bonus payouts annually. The CEO reviews and approves all other VP cash bonus payouts.

COMPANY PERFORMANCE & SENIOR LEADERSHIP PLAN FUNDING

Each Plan Period, Brocade will set a target Operating Margin for the company to achieve during the Plan Period (Target OM).
 

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006



 

At the end of each Plan Period, Brocade will fund the Senior Leadership Plan based on the actual Operating Metric achieved by
Brocade during the Plan Period (Actual OM) relative to the Target OM (Actual Contribution).

The Actual OM will be communicated following the end of each Plan Period.

PARTICIPANT INCENTIVE TARGET

A Participant’s Incentive Target is determined by the Participant’s pay grade at the end of the 12-month Plan Period, unless otherwise
indicated in writing by Brocade.
     

Participant Pay Grade  
Annual Incentive

Target
CEO   75%

Other Executive Officers and Certain Other Officers   50%
Other Officers   40%

SENIOR LEADERSHIP PLAN PAYOUTS

On an annual basis, the Compensation Committee reviews and approves Section 16 Officers’ performance and cash bonus payouts.
The CEO reviews and approves all other VP cash bonuses. Program payouts are made within eight (8) weeks following the conclusion
of the 12-month Plan Period. Payouts will be pro-rated for Participants who are hired or transferred into the Senior Leadership Plan
during any Plan Period.

Except as otherwise agreed upon by the Company and the Participant, for each Participant, the cash bonus payout is calculated based
on the following formula (less applicable taxes and deductions):

     Bonus Payout = (Actual Funding) x (Individual VP Goal Points Earned for the year) x (Annual Incentive Target) x (Annual Salary)
                 

    
Operating
Margin/     

Participant  Revenue  Profit  
Individual

Goals  Total
 

CEO   50%   50%   —   100%
VPs   50%   40%   10%   100%

Bonuses will be calculated using the salary as of the last day of the Plan Period.

Departmental budgets are communicated at the beginning of each fiscal year and may be updated quarterly throughout the year by the
CEO and CFO. Adherence to the individual’s departmental budget is a gate for the individual to qualify for the Senior Leadership Plan
bonus. Failure to adhere to the agreed upon budget disqualifies the individual from a bonus payout.
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ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEDURES

Compensation Committee Approval

The Compensation Committee reserves the right to decrease or eliminate bonus otherwise indicated.

New Hires and Promotions

Participants new to the company or who are promoted into the Senior Leadership Plan must complete a VP Performance Contract
within 60 days of beginning in the new position.

Grade/Salary Factor

Payout will be based on the Participant’s salary and pay grade on the last day of the Plan Period. Bonuses will be pro-rated if
Participant received a cash bonus on another bonus program.

Terminations: Anyone who is not on the payroll as of the end of the fiscal year is not eligible to receive a cash bonus payout.

Leaves of Absences, Disability or Death: In the event of the Participant death, disability time off, or leave of absence, Payouts will be
made on a pro-rated basis, based on the number of days the Participant was actively working at Brocade. If the Participant is on a
legally protected leave of absence (e.g. Family Medical Leave or Military Leave), the Participant’s eligibility for participation in Plan
may be extended beyond the time above, in accordance with the laws governing the legally protected leave. In the event of death, any
cash bonus payments will be paid to the Participant’s primary beneficiary as designated in the Participant’s Brocade life insurance
plan documentation, if any.

Performance Improvement Plan/Disciplinary Situations (Development Needed): If a Participant, at anytime prior to the cash bonus
payout 12-month Plan Period, is subject to a performance improvement plan, discipline or demotion, Brocade may, in its sole
discretion, reduce or eliminate the Cash Payment that the Participant would otherwise have been eligible to receive. If, at the time
prior to the Payout for a 12-month Plan Period, it is determined that a Participant may be subject to corrective action, discipline or
demotion, then Brocade may withhold the entire Cash Bonus Payout, or a portion thereof, until after a final decision on such
corrective action has been made. If a Participant is given a performance rating of Development Needed, the Participant will not be
eligible to receive a Payout. Only the VP of Human Resources or CEO may approve exceptions to this policy.

Other Provisions: Participation in the Senior Leadership Plan does not constitute an agreement (express or implied) between the
Participant and Brocade that the Participant will be employed by Brocade for any specific period of time, nor is there any agreement
for continuing or long-term employment. Terms and conditions regarding the Senior Leadership Plan and any participation therein,
including but not limited to Senior Leadership Plan eligibility, Senior Leadership Plan funding, and performance and payout criteria
and determinations, are subject to change by Brocade at any time in its sole discretion. Brocade and its Board of Directors retain the
absolute right to interpret, revise, modify or terminate the Senior Leadership Plan at any time in its sole discretion.
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ADDENDUM TO BROCADE SENIOR LEADERSHIP PLAN
(DATED OCTOBER 21, 2005)

Notwithstanding any terms to the contrary in the Brocade Senior Leadership Plan, the following terms shall apply to the Bonus Payout
under the Senior Leadership Plan for fiscal 2006 and 2007:
     
  2006  2007
 

Executive Officers and Certain Other
Officers  

 
 

 

Cash Bonus Premium1  Up to 1.0x of 2006 Bonus Target  Up to 0.5x of 2007 Bonus Target
Restricted Stock2  1.5x of 2005 Base Salary  N/A
     
Other Officers     
Cash Bonus Premium1  Up to 0.35x of 2006 Bonus Target  Up to 0.35x of 2007 Bonus Target

 

1  In addition to normal bonus and subject to achievement of revenue and operating margin/profit targets determined by the Board
of Directors and other Company and departmental financial, strategic and operational metrics.

 

2  The number of shares of restricted stock to be issued is multiplied by such employee’s 2005 base salary, divided by then fair
market value on the date of grant. The grants will be subject to 2-year cliff vesting. These grants will be in lieu of any 2006 focal
option grants for such employees.
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Exhibit 10.89

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
1999 STOCK PLAN

(as amended and restated on October 21, 2005)

     1. Purposes of the Plan. The purposes of this 1999 Stock Plan are:

 •  to attract and retain the best available personnel for positions of substantial responsibility,
 

 •  to provide additional incentive to Employees, Directors and Consultants, and
 

 •  to promote the success of the Company’s business.

     Options granted under the Plan may be Incentive Stock Options or Nonstatutory Stock Options, as determined by the Administrator
at the time of grant. Stock Purchase Rights may also be granted under the Plan.

     2. Definitions. As used herein, the following definitions shall apply:

          (a) “Administrator” means the Board or any of its Committees as shall be administering the Plan, in accordance with Section 4
of the Plan.

          (b) “Applicable Laws” means the requirements relating to the administration of stock option plans under U. S. state corporate
laws, U.S. federal and state securities laws, the Code, any stock exchange or quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed or
quoted and the applicable laws of any foreign country or jurisdiction where Options or Stock Purchase Rights are, or will be, granted
under the Plan.

          (c) “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

          (d) “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

          (e) “Committee” means a committee of Directors appointed by the Board in accordance with Section 4 of the Plan.

          (f) “Common Stock” means the common stock of the Company.

          (g) “Company” means Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation.

          (h) “Consultant” means any person, including an advisor, engaged by the Company or a Parent or Subsidiary to render services
to such entity.

          (i) “Director” means a member of the Board.

          (j) “Disability” means total and permanent disability as defined in Section 22(e)(3) of the Code.

          (k) “Employee” means any individual, including Officers and Directors, employed by the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary
of the Company. For purposes of the Plan, the employment relationship shall be treated as continuing intact while the individual (i) is
on any bona fide leave of absence approved by the Company or (ii) transfers between locations of the Company or between the
Company, its Parent, any Subsidiary, or any successor. Neither service as a Director nor payment of a director’s fee by the Company
shall be sufficient to constitute “employment” by the Company.

          (l) “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

          (m) “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date, the value of Common Stock determined as follows:

               (i) If the Common Stock is listed on any established stock exchange or a national market system, including without limitation
the Nasdaq National Market or The Nasdaq SmallCap Market of The Nasdaq Stock Market, its Fair Market Value shall be the closing
sales price for such stock (or the closing bid, if no sales were reported) as quoted on such exchange or system for the last market
trading day on the date of such determination, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems
reliable;
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               (ii) If the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer but selling prices are not reported, the Fair
Market Value of a Share of Common Stock shall be the mean between the high bid and low asked prices for the Common Stock on the
last market trading day prior to the day of determination, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the
Administrator deems reliable; or

               (iii) In the absence of an established market for the Common Stock, the Fair Market Value shall be determined in good faith
by the Administrator.

          (n) “Incentive Stock Option” means an Option intended to qualify as an incentive stock option within the meaning of
Section 422 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

          (o) “Nonstatutory Stock Option” means an Option not intended to qualify as an Incentive Stock Option.

          (p) “Notice of Grant” means a written or electronic notice evidencing certain terms and conditions of an individual Option or
Stock Purchase Right grant. The Notice of Grant is part of the Option Agreement.

          (q) “Officer” means a person who is an officer of the Company within the meaning of Section 16 of the Exchange Act and the
rules and regulations promulgated thereunder.

          (r) “Option” means a stock option granted pursuant to the Plan.

          (s) “Option Agreement” means an agreement between the Company and an Optionee evidencing the terms and conditions of an
individual Option grant. The Option Agreement is subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan.

          (t) “Option Exchange Program” means a program whereby outstanding Options are surrendered in exchange for Options with a
lower exercise price.

          (u) “Optioned Stock” means the Common Stock subject to an Option or Stock Purchase Right.

          (v) “Optionee” means the holder of an outstanding Option or Stock Purchase Right granted under the Plan.

          (w) “Parent” means a “parent corporation,” whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(e) of the Code.

          (x) “Plan” means this 1999 Stock Plan.

          (y) “Restricted Stock” means shares of Common Stock acquired pursuant to a grant of Stock Purchase Rights under Section 11
of the Plan.

          (z) “Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement” means a written agreement between the Company and the Optionee evidencing the
terms and restrictions applying to stock purchased under a Stock Purchase Right. The Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement is subject
to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the Notice of Grant.

          (aa) “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 of the Exchange Act or any successor to Rule 16b-3, as in effect when discretion is being
exercised with respect to the Plan.

          (bb) “Section 16(b)” means Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act.

          (cc) “Service Provider” means an Employee, Director or Consultant.

          (dd) “Share” means a share of the Common Stock, as adjusted in accordance with Section 13 of the Plan.

          (ee) “Stock Purchase Right” means the right to purchase Common Stock pursuant to Section 11 of the Plan, as evidenced by a
Notice of Grant.

          (ff) “Subsidiary” means a “subsidiary corporation”, whether now or hereafter existing, as defined in Section 424(f) of the Code.

     3. Stock Subject to the Plan. Subject to the provisions of Section 13 of the Plan, the maximum aggregate number of Shares which
may be optioned and sold under the Plan is 7,607,000 Shares [60,856,000 Shares as adjusted for
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three 2:1 stock splits effective on or prior to 12/21/00], plus an annual increase to be added on the first day of the Company’s fiscal
year beginning in 2000 equal to the lesser of (i) 5,000,000 shares [40,000,000 shares as adjusted for three 2:1 stock splits effective on
or prior to 12/21/00], (ii) 5% of the outstanding shares on such date or (iii) a lesser amount determined by the Board. The Shares may
be authorized, but unissued, or reacquired Common Stock.

     If an Option or Stock Purchase Right expires or becomes unexercisable without having been exercised in full, or is surrendered
pursuant to an Option Exchange Program, the unpurchased Shares which were subject thereto shall become available for future grant
or sale under the Plan (unless the Plan has terminated); provided, however, that Shares that have actually been issued under the Plan,
whether upon exercise of an Option or Right, shall not be returned to the Plan and shall not become available for future distribution
under the Plan, except that if Shares of Restricted Stock are repurchased by the Company at their original purchase price, such Shares
shall become available for future grant under the Plan.

     4. Administration of the Plan.

          (a) Procedure.

               (i) Multiple Administrative Bodies. The Plan may be administered by different Committees with respect to different groups
of Service Providers.

               (ii) Section 162(m). To the extent that the Administrator determines it to be desirable to qualify Options granted hereunder as
“performance-based compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code, the Plan shall be administered by a Committee
of two or more “outside directors” within the meaning of Section 162(m) of the Code.

               (iii) Rule 16b-3. To the extent desirable to qualify transactions hereunder as exempt under Rule 16b-3, the transactions
contemplated hereunder shall be structured to satisfy the requirements for exemption under Rule 16b-3.

               (iv) Other Administration. Other than as provided above, the Plan shall be administered by (A) the Board or (B) a
Committee, which committee shall be constituted to satisfy Applicable Laws.

          (b) Powers of the Administrator. Subject to the provisions of the Plan, and in the case of a Committee, subject to the specific
duties delegated by the Board to such Committee, the Administrator shall have the authority, in its discretion:

               (i) to determine the Fair Market Value;

               (ii) to select the Service Providers to whom Options and Stock Purchase Rights may be granted hereunder;

               (iii) to determine the number of shares of Common Stock to be covered by each Option and Stock Purchase Right granted
hereunder;

               (iv) to approve forms of agreement for use under the Plan;

               (v) to determine the terms and conditions, not inconsistent with the terms of the Plan, of any Option or Stock Purchase Right
granted hereunder. Such terms and conditions include, but are not limited to, the exercise price, the time or times when Options or
Stock Purchase Rights may be exercised (which may be based on performance criteria), any vesting acceleration or waiver of
forfeiture restrictions, and any restriction or limitation regarding any Option or Stock Purchase Right or the shares of Common Stock
relating thereto, based in each case on such factors as the Administrator, in its sole discretion, shall determine;

               (vi) to reduce the exercise price of any Option or Stock Purchase Right to the then current Fair Market Value if the Fair
Market Value of the Common Stock covered by such Option or Stock Purchase Right shall have declined since the date the Option or
Stock Purchase Right was granted;

               (vii) to institute an Option Exchange Program;

               (viii) to construe and interpret the terms of the Plan and awards granted pursuant to the Plan;
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               (ix) to prescribe, amend and rescind rules and regulations relating to the Plan, including rules and regulations relating to
sub-plans established for the purpose of qualifying for preferred tax treatment under foreign tax laws;

               (x) to modify or amend each Option or Stock Purchase Right (subject to Section 15(c) of the Plan), including the
discretionary authority to extend the post-termination exercisability period of Options longer than is otherwise provided for in the
Plan;

               (xi) to allow Optionees to satisfy withholding tax obligations by electing to have the Company withhold from the Shares to
be issued upon exercise of an Option or Stock Purchase Right that number of Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount
required to be withheld. The Fair Market Value of the Shares to be withheld shall be determined on the date that the amount of tax to
be withheld is to be determined. All elections by an Optionee to have Shares withheld for this purpose shall be made in such form and
under such conditions as the Administrator may deem necessary or advisable;

               (xii) to authorize any person to execute on behalf of the Company any instrument required to effect the grant of an Option or
Stock Purchase Right previously granted by the Administrator;

               (xiii) to make all other determinations deemed necessary or advisable for administering the Plan.

          (c) Effect of Administrator’s Decision. The Administrator’s decisions, determinations and interpretations shall be final and
binding on all Optionees and any other holders of Options or Stock Purchase Rights.

     5. Eligibility. Nonstatutory Stock Options and Stock Purchase Rights may be granted to Service Providers. Incentive Stock Options
may be granted only to Employees.

     6. Limitations.

          (a) Each Option shall be designated in the Option Agreement as either an Incentive Stock Option or a Nonstatutory Stock
Option. However, notwithstanding such designation, to the extent that the aggregate Fair Market Value of the Shares with respect to
which Incentive Stock Options are exercisable for the first time by the Optionee during any calendar year (under all plans of the
Company and any Parent or Subsidiary) exceeds $100,000, such Options shall be treated as Nonstatutory Stock Options. For purposes
of this Section 6(a), Incentive Stock Options shall be taken into account in the order in which they were granted. The Fair Market
Value of the Shares shall be determined as of the time the Option with respect to such Shares is granted.

          (b) Neither the Plan nor any Option or Stock Purchase Right shall confer upon an Optionee any right with respect to continuing
the Optionee’s relationship as a Service Provider with the Company, nor shall they interfere in any way with the Optionee’s right or
the Company’s right to terminate such relationship at any time, with or without cause.

          (c) The following limitations shall apply to grants of Options:

               (i) No Service Provider shall be granted, in any fiscal year of the Company, Options to purchase more than 1.5 million
Shares.

               (ii) In connection with his or her initial service, a Service Provider may be granted Options to purchase up to an additional
1.5 million Shares which shall not count against the limit set forth in subsection (i) above.

               (iii) The foregoing limitations shall be adjusted proportionately in connection with any change in the Company’s
capitalization as described in Section 13.

               (iv) If an Option is cancelled in the same fiscal year of the Company in which it was granted (other than in connection with a
transaction described in Section 13), the cancelled Option will be counted against the limits set forth in subsections (i) and (ii) above.
For this purpose, if the exercise price of an Option is reduced, the transaction will be treated as a cancellation of the Option and the
grant of a new Option.

     7. Term of Plan. Subject to Section 19 of the Plan, the Plan shall become effective upon its adoption by the Board. It shall continue
in effect for a term of ten (10) years unless terminated earlier under Section 15 of the Plan.
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     8. Term of Option. The term of each Option shall be stated in the Option Agreement. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the
term shall be ten (10) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be provided in the Option Agreement. Moreover, in the
case of an Incentive Stock Option granted to an Optionee who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock
representing more than ten percent (10%) of the total combined voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or
Subsidiary, the term of the Incentive Stock Option shall be five (5) years from the date of grant or such shorter term as may be
provided in the Option Agreement.

     9. Option Exercise Price and Consideration.

          (a) Exercise Price. The per share exercise price for the Shares to be issued pursuant to exercise of an Option shall be determined
by the Administrator, subject to the following:

               (i) In the case of an Incentive Stock Option

                    (A) granted to an Employee who, at the time the Incentive Stock Option is granted, owns stock representing more than ten
percent (10%) of the voting power of all classes of stock of the Company or any Parent or Subsidiary, the per Share exercise price
shall be no less than 110% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

                    (B) granted to any Employee other than an Employee described in paragraph (A) immediately above, the per Share
exercise price shall be no less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

               (ii) In the case of a Nonstatutory Stock Option, the per Share exercise price shall be determined by the Administrator. In the
case of a Nonstatutory Stock Option intended to qualify as “performance-based compensation” within the meaning of Section 162(m)
of the Code, the per Share exercise price shall be no less than 100% of the Fair Market Value per Share on the date of grant.

               (iii) Notwithstanding the foregoing, Options may be granted with a per Share exercise price of less than 100% of the Fair
Market Value per Share on the date of grant pursuant to a merger or other corporate transaction.

          (b) Waiting Period and Exercise Dates. At the time an Option is granted, the Administrator shall fix the period within which the
Option may be exercised and shall determine any conditions which must be satisfied before the Option may be exercised.

          (c) Form of Consideration. The Administrator shall determine the acceptable form of consideration for exercising an Option,
including the method of payment. In the case of an Incentive Stock Option, the Administrator shall determine the acceptable form of
consideration at the time of grant. Such consideration may consist entirely of:

               (i) cash;

               (ii) check;

               (iii) other Shares which (A) in the case of Shares acquired upon exercise of an option, have been owned by the Optionee for
more than six months on the date of surrender, and (B) have a Fair Market Value on the date of surrender equal to the aggregate
exercise price of the Shares as to which said Option shall be exercised;

               (iv) consideration received by the Company under a cashless exercise program implemented by the Company in connection
with the Plan;

               (v) a reduction in the amount of any Company liability to the Optionee, including any liability attributable to the Optionee’s
participation in any Company-sponsored deferred compensation program or arrangement;

               (vi) any combination of the foregoing methods of payment; or

               (vii) such other consideration and method of payment for the issuance of Shares to the extent permitted by Applicable Laws.
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     10. Exercise of Option.

          (a) Procedure for Exercise; Rights as a Shareholder. Any Option granted hereunder shall be exercisable according to the terms
of the Plan and at such times and under such conditions as determined by the Administrator and set forth in the Option Agreement.
Unless the Administrator provides otherwise, vesting of Options granted hereunder shall be tolled during any unpaid leave of absence.
An Option may not be exercised for a fraction of a Share.

     An Option shall be deemed exercised when the Company receives: (i) written or electronic notice of exercise (in accordance with
the Option Agreement) from the person entitled to exercise the Option, and (ii) full payment for the Shares with respect to which the
Option is exercised. Full payment may consist of any consideration and method of payment authorized by the Administrator and
permitted by the Option Agreement and the Plan. Shares issued upon exercise of an Option shall be issued in the name of the Optionee
or, if requested by the Optionee, in the name of the Optionee and his or her spouse. Until the Shares are issued (as evidenced by the
appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly authorized transfer agent of the Company), no right to vote or receive
dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall exist with respect to the Optioned Stock, notwithstanding the exercise of the
Option. The Company shall issue (or cause to be issued) such Shares promptly after the Option is exercised. No adjustment will be
made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Shares are issued, except as provided in Section 13
of the Plan.

     Exercising an Option in any manner shall decrease the number of Shares thereafter available, both for purposes of the Plan and for
sale under the Option, by the number of Shares as to which the Option is exercised.

          (b) Termination of Relationship as a Service Provider. If an Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider, other than upon the
Optionee’s death or Disability, the Optionee may exercise his or her Option within such period of time as is specified in the Option
Agreement to the extent that the Option is vested on the date of termination (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of
such Option as set forth in the Option Agreement). In the absence of a specified time in the Option Agreement, the Option shall
remain exercisable for three (3) months following the Optionee’s termination. If, on the date of termination, the Optionee is not vested
as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option shall revert to the Plan. If, after termination,
the Optionee does not exercise his or her Option within the time specified by the Administrator, the Option shall terminate, and the
Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the Plan.

          (c) Disability of Optionee. If an Optionee ceases to be a Service Provider as a result of the Optionee’s Disability, the Optionee
may exercise his or her Option within such period of time as is specified in the Option Agreement to the extent the Option is vested on
the date of termination (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Option Agreement). In
the absence of a specified time in the Option Agreement, the Option shall remain exercisable for twelve (12) months following the
Optionee’s termination. If, on the date of termination, the Optionee is not vested as to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by
the unvested portion of the Option shall revert to the Plan. If, after termination, the Optionee does not exercise his or her Option within
the time specified herein, the Option shall terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the Plan.

          (d) Death of Optionee. If an Optionee dies while a Service Provider, the Option may be exercised within such period of time as
is specified in the Option Agreement (but in no event later than the expiration of the term of such Option as set forth in the Notice of
Grant), by the Optionee’s estate or by a person who acquires the right to exercise the Option by bequest or inheritance, but only to the
extent that the Option is vested on the date of death. In the absence of a specified time in the Option Agreement, the Option shall
remain exercisable for twelve (12) months following the Optionee’s termination. If, at the time of death, the Optionee is not vested as
to his or her entire Option, the Shares covered by the unvested portion of the Option shall immediately revert to the Plan. The Option
may be exercised by the executor or administrator of the Optionee’s estate or, if none, by the person(s) entitled to exercise the Option
under the Optionee’s will or the laws of descent or distribution. If the Option is not so exercised within the time specified herein, the
Option shall terminate, and the Shares covered by such Option shall revert to the Plan.

          (e) Buyout Provisions. The Administrator may at any time offer to buy out for a payment in cash or Shares an Option previously
granted based on such terms and conditions as the Administrator shall establish and communicate to the Optionee at the time that such
offer is made.
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     11. Stock Purchase Rights.

          (a) Rights to Purchase. Stock Purchase Rights may be issued either alone, in addition to, or in tandem with other awards granted
under the Plan and/or cash awards made outside of the Plan. After the Administrator determines that it will offer Stock Purchase
Rights under the Plan, it shall advise the offeree in writing or electronically, by means of a Notice of Grant, of the terms, conditions
and restrictions related to the offer, including the number of Shares that the offeree shall be entitled to purchase, the price to be paid,
and the time within which the offeree must accept such offer. The offer shall be accepted by execution of a Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreement in the form determined by the Administrator.

          (b) Repurchase Option. Unless the Administrator determines otherwise, the Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement shall grant the
Company a repurchase option exercisable upon the voluntary or involuntary termination of the purchaser’s service with the Company
for any reason (including death or Disability). The purchase price for Shares repurchased pursuant to the Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreement shall be the original price paid by the purchaser and may be paid by cancellation of any indebtedness of the purchaser to
the Company. The repurchase option shall lapse at a rate determined by the Administrator.

          (c) Other Provisions. The Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement shall contain such other terms, provisions and conditions not
inconsistent with the Plan as may be determined by the Administrator in its sole discretion.

          (d) Rights as a Shareholder. Once the Stock Purchase Right is exercised, the purchaser shall have the rights equivalent to those
of a shareholder, and shall be a shareholder when his or her purchase is entered upon the records of the duly authorized transfer agent
of the Company. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the record date is prior to the date the Stock
Purchase Right is exercised, except as provided in Section 13 of the Plan.

     12. Non-Transferability of Options and Stock Purchase Rights. Unless determined otherwise by the Administrator, an Option or
Stock Purchase Right may not be sold, pledged, assigned, hypothecated, transferred, or disposed of in any manner other than by will
or by the laws of descent or distribution and may be exercised, during the lifetime of the Optionee, only by the Optionee. If the
Administrator makes an Option or Stock Purchase Right transferable, such Option or Stock Purchase Right shall contain such
additional terms and conditions as the Administrator deems appropriate.

     13. Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization, Dissolution, Merger or Asset Sale.

          (a) Changes in Capitalization. Subject to any required action by the shareholders of the Company, the number of shares of
Common Stock covered by each outstanding Option and Stock Purchase Right, and the number of shares of Common Stock which
have been authorized for issuance under the Plan but as to which no Options or Stock Purchase Rights have yet been granted or which
have been returned to the Plan upon cancellation or expiration of an Option or Stock Purchase Right, as well as the price per share of
Common Stock covered by each such outstanding Option or Stock Purchase Right, shall be proportionately adjusted for any increase
or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common Stock resulting from a stock split, reverse stock split, stock dividend,
combination or reclassification of the Common Stock, or any other increase or decrease in the number of issued shares of Common
Stock effected without receipt of consideration by the Company; provided, however, that conversion of any convertible securities of
the Company shall not be deemed to have been “effected without receipt of consideration.” Such adjustment shall be made by the
Board, whose determination in that respect shall be final, binding and conclusive. Except as expressly provided herein, no issuance by
the Company of shares of stock of any class, or securities convertible into shares of stock of any class, shall affect, and no adjustment
by reason thereof shall be made with respect to, the number or price of shares of Common Stock subject to an Option or Stock
Purchase Right.

          (b) Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Administrator shall
notify each Optionee as soon as practicable prior to the effective date of such proposed transaction. The Administrator in its discretion
may provide for an Optionee to have the right to exercise his or her Option until ten (10) days prior to such transaction as to all of the
Optioned Stock covered thereby, including Shares as to which the Option would not otherwise be exercisable. In addition, the
Administrator may provide that any Company repurchase option applicable to any Shares purchased upon exercise of an Option or
Stock Purchase Right shall lapse as to all such Shares, provided the proposed dissolution or liquidation takes place at the time and in
the manner
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contemplated. To the extent it has not been previously exercised, an Option or Stock Purchase Right will terminate immediately prior
to the consummation of such proposed action.

          (c) Merger or Asset Sale. In the event of a merger of the Company with or into another corporation, or the sale of substantially
all of the assets of the Company, each outstanding Option and Stock Purchase Right shall be assumed or an equivalent option or right
substituted by the successor corporation or a Parent or Subsidiary of the successor corporation. In the event that the successor
corporation refuses to assume or substitute for the Option or Stock Purchase Right, the Optionee shall fully vest in and have the right
to exercise the Option or Stock Purchase Right as to all of the Optioned Stock, including Shares as to which it would not otherwise be
vested or exercisable. If an Option or Stock Purchase Right becomes fully vested and exercisable in lieu of assumption or substitution
in the event of a merger or sale of assets, the Administrator shall notify the Optionee in writing or electronically that the Option or
Stock Purchase Right shall be fully vested and exercisable for a period of fifteen (15) days from the date of such notice, and the
Option or Stock Purchase Right shall terminate upon the expiration of such period. For the purposes of this paragraph, the Option or
Stock Purchase Right shall be considered assumed if, following the merger or sale of assets, the option or right confers the right to
purchase or receive, for each Share of Optioned Stock subject to the Option or Stock Purchase Right immediately prior to the merger
or sale of assets, the consideration (whether stock, cash, or other securities or property) received in the merger or sale of assets by
holders of Common Stock for each Share held on the effective date of the transaction (and if holders were offered a choice of
consideration, the type of consideration chosen by the holders of a majority of the outstanding Shares); provided, however, that if such
consideration received in the merger or sale of assets is not solely common stock of the successor corporation or its Parent, the
Administrator may, with the consent of the successor corporation, provide for the consideration to be received upon the exercise of the
Option or Stock Purchase Right, for each Share of Optioned Stock subject to the Option or Stock Purchase Right, to be solely common
stock of the successor corporation or its Parent equal in fair market value to the per share consideration received by holders of
Common Stock in the merger or sale of assets.

     14. Date of Grant. The date of grant of an Option or Stock Purchase Right shall be, for all purposes, the date on which the
Administrator makes the determination granting such Option or Stock Purchase Right, or such other later date as is determined by the
Administrator. Notice of the determination shall be provided to each Optionee within a reasonable time after the date of such grant.

     15. Amendment and Termination of the Plan.

          (a) Amendment and Termination. The Board may at any time amend, alter, suspend or terminate the Plan.

          (b) Shareholder Approval. The Company shall obtain shareholder approval of any Plan amendment to the extent necessary and
desirable to comply with Applicable Laws.

          (c) Effect of Amendment or Termination. No amendment, alteration, suspension or termination of the Plan shall impair the
rights of any Optionee, unless mutually agreed otherwise between the Optionee and the Administrator, which agreement must be in
writing and signed by the Optionee and the Company. Termination of the Plan shall not affect the Administrator’s ability to exercise
the powers granted to it hereunder with respect to Options granted under the Plan prior to the date of such termination.

     16. Conditions Upon Issuance of Shares.

          (a) Legal Compliance. Shares shall not be issued pursuant to the exercise of an Option or Stock Purchase Right unless the
exercise of such Option or Stock Purchase Right and the issuance and delivery of such Shares shall comply with Applicable Laws and
shall be further subject to the approval of counsel for the Company with respect to such compliance.

          (b) Investment Representations. As a condition to the exercise of an Option or Stock Purchase Right, the Company may require
the person exercising such Option or Stock Purchase Right to represent and warrant at the time of any such exercise that the Shares are
being purchased only for investment and without any present intention to sell or distribute such Shares if, in the opinion of counsel for
the Company, such a representation is required.

     17. Inability to Obtain Authority. The inability of the Company to obtain authority from any regulatory body having jurisdiction,
which authority is deemed by the Company’s counsel to be necessary to the lawful issuance and
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sale of any Shares hereunder, shall relieve the Company of any liability in respect of the failure to issue or sell such Shares as to which
such requisite authority shall not have been obtained.

     18. Reservation of Shares. The Company, during the term of this Plan, will at all times reserve and keep available such number of
Shares as shall be sufficient to satisfy the requirements of the Plan.

     19. Shareholder Approval. The Plan shall be subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company within twelve (12) months
after the date the Plan is adopted. Such shareholder approval shall be obtained in the manner and to the degree required under
Applicable Laws.
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  Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
Notice of Grant of Stock Options  ID: 77-0409517
and Option Agreement  1745 Technology Drive
  San Jose, CA 95110
 

   
Name:  Option Number:
Address:

 
Plan:                                     1999
ID:

 
 

Effective [DATE], you have been granted a(n) Non-Qualified Stock Option to buy [SHARES] shares of Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. (the Company) stock at $[PRICE] per share.

The total option price of the shares granted is $[PRICE].

Shares in each period will become fully vested on the date shown.
       
Shares  Vest Type  Full Vest  Expiration
       

 

By your signature and the Company’s signature below, you and the Company agree that these options are granted under and governed
by the terms and conditions of the Company’s Stock Option Plan as amended and the Option Agreement, all of which are attached and
made a part of this document.
 

   
 
   

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.  Date
   
 
   

[EMPLOYEE NAME]  Date
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CONSENT OF SPOUSE

     The undersigned spouse of Optionee has read and hereby approves the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Option Agreement.
In consideration of the Company’s granting his or her spouse the right to purchase Shares as set forth in the Plan and this Option
Agreement, the undersigned hereby agrees to be irrevocably bound by the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Option Agreement
and further agrees that any community property interest shall be similarly bound. The undersigned hereby appoints the undersigned’s
spouse as attorney-in-fact for the undersigned with respect to any amendment or exercise of rights under the Plan or this Option
Agreement.
   
 
   

  Spouse of Optionee
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.

1999 STOCK PLAN
EXERCISE NOTICE

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
1745 Technology Drive
San Jose CA 95110

Attention: Secretary

     1.      Exercise of Option. Effective as of today,                     ,                     , the undersigned (“Purchaser”) hereby elects to purchase
                     shares (the “Shares”) of the Common Stock of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) under and
pursuant to the Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. 1999 Stock Plan (the “Plan”) and the Stock Option Agreement dated,
                     (the “Option Agreement”). The purchase price for the Shares shall be $                    , as required by the Option
Agreement.

     2.      Delivery of Payment. Purchaser herewith delivers to the Company the full purchase price for the Shares.

     3.      Representations of Purchaser. Purchaser acknowledges that Purchaser has received, read and understood the Plan and the
Option Agreement and agrees to abide by and be bound by their terms and conditions.

     4.      Rights as Shareholder. Until the issuance (as evidenced by the appropriate entry on the books of the Company or of a duly
authorized transfer agent of the Company) of the Shares, no right to vote or receive dividends or any other rights as a shareholder shall
exist with respect to the Optioned Stock, notwithstanding the exercise of the Option. The Shares so acquired shall be issued to the
Optionee as soon as practicable after exercise of the Option. No adjustment will be made for a dividend or other right for which the
record date is prior to the date of issuance, except as provided in [Section 13] of the Plan.

     5.      Tax Consultation. Purchaser understands that Purchaser may suffer adverse tax consequences as a result of Purchaser’s
purchase or disposition of the Shares. Purchaser represents that Purchaser has consulted with any tax consultants Purchaser deems
advisable in connection with the purchase or disposition of the Shares and that Purchaser is not relying on the Company for any tax
advice.

     6.      Entire Agreement; Governing Law. The Plan and Option Agreement are incorporated herein by reference. This Agreement,
the Plan and the Option Agreement constitute the entire agreement of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof and
supersede in their entirety all prior undertakings and agreements of the Company and Purchaser with respect to the subject matter
hereof, and may not be modified adversely to the Purchaser’s interest except by means of a writing signed by the Company and
Purchaser. This agreement is governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules, of Delaware.
   
Submitted by:  Accepted by:
   
PURCHASER:  BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 
   
   

Signature  Signature
   
   
   

Print Name  Print Name & Title
   
   
Address:  Address:
   
   
 

 

Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
1745 Technology Drive
San Jose CA 95110

   
   
 

  
   
   

  Date Received
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
1999 STOCK PLAN

NOTICE OF GRANT OF STOCK PURCHASE RIGHT

[Name of Purchaser]:

     You have been granted the right to purchase Common Stock of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (the “Company”), subject
to your ongoing status as a Service Provider (as described in the Plan) and the forfeiture provision and other terms and conditions set
forth in the attached Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, as follows:
       
  Grant Number     
       
  Date of Grant     
       
  Purchase Price Per Share  $0.001 per share (par value)   
       
 

 
Fair Market Value on Grant Date

 
$

 

  
 

       
  Total Number of Shares     
 

 
Subject to This Stock Purchase
Right  

 
 

 

       
  Expiration Date:     

     YOU MUST EXERCISE THIS STOCK PURCHASE RIGHT BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE OR IT WILL TERMINATE
AND YOU WILL HAVE NO FURTHER RIGHT TO PURCHASE THE SHARES. By your signature and the signature of the
Company’s representative below, you and the Company agree that this Stock Purchase Right is granted under and governed by the
terms and conditions of the 1999 Stock Plan and the Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A-1, both of
which are made a part of this document. You further agree to execute the attached Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement as a condition
to purchasing any shares under this Stock Purchase Right. Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have
the same defined meanings in this Notice of Grant.
   
PURCHASER:  BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
   
   
   

Signature  Signature
   
   
   

Print Name  Print Name
   
   
   

  Title
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EXHIBIT A-1

1999 STOCK PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

     Unless otherwise defined herein, the defined terms in this Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement shall have the same meanings as
defined in the 1999 Stock Plan (the “Plan”).

     WHEREAS the Purchaser named in the Notice of Grant (the “Purchaser”) is a Service Provider, and the Purchaser’s continued
participation is considered by the Company to be important for the Company’s continued growth; and

     WHEREAS in order to give the Purchaser an opportunity to acquire an equity interest in the Company as an incentive for the
Purchaser to participate in the affairs of the Company, the Administrator has granted to the Purchaser a Stock Purchase Right subject
to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the Notice of Grant, which are incorporated herein by reference, and pursuant to this
Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”).

     NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

     1.      Sale of Stock. The Company hereby agrees to sell to the Purchaser and the Purchaser hereby agrees to purchase shares of the
Company’s Common Stock (the “Shares”), at the per Share purchase price and as otherwise described in the Notice of Grant.

     2.      Payment of Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Shares may be paid by delivery to the Company at the time of
execution of this Agreement of cash, a check, or some combination thereof.

     3.      Forfeiture. Except as provided and subject to the provisions of Section 4(d) of this Agreement and Section 13 of the Plan, and
only in the event the Purchaser ceases to be a Service Provider for any or no reason (including death or disability) before the
Restriction Period lapses with respect to all of the Shares (see Section 4), all of the Shares which constitute Unreleased Shares shall be
automatically forfeited by the Purchaser (without any further consideration or notice from the Company), effective upon the date of
such termination (as determined by the Company). Upon forfeiture of the Unreleased Shares, the Company shall become the legal and
beneficial owner of the Shares which constitute Unreleased Shares and all rights and interests therein or relating thereto, and the
Company shall have the right to retain and transfer to its own name the number of Unreleased Shares.

     4.      Vesting of Shares and Expiration of Restriction Period.

          (a)      Except as provided by and subject to the provisions of Section 4(d) of this Agreement and Section 13 of the Plan, upon
the second anniversary of the Date of Grant, the Restriction Period shall lapse with respect to one hundred percent (100%) of the
Shares. On such
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anniversary or such earlier period under Section 4(d) below and Section 13 of the Plan, all of the Shares shall be vested as to the
Purchaser and no longer subject to forfeiture to the Company.

          (b)      Any of the Shares subject to the Restriction Period that have not yet vested are referred to herein as “Unreleased Shares.”

          (c)      The Shares with respect to which the Restriction Period has expired shall be delivered to the Purchaser upon the
expiration of the Restriction Period. (See Section 7.)

          (d)      If Purchaser’s employment with the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company) is terminated by the
Company (or the Parent or Subsidiary of the Company) without Cause or by Purchaser for Good Reason in Connection with a Change
of Control, then the Restriction Period shall lapse with respect to one hundred percent (100%) of the Shares as of the date of
Purchaser’s termination of employment with the Company (or any Parent or Subsidiary of the Company).

     5.      Definitions.

          (a)      Cause. For purposes of this Agreement, “Cause” means (i) Purchaser’s willful and continued failure to perform the duties
and responsibilities of his position that is not corrected within a thirty (30) day correction period that begins upon delivery to
Purchaser of a written demand for performance from the Board that describes the basis for the Board’s belief that Purchaser has not
substantially performed his duties; (ii) any act of personal dishonesty taken by Purchaser in connection with his or her responsibilities
as an employee of the Company with the intention or reasonable expectation that such may result in substantial personal enrichment of
Purchaser; (iii) Purchaser’s conviction of, or plea of nolo contendre to, a felony that the Board reasonably believes has had or will
have a material detrimental effect on the Company’s reputation or business, or (iv) Purchaser materially breaching Purchaser’s
Confidential Information Agreement, which breach is (if capable of cure) not cured within thirty (30) days after the Company delivers
written notice to Purchaser of the breach.

          (b)      Change of Control. “Change of Control” shall mean the occurrence of any of the following events:

     (i)      the consummation by the Company of a merger or consolidation of the Company with any other corporation, other
than a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company outstanding immediately prior
thereto continuing to represent (either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the surviving
entity) more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power represented by the voting securities of the Company or such
surviving entity outstanding immediately after such merger or consolidation;

     (ii)     the consummation of the sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company’s assets;
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     (iii)      any “person” (as such term is used in Sections 13(d) and 14(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended) becoming the “beneficial owner” (as defined in Rule 13d-3 under said Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of
the Company representing 50% or more of the total voting power represented by the Company’s then outstanding voting
securities; or

     (iv)      a change in the composition of the Board, as a result of which fewer than a majority of the directors are Incumbent
Directors. “Incumbent Directors” shall mean directors who either (A) are directors of the Company as of the date hereof, or
(B) are elected, or nominated for election, to the Board with the affirmative votes of at least a majority of those directors
whose election or nomination was not in connection with any transactions described in subsections (i), (ii), or (iii) or in
connection with an actual or threatened proxy contest relating to the election of directors of the Company.

          (c)      Disability. For purposes of this Agreement, Disability will have the same defined meaning as in the Company’s long-term
disability plan.

          (d)      Good Reason. For purposes of this Agreement, “Good Reason” means the occurrence of any of the following, without
Purchaser’s consent: (i) a material reduction of Purchaser’s duties, title, authority or responsibilities in effect immediately prior to a
Change of Control; (ii) a reduction in Purchaser’s base salary or target annual cash incentive compensation; (iii) the failure of the
Company to obtain the assumption of the Agreement by the successor, or (iv) the Company requiring Purchaser to relocate his or her
principal place of business or the Company relocating its headquarters, in either case to a facility or location outside of a thirty-five
(35) mile radius from Purchaser’s current principal place of employment; provided, however, that Purchaser only will have Good
Reason if the event or circumstances constituting Good Reason specified in any of the preceding clauses is not cured within thirty
(30) days after Purchaser gives written notice to the Board. Purchaser’s actions approving any of the foregoing changes (that otherwise
may be considered Good Reason) will be considered consent for the purposes of this Good Reason definition.

          (e)      In Connection with a Change of Control. For purposes of this Agreement, a termination of Purchaser’s employment with
the Company is “in Connection with a Change of Control” if Purchaser’s employment is terminated within twelve (12) months
following a Change of Control.

     6.      Restriction on Transfer. Except for the escrow described in Section 7 or the transfer of the Shares to the Company
contemplated by this Agreement, none of the Shares or any beneficial interest therein shall be transferred, encumbered or otherwise
disposed of in any way until the Restriction Period expires with respect to such Shares in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement, other than by will or the laws of descent and distribution.
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     7.      Escrow of Shares.

          (a)      To ensure the availability for delivery of the Unreleased Shares upon forfeiture, the Purchaser shall, upon execution of
this Agreement, deliver and deposit with an escrow holder designated by the Company (the “Escrow Holder”) the share certificates
representing the Unreleased Shares, together with the stock assignment duly endorsed in blank, attached hereto as Exhibit A-2. The
Unreleased Shares and stock assignment shall be held by the Escrow Holder, pursuant to the Joint Escrow Instructions of the
Company and Purchaser attached hereto as Exhibit A-3, until such time as the Company’s Restriction Period expires. As a further
condition to the Company’s obligations under this Agreement, the Company may require the spouse of Purchaser, if any, to execute
and deliver to the Company the Consent of Spouse attached hereto as Exhibit A-4.

          (b)      The Escrow Holder shall not be liable for any act it may do or omit to do with respect to holding the Unreleased Shares in
escrow while acting in good faith and in the exercise of its judgment.

          (c)      Upon forfeiture of the Unreleased Shares pursuant to this Agreement, the Escrow Holder, upon receipt of written notice
of such exercise from the proposed transferee, shall take all steps necessary to accomplish such transfer.

          (d)      Upon forfeiture of the Unreleased Shares, the Escrow Holder shall promptly cause the certificate representing the Shares
which constitute the Unreleased Shares to be delivered to the Company. If the Restriction Period lapses with respect to a portion or all
of the Shares, upon request the Escrow Holder shall promptly cause a new certificate to be issued for the Shares no longer subject to
forfeiture and delivered to the Purchaser free of any legend or restriction, subject to Applicable Laws.

          (e)      Subject to the terms hereof, the Purchaser shall have all the rights of a shareholder with respect to the Shares while they
are held in escrow, including without limitation, the right to vote the Shares and to receive any cash dividends declared thereon. If,
from time to time during the term of the Restriction Period, there is any (i) stock dividend, stock split or other change in the Shares, or
(ii) merger or sale of all or substantially all of the assets or other acquisition of the Company, any and all new, substituted or additional
securities to which the Purchaser is entitled by reason of the Purchaser’s ownership of the Shares shall be immediately subject to this
escrow, deposited with the Escrow Holder and included thereafter as “Shares” for purposes of this Agreement and subject to the
Restriction Period (to the extent the Shares would have otherwise been subject to the Restriction Period).

     8.      Legends. The share certificate evidencing the Shares, if any, issued hereunder shall be endorsed with the following legend (in
addition to any legend required under applicable federal, state or other securities laws):
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          THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS UPON
TRANSFER AND RIGHTS OF REPURCHASE AS SET FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE
SHAREHOLDER, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE COMPANY.

     9.      Adjustment for Stock Split. All references to the number of Shares and the purchase price of the Shares in this Agreement
shall be appropriately adjusted to reflect any stock split, stock dividend or other change in the Shares that may be made by the
Company after the date of this Agreement.

     10.      Withholding of Taxes; Tax Consequences.

          (a)      Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, no certificate representing the Shares, whether or not such
Shares represent Unreleased Shares, may be released from the escrow established pursuant to Section 7, unless and until satisfactory
arrangements (as determined by the Administrator) will have been made by the Purchaser with respect to the payment of income,
employment and other taxes which the Company determines must be withheld with respect to such Shares. The Administrator, in its
sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit the Purchaser to satisfy such tax
withholding obligation, in whole or in part by one or more of the following: (a) paying cash, (b) electing to have the Company
withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum amount required to be withheld,
(c) delivering to the Company already vested and owned Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount required to be
withheld, or (d) selling a sufficient number of such Shares otherwise deliverable to Purchaser through such means as the Company
may determine in its sole discretion (whether through a broker or otherwise) equal to the minimum amount required to be withheld.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Purchaser fails to make other arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the payment of any
required tax withholding obligations hereunder at the time any Shares are scheduled to vest pursuant to Section 4 (or otherwise give
rise to tax withholding obligations by the employer and employee with respect to such Shares), Purchaser hereby authorizes and
directs the Company to withhold and cancel on each vesting date (or other applicable date) that number of Shares, rounded up to the
nearest whole share, equal to the amount of the employer and employee tax withholdings and other applicable payroll taxes with
respect to such tax withholding event based, divided by the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the vesting (or other
applicable) date. With respect to the Shares withheld and cancelled by the Company for tax withholding purposes, such Shares shall
be returned to the Company, the Company shall be deemed to be the legal and beneficial owner of such Shares, and the Company
shall have the right to retain and transfer such Shares to its own name for cancellation.

          (b) The Purchaser has reviewed with the Purchaser’s own tax advisors the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of
this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Purchaser is relying solely on such advisors and not on any
statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents. The Purchaser understands that the Purchaser (and not the
Company) shall be responsible for the Purchaser’s own tax liability that may arise as a result of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. The Purchaser understands that Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), taxes as
ordinary income the difference between the purchase price for the Shares and the Fair Market Value of the Shares as of
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the date any restrictions on the Shares lapse. In this context, “restriction” includes the forfeiture provision pursuant to Section 3 of the
Agreement. The Purchaser understands that the Purchaser may elect to be taxed at the time the Shares are purchased rather than when
and as the Restriction Period lapses by filing an election under Section 83(b) of the Code with the IRS within 30 days from the date of
purchase. The form for making this election is attached as Exhibit A-5 hereto.

          THE PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS THE PURCHASER’S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY AND NOT THE
COMPANY’S TO FILE TIMELY THE ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF THE PURCHASER ASKS THE
COMPANY OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON THE PURCHASER’S BEHALF.

     11.      General Provisions.

          (a)      This Agreement shall be governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules of California. This
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the Notice of Grant, represents the entire agreement between the
parties with respect to the purchase of the Shares by the Purchaser. Subject to Section 15(c) of the Plan, in the event of a conflict
between the terms and conditions of the Plan and the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this
Agreement shall prevail. Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this
Agreement.

          (b)      Any notice, demand or request required or permitted to be given by either the Company or the Purchaser pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when delivered personally or deposited in the U.S. mail, First
Class with postage prepaid, and addressed to the parties at the addresses of the parties set forth at the end of this Agreement or such
other address as a party may request by notifying the other in writing.

     Any notice to the Escrow Holder shall be sent to the Company’s address with a copy to the other party hereto.

          (c)      The rights of the Company under this Agreement shall be transferable to any one or more persons or entities, and all
covenants, obligations and agreements hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by the Company’s successors and
assigns. The rights and obligations of the Purchaser under this Agreement may only be assigned with the prior written consent of the
Company.

          (d)      Either party’s failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any
such provision, nor prevent that party from thereafter enforcing any other provision of this Agreement. The rights granted both parties
hereunder are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party’s right to assert any other legal remedy available to it.

          (e)      The Purchaser agrees upon request to execute any further documents or instruments necessary or desirable to carry out
the purposes or intent of this Agreement.
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          (f)      PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING OF SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 4
HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING SERVICE AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT THE WILL OF THE COMPANY
(OR THE PARTENT OR SUBSIDIARY EMPLOYING OR RETAINING PURCHASER) AND NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF
BEING HIRED OR PURCHASING SHARES HEREUNDER AND OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 4(d) HEREOF
OR SECTION 13 OF THE PLAN. PURCHASER FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS AGREEMENT,
THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT
CONSTITUTE AN EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROMISE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR
THE VESTING PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND SHALL NOT INTERFERE WITH PURCHASER’S RIGHT OR
THE RIGHT OF THE COMPANY (OR THE PARENT OR SUBSIDIARY EMPLOYING OR RETAINING PURCHASER) TO
TERMINATE PURCHASER’S RELATIONSHIP AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.
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     By Purchaser’s signature below, Purchaser represents that he or she is familiar with the terms and provisions of the Plan, and
hereby accepts this Agreement subject to all of the terms and provisions thereof. Purchaser has reviewed the Plan and this Agreement
in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Agreement and fully understands all
provisions of this Agreement. Purchaser agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the
Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan or this Agreement. Purchaser further agrees to notify the Company upon any
change in the residence indicated in the Notice of Grant.
   
DATED:   

 

   
PURCHASER:  BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 
   
   

Signature  Signature
 
   
   

Print Name  Print Name
 
 
   

  Title
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EXHIBIT A-2

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE

     FOR VALUE RECEIVED I,                                         , hereby sell, assign and transfer unto                                         
(                    ) shares of the Common Stock of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) standing in my name of the
books of said corporation represented by Certificate No.                      herewith and do hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint
                                         to transfer the said stock on the books of the within named corporation with full power of substitution in the
premises.

     This Stock Assignment may be used only in accordance with the Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) between
the Company and the undersigned dated                     , ___.

Dated:                     , _____
       
  Signature: 

 
  

     INSTRUCTIONS: Please do not fill in any blanks other than the signature line. The purpose of this assignment is to facilitate the
forfeiture and transfer of any Unreleased Shares as set forth in the Agreement without requiring additional signatures on the part of the
Purchaser.

 

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006



 

EXHIBIT A-3

JOINT ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS

                    , __

[Escrow Agent Name]
[Escrow Agent Address]

Dear                     :

     As Escrow Agent for both Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and the undersigned
purchaser of stock of the Company (the “Purchaser”), you are hereby authorized and directed to hold the documents delivered to you
pursuant to the terms of that certain Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”) between the Company and the undersigned,
in accordance with the following instructions:

     1. In the event of the forfeiture of any Shares as set forth in the Agreement, Purchaser and the Company hereby irrevocably
authorize and direct you to close the transaction contemplated by such notice in accordance with the terms of said notice.

     2. At the closing, you are directed (a) to date the stock assignments necessary for the transfer in question, (b) to fill in the number
of shares being transferred, and (c) to deliver same, together with the certificate evidencing the shares of stock to be transferred, to the
Company or its assignee, against the simultaneous delivery to you of the purchase price (by cash, a check, or some combination
thereof) for the number of shares of stock forfeited in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

     3. Purchaser irrevocably authorizes the Company to deposit with you any certificates evidencing shares of stock to be held by you
hereunder and any additions and substitutions to said shares as defined in the Agreement. Purchaser does hereby irrevocably constitute
and appoint you as Purchaser’s attorney-in-fact and agent for the term of this escrow to execute with respect to such securities all
documents necessary or appropriate to make such securities negotiable and to complete any transaction herein contemplated, including
but not limited to the filing with any applicable state blue sky authority of any required applications for consent to, or notice of
transfer of, the securities. Subject to the provisions of this paragraph 3, Purchaser shall exercise all rights and privileges of a
shareholder of the Company while the stock is held by you.

     4. Upon written request of the Purchaser, but no more than once per calendar year, to the extent the Restriction Period has lapsed
with respect to any Shares, you shall deliver to Purchaser a certificate or certificates representing so many shares of stock as are not
then subject to the Restriction Period. Within 90 days after Purchaser ceases to be a Service Provider, you shall deliver to Purchaser a
certificate or certificates representing the aggregate number of shares held or issued pursuant to the Agreement and not forfeited by
Purchaser pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
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     5. If at the time of termination of this escrow you should have in your possession any documents, securities, or other property
belonging to Purchaser, you shall deliver all of the same to Purchaser and shall be discharged of all further obligations hereunder.

     6. Your duties hereunder may be altered, amended, modified or revoked only by a writing signed by all of the parties hereto.

     7. You shall be obligated only for the performance of such duties as are specifically set forth herein and may rely and shall be
protected in relying or refraining from acting on any instrument reasonably believed by you to be genuine and to have been signed or
presented by the proper party or parties. You shall not be personally liable for any act you may do or omit to do hereunder as Escrow
Agent or as attorney-in-fact for Purchaser while acting in good faith, and any act done or omitted by you pursuant to the advice of
your own attorneys shall be conclusive evidence of such good faith.

     8. You are hereby expressly authorized to disregard any and all warnings given by any of the parties hereto or by any other person
or corporation, excepting only orders or process of courts of law, and are hereby expressly authorized to comply with and obey orders,
judgments or decrees of any court. In case you obey or comply with any such order, judgment or decree, you shall not be liable to any
of the parties hereto or to any other person, firm or corporation by reason of such compliance, notwithstanding any such order,
judgment or decree being subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, set aside, vacated or found to have been entered without
jurisdiction.

     9. You shall not be liable in any respect on account of the identity, authorities or rights of the parties executing or delivering or
purporting to execute or deliver the Agreement or any documents or papers deposited or called for hereunder.

     10. You shall not be liable for the outlawing of any rights under the statute of limitations with respect to these Joint Escrow
Instructions or any documents deposited with you.

     11. You shall be entitled to employ such legal counsel and other experts as you may deem necessary properly to advise you in
connection with your obligations hereunder, may rely upon the advice of such counsel, and may pay such counsel reasonable
compensation therefor.

     12. Your responsibilities as Escrow Agent hereunder shall terminate if you shall cease to be an officer or agent of the Company or
if you shall resign by written notice to each party. In the event of any such termination, the Company shall appoint a successor Escrow
Agent.

     13. If you reasonably require other or further instruments in connection with these Joint Escrow Instructions or obligations in
respect hereto, the necessary parties hereto shall join in furnishing such instruments.

     14. It is understood and agreed that should any dispute arise with respect to the delivery and/or ownership or right of possession of
the securities held by you hereunder, you are authorized and directed to retain in your possession without liability to anyone all or any
part of said securities until such disputes shall have been settled either by mutual written agreement of the parties
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concerned or by a final order, decree or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction after the time for appeal has expired and no
appeal has been perfected, but you shall be under no duty whatsoever to institute or defend any such proceedings.

     15. Any notice required or permitted hereunder shall be given in writing and shall be deemed effectively given upon personal
delivery or upon deposit in the United States Post Office, by registered or certified mail with postage and fees prepaid, addressed to
each of the other parties thereunto entitled at the following addresses or at such other addresses as a party may designate by ten days’
advance written notice to each of the other parties hereto.
     
  COMPANY:  Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
    1745 Technology Drive
    San Jose CA 95110
     
  PURCHASER:  At the address set forth following his or her signature
     
  ESCROW AGENT:  [Escrow Agent Name]
    [Escrow Agent Address]

     16. By signing these Joint Escrow Instructions, you become a party hereto only for the purpose of said Joint Escrow Instructions;
you do not become a party to the Agreement.

     17. This instrument shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and their respective successors and
permitted assigns.
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     18. These Joint Escrow Instructions shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the internal substantive
laws, but not the choice of law rules, of California.
     
  Very truly yours,
     
  BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 
     
   

  Signature
     
 
   

  Print Name
     
 
   

  Title
     
  PURCHASER:
 
     
   

  Signature
     
 
   

  Print Name
     
  Address:
   

     
     
   

     
ESCROW AGENT:   
     
[Escrow Agent Name]   
     
Signature:  

 
  

     
Print Name:  

 
  

     
Title:  
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EXHIBIT A-4

CONSENT OF SPOUSE

     I,                                         , spouse of                                         , have read and approve the foregoing Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreement (the “Agreement”). In consideration of the Company’s grant to my spouse of the right to purchase shares of Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc., as set forth in the Agreement, I hereby appoint my spouse as my attorney-in-fact in respect to the
exercise of any rights under the Agreement and agree to be bound by the provisions of the Agreement insofar as I may have any rights
in said Agreement or any shares issued pursuant thereto under the community property laws or similar laws relating to marital
property in effect in the state of our residence as of the date of the signing of the foregoing Agreement.

Dated:                     , _____
   
   
   
 

Signature of Spouse   
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EXHIBIT A-5

ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b)
OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986

The undersigned taxpayer hereby elects, pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to include in
taxpayer’s gross income for the current taxable year the amount of any compensation taxable to taxpayer in connection with his or her
receipt of the property described below:

1.  The name, address, taxpayer identification number and taxable year of the undersigned are as follows:
         
  NAME:  TAXPAYER:  SPOUSE:   
         
  ADDRESS:       
         
  IDENTIFICATION NO.:  TAXPAYER:  SPOUSE:   
         
  TAXABLE YEAR:       

2.  The property with respect to which the election is made is described as follows:             shares (the “Shares”) of the Common Stock
of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (the “Company”).

 

3.  The date on which the property was transferred is:      ,       .
 

4.  The property is subject to the following restrictions:
 

  The Shares may be repurchased by the Company, or its assignee, upon certain events. This right lapses with regard to a portion of
the Shares based on the continued performance of services by the taxpayer over time.

 

5.  The fair market value at the time of transfer, determined without regard to any restriction other than a restriction which by its terms
will never lapse, of such property is:
$                    .

 

6.  The amount (if any) paid for such property is:
$                    .

The undersigned has submitted a copy of this statement to the person for whom the services were performed in connection with the
undersigned’s receipt of the above-described property. The transferee of such property is the person performing the services in
connection with the transfer of said property.

The undersigned understands that the foregoing election may not be revoked except with the consent of the Commissioner.
       
Dated:                     , ___  

 
  

    Taxpayer   
 
The undersigned spouse of taxpayer joins in this election.   
       
Dated:                     , ___  

 
  

    Spouse of Taxpayer   
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BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
1999 STOCK PLAN

NOTICE OF GRANT OF STOCK PURCHASE RIGHT

[Name of Purchaser]:

     You have been granted the right to purchase Common Stock of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (the “Company”), subject
to your ongoing status as a Service Provider (as described in the Plan) and the forfeiture provision and other terms and conditions set
forth in the attached Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, as follows:
       
  Grant Number  

 
  

       
  Date of Grant  

 
  

       
  Purchase Price Per Share $0.001 per share (par value)   
       
  Fair Market Value on Grant Date $

 
  

       
  Total Number of Shares Subject to This  

 
  

  Stock Purchase Right     
       
  Expiration Date:  

 
  

     YOU MUST EXERCISE THIS STOCK PURCHASE RIGHT BEFORE THE EXPIRATION DATE OR IT WILL TERMINATE
AND YOU WILL HAVE NO FURTHER RIGHT TO PURCHASE THE SHARES. By your signature and the signature of the
Company’s representative below, you and the Company agree that this Stock Purchase Right is granted under and governed by the
terms and conditions of the 1999 Stock Plan and the Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement, attached hereto as Exhibit A-1, both of
which are made a part of this document. You further agree to execute the attached Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement as a condition
to purchasing any shares under this Stock Purchase Right. Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have
the same defined meanings in this Notice of Grant.
   
PURCHASER:  BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
 
   
   

Signature  Signature
   
 
   

Print Name  Print Name
   
 
   

  Title
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EXHIBIT A-1

1999 STOCK PLAN

RESTRICTED STOCK PURCHASE AGREEMENT

     Unless otherwise defined herein, the defined terms in this Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement shall have the same meanings as
defined in the 1999 Stock Plan (the “Plan”).

     WHEREAS the Purchaser named in the Notice of Grant (the “Purchaser”) is a Service Provider, and the Purchaser’s continued
participation is considered by the Company to be important for the Company’s continued growth; and

     WHEREAS in order to give the Purchaser an opportunity to acquire an equity interest in the Company as an incentive for the
Purchaser to participate in the affairs of the Company, the Administrator has granted to the Purchaser a Stock Purchase Right subject
to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the Notice of Grant, which are incorporated herein by reference, and pursuant to this
Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”).

     NOW THEREFORE, the parties agree as follows:

     1. Sale of Stock. The Company hereby agrees to sell to the Purchaser and the Purchaser hereby agrees to purchase shares of the
Company’s Common Stock (the “Shares”), at the per Share purchase price and as otherwise described in the Notice of Grant.

     2. Payment of Purchase Price. The purchase price for the Shares may be paid by delivery to the Company at the time of execution
of this Agreement of cash, a check, or some combination thereof.

     3. Forfeiture. Except as provided and subject to the provisions of Section 13 of the Plan, and only in the event the Purchaser ceases
to be a Service Provider for any or no reason (including death or disability) before the Restriction Period lapses with respect to all of
the Shares (see Section 4), all of the Shares which constitute Unreleased Shares shall be automatically forfeited by the Purchaser
(without any further consideration or notice from the Company), effective upon the date of such termination (as determined by the
Company). Upon forfeiture of the Unreleased Shares, the Company shall become the legal and beneficial owner of the Shares which
constitute Unreleased Shares and all rights and interests therein or relating thereto, and the Company shall have the right to retain and
transfer to its own name the number of Unreleased Shares.

     4. Vesting of Shares and Expiration of Restriction Period.

          (a) Except as provided by and subject to the provisions of Section 13 of the Plan, upon the second anniversary of the Date of
Grant, the Restriction Period shall lapse with respect to one hundred percent (100%) of the Shares. On such anniversary or such earlier
period under Section 13 of the Plan, all of the Shares shall be vested as to the Purchaser and no longer subject to forfeiture to the
Company.
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          (b) Any of the Shares subject to the Restriction Period that have not yet vested are referred to herein as “Unreleased Shares.”

          (c) The Shares with respect to which the Restriction Period has expired shall be delivered to the Purchaser upon the expiration
of the Restriction Period. (See Section 7.)

     5. [Intentionally Omitted].

     6. Restriction on Transfer. Except for the escrow described in Section 7 or the transfer of the Shares to the Company contemplated
by this Agreement, none of the Shares or any beneficial interest therein shall be transferred, encumbered or otherwise disposed of in
any way until the Restriction Period expires with respect to such Shares in accordance with the provisions of this Agreement, other
than by will or the laws of descent and distribution.

     7. Escrow of Shares.

          (a) To ensure the availability for delivery of the Unreleased Shares upon forfeiture, the Purchaser shall, upon execution of this
Agreement, deliver and deposit with an escrow holder designated by the Company (the “Escrow Holder”) the share certificates
representing the Unreleased Shares, together with the stock assignment duly endorsed in blank, attached hereto as Exhibit A-2. The
Unreleased Shares and stock assignment shall be held by the Escrow Holder, pursuant to the Joint Escrow Instructions of the
Company and Purchaser attached hereto as Exhibit A-3, until such time as the Company’s Restriction Period expires. As a further
condition to the Company’s obligations under this Agreement, the Company may require the spouse of Purchaser, if any, to execute
and deliver to the Company the Consent of Spouse attached hereto as Exhibit A-4.

          (b) The Escrow Holder shall not be liable for any act it may do or omit to do with respect to holding the Unreleased Shares in
escrow while acting in good faith and in the exercise of its judgment.

          (c) Upon forfeiture of the Unreleased Shares pursuant to this Agreement, the Escrow Holder, upon receipt of written notice of
such exercise from the proposed transferee, shall take all steps necessary to accomplish such transfer.

          (d) Upon forfeiture of the Unreleased Shares, the Escrow Holder shall promptly cause the certificate representing the Shares
which constitute the Unreleased Shares to be delivered to the Company. If the Restriction Period lapses with respect to a portion or all
of the Shares, upon request the Escrow Holder shall promptly cause a new certificate to be issued for the Shares no longer subject to
forfeiture and delivered to the Purchaser free of any legend or restriction, subject to Applicable Laws.
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          (e) Subject to the terms hereof, the Purchaser shall have all the rights of a shareholder with respect to the Shares while they are
held in escrow, including without limitation, the right to vote the Shares and to receive any cash dividends declared thereon. If, from
time to time during the term of the Restriction Period, there is any (i) stock dividend, stock split or other change in the Shares, or
(ii) merger or sale of all or substantially all of the assets or other acquisition of the Company, any and all new, substituted or additional
securities to which the Purchaser is entitled by reason of the Purchaser’s ownership of the Shares shall be immediately subject to this
escrow, deposited with the Escrow Holder and included thereafter as “Shares” for purposes of this Agreement and subject to the
Restriction Period (to the extent the Shares would have otherwise been subject to the Restriction Period).

     8. Legends. The share certificate evidencing the Shares, if any, issued hereunder shall be endorsed with the following legend (in
addition to any legend required under applicable federal, state or other securities laws):

          THE SHARES REPRESENTED BY THIS CERTIFICATE ARE SUBJECT TO CERTAIN RESTRICTIONS UPON
TRANSFER AND RIGHTS OF REPURCHASE AS SET FORTH IN AN AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE COMPANY AND THE
SHAREHOLDER, A COPY OF WHICH IS ON FILE WITH THE COMPANY.

     9. Adjustment for Stock Split. All references to the number of Shares and the purchase price of the Shares in this Agreement shall
be appropriately adjusted to reflect any stock split, stock dividend or other change in the Shares that may be made by the Company
after the date of this Agreement.

     10. Withholding of Taxes; Tax Consequences.

          (a) Notwithstanding any contrary provision of this Agreement, no certificate representing the Shares, whether or not such Shares
represent Unreleased Shares, may be released from the escrow established pursuant to Section 7, unless and until satisfactory
arrangements (as determined by the Administrator) will have been made by the Purchaser with respect to the payment of income,
employment and other taxes which the Company determines must be withheld with respect to such Shares. The Administrator, in its
sole discretion and pursuant to such procedures as it may specify from time to time, may permit the Purchaser to satisfy such tax
withholding obligation, in whole or in part by one or more of the following: (a) paying cash, (b) electing to have the Company
withhold otherwise deliverable Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the minimum amount required to be withheld,
(c) delivering to the Company already vested and owned Shares having a Fair Market Value equal to the amount required to be
withheld, or (d) selling a sufficient number of such Shares otherwise deliverable to Purchaser through such means as the Company
may determine in its sole discretion (whether through a broker or otherwise) equal to the minimum amount required to be withheld.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Purchaser fails to make other arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the payment of any
required tax withholding obligations hereunder at the time any Shares are scheduled to vest pursuant to Section 4 (or otherwise give
rise to tax withholding obligations by the employer and employee with respect to such Shares), Purchaser hereby authorizes and
directs the Company to withhold and cancel on each
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vesting date (or other applicable date) that number of Shares, rounded up to the nearest whole share, equal to the amount of the
employer and employee tax withholdings and other applicable payroll taxes with respect to such tax withholding event based, divided
by the closing price of the Company’s common stock on the vesting (or other applicable) date. With respect to the Shares withheld
and cancelled by the Company for tax withholding purposes, such Shares shall be returned to the Company, the Company shall be
deemed to be the legal and beneficial owner of such Shares, and the Company shall have the right to retain and transfer such Shares to
its own name for cancellation.

          (b) The Purchaser has reviewed with the Purchaser’s own tax advisors the federal, state, local and foreign tax consequences of
this investment and the transactions contemplated by this Agreement. The Purchaser is relying solely on such advisors and not on any
statements or representations of the Company or any of its agents. The Purchaser understands that the Purchaser (and not the
Company) shall be responsible for the Purchaser’s own tax liability that may arise as a result of the transactions contemplated by this
Agreement. The Purchaser understands that Section 83 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”), taxes as
ordinary income the difference between the purchase price for the Shares and the Fair Market Value of the Shares as of the date any
restrictions on the Shares lapse. In this context, “restriction” includes the forfeiture provision pursuant to Section 3 of the Agreement.
The Purchaser understands that the Purchaser may elect to be taxed at the time the Shares are purchased rather than when and as the
Restriction Period lapses by filing an election under Section 83(b) of the Code with the IRS within 30 days from the date of purchase.
The form for making this election is attached as Exhibit A-5 hereto.

          THE PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT IS THE PURCHASER’S SOLE RESPONSIBILITY AND NOT THE
COMPANY’S TO FILE TIMELY THE ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b), EVEN IF THE PURCHASER ASKS THE
COMPANY OR ITS REPRESENTATIVES TO MAKE THIS FILING ON THE PURCHASER’S BEHALF.

     11. General Provisions.

          (a) This Agreement shall be governed by the internal substantive laws, but not the choice of law rules of California. This
Agreement, subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and the Notice of Grant, represents the entire agreement between the
parties with respect to the purchase of the Shares by the Purchaser. Subject to Section 15(c) of the Plan, in the event of a conflict
between the terms and conditions of the Plan and the terms and conditions of this Agreement, the terms and conditions of this
Agreement shall prevail. Unless otherwise defined herein, the terms defined in the Plan shall have the same defined meanings in this
Agreement.

          (b) Any notice, demand or request required or permitted to be given by either the Company or the Purchaser pursuant to the
terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be deemed given when delivered personally or deposited in the U.S. mail, First
Class with postage prepaid, and addressed to the parties at the addresses of the parties set forth at the end of this Agreement or such
other address as a party may request by notifying the other in writing.
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                    Any notice to the Escrow Holder shall be sent to the Company’s address with a copy to the other party hereto.

          (c) The rights of the Company under this Agreement shall be transferable to any one or more persons or entities, and all
covenants, obligations and agreements hereunder shall inure to the benefit of, and be enforceable by the Company’s successors and
assigns. The rights and obligations of the Purchaser under this Agreement may only be assigned with the prior written consent of the
Company.

          (d) Either party’s failure to enforce any provision of this Agreement shall not in any way be construed as a waiver of any such
provision, nor prevent that party from thereafter enforcing any other provision of this Agreement. The rights granted both parties
hereunder are cumulative and shall not constitute a waiver of either party’s right to assert any other legal remedy available to it.

          (e) The Purchaser agrees upon request to execute any further documents or instruments necessary or desirable to carry out the
purposes or intent of this Agreement.

          (f) PURCHASER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THE VESTING OF SHARES PURSUANT TO SECTION 4
HEREOF IS EARNED ONLY BY CONTINUING SERVICE AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT THE WILL OF THE COMPANY
(OR THE PARTENT OR SUBSIDIARY EMPLOYING OR RETAINING PURCHASER) AND NOT THROUGH THE ACT OF
BEING HIRED OR PURCHASING SHARES HEREUNDER AND OTHER THAN AS SET FORTH IN SECTION 13 OF THE
PLAN. PURCHASER FURTHER ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT THIS AGREEMENT, THE TRANSACTIONS
CONTEMPLATED HEREUNDER AND THE VESTING SCHEDULE SET FORTH HEREIN DO NOT CONSTITUTE AN
EXPRESS OR IMPLIED PROMISE OF CONTINUED ENGAGEMENT AS A SERVICE PROVIDER FOR THE VESTING
PERIOD, FOR ANY PERIOD, OR AT ALL, AND SHALL NOT INTERFERE WITH PURCHASER’S RIGHT OR THE RIGHT OF
THE COMPANY (OR THE PARENT OR SUBSIDIARY EMPLOYING OR RETAINING PURCHASER) TO TERMINATE
PURCHASER’S RELATIONSHIP AS A SERVICE PROVIDER AT ANY TIME, WITH OR WITHOUT CAUSE.
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     By Purchaser’s signature below, Purchaser represents that he or she is familiar with the terms and provisions of the Plan, and
hereby accepts this Agreement subject to all of the terms and provisions thereof. Purchaser has reviewed the Plan and this Agreement
in their entirety, has had an opportunity to obtain the advice of counsel prior to executing this Agreement and fully understands all
provisions of this Agreement. Purchaser agrees to accept as binding, conclusive and final all decisions or interpretations of the
Administrator upon any questions arising under the Plan or this Agreement. Purchaser further agrees to notify the Company upon any
change in the residence indicated in the Notice of Grant.
   
DATED:

 
  

   
PURCHASER:  BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
   
   
   

Signature  Signature
   
 
   

Print Name  Print Name
   
 
   

  Title
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EXHIBIT A-2

ASSIGNMENT SEPARATE FROM CERTIFICATE

     FOR VALUE RECEIVED I,                                                                                 , hereby sell, assign and transfer unto              
                                                                                         (                    ) shares of the Common Stock of Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. (the “Company”) standing in my name of the books of said corporation represented by Certificate No.                     
herewith and do hereby irrevocably constitute and appoint                                                              to transfer the said stock on the books
of the within named corporation with full power of substitution in the premises.

     This Stock Assignment may be used only in accordance with the Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) between
the Company and the undersigned dated                                          ,                     .

Dated: _______________, _____

Signature:______________________________

     INSTRUCTIONS: Please do not fill in any blanks other than the signature line. The purpose of this assignment is to facilitate the
forfeiture and transfer of any Unreleased Shares as set forth in the Agreement without requiring additional signatures on the part of the
Purchaser.
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EXHIBIT A-3

JOINT ESCROW INSTRUCTIONS

________, __

[Escrow Agent Name]
[Escrow Agent Address]

Dear                                         :

     As Escrow Agent for both Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., a Delaware corporation (the “Company”), and the undersigned
purchaser of stock of the Company (the “Purchaser”), you are hereby authorized and directed to hold the documents delivered to you
pursuant to the terms of that certain Restricted Stock Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”) between the Company and the undersigned,
in accordance with the following instructions:

     1. In the event of the forfeiture of any Shares as set forth in the Agreement, Purchaser and the Company hereby irrevocably
authorize and direct you to close the transaction contemplated by such notice in accordance with the terms of said notice.

     2. At the closing, you are directed (a) to date the stock assignments necessary for the transfer in question, (b) to fill in the number
of shares being transferred, and (c) to deliver same, together with the certificate evidencing the shares of stock to be transferred, to the
Company or its assignee, against the simultaneous delivery to you of the purchase price (by cash, a check, or some combination
thereof) for the number of shares of stock forfeited in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

     3. Purchaser irrevocably authorizes the Company to deposit with you any certificates evidencing shares of stock to be held by you
hereunder and any additions and substitutions to said shares as defined in the Agreement. Purchaser does hereby irrevocably constitute
and appoint you as Purchaser’s attorney-in-fact and agent for the term of this escrow to execute with respect to such securities all
documents necessary or appropriate to make such securities negotiable and to complete any transaction herein contemplated, including
but not limited to the filing with any applicable state blue sky authority of any required applications for consent to, or notice of
transfer of, the securities. Subject to the provisions of this paragraph 3, Purchaser shall exercise all rights and privileges of a
shareholder of the Company while the stock is held by you.

     4. Upon written request of the Purchaser, but no more than once per calendar year, to the extent the Restriction Period has lapsed
with respect to any Shares, you shall deliver to Purchaser a certificate or certificates representing so many shares of stock as are not
then subject to the Restriction Period. Within 90 days after Purchaser ceases to be a Service Provider, you shall deliver to Purchaser a
certificate or certificates representing the aggregate number of shares held or issued pursuant to the Agreement and not forfeited by
Purchaser pursuant to the terms of this Agreement.
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     5. If at the time of termination of this escrow you should have in your possession any documents, securities, or other property
belonging to Purchaser, you shall deliver all of the same to Purchaser and shall be discharged of all further obligations hereunder.

     6. Your duties hereunder may be altered, amended, modified or revoked only by a writing signed by all of the parties hereto.

     7. You shall be obligated only for the performance of such duties as are specifically set forth herein and may rely and shall be
protected in relying or refraining from acting on any instrument reasonably believed by you to be genuine and to have been signed or
presented by the proper party or parties. You shall not be personally liable for any act you may do or omit to do hereunder as Escrow
Agent or as attorney-in-fact for Purchaser while acting in good faith, and any act done or omitted by you pursuant to the advice of
your own attorneys shall be conclusive evidence of such good faith.

     8. You are hereby expressly authorized to disregard any and all warnings given by any of the parties hereto or by any other person
or corporation, excepting only orders or process of courts of law, and are hereby expressly authorized to comply with and obey orders,
judgments or decrees of any court. In case you obey or comply with any such order, judgment or decree, you shall not be liable to any
of the parties hereto or to any other person, firm or corporation by reason of such compliance, notwithstanding any such order,
judgment or decree being subsequently reversed, modified, annulled, set aside, vacated or found to have been entered without
jurisdiction.

     9. You shall not be liable in any respect on account of the identity, authorities or rights of the parties executing or delivering or
purporting to execute or deliver the Agreement or any documents or papers deposited or called for hereunder.

     10. You shall not be liable for the outlawing of any rights under the statute of limitations with respect to these Joint Escrow
Instructions or any documents deposited with you.

     11. You shall be entitled to employ such legal counsel and other experts as you may deem necessary properly to advise you in
connection with your obligations hereunder, may rely upon the advice of such counsel, and may pay such counsel reasonable
compensation therefor.

     12. Your responsibilities as Escrow Agent hereunder shall terminate if you shall cease to be an officer or agent of the Company or
if you shall resign by written notice to each party. In the event of any such termination, the Company shall appoint a successor Escrow
Agent.

     13. If you reasonably require other or further instruments in connection with these Joint Escrow Instructions or obligations in
respect hereto, the necessary parties hereto shall join in furnishing such instruments.

     14. It is understood and agreed that should any dispute arise with respect to the delivery and/or ownership or right of possession of
the securities held by you hereunder, you are authorized and directed to retain in your possession without liability to anyone all or any
part of said securities until such disputes shall have been settled either by mutual written agreement of the parties concerned or by a
final order, decree or judgment of a court of competent jurisdiction after the time
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for appeal has expired and no appeal has been perfected, but you shall be under no duty whatsoever to institute or defend any such
proceedings.

     15. Any notice required or permitted hereunder shall be given in writing and shall be deemed effectively given upon personal
delivery or upon deposit in the United States Post Office, by registered or certified mail with postage and fees prepaid, addressed to
each of the other parties thereunto entitled at the following addresses or at such other addresses as a party may designate by ten days’
advance written notice to each of the other parties hereto.
     
  COMPANY:  Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
    1745 Technology Drive
    San Jose CA 95110
     
  PURCHASER:  At the address set forth following his or her signature
     
  ESCROW AGENT:  [Escrow Agent Name]
    [Escrow Agent Address]

     16. By signing these Joint Escrow Instructions, you become a party hereto only for the purpose of said Joint Escrow Instructions;
you do not become a party to the Agreement.

     17. This instrument shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties hereto, and their respective successors and
permitted assigns.
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     18. These Joint Escrow Instructions shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the internal substantive
laws, but not the choice of law rules, of California.
    
  Very truly yours,
    
  BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS, INC.
    
    
   

  Signature
    
 
   

  Print Name
 
    
   

  Title
    
  PURCHASER:
 
    
   

  Signature
 
    
   

  Print Name
    
  Address:
    

    
 
   

     ESCROW AGENT:

     [Escrow Agent Name]
       
  Signature:     
       

       
 

 
Print
Name:  

 
 

 
       

       
  Title:     
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EXHIBIT A-4

CONSENT OF SPOUSE

     I,                                          , spouse of                                         , have read and approve the foregoing Restricted Stock Purchase
Agreement (the “Agreement”). In consideration of the Company’s grant to my spouse of the right to purchase shares of Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc., as set forth in the Agreement, I hereby appoint my spouse as my attorney-in-fact in respect to the
exercise of any rights under the Agreement and agree to be bound by the provisions of the Agreement insofar as I may have any rights
in said Agreement or any shares issued pursuant thereto under the community property laws or similar laws relating to marital
property in effect in the state of our residence as of the date of the signing of the foregoing Agreement.

Dated:                                        ,                     
   
 
 

Signature of Spouse   
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EXHIBIT A-5

ELECTION UNDER SECTION 83(b)
OF THE INTERNAL REVENUE CODE OF 1986

The undersigned taxpayer hereby elects, pursuant to Section 83(b) of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, to include in
taxpayer’s gross income for the current taxable year the amount of any compensation taxable to taxpayer in connection with his or her
receipt of the property described below:

1.  The name, address, taxpayer identification number and taxable year of the undersigned are as follows:
       
  NAME:  TAXPAYER:  SPOUSE:
       
  ADDRESS:     
       
  IDENTIFICATION NO.:  TAXPAYER:  SPOUSE:
       
  TAXABLE YEAR:     

2.  The property with respect to which the election is made is described as follows:             shares (the “Shares”) of the Common
Stock of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (the “Company”).

 

3.  The date on which the property was transferred is:   ,   .
 

4.  The property is subject to the following restrictions:
 

  The Shares may be repurchased by the Company, or its assignee, upon certain events. This right lapses with regard to a portion
of the Shares based on the continued performance of services by the taxpayer over time.

 

5.  The fair market value at the time of transfer, determined without regard to any restriction other than a restriction which by its
terms will never lapse, of such property is:

  $                                        .
 

6.  The amount (if any) paid for such property is:
  $                                        .

The undersigned has submitted a copy of this statement to the person for whom the services were performed in connection with the
undersigned’s receipt of the above-described property. The transferee of such property is the person performing the services in
connection with the transfer of said property.

The undersigned understands that the foregoing election may not be revoked except with the consent of the Commissioner.
         
Dated:                      , ___    

 
  

      Taxpayer   

The undersigned spouse of taxpayer joins in this election.
         
Dated:                      , ___    

 
  

      
 

Spouse of Taxpayer   
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Exhibit 10.92

April 27, 2005

Ian Whiting
Chemin des Bois de St. Victor 4
Cartigny, Switzerland 1236

Re: Promotion and Transfer Offer of Employment with Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (“Brocade USA”)

Dear Ian,

On behalf of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (“Brocade”), I am pleased to offer you an inter-company promotion and transfer
to the position of Vice President, Worldwide Sales with 16B Officer classification, reporting to me. With your acceptance of this
promotion, effective May 1, 2005, Brocade is offering you a semi-monthly salary of $15,000.00 (which would equal $360,000.00
annually), less applicable withholding, in accordance with Brocade’s normal payroll procedures. You will also be eligible to
participate in the Brocade Incentive Program (“BIP”) at a rate of 50% of your annual salary, paid annually, if you and Brocade meet
the established annual performance objectives. Brocade retains the right to change or amend the BIP at any time. As an employee, you
are also eligible to receive certain employee benefits; the details of these employee benefits are attached. You are also entitled to the
change of control provisions outlined in the Brocade Change of Control Retention Agreement.

In addition, if you decide to accept this promotion and transfer, you are being offered a Promotion stock option to purchase 175,000
(one hundred seventy five thousand) shares of Common Stock, subject to the approval of the Board of Directors or a designated
committee of the Board of Directors. Terms of stock options will be communicated to you once approved.

As a condition of this promotion to VP, WW Sales, a move to the California Bay Area is required. Subject to your acceptance, to
assist in your move to the Bay Area, Brocade is providing you with relocation, immigration and settling services assistance through
our selected vendor as outlined and detailed in the International Relocation Agreement and Guide provided. You may be subject to
state income tax and federal income tax liabilities associated with the process of relocation. Should you voluntarily terminate your
employment with Brocade, or if you are terminated from Brocade for cause within 12 months of your hire date, you will be required to
reimburse Brocade at a prorated rate, for your relocation expenses.

In addition, we hereby inform you that Brocade Communications (Switzerland) SarL (“Brocade Switzerland”) will transfer your
employment to Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (“Brocade USA”) effective May 1, 2005, in accordance with your promotion
to Vice President, Worldwide Sales. Consequently, your employment with Brocade Switzerland will terminate on April 30, 2005.
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. (“Brocade USA”) joins in this letter to offer you employment with it, effective May 1, 2005.
You shall receive credit for seniority acquired by the Employee as a result of his employment with previous Brocade entities during
the period commencing on February 1, 2001 and ending on April 30, 2005.

You agree that, during the term of your employment with Brocade, you will not engage in any other employment, occupation,
consulting or other business activity directly related to the business in which Brocade is now involved or becomes involved during the
term of your employment, nor will you engage in any other activities that conflict with your obligations to Brocade.

As a Brocade employee, you will be expected to abide by Brocade rules and standards, as outlined in Brocade Employee Handbook.
As a condition of your employment, you will also be required to sign and comply with an Employment, Confidential Information,
Invention Assignment and Arbitration Agreement which requires, among other provisions, the assignment of patent rights to any
invention made during your employment at Brocade, and non-disclosure of proprietary information. The Agreement also provides that
in the event of any dispute or claim relating to or arising out of our employment relationship, you and Brocade agree that all such
disputes shall be fully and finally resolved by binding arbitration. However, we agree that this arbitration provision shall not apply to
any disputes or claims relating to or arising out of the misuse or misappropriation of Brocade’s trade secrets or proprietary
information.
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Your employment with Brocade is “at will” and may be terminated by either the employee or employer at any time, for any reason.
Nothing in this offer is to be construed as a contract of employment for any specific length of time. Except for the Employee Invention
Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement, and any rights in employee benefits generally offered to employees of Brocade, this offer
represents the entire agreement related to your employment with Brocade and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous oral or written
Communications and representations.

This letter, along with any agreements relating to proprietary rights between you and Brocade, set forth the terms of your employment
with Brocade and supersede any prior representations or agreements, whether written or oral. This letter including, but not limited to,
its at-will employment provision, may not be modified or amended except by a written agreement, signed by Brocade Vice President
of Human Resources and yourself. This offer, if not accepted, will expire in 4 (four) business days.

For purposes of federal immigration law (Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986), you are required to provide documentary
evidence of your eligibility for employment in the United States. Please bring the appropriate documentation, as listed on the enclosed
I-9 Form, with you on your first day. Such documentation must be provided to us within 3 (three) business days of your date of hire,
or our employment relationship with you may be terminated.

Please signify your acceptance of this offer by signing below faxing a copy of your signed offer letter, employment application, and
background release forms to (408) 333-5060 no later than March 14, 2005. Subsequently, please forward your original documents to
the attention of Theresa Uchida, as soon as possible.

Sincerely,
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
   
 
/s/ Mike Klayko   
   

Mike Klayko   
Chief Executive Officer   

I acknowledge receipt of the original of this letter terminating my employment as stated above and confirm that I will accept the offer
of new employment with Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. In consideration of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. having
procured the offer of employment on promotion terms outlined above, I hereby release Brocade Switzerland from any claim
whatsoever which I may have against it in relation to the termination of my employment and transfer to Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. other than in respect of accrued and outstanding salary (if any) for the current month of employment. I agree and accept
employment with Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. on the terms set forth in this agreement.
     
 
/s/ Ian Whiting  May 1, 2005   
     

Ian Whiting  Date   

Enclosures:
     Brocade Change of Control Retention Agreement
     Copy of Brocade International Relocation Agreement and Guide
     Brocade Employee Invention Assignment and Confidentiality Agreement
     I-9 Form
     W-4 Form
     Direct Deposit Authorization Form
     US Benefit Packet Information
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Exhibit 10.93

3039 Cornwallis Road
RTP,

NC 27709

August 12, 2005

Mr. Michael Harrison
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
1745 Technology Drive
San Jose, CA 95110

Subject: Amendment 22 to SOW#1 of the IBM/Brocade Goods Agreement ROC-P-68

This letter (the “Amendment”) serves as Amendment Number 22 to SOW#1, including all amendments thereto (“SOW#1”) of the
Goods Agreement ROC-P-68 (the “Agreement”), which the parties hereto do mutually agree to amend as follows

1. Update pricing with the attached Exhibit A.

The effective date of this Amendment shall be the date on the top of this Amendment (the “Effective Date”).

The parties acknowledge that they have read this Amendment, understand it, and agree to be bound by its terms and conditions. All
capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning set forth in the Goods Agreement or the SOW #1. All other terms and
conditions of the Goods Agreement and SOW#1 that are unaffected by the revisions set forth in this Amendment shall remain in full
force and effect. Further, the parties agree that this Amendment and the Goods Agreement and SOW#1 are the complete and exclusive
statement of the agreement between the parties, superseding all proposals or other prior agreement, oral or written, and all other
communications between the parties relating to this subject.
             
Accepted and Agreed To:    Accepted and Agreed To:
International Business Machines Corporation    Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
             
By:        By:     
         

Authorized Signature  Date    Authorized Signature  Date
 
             
     

Type or Print Name      Type or Print Name
 
             
     

Title & Organization    Title & Organization
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EXHIBIT A
PRICING

       
IBM P/N / NUMA-Q       

P/N  Brocade P/N  Description  Unit price
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

8-Port Fibre Channel
Switch Single Power
Supply (SW2400)
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

16 Port Fibre Channel
Switch Single Power
Supply (SW2800)
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Silkworm 2000 Power
Supply  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Mainboard, SW 2400
(8-port)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Fan Tray, SW 2400
(8-port)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Chassis, SW 2400 (8-
port)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Mainboard, SW 2800
(16-port)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Fan Tray, SW 2800
(16-port)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Chassis, SW 2800 (16-
port) with operator
panel / LCD  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Quick Loop License  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Watch License  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Extended Fabrics  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Extended Fabrics  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Remote Switch  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Remote Switch  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

8 Port Fibre Channel
Switch Single Power
Supply (SW3200)
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

8 Port Fibre Channel
Switch Single Power
Supply (SW3200)
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Full Fabric Upgrade
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

16 Port Fibre Channel
Switch Single Power
Supply (SW3800)
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fan (SW3800)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Power Supply
(SW3800)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Mainboard FRU  [∗∗]

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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IBM P/N / NUMA-Q       

P/N  Brocade P/N  Description  Unit price
    (SW3800)   
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

32 Port Fibre Channel
Switch Double Power
Supply (SW3900)
Includes, [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fan (SW3900)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Power Supply
(SW3900)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Mainboard FRU
(SW3900)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Secure Fabric OS
(SW3200)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Secure Fabric OS
(SW3800)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  1Gb Secure Fabric OS  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Secure Fabric OS
(SW3900)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Secure Fabric OS
(SW12000)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Performance Bundle
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Performance Bundle
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

32 Port Fibre Channel
Core Switch
(SW12000) Includes
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Rack Mounting Kit
14U, FRU  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Switch Blade 16 port,
2GB  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Switch Blade 16 port,
2Gb, FRU  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Chassis Door, Includes
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Control Processor
Blade  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Stiletto Port Blade Slot
Filler Panel,
SW12000, FRU  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Power Supply , 180-
264VAC, 1000W,
FRU  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Blower Assembly,
FRU  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Cable Management
Pillar, FRU  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  WWN Card  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Power Plug, Switch and Distribution Panel  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Chassis FRU, includes
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Rear WWN Bezel  [∗∗]

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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IBM P/N / NUMA-Q       

P/N  Brocade P/N  Description  Unit price
    Assy   
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Cable Management Tray  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  AC Power Cord, FRU  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

AC Power Cord,
UK/Ireland, 250V,
FRU  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  AC Power Cord, Cont. Europe CEE7/7, FRU  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
AC Power Cord,
AUST/INZ, 250V  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

AC Power Cord, Intl
IEC  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Remote Switch
software  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Extended Fabric
software  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 3.x  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
ISL Trunking
(SW3200)  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

ISL Trunking
(SW3800)  

[∗∗]

         
Buyer         
Part        **[∗∗]Software
Number  Supplier Part Number  Product Description  Unit Price of Product  Maintenance [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 4.x-Enterprise [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Fabric Manager 4.x –3.0 to 4.x Upgrade to Enterprise
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 4.x [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 4.x [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Secure Fabric OS
(SW12000/24000)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

32 Port Fibre Channel
Director (SW24000) Includes
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Meteor, 16 Port Upgrade
Blade  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Meteor Upgrade kit. Includes: [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

8 Port Fibre Channel Two
Domain Switch Single Power
Supply (SW3250),
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

8 Port Fibre Channel Two
Domain Switch Single Power
Supply (SW3250),
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  16 Port Fibre Channel Four  [∗∗]  [∗∗]

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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Buyer         
Part        **[∗∗]Software
Number  Supplier Part Number  Product Description  Unit Price of Product  Maintenance [∗∗]
 

 

 

 

Domain Switch, Two Fixed
Power Supplies (SW3850),
Includes [∗∗]  

 

 

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

16 Port Fibre Channel Four
Domain Switch, Two Fixed
Power Supplies (SW3850),
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Secure Fabric OS (SW3850)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Secure Fabric OS (SW3250)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Meteor FRU Chassis, includes
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Meteor FRU, Chassis Door. Includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Meteor Switch Blade 16 port,
2Gb, FRU  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Meteor Control Processor
Blade, FRU  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

FRU, Power Supply Filler
Panels  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Extended Fabric  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Remote Switch  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Performance Bundle [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Four Domain to Full Fabric Upgrade  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Extended Fabric  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Remote Switch  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Performance Bundle [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Two Domain to Full Fabric Upgrade includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
8 port Switch FRU
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

8 port Switch FRU
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

16 port Switch FRU
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

16 port Switch FRU
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

16 active ports, 4g Fiber Channel Switch (SW4100)
with two power supplies; includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  16 port 4g switch FRU (SW4100); [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Power Supply FRU (SW4100)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fan FRU (SW4100)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Performance Monitoring
(SW4100, SW210E)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

ISL Trunking (SW4100,
SW210E)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

Performance Monitoring and Trunking Bundle
(SW4100, SW210E)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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Buyer         
Part        **[∗∗]Software
Number  Supplier Part Number  Product Description  Unit Price of Product  Maintenance [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Extended Fabric (SW4100)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Remote Switch (SW4100)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Secure Fabric OS (SW4100, SW210E)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  16-24 port upgrade  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  24-32 port upgrade  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  16 to 32 port upgrade (Plant only)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  16 to 32 port upgrade (Field only)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

CUP for 2109-F32, 2005-
B32/32B (single switch
fabric)  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

CUP for 2109-F32, 2005-
B32/32B (in cascaded fabrics)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

CUP for 2109-M12 (single
switch fabric)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

CUP for 2109-M12 (in
cascaded fabrics)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

CUP for 2109-M14 (single
switch fabric)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

CUP for 2109-M14 (in
cascaded fabrics)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  8 port Multi-Protocol Router  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  8 ports on demand (Plant only)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  8 ports on demand (Field only)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  XPath FCIP  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  XPath FCR (Routing)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  XPath FCIP and FC Routing Bundle  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  8 port Multi-Protocol Router FRU Switch  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fan FRU  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Power Supply FRU  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
IBM 2005 32B: 16 active ports, 4g Fiber Channel
Switch (SW4100) with two power supplies; [∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

1 IBM 2005 32B: 16 port 4g switch FRU (SW4100);
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  SW210E, 8 active ports, 0 Eports. Includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  SW210E, 8 active ports, 0 Eports. Includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  FRU, SW210E, 8 active ports, 0 Eports. Includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  FRU, SW210E, 8 active ports, 0 Eports. Includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  E Port Upgrade (Field)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  E Port Upgrade (Plant)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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Buyer         
Part        **[∗∗]Software
Number  Supplier Part Number  Product Description  Unit Price of Product  Maintenance [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  SW210E, Fabric Watch  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
4p POD (Ports on Demand)
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

SW48000, zero port, 2CP,
2PS, 2 PS filler panels, 8 port
blade filler panels (2109 M48)  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

FRU, CHASSIS, SW48000
[∗∗]  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

SW48000, 4g 16 PORT
CARD, (Upgrade Blade)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

SW48000, 4g 32 PORT
CARD, (Upgrade)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

FRU, 4g 16 PORT CARD,
SW48000 (FRU)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

FRU, 4g 16 PORT CARD,
SW48000 (FRU)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  FRU, CP CARD, SW48000  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
FRU, CHASSIS DOOR,
SW48000  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

FRU, CABLE MGT COMB,
SW48000  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

FRU, PORT CARD SLOT
FILLER PANEL (SW48000)  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  S/W, EXTENDED FABRIC  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  S/W, REMOTE SWITCH  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
S/W, Director CUP for single
switch fabrics  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

S/W, Director CUP for
cascaded fabrics  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  S/W, SECURE FABRIC OS  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  4Gb Upgrade Kit [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]

 

**  For purpose of [∗∗] for the [∗∗] Software Maintenance Support Program as described in Section 9.4, the annual Software
Maintenance [∗∗]for each [∗∗]where it is applicable as follows:

       
IBM       
Part  Brocade Product Part    [∗∗] Maintenance Fee
Number  Number  Product Description  per Unit
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
32 Port Fibre Channel Director (SW24000)
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Meteor Upgrade kit. Includes: [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
8 Port Fibre Channel Two Domain Switch Single
Power Supply (SW3250), [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

8 Port Fibre Channel Two Domain Switch Single
Power Supply (SW3250),
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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IBM       
Part  Brocade Product Part    [∗∗] Maintenance Fee
Number  Number  Product Description  per Unit
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

16 Port Fibre Channel Four Domain Switch, Two
Fixed Power Supplies (SW3850),
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

16 Port Fibre Channel Four Domain Switch, Two
Fixed Power Supplies (SW3850),
Includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 4.x-Enterprise [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 4.x –3.0 to 4.x [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 4.x [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager 4.x Upgrade [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Secure Fabric OS (SW3850)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Secure Fabric OS (SW3250)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Secure Fabric OS (SW12000/24000)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
16 active ports, 4g Fiber Channel Switch (SW4100) with two power
supplies; includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Secure Fabric OS (SW4100)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  CUP for 2109-F32 (single switch fabric)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  CUP for 2109-F32 (in cascaded fabrics)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  CUP for 2109-M12 (single switch fabric)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  CUP for 2109-M12 (in cascaded fabrics)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  CUP for 2109-M14 (single switch fabric)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  CUP for 2109-M14 (in cascaded fabrics)  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  8 port Multi-Protocol Router  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
IBM 2005 32B: 16 active ports, 4g Fiber Channel Switch (SW4100)
with two power supplies; includes [∗∗]  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  SW210E, 8 active ports, 0 Eports. Includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  SW210E, 8 active ports, 0 Eports. Includes [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
SW48000, zero port, 2CP, 2PS, 2 PS filler panels,
8 port blade filler panels  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  S/W, Director CUP for single switch fabrics  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  S/W, Director CUP for cascaded fabrics  [∗∗]

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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IBM       
Part  Brocade Product Part    [∗∗] Maintenance Fee
Number  Number  Product Description  per Unit
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  S/W, SECURE FABRIC OS  [∗∗]

Out of Warranty Repair Pricing:

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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Exhibit 10.94

IBM Corporation/ Brocade Communications Corporation
Amendment # 6 to SOW 4903RL1112

Date: September 13, 2005

This amendment and its attachments, which are incorporated by reference, (“Amendment # 6”) is entered into and made effective on
September 13, 2005, by and between Brocade Communications and International Business Machines Corporation, whereby Brocade
and IBM (“the Parties”) mutually agree to the following terms and conditions.

The Parties hereby agree to modify and amend agreement number SOW 4903RL1112 dated December 15, 2003 (“Agreement”) as set
forth herein in exchange for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged. All other
terms and conditions of the Agreement shall apply and remain in full force and effect.

Amend Agreement by adding a new Product Unique Attachment #2, which is hereby incorporated by reference.

PRODUCT UNIQUE ATTACHMENT #2, EFFECTIVE BEGINNING SEPTEMBER 13, 2005

1.0 PRODUCT DESCRIPTION
The Product is a [∗∗]. The Fibre Channel (FC) Switch Module will provide 14 separate internal F ports to service each Blade Center
processor slot plus 6 external ports that support FL_Port, F_Port, and E_Port; self-discovery based on switch type (U_Port) peripherals
running at 1Gbps , 2Gbps or 4Gbps rates. Incorporated with the Fibre Channel Switch Module is Fabric OS, Web Tools, Zoning and
documentation will be available in the following languages: English.

1.1 Additional Description of Products.

Products must conform to the following specifications (including any subsequent revisions, as mutually agreed to between the parties),
which are hereby incorporated by reference, and sold exclusively to IBM including providing supporting Services:

•  “Brocade 4Gb Fibre Channel Switch Module for IBM eServer BladeCenter ”, Product Requirements Document (“PRD”) Version
1.0, May, 2005, Owner, Patrick Caporale, IBM.

 

•  IBM/Intel BladeServer Base Specification for Switch Module Subsystems, Version 1.02, August 25,2003, Owner: Intel /IBM
Collaboration Architecture Review Board, provided to Supplier under the terms of the Technical Information License Agreement.
(“TILA”} dated August 5, 2003 between the parties.

2.0 DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS

2.1 Product Testing

Product Qualification and Test Plans shall be performed as documented in the PRD and agreed to by both parties.

2.2 Deliverables

Seller shall, at its cost, use commercially reasonable efforts during the Development Phase to provide deliverables requested by Buyer
in conformance with the development schedule that has been documented and mutually agreed to by both parties.

2.3 Development

Buyer will provide WA’s to Supplier for [∗∗] each P0.1 development modules (SDV) and for [∗∗] each P.1 development modules
(SIT) at a price not to exceed those identified in the table below. P0.1 and P1 development modules will comply with the PRD
specification agreed to in writing by the parties and will incorporate all of the design change requests mutually agreed to by the parties
in writing. No later than [∗∗] days following Supplier’s delivery of P1 development modules to Buyer, Supplier shall at its sole
expense modify, replace or otherwise upgrade all P0.1 level switches previously provided to be functionally equivalent to a P1
Product. For the upgrade, Buyer shall pay all freight, duties, and bare the risk of loss for the shipment of the Products to Supplier for
upgrade and Supplier shall pay all freight, duties, and bare risk of loss for the shipment of the Products back to Buyer. The parties
agree that those software features included in this Product Attachment

 
 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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IBM Corporation/ Brocade Communications Corporation
Amendment # 6 to SOW 4903RL1112

Date: September 13, 2005

will be available for the P0.1 and P1 switches at the currently available level of code and will be included as part of the prices listed
below.
     
Product  Quantity  Not to Exceed Expense per Unit(USD)
P0.1 Level Switches     
(SDV Switches)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
P1 Level Switches     
(SIT Switches)  [∗∗]  [∗∗]

3.0 PROPRIETARY OWNERSHIP

3.1 Buyer Proprietary Ownership.

Buyer will own rights to the following technology contained in the Blade Center Fibre Channel Switch Module:

•  Molex Connector is Buyer proprietary as long as Buyer controls the design of this connector, and the connector is not publicly
available as an off the shelf item [∗∗]

 

•  Buyer Mechanicals:

[∗∗] Blade Switch Mechanical Assembly
[∗∗] OEM Generic Switch Module Cover
[∗∗] OEM Generic Switch Module Blade Opening
[∗∗] OEM Generic Switch Module Cover
[∗∗] OEM Generic Switch Module Enclosure Assembly Drawing
[∗∗] OEM Generic Switch Module Shield

•  Buyer’s Cosmetic Customization, which includes Buyer logo, Buyer name and Buyer product names.
 

•  Buyer’s two unique signals (I2C Bus Reset signal and I2C Interrupt signal) added to the I2C industry standard protocol, and the
contents specified by Buyer for the I2C Register interfaces and Vital Product Data (VPD) table.

•  Buyer’s Standard BladeCenter and eServer Documentation and CD Contents

•  Common BladeCenter Labeling and Artwork

•  IBM Director SDK Interface Requirements

The I2C signal protocol is an industry standard and not proprietary to Buyer or Supplier. Nothing in this Agreement should be
construed as: (1) prohibiting or restricting either party from independently developing, having independently developed, acquiring,
licensing, marketing, or distributing products, services, or other materials which compete with products or services offered by the
other party. Each party is free to enter into similar agreements with third parties.

3.2 Seller’s Proprietary Ownership

Seller Proprietary Ownership.

Except for the proprietary information provided by Buyer under the TILA, the items listed in Section 3.1 above and Buyer patents that
read on the implementation, Buyer makes no further claims of ownership.

4.0 PART NUMBER UNIQUE TERMS

4.1 PRODUCT PRICE LIST AND DESCRIPTION
                 
    Fulfillment             
    hub      Ship       
Buyer Part  Supplier Part  locations (if    Unit Price  group    **Software  Total
Number  Number *  required) *  Product Description  of Product  adder  Freight  Maintenance  Price
 

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Option, FC Switch Module
(20  

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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    Fulfillment             
    hub      Ship       
Buyer Part  Supplier Part  locations (if    Unit Price  group    **Software  Total
Number  Number *  required) *  Product Description  of Product  adder  Freight  Maintenance  Price
 

 

 

 

 

 

port), includes Fabric OS,
Advance Zoning, Web Tools
and ship group  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(20 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(20 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

CRU, FC Switch Module
(20
port)  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(10 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(10 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(10 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

CRU, FC Switch Module
(10 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  10 Port POD (SW4020)  [∗∗]         
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Watch  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Performance Bundle
(Performance Monitor and
Trunking)  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  ISL Trunking  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Advance Performance
Monitor  

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  Extended Fabrics  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager v5.x  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Advanced Security
Activation  

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 

**  For purpose of calculating the fees for the annual Software Maintenance Support Program as described in Section 2.5,
the annual Software Maintenance Fee per Unit for each part number where it is applicable is as follows:

       
Buyer Part      Annual Software Maintenance Fee per
Number  Supplier Part Number  Product Description  Unit
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(20 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(10 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, and
Web Tools  

[∗∗]

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006



[∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager v5.x  [∗∗]
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Advanced Security
Activation  

[∗∗]

4.2 PRODUCT UNIT TERMS & REPAIR PRICING —
                 
    Hub             
    Warehouse    Lead  Warranty  Repair Price     
Buyer P/N  Supplier P/N  Location  Description  Time  Period  (USD)*  TAT  Yield
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Option, FC Switch Module
(20 port), includes Fabric
OS, Advance Zoning, Web
Tools and ship group  

 

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Option, FC Switch Module
(20 port)  

 
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Option, FC Switch Module
(20 port)  

 
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

CRU, FC Switch Module
(20
port)  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Option, FC Switch Module
(10 port)  

 
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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    Hub             
    Warehouse    Lead  Warranty  Repair Price     
Buyer P/N  Supplier P/N  Location  Description  Time  Period  (USD)*  TAT  Yield
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Option, FC Switch Module
(10 port)  

 
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Option, FC Switch Module
(10 port)  

 
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

CRU, FC Switch Module
(20
port)  

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  10 Port POD (SW4020)    [∗∗]  [∗∗]     
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Watch    [∗∗]  [∗∗]     
[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

Performance Bundle
(Performance Monitor and
Trunking)  

 

 

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]

 

 

 

 

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  ISL Trunking    [∗∗]  [∗∗]     
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Advance Performance
Monitor  

 
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
 

 
 

[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  Extended Fabrics    [∗∗]  [∗∗]     
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  Fabric Manager v5.x    [∗∗]  [∗∗]     
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
Advanced Security
Activation  

 
 
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
 

 
 

 

* Repair Price applies only to Products sent to Supplier for Repair, which are not covered by the warranties in the Agreement.

5.0 WA FLEXIBILITY
       
  Increase of Product Quantity to a WA  Cancellation of Product Quantity to a WA  Rescheduling of Product Quantity to a WA
Number of Days prior to a WA  Scheduled Delivery Date  Scheduled Delivery Date  Scheduled Delivery Date
Scheduled Delivery Date  (% of WA Quantity)  (% of WA Quantity)  (% of WA Quantity)
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]
[∗∗]  [∗∗]  [∗∗]   

While the above flexibility terms also apply to Pull Products, in the event the relevant Pull Profile has more favorable terms, then such
more favorable terms shall take precedence.

6.0 RESERVED

7.0 SUPPLY OF PRODUCTS

In the event that materials or capacity is in such short supply, Supplier will notify Buyer immediately upon knowledge of such supply
deficiencies. If Supplier is unable to fill Buyer’s WAs in full (“Scarce Resources”), at a minimum Brocade agrees to allocate Scarce
Resources to Buyer and to utilize any materials in short supply to manufacture Supplier Products under Supplier’s then-current
standard allocation formula, which as of the Effective Date, is as follows:

(a) [∗∗];
(b) [∗∗];
(c) [∗∗].

In addition, Supplier will provide in writing to Buyer a supply strategy along with timeline to correct such Scarce Resources within
[∗∗] after such notification to Buyer.

8.0 COMMUNICATIONS

All communications between parties will be carried out through the following designated coordinators. All notices required in writing
under this Agreement will be made to the appropriate contact listed below at the following addresses and will be effective upon actual
receipt. Notices may be transmitted electronically, by registered or certified mail, or courier. All notices, with the exception of legal
notices, may also be provided by facsimile.

 

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006
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8.1 Business Coordinators.
       
SUPPLIER    BUYER   
 

Name  Daniel Cohen  Name  Daniel Wesolowski
Title

 

Business Development Executive

 

Title

 

Global Commodity Manager,
Communications & Networking
Products

Address
 

1745 Technology Drive
San Jose, CA  

Address
 

3039 Cornwallis Road
Raleigh, NC 27709-2195

Phone  540-554-4250  Phone  919-543-6822
Fax  540-554-4809  Fax  919-254-9751
E-mail  dcohen@brocade.com  E-mail  dwesolow@us.ibm.com

8.2 Technical Coordinators.
       
SUPPLIER    BUYER   
 

Name  Mark Leidstrand  Name  Cedric Cook
Title

 
Program Manager

 
Title

 
BladeCenter Fibre Channel Technical
Manager

Address
 

1745 Technology Drive
San Jose, CA  

Address
 

3039 Cornwallis Rd
RTP, NC 27709

Phone  408-333-1753  Phone  919-254-4904
Fax    Fax  919-543-0391
E-mail  mleidstrand@brocade.com  E-mail  cookced@us.ibm.com

All legal notices will be sent to the following addresses and will be deemed received (a) two (2) days after mailing if sent by certified
mail, return receipt requested or (b) on the date confirmation is received if sent by facsimile transmittal, to the party set forth below.
       
SUPPLIER    BUYER   
 

Name  John Shinn  Name  Daniel Wesolowski
Title  General Counsel, Legal Department  Title  Global Commodity Manager
Address

 
1745 Technology Drive
San Jose, CA 95110  

Address
 

3039 Cornwallis Road Raleigh, NC
27709-2195

Phone  408-333-6002  Phone  919-543-6822
Fax

 

408-333-5630

 

Fax (Fax notice
shall be valid only
when verbal
confirmation of
receipt is obtained.)  

919-254-9751

E-mail  jshinn@brocade.com  E-mail  dwesolow@us.ibm.com
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MONTHLY WARRANTY ANALYSIS REPORT

Supplier Name: ____________________________

Month: ___________________________________
             
        Actual  Explanation   
Buyer P/N  Description  Barcode  Symptoms  Finding  Code  Root Cause Analysis Action Taken to Fix
             
   
SUMMARY REPORT   
   
Total Units Repaired in Current
Month �  

 

   
Total Warranty Claims Received   
   
Actual Warranty Accepted   
   
Warranty %   
   
High Flyers (more than ___%)  High Flyers Require a Corrective Action Plan and Date of Implementation.
   
EXPLANATION   
CODE  DESCRIPTION
Code 03  Warranty Expired
   
Code 04  Missort
   
Code 07  Cannibalized or Missing Parts
   
Code 08  Warranty Product Received
   
Code 09  Physical Damage
   
Code 10  No Defect Found
   
Code 11  Other
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ATTACHMENT 2

SUPPLIER QUALITY ATTACHMENT

This Supplier Quality Attachment (“SQA”) adopts and incorporates by reference the terms and conditions of SOW # (“SOW”) and
Goods Agreement # ROC-P-68 (“Agreement”) between Buyer and Supplier.

1.0 INCORPORATION OF SQA DOCUMENTS

The SQA consists of this document, and applicable product specification documents and specifications as referenced in Section 2.0 of
SOW# 4903RL1112 and Section 1.0 of Attachment 1, SOW# 4903RL1112, which were in effect upon execution of this SQA.

2.0 QUALITY REQUIREMENTS

The requirements of this SQA shall constitute Supplier’s quality program which must be implemented and maintained during the term
of the SOW.

Supplier will set forth the yearly quality and reliability performance commitments for the current year and through the remainder of
the initial term of the SOW in a product quality report (“PQR”). The PQR shall include the mutually agreed product monitoring plan
to be used to validate the effectiveness of process control limits and the Product meets the quality and reliability defined in such PQR.
It is Buyer’s expectation that Supplier will use e-business platforms (Web based applications) for ongoing real time quality
management, including but not limited to information associated with Supplier Quality Management Systems (“SQMS”) and Product
Change Notification (“PCN”), etc. or as specified in the PQR.

3.0 ISO REQUIREMENTS

For ISO compliance, Supplier’s contracted manufacturer is ISO 9001* compliant (“Compliant”).

 

*  Note: ISO 9001 & 9004 have been developed as a consistent pair of quality management system standards. ISO 9001 is
considered the standard by which the Supplier is expected to be compliant with; it is understood ISO 9004 provides a wider
range of guidelines of objectives than ISO 9001, particularly for the continuous improvement of an organization’s overall
performance and efficiency. ISO 9004 is recommended as a guide to assist those suppliers who wish to move beyond the basic
requirements of ISO 9001.

4.0 AUDITS

On a periodic basis, upon reasonable prior written notice, the Buyer or Buyer’s quality representative shall conduct audits/visits at the
Supplier’s and Supplier’s contract manufacturer’s manufacturing locations. The Supplier shall, at Buyer’s request, permit access to the
auditors to manufacturing operations and/or inspection of Products for Buyer, including access to the contract manufacturer’s
facilities. Any such audit is subject to the contract manufacturers security requirements and shall not allow access to contract
manufacturer’s proprietary or confidential information. Periodic audits shall include process control, quality inspection test data,
internal audit reports, and other information solely related to Products to verify compliance to the terms of this SQA. Under normal
circumstances, Supplier shall be given at least a two weeks advance written notice by Buyer’s representatives of their intent to visit.
Buyer’s inspection of Product at the Supplier or contract manufacturer shall not relieve the Supplier’s responsibility to furnish Product
compliant with the applicable written specifications as set forth in the SOW. Any Confidential Information exchanged in connection
with the audit shall be handled in accordance with Section 14.6 of the Goods Agreement (ROC-P-68, dated April 15, 1999).

5.0 DOCUMENT CONTROL

Supplier shall use commercially reasonable efforts to ensure that all documents such as software/firmware, engineering drawings,
specifications, contracts, policies, procedures, manufacturing process flow chart, and work instructions (including test procedures) to
be under revision control and available to all necessary Supplier personnel in Supplier’s manufacturing environment. Supplier shall
have a system for the effective updating/removal of any obsolete documentation from all manufacturing areas.

6.0 RECORDS

Supplier shall establish and maintain procedures for identification, collection, indexing, filing, storage, maintenance, and disposition
of all quality records including, but not limited to: Statistical Process Control (“SPC”) data. This includes raw data or control charts,
Cp and Cpk for critical/identified process parameters, and all records which provide evidence of sub-tier supplier activity, such as
source inspections and First Article inspections, and records of all inspection and test activity to provide objective evidence that
Products have passed acceptance criteria. Records shall be maintained for the life of the SOW

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006
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plus the entire warranty period, as set forth in the SOW. All records shall be maintained in a central location and shall upon request be
made available to Buyer’s quality representative for review only. All such documents shall be deemed to be the Confidential
Information of Supplier.

7.0 CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT PROCESS

Supplier shall develop and implement a continuous improvement process that will provide for a cost-effective reduction in
process-related excursions. The program, at a minimum, shall include: the supplier management strategy; manufacturing process
controls (i.e., Maverick Product Elimination); a documented, systematic approach for identifying focus areas for continuous
improvement for the current year, through the end of the term of the SOW, or for three years from the start of the SOW, whichever is
shorter; and Early Failure Rate, Intrinsic Failure Rate, Shipped Product Quality Level and Failure Rate commitment and reduction
plans to achieve Buyer goals. Supplier shall provide, at Buyer’s request, status of the continuous improvement process and results.

8.0 QUALITY PROBLEM NOTIFICATION TO BUYER

Supplier must notify Buyer of any quality or reliability problem which may affect Products, that have been identified by Supplier’s
internal testing (i.e., process control data, internal test data, burn-in data, etc.), by contract manufacturers which produce Products on
behalf of Supplier, or by another customer (see ISO 9001). In case of problems, Supplier shall provide Buyer with the requested
traceability data (p/n, lot number, date code, volumes, ship to locations, etc.) within [∗∗]. The notification should include an
immediate containment plan and a schedule for definition and implementation of permanent corrective actions. [∗∗].

9.0 PRODUCT RE-QUALIFICATION COSTS

Following Buyer qualification of the Product, Buyer reserves the right to re-qualify any product if the Supplier changes the
manufacturing process or product (form, fit or function), or; raw materials or specifications which may affect performance, function,
quality or reliability. Supplier shall bear the reasonable costs of any re-qualifications required for changes made without Buyer’s
approval in accordance with Section 6.0 of the SOW.

10. PART HISTORY

Supplier shall maintain a history file for each Product part number manufactured that tracks: materials and/or design changes
controlled by the supplier; design changes controlled by Buyer (engineering changes, etc.), and; and purchased part manufacturer
source changes.

11. PART QUALITY

Unless otherwise specifically agreed upon within the SOW, Supplier shall be responsible for the quality levels of each of Supplier’s
components that comprise the Product or final assembly, except with respect to GBICs or SFPs, if any. If applicable, Supplier agrees
to make available to Buyer third party warranties for GBICs or SFPs, to the extent Supplier is permitted to pass through such
warranties to Buyer.

12. CORRECTIVE ACTION PROCESS

Following a lot rejection by Buyer under Section 6.0 of the Goods Agreement, or a quality problem notification under Section 8 of this
SQA, Supplier shall implement a corrective action process which shall provide documentation to identify the following: a) Specific
defect description and failure mechanism; b) Containment of affected Product; c) Technical investigation/root cause analysis; d)
Corrective action plan and preventive actions to preclude a recurrence, and; e) Verification of effectiveness of actions. With the
exception of safety defects which Supplier shall provide a complete failure analysis not to exceed [∗∗]from notification, failure
analysis response times from Supplier will be within [∗∗] of Buyer’s lot rejection or the quality problem notification for preliminary
analysis and [∗∗] for detailed analysis. The corrective action process shall include a checkpoint to determine if additional Products are
exposed and the corrective action process and documentation specified within this Section.

13. EXCEPTION APPROVAL PROCESS

Supplier shall not knowingly ship nonconforming Product to Buyer without written approval from Buyer’s quality representative. In
certain cases, Buyer’s quality representative may approve shipment of suspected nonconforming Product if an evaluation plan
pre-approved by the quality representative is executed with results acceptable to the representative.

 

(**) Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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14. REVIEW AND DISPOSITION OF NONCONFORMING PRODUCTS

If Supplier intends to ship nonconforming Product to Buyer, then Supplier shall implement a Material Review Board (“MRB”) to
review and determine the disposition of nonconforming materials. At a minimum, the MRB shall consist of representatives from
Manufacturing, Engineering and Quality Engineering. The Supplier’s process shall include the following dispositions: a) Rework —
Product reworked to meet specified requirements; b) Use As Is — No actions taken on Product, Product does not meet specified
requirements but is functional; c) Repaired — Product has been reworked to be functional but does not meet specified requirements;
d) Scrap — Product not useable and does not meet specified requirements, or; e) Screen — Additional product test/inspection to meet
specification. Any plans to rework or repair nonconforming materials shall be subject to final approval by Buyer’s quality
representative, such approval not to be unreasonably withheld. Any plans to use as-is must be pre-approved by Buyer’s quality
representative. All MRB records shall be maintained by Supplier and upon request, made available to Buyer for review. All MRB
records shall be deemed the Confidential Information of Supplier.

15. PRODUCT IDENTIFICATION AND LOT TRACEABILITY

Supplier shall establish and maintain procedures and processes for the identification and lot traceability of critical components during
all stages of production, delivery, and installation per applicable ISO standards. Identification must be traceable through to the
finished Product by serial numbers or equivalent methods. Both forward and backward traceability shall be available. Response time
for traceability requests shall not exceed [∗∗].

16. QUALITY REPORTING

Monthly executive summary reports in a format mutually agreed upon format shall be forwarded to Buyer at a mutually agreeable
time or as specified in specific PQRs. Continuous quality reporting real time will be via SQMS or as specified in specific PQRs.

17. SUPPLIER QUALITY & RELIABILITY (“SQR”) REVIEW MEETINGS

Buyer requires regular Supplier quality/reliability meetings determined by a mutually agreeable schedule, to increase visibility into
product and field performance. The intent is to conduct timely meetings in preparation for future business reviews/contractual
negotiations. The agenda for the meeting shall be as set forth in exhibit 1 unless otherwise mutually agreed by the parties.

18. APPLICABLE PRODUCT SPECIFICATIONS & TESTS

 a.  ISO 2859-1 (Sampling Procedures for Inspection by Attributes)
 

 b.  ISO 3951 (Sampling Procedures for Inspection by Variables)

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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SUPPLIER QUALITY ATTACHMENT (Cont.)

Exhibit 1. Quality Review Meeting Agenda

The following typical meeting agenda has been formulated to address all the pertinent quality/reliability topics.

a) Supplier facility and subcontractor locations where BUYER product is fabricated, assembled and tested
Physical addresses and line id’s
Review Group A, B, C test results

b) Average Outgoing Quality (AOQ) fallout for SUPPLIER and total customer database
Defect and root cause analysis
Pareto distribution of fails
Corrective action and data verification
Point of origin and incidence contributions associated with internal, assembly and final test operations.

c) Field Return data for BUYER and total customer database
EFR/IFR estimates
Defect and root cause analysis
Pareto distribution of fails and associated POH distribution for Buyer and total customer database
Failure mechanism driven corrective actions

d) In-Process monitoring data
Defect monitoring, elimination and analysis results
Modeling techniques — Experimental, Analytical Analysis
SPC parameter and control limits — data review
Maverick Product Elimination occurrences (if applicable) and related data
Yield cut limit compliance

e) Internal Audit Results
Last internal audit findings and corrective action of one manufacturing location & future audit plans

f) PCN activity since last BUYER meeting
Product, process, materials or specifications affecting form, fit or function
Traceability history for date code inception

g) Continuous Improvement Program for entire fab, assembly, test and field performance
AOQ and Failure Rate Improvement targets for next 3 years

h) Specification Compliance/Commitment to “ BUYER Specifications”
Any deviations/exceptions? If so, provide details and traceability information.

i) Joint discussion followed by a summary wrap-up and activities
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ATTACHMENT 3
[∗∗]

The [∗∗] questionnaire may be used to cover one complete [∗∗], even if that [∗∗]includes multiple modules. Write “not applicable” or
“N/A” if a question is not relevant to the furnished software material.

 •  The following [∗∗] applies to all [∗∗]described in this Statement of Work.
 

 •   

1)  [∗∗]:

 a)  [∗∗]:
 

 b)  [∗∗]?
 

 c)  :

2)  [∗∗]?

 •  [∗∗].
 

 •  [∗∗].
 

 •  [∗∗]?
 

 •  [∗∗].

Although the answers above are correct to the best of our knowledge, they are provided for informational purposes only. Any
warranties on the software and associated hardware products shall be as provided in the Goods Agreement between Supplier
and Buyer. Accordingly, provision by Supplier of the information in this document shall create no additional warranties of any
kind beyond those in the Goods Agreement, and Supplier shall have no liability, unless otherwise expressly provided in the
Goods Agreement, related to the provision of this information.

     
Authorized Signature:     
  

 

  
Name:     
     

 
Title:     
     

 
Date:     
     

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
1745 Technology Drive
San Jose CA 95110
408-487-8000

[∗∗]
AFFIDAVIT OF MANUFACTURER

I declare that the following products are manufactured by Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. or a sub-contractor of Brocade, at
one the following locations:
     
Solectron Corp.  Solectron Corp.  Solectron Corp.
1000 Technology Drive  260 South Milpitas Blvd.  3803 Cherry St.
West Columbia SC 29170  Milpitas CA 95035  Newark CA 94560
USA  USA  USA
   
Hon Hai Precision/Foxconn-NSG Tech.  Hon Hai Industries-Foxconn
1705 Junction Ct. #205  8801 Fallbrook Drive
San Jose CA 95112  Houston, TX 77064
USA  Long

Hon Hai Industries- Foxconn
No. 2, 2nd Donghuan Road
10th You Song Industrial District
Long Hua Town, Baoan, Shenzhen, Gua, China

Products:
   
 
 

(signature)   
   
 
 

(printed name)   
   
 
 

(title)   
   
 
 

(date)   

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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ATTACHMENT 5 — FULFILLMENT

1.0 Product Hubbing/Consignment

1.1 Hub Arrangement The parties hereby agree that “Hub Product” is defined as any Supplier Product for which a portion of sales of
such Product are subject to a hubbing arrangement. The following terms and conditions will apply to any Hub Product(s) for which an
agreement has been executed between and among Supplier, Buyer, and/or a third party (“Hub Provider”) to allow such Hub Product to
be shipped to and held in a third party’s warehouse (or warehouses) (“Hub(s)”). The parties agree that, as of the Effective Date of
Amendment Number 1 to the Agreement, the Brocade SAN Switch Module for IBM BladeCenter will be a Hub Product.

Hubs will be established with IBM’s third party fulfillment partner [∗∗]. The parties reserve the right to discuss the addition of a Hub
in other location(s), subject to the mutual written agreement of the parties.

The parties will mutually agree to any cost adders associated with the hubbing arrangement, such as freight cost to hub destinations
and warehousing fees prior to any performance, which Supplier may include in the Product price and update in SOW3 PUA
Section 4.1 Product Price List and Description, and for other products will be added to the applicable price list. The parties agree to
periodically review a breakdown of such cost adders to determine if changes in the logistics will change this cost.

1.2 Hub Stocking On a [∗∗] Buyer, or Hub Provider, will provide a [∗∗] rolling forecast to Supplier showing the demand for the Hub
Products to be sent to the Hub(s), such quantities shall be identified by the specific geographic locations of the Hubs (“Hub Forecast”).
Supplier agrees to ship quantities of such Product to the Hubs sufficient to meet at least [∗∗] of demand, and at most [∗∗] of demand,
both of which are based on the [∗∗] period forecast (“Minimum Stock Level”). Should Buyer pull more than the Hub Forecast amount,
Supplier will have [∗∗] to restock the Hub to the Minimum Stock Level. The Minimum Stock Level will include the balance of the
material physically in the hub location available for immediate sale (“On-Hand Balance”) plus the material en route to the hub
location scheduled for arrival within the transit lead time for that hub (”In-Transit Balance”). Supplier may reduce Hub inventory to
[∗∗] only when there is [∗∗] reflected in [∗∗] of the Hub Forecast for the [∗∗] period.

1.3 Ship Performance Supplier’s goal will be to satisfy a [∗∗] product availability rate at each Hub location. Product Availability is
defined as Hub Products being available for pull by Hub Provider at the time a valid pull notification is received. At the beginning of
[∗∗], Buyer and Supplier may discuss the above Product Availability rate goal. Should the parties agree that the Product Availability
rate goal was not achieved, Supplier will immediately acknowledge the deficiency. Within [∗∗] of such acknowledgement, Supplier
will begin the Corrective/Preventive Action Process to determine the root cause, and will develop an appropriate corrective action.
Hub Product pull requests in excess of Hub Forecast will not be used in the calculation of the product availability rate, nor in the
determination of root cause. In addition, should Supplier experience an allocation situation, the allocation provisions of SOW3 PUA
Section 7.0 “Supply of Products” shall apply.

1.4 Shipping Supplier will be responsible for shipping charges of the Hub Product from Supplier’s point of origin to the Hub.
Pursuant to Section 1.0 of this Amendment, these costs may be included in the Product price. All shipments from the Hub will be
EXW the Hub, and Buyer is responsible for all shipping charges thereafter. Buyer will act as the importer of record for all Hub
Product shipped from the Hub and will be responsible for associated customs, duty, and Value Add Tax (VAT) administration. Title to
and risk of loss of the Hub Product will pass to Buyer upon physical removal of such Hub Product from Brocade’s designated area
within the applicable Hub.

1.5 Product Discontinuance for Products Held in Hub. Discontinuance of any Hub Product shall be in accordance with the terms
set forth in the SOW. The parties agree to work together to minimize the liability of each party upon end-of-life notice of a Hub
Product.

 

[∗∗] Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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2.0 CTO Fulfillment Processes The Parties agree to negotiate in good faith any changes to these terms and conditions that may be
required to support Buyer’s CTO (Configure to Order) process. Any such changes will to be added by amendment to SOW3.

This Amendment 6 may be signed by each Party’s respective duly authorized representative in one or more counterparts, each of
which shall be deemed to be an original and all of which when taken together shall constitute one single agreement between the
Parties. Any signed copy of this Amendment 6 made by reliable means (e.g. photocopy or facsimile) shall be considered an original.

The Parties hereto have caused this Amendment 6 to be signed by their respective duly authorized representatives.
     
ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:  ACCEPTED AND AGREED TO:   
     
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS
MACHINES CORPORATION  

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS
SYSTEMS, INC.  

 

     
 
     

Authorized Signature  Authorized Signature   
     
 
     

Date  Date   
     
 
     

Printed Name  Printed Name   
     
 
     

Title  Title   
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Integrated Statement of Work for Production Procurement Goods Agreement
Goods Agreement # ROC-P-68 Master Agreement Number

SOW4 # 4905RL2050

This Statement of Work #4 (“SOW”) #4905RL2050 adopts and incorporates by reference the terms and conditions of Goods
Agreement, as amended, # ROC-P-68 (“GA”) between International Business Machines Corporation (hereinafter “Buyer”) and
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc with offices at 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, CA 95110 and Brocade Communications
Switzerland, SarL, with an office located at 29 Route de l’Aeroport, Case Postale 105, CH-1215, Geneva 15, Switzerland (individually
and collectively hereinafter “Supplier”). This SOW is effective beginning on August 12, 2005 (“Effective Date”). For the purposes of
interpreting this SOW only, any conflicting, additional or different terms contained in this SOW will be deemed to supercede and
replace those in the GA.

1.0 DEFINITIONS

“Documentation” is the user manuals and other technical or operating instructions related to, and generally delivered by Supplier
with the Software.

“End of Life” or “EOL” means the date and process by which Supplier discontinues the manufacture of a Program.

“End User(s)” mean(s) Buyer’s end-user customer(s)

“Error” is a) a mistake, problem or defect that causes a Program to fail to meet its material specifications; or b) any incorrect or
incomplete statement or diagram in the related documentation that causes a Program to be materially inaccurate or inadequate.

“General Availability” shall mean, with respect to a particular Program, the date on which such Program is available for purchase by
members of the general public by Buyer and or by Buyer’s Authorized Third Party.

“Lead Time” means the minimum length of time prior to a specific delivery date that Supplier must receive a release against a
purchase order from Buyer to ensure delivery by such date.

“Marketing Materials” are Program brochures, manuals, technical specification sheets, demonstration presentations, and other
marketing sales literature provided by Supplier to Buyer for Buyers use in performance of marketing activities. Buyer’s use of
Marketing Materials may include transmission of them through electronic marketing services.

“Programs” for purposes of this SOW are the current versions of Supplier software program entitled, “Brocade Fabric Manager 5.0”
in object code form only, including Documentation, related materials, maintenance modifications, basic enhancements and any
security devices or “locks” that are listed in Exhibit B to this Agreement.

“Program Support” is the Supplier’s service offerings for the Program provided by Supplier directly to an End User under Supplier’s
standard support terms and conditions for such offerings, which terms and conditions are available for review at
www.brocade.com/support and which Supplier support offerings are in turn offered for resale by Buyer to End Users or are purchased
by an End User directly from Supplier.
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2. Territory

The territory for this Agreement shall consist [∗∗] in which Buyer is directly or indirectly conducting business (“Territory”).

3. Grant of Rights

3.1 Resale of the Program. Supplier grants Buyer the [∗∗] rights to distribute the Program as specified in the “Program License” in the
GA, except that the parties agree that the Exhibit A to Amendment 2 to the GA is superseded and replaced with Exhibit A to this SOW
#4 for purposes of this SOW and the rights granted in this Section 3.1. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Programs may contain
third-party software that is supplied with or incorporated into the Programs but that is subject to additional terms and conditions as
provided in Section 3.2 of this SOW. Buyer agrees that Supplier may seek injunctive or other equitable relief to restrain breach of this
Section 3.1, whether threatened or actual. Except as expressly authorized herein, Buyer will not (i) disassemble, decompile, or reverse
translate any Program; or (ii) copy or otherwise reproduce any Program, in whole or in part; or (iii) remove, modify or otherwise
tamper with any notice or legend on any Program or any labeling on any physical media containing a Program or portions thereof; or
(iv) use Programs in any manner to provide time sharing, or other computer services to third parties (Not Allowed); or (v) create
derivative works from, adapt, modify, change or enhance Programs without Supplier’s prior written consent; (vi) use, modify,
enhance, copy or sublicense the Program except as explicitly authorized under the Program License in the GA; or (vii) make any
warranties, representations, promises or commitments on behalf of Supplier without the prior written authorization of Supplier; or
(viii) deliver Programs to End Users without Supplier’s End User Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A. Buyer’s rights in the
Program will be limited to those expressly granted in this SOW.

3.2 Third Party Software. Supplier may sublicense third party software to Buyer under terms different from those in Section 3.1,
depending on the requirements of Supplier’s third party licenses. For example, Buyer will receive open source software under the
applicable open source licenses and such software will be subject to all rights, terms, conditions, disclaimers, and limitations of these
licenses. Supplier shall provide Buyer with access to all such licenses, via Supplier’s website located at http://www.brocade.com/ for
such open source code included in a Program prior to delivery of such Program to Buyer.

3.3 Trademark License. For the term of this Agreement and accordance with the terms and conditions herein, Supplier grants Buyer a
[∗∗] license to use Supplier trademarks and trade names (“Trademarks”) for use in connection with the distribution, advertisement,
promotion and marketing of Program (“Trademarks”), provided that every use is (i) in accordance with Supplier’s guidelines, which
are available at Supplier’s website at http://www.brocade.com/news/productagreement.jhtml, as such guidelines may be amended
from time to time with Supplier’s notice to Buyer; and (ii) truthful, fair, and not misleading; or

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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made with the approval, or at the direction, of Supplier; or based on or consistent with Supplier’s printed specifications or
representations.

3.4 Trademark License Restrictions. Buyer (i) agrees to not challenge Supplier’s ownership or use of any Trademarks, or apply to
register any Trademark or mark confusingly similar thereto; (ii) shall assign immediately to Supplier any rights, registrations, right of
priority, and/or applications for any Trademark, together with all associated goodwill, which Buyer may acquire by operation of law
or otherwise; and (iii) shall not incorporate any Trademarks in any Buyer product name, company name, trade name, or similar
designation.

3.5 Government End Users. End User customers may include agencies or other units of a government, or third parties under contract
with a government (“Public Sector”). Programs are, and shall be delivered as “commercial item(s),” as that term is defined at 48
C.F.R. 2.101 (Oct. 1995), consisting of “commercial computer software” and “commercial computer software documentation,” as
such terms are used in 48 C.F.R. 12.212 (Sept. 1995). Consistent with 48 C.F.R. 12.212 and 48 C.F.R. 227.7202-1 through 227.7202-4
(June 1995) (or an equivalent provision, e.g., in supplements of various U.S. government agencies, as applicable), all U.S.
Government end users acquire the Programs with only those rights set forth herein.

3.6 Buyer Internal Use. Supplier hereby grants Buyer the worldwide, non-transferable, non-exclusive right and license to use [∗∗]
Programs for marketing, sales demonstration purposes, education, qualification testing and training, at no charge. This license grant
includes the ability for Buyer to: (a) use, store, transmit, execute, display or operate the Programs with a computer system; (b) use the
documentation provided with the Programs in support of the use of the Programs; and (c) make a copy of the Programs and
Documentation for archival purposes. Buyer’s internal use of the Programs shall be governed by the terms of this SOW and the terms
of Supplier’s End User License Agreement.

3.7 Certificate of Originality. Supplier warrants at all times the accuracy of all statements in the attached completed Certificate of
Originality. Supplier agrees to complete a new Certificate of Originality before modifying existing Programs or adding any new
Programs, if any, to this Agreement.

3.8 No Implied Rights. This Agreement does not grant Buyer or its Affiliates any ownership of any rights in the Programs, or other
intellectual property of Supplier.

4. Supplier’s Responsibilities

4.1 Delivery: All orders of the Program by Buyer are subject to acceptance by Supplier. Supplier agrees to deliver units of the
Programs specified by Buyer in an order that has been accept by Supplier, and will use commercially reasonable efforts to meet
Buyer’s requested delivery dates and quantities. Supplier will include a copy of the End User License with each unit of the Programs
shipped. All shipments from Supplier will be directly to an End User location specified by the Buyer order, unless the parties mutually
agree on a different ship to
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address. Supplier will notify Buyer within [∗∗] days of its receipt of Buyer’s order if Supplier cannot meet Buyer’s request, and will
include a proposed alternate delivery schedule. Buyer can accept the proposed alternate delivery schedule or cancel the order without
liability. Supplier agrees to electronically confirm to Buyer within [∗∗] days the date Supplier’s Programs shipped to Buyer’s End
Users, that includes IBM’s original order notice Supplier agrees to pay all transportation charges required for the shipment of the
Programs to the location Buyer specifies, excluding duties, taxes, and local VAT. Title to the Programs remains with Supplier but title
to media containing the Programs ordered under this SOW and risk of loss or damage will pass from Supplier to Buyer upon
Supplier’s delivery of the Programs to the common carrier.

4.2 Product EOL Notice: Supplier represents that the Programs available to Buyer under this Agreement are always the most current
release or version that is generally commercially available to Supplier End User customers. Supplier will give Buyer at least [∗∗]
notice prior to the EOL for the Program.

4.3 Marketing Materials: Supplier agrees to provide to Buyer at no additional charge, a [∗∗] copies of the Marketing Materials related
to the Programs. Supplier authorizes Buyer to alter the Marketing Materials solely to indicate that Buyer has the authority to market,
price and license the Programs. Supplier also agrees to provide to Buyer a [∗∗] copies of Supplier Programs for demonstration
purposes, as provided for in this SOW and listed on Exhibit B.

4.4 Program Support: Supplier agrees to offer Program support services directly to End Users that are [∗∗] Supplier generally offers to
[∗∗] customers for the Programs.

5. FORECASTS AND ORDERS

5.1 Orders. Buyer shall order units of the Programs by submitting written orders to Supplier. Every order placed by Buyer, (i) is
subject to acceptance by Supplier and to Supplier’s standard lead times, not to exceed [∗∗] days prior to the requested shipment date
and forecast requirements; (ii) shall state the quantity, part number and description of the Program ordered, AAS order information,
feature code / PID, requested delivery dates and shipping instructions; and (iii) may request delivery dates up to [∗∗] days after the
date on which Supplier receives the order. All orders placed for the part numbers referenced on Exhibit B shall be deemed to include
the provisions of this SOW. All orders shipped against this SOW will be revenue generating, except for those licenses detailed in
Section 3.6.

5.2 Conflict. Any terms and conditions of any order which are in addition to or inconsistent with the terms and conditions of this SOW
will be deemed stricken from such order, notwithstanding any acknowledgment or acceptance of such order.

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
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5.3 Changes or Cancellation by Buyer. Buyer may cancel any purchase order for units of the Program, except within [∗∗] days of the
scheduled ship date. Should Buyer request a cancellation within the [∗∗] day lead time, then the parties agree to work together in good
faith to mitigate disposition of such order. Buyer may reschedule any purchase order for units of the Program, within that Program’s
applicable lead-time. No modification or cancellation shall be effective without Supplier’s written confirmation of receipt of Buyer’s
request.

5.4 Cancellation by Supplier. Supplier reserves the right to cancel any orders placed by Buyer and accepted by Supplier as set forth
above, or to refuse or delay shipment thereof, if Buyer fails to comply with the terms and conditions of this SOW. Supplier reserves
the right to discontinue the manufacture, sale or distribution of any or all units of the Programs at any time, with the required [∗∗]
notification, and to cancel any orders for such discontinued Programs without liability of any kind on the part of Supplier to Buyer or
any third party. No such cancellation, refusal or delay will be deemed a termination (unless Supplier so advises Buyer) or breach of
this Agreement by Supplier.

5.5 Sales Forecast. Buyer will provide Supplier with a non-binding but good faith, rolling, [∗∗] forecast of its Program sales, on a [∗∗]
basis.

5.6 Right of Return: Buyer may receive a credit for any unused or uninstalled Programs from Supplier, in the event such Program(s)
are either physically returned or certified destroyed to Supplier within [∗∗] days of shipment. This right will be limited to [∗∗] of the
total number of Programs shipped by Supplier within the prior monthly payment period.

6. Payment

6.1 Payment Terms: Buyer agrees:

 (a)  the obligation to make payment to Supplier is based upon shipment of the Program to the End User by Supplier.
 

 (b)  to pay the total price, indicated in Exhibit B, for shipped Programs, in U.S. dollars net [∗∗]from the end of the standard
monthly payment period, pursuant to the provisions of Section 6.2 below.

 

 (c)  send payments to Supplier via electronic funds transfer; and
 

 (d)  provide a reconciliation of Supplier’s shipments versus payment at the end of each monthly payment period. The
reconciliation will identify individual shipment detail.

6.2 Payment Deferral Rights: Buyer, may at its sole option, defer payment of any Program, shipped by Supplier during the last [∗∗]
days of each month, until the next monthly payment cycle. However, The parties expressly acknowledge that such deferral does not
effect Buyer’s obligation for final payment to Supplier. Any Program shipped, and for which payment is
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deferred to the next monthly payment period, shall be paid for in that next monthly payment period or returned to the Supplier, subject
to Buyer’s Right of Return in Section 5.6. All units of the Program shall be deemed accepted upon receipt.

6.3 In the event Buyer offers an End User a special discount (e.g. Special Bids), Buyer may request a different Buyer Price for such
transaction. If Supplier agrees to such different Buyer Price, Supplier will provide to Buyer in writing (via DDO Form / LOA process)
Supplier approval to adjust the Buyer Price.

6.4 Supplier agrees to give Buyer the benefit of any price decreases Supplier offers for Products not yet shipped by Brocade from the
date a price decrease becomes effective. In the event Buyer finds it necessary to reduce its published list price for the Products, Buyer
may request a lower Buyer Price. If Supplier agrees to any such lower Buyer Price, Supplier will provide to Buyer in writing (to
include either electronic mail or a facsimile transmission) Supplier approval to adjust the Buyer Price.

6.5 Supplier agrees to give Buyer prior written notice of any changes to Supplier list price for the Products. The parties will sign an
amendment to this Agreement indicating the new Buyer Price.

6.6 Audit Rights. Buyer agrees to maintain, in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, account records for the
current year plus the previous calendar year that are necessary to ascertain Buyer’s compliance with the terms and conditions under
this SOW, and shall make such records available for examination and audit by Supplier and/or its auditors or agents. Supplier will
have the right to audit such records during normal business hours upon [∗∗] notice to Buyer. In the event that an audit discloses any
under-payment, the total amount so determined will be promptly credited to the account of Supplier or paid to Supplier upon demand.
Nothing in this paragraph is intended to preclude any other remedies that Supplier may have as a result of any such payment
discrepancy. To the extent the audit reveals an under-payment of [∗∗] or more, based on the payment provisions of Section 6.1 above,
then Buyer shall pay for the cost of the audit.

7. Taxes

Supplier will ensure that the Prices do not include any sales, use or other similar taxes that do not apply to Buyer as a reseller of
Programs and/or Services. As may be necessary from time to time, the parties agree to negotiate in good faith to establish the terms
and conditions for all legal, regulatory and administrative requirements, in addition to all associated duties and fees, associated with
importation of Programs into the country where the Program is received by Buyer, which terms will be incorporated into this
Agreement when signed by both parties. Supplier’s invoices shall state applicable taxes owed by the Buyer, if any, by tax jurisdiction
and with a proper breakdown between taxable and non-taxable Programs and Services. Supplier shall remit such tax payments to the
appropriate jurisdiction. Supplier agrees to use its commercially reasonable efforts to properly calculate any applicable Taxes at the
time of
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invoice. Supplier and Buyer agree to cooperate to minimize any applicable Taxes, including reasonable notice and cooperation in
connection with any audit. Any incremental taxes shall be Supplier’s responsibility. If Buyer provides certification of an exemption
from Tax or reduced rate of Tax imposed by an applicable taxing authority, then Supplier shall not invoice for nor pay over any such
Tax unless and until the applicable taxing authority assesses such Tax, at which time Supplier shall invoice and Buyer shall pay any
such Tax that is legally owed.

Buyer shall withhold taxes, if required under the law to be withheld on payments made to Supplier hereunder and shall be required to
remit to Supplier only the net proceeds thereof. Buyer shall remit the taxes withheld to the appropriate government authority and
agrees to provide Supplier in a timely manner with properly executed documentation or other information or receipts or certificates
evidencing Buyers payment of any such withholding tax.

8. Notices.
Any notice required or permitted under this Agreement will be sent to the representative named below, and shall be effective upon
receipt as demonstrated by reliable written confirmation (for example, certified mail receipt, courier receipt, facsimile receipt
confirmation sheet.) Each party will notify the other if their representative changes.
   
Buyer’s Representative:  Supplier Representative:
IBM  Brocade Communications Systems, Inc
3039 Cornwallis Road  1745 Technology Drive
RTP, NC 27709  San Jose, CA 95110
Attn: Rob Tice, OEM Procurement
GCM  

Attention: Ric Pepe, Vice President, OEM

  Sales and
  Channel Development
  1-408-333-8000
   
  Copy to: General Counsel

9. Program Warranty.

Notwithstanding the provisions of Section 6.1 of the GA, all warranties for the Programs, if any, shall be given directly to End Users
by Supplier, and Supplier specifically disclaims all Program warranties to Buyer for the products, whether express, implied, or
otherwise.
       
AGREED TO:  AGREED TO:
International Business Machines Corporation  Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
 
 
By: /s/ Robert J. Tice    By: /s/ Ian Whiting   
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Print Name  Print Name
       
OEM Procurement  VP Worldwide Sales     
   

    Print Title
       
8/25/05    8/12/05   
   

Date  Date

AGREED TO:
Brocade Communications Switzerland, SarL.
     
By:  /s/ Ulrich Plechschmidt   
     

     
Ulrich Plechschmidt     
   

Print Name   
     
Director, EMEA & LATAM     
   

Print Title   
     
8/15/05     
   

Date   
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Exhibit A — End User License

BROCADE END USER LICENSE AGREEMENT

Single User License. Subject to the terms and conditions of this Agreement and payment of the applicable license fees, Brocade
Communications Systems, Inc. (“Brocade”) and its suppliers grant to Brocade (“End User”) a non-exclusive, non-transferable license
to use the Software in object code form solely for the purpose of operating Brocade storage area networking switches and solely on the
number of Brocade storage area networking switches and on the number of servers for which End User is licensed to use this
Software. End User may make such backup copies of the Software as may be necessary for End User’s lawful use, provided End User
affixes to such copies all trademark, copyright, patent, and notices of other proprietary rights that appear on the original.

Limitations. Except as otherwise expressly provided in this Agreement, End User shall have no right, and End User specifically agrees
not to, and not to permit third parties to: (i) modify, adapt, change, enhance or create derivative works based upon the Software;
(ii) copy, or otherwise reproduce the Software in whole or in part; (iii) decompile, translate, reverse engineer, disassemble or
otherwise reduce the Software to human-readable form, except to the extent expressly permitted under local law; (iv) use the Software
on any Brocade storage area networking switches in excess of the maximum number of Brocade storage area networking switches and
servers for which End User is licensed; or v) remove, modify or otherwise tamper with any notice or legend on any labeling on any
physical media containing the Software. End-User’s rights in the Software will be limited to those expressly granted herein.

Upgrades and Additional Copies. For purposes of this Agreement, “Software” shall also include any upgrades, updates, bug fixes or
modified versions (“Upgrades”) provided to End User by Brocade or an authorized distributor, along with any backup copies of the
Software, and for which End User had paid the applicable license and support and maintenance fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
End User acknowledges and agrees that Brocade and its resellers and distributors shall have no obligation to provide any Upgrades. If
Upgrades or additional copies of the Software are provided, End User acknowledges and agrees that it has no license or right to use
such additional copies or Upgrades unless End User, at the time of acquiring such copy or Upgrade, already holds a valid license and
the corresponding software keys to the original Software for the applicable number of copies, and is subject to a then-current Software
support and maintenance program with Brocade or its authorized distributor.

Third Party Software. Certain components of the Software may incorporate “open source” software. Such software is subject to the
applicable open source license (e.g., GNU General Public License) and is not subject to this Agreement. To obtain a copy of the
source code and applicable licensing terms for the open source software used by Brocade, please see
http://www.brocade.com/support/oscd.jsp.
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No Support. Brocade may, but is not required to, provide technical support for this Software. Technical Support may be provided on
either; a time and material basis or under the terms of a separate Maintenance and Support Agreement.

Security Notice. Software may include security features that End User can use, along with other security tools, to implement increased
security in End User’s storage area network (“SAN”). However, use of the security features of the Software does not guarantee the
security of End User’s SAN or overall network. There are numerous factors that affect the security of a SAN, including, without
limitation, correct installation and setup of the security features of Software and all related requirements, correctly configured security
policies, selection of hardware and software (including network security tools), correct installation, configuration, and maintenance of
the hardware and software, the interoperability of the various components of End User’s SAN and End User’s network, and a
physically and electronically secure operating environment. In addition, Software may utilize digital certificates in connection with its
access control features. Although digital certificates are a useful authentication security measure that improves overall security, they
do not guarantee authenticity or security. To help End User evaluate the digital certificate functionality of Software, End User can
obtain details from the Certification Practices Statement, which is included with the documentation End User received with this
product or which End User can view at http://www.switchkeyactivation.com/cps. In designing the security of End User’s SAN, it is
End User’s responsibility to evaluate all of these factors to ensure End User’s SAN meets End User’s security requirements. End
User’s experience may vary based on these and other factors. End User’s use of Software, including the digital certificates, is subject
to and governed by the terms of this license agreement and to End User’s compliance with the policies and procedures for the use of
the security features of Software and digital certificates, which may be made available to End User by Brocade from time to time. If
Brocade becomes aware of a breach of the security of its digital certificate infrastructure, Brocade reserves the right to re-issue digital
certificates. In that event, End User will be required to submit new certificate signing requests and install reissued certificates across
End User’s SAN. End User should plan for any network disruption that this may cause. END USER ACKNOWLEDGES THAT
END USER HAS ACCESS TO SUFFICIENT INFORMATION TO ENSURE THAT END USER CAN MAKE AN
INFORMED DECISION AS TO THE EXTENT TO WHICH END USER CHOOSES TO RELY ON DIGITAL
CERTIFICATES AND OTHER SECURITY FEATURES IN SOFTWARE (“SECURITY”).

Disclaimer of Warranty. TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, BROCADE PROVIDES
THE SOFTWARE “AS IS” WITHOUT WARRANTY OF ANY KIND. BROCADE DOES NOT WARRANT THAT THE
SOFTWARE IS ERROR FREE OR THAT END USER WILL BE ABLE TO OPERATE THE SOFTWARE WITHOUT
PROBLEMS OR INTERRUPTIONS. TO THE MAXIMUM EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, BROCADE
AND ITS SUPPLIERS, DISTRIBUTORS, AND RESELLERS DISCLAIM ALL EXPRESS OR IMPLIED CONDITIONS,
REPRESENTATIONS, AND WARRANTIES INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OR
CONDITION OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, NONINFRINGEMENT, AND
SATISFACTORY QUALITY OR ARISING FROM A COURSE OF DEALING, USAGE, OR TRADE PRACTICE.
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Limitation of Liability. End-User acknowledges that the Software is not designed, manufactured or intended for use in connection
with the design, construction, maintenance, and/or operation of any system where a failure of such system could result in a situation
that threatens the safety of human life. Except as otherwise provided herein, Brocade shall not be liable to End-User, in whole or in
part, for any claims or damages arising from such use, or resale to End-User by a third party for such purposes, and End-User agrees
to indemnify, defend (with counsel approved in writing in advance by Brocade) and hold Brocade harmless against any claims for
cost, damage, expense (including reasonable attorneys’ fees) or liability arising out of or in connection with any such use.

EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT EXPRESSLY PROHIBITED BY LOCAL LAW, IN NO EVENT WILL BROCADE OR ITS
SUPPLIERS, RESELLERS, OR DISTRIBUTORS BE LIABLE FOR ANY LOST REVENUE, PROFIT, OR DATA, OR FOR
SPECIAL, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES HOWEVER CAUSED AND
REGARDLESS OF THE THEORY OF LIABILITY ARISING OUT OF THE USE OF OR INABILITY TO USE THE
SOFTWARE EVEN IF BROCADE OR ITS SUPPLIERS HAVE BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH
DAMAGES. IN NO EVENT SHALL BROCADE’S OR ITS SUPPLIERS’, RESELLERS’, OR DISTRIBUTORS’ TOTAL
LIABILITY TO END USER, WHETHER IN CONTRACT, TORT (INCLUDING NEGLIGENCE), OR OTHERWISE,
EXCEED THE PRICE PAID BY END USER. THE FOREGOING LIMITATIONS SHALL APPLY EVEN IF THE
ABOVE-STATED WARRANTY FAILS OF ITS ESSENTIAL PURPOSE. BECAUSE SOME STATES OR JURISDICTIONS
DO NOT ALLOW LIMITATION OR EXCLUSION OF CONSEQUENTIAL OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES, THE ABOVE
LIMITATION MAY NOT APPLY TO END USER.

Proprietary Rights. End-User acknowledges that the Software is the proprietary/confidential information of Brocade and any
unauthorized disclosure to a third party constitutes a material breach of this Agreement. The Software, including all intellectual
property rights therein, is and will remain the sole and exclusive property of Brocade or its suppliers.

Term and Termination. This Agreement is effective until terminated. End User’s license rights under this Agreement will terminate
immediately without notice from Brocade if End User fails to comply with any provision of this Agreement. Upon termination, End
User must destroy all copies of Software and the corresponding software keys in its possession or control and certify such destruction
in writing to Brocade or its authorized distributor.

Compliance With Law. Each party agrees to comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in connection with its activities
under this Agreement. Without limiting the foregoing, End User acknowledges and agrees that the Software, including technical data,
is subject to United States export control laws, including the United States Export Administration Act and its associated regulations,
and may be subject to export or import regulations in other countries. End User agrees to comply strictly with all such regulations and
acknowledges that End User has the responsibility to obtain licenses to export, re-export, or import the Software.

Restricted Rights. The Software under this Agreement is commercial computer software as that term is described in 48 C.F.R.
252.227-7014(a)(1). If acquired by or on behalf of a civilian agency, the U.S. Government acquires this commercial computer
software and/or commercial
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computer software documentation subject to the terms of this Agreement as specified in 48 C.F.R. 12.212 (Computer Software) and
12.211 (Technical Data) of the Federal Acquisition Regulations (“FAR”) and its successors. If acquired by or on behalf of any agency
within the Department of Defense (“DOD”), the U.S. Government acquires this commercial computer software and/or commercial
computer software documentation subject to the terms of this Agreement as specified in 48 C.F.R. 227.7202-3 of the DOD FAR
Supplement (“DFAR”) and its successors.

General. This Agreement will bind and inure to the benefit of each party’s successors and assigns, provided that End User may not
assign or transfer this Agreement, in whole or in part, without Brocade’s written consent. This Agreement shall be governed by and
construed in accordance with the laws of the State of California, United States of America, as if performed wholly within the state and
without giving effect to the principles of conflict of law. No failure of either party to exercise or enforce any of its rights under this
Agreement will act as a waiver of such rights. If any portion hereof is found to be void or unenforceable, the remaining provisions of
this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. This Agreement is the complete and exclusive agreement between the parties with
respect to the subject matter hereof, superseding and replacing any and all prior agreements, communications, and understandings
(both written and oral) regarding such subject matter.
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EXHIBIT B
PRODUCT DESCRIPTION AND PRICE LIST

         
IBM         

Feature  Brocade Product    Total  [∗∗]
Code  SKU  Description  Price [∗∗]  Maintenance
[∗∗]

 
[∗∗]

 
IB,FABRIC MANAGER 5.X- ENT W/1 YR STD
SUPPORT  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

IB,FABRIC MANAGER 5.X- 4.X ENT UPGR W/1 YR
STD SUPPORT  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

IB,FABRIC MANAGER 5.X- ENT W/3 YR STD
SUPPORT  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]
 

IB,FABRIC MANAGER 5.X- 4.X ENT UPGR W/3 YR
STD SUPPORT  

[∗∗]
 

[∗∗]

NOTE:

 1)  The price listed in the Total Price column of this price list [∗∗]
 

 2)  End User’s may purchase Program Support directly from Supplier [∗∗].

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Confidential treatment has been requested with respect to the omitted portions.
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CERTIFICATE OF ORIGINALITY

Attachment — Certificate of Originality
 

You may use this questionnaire to cover on complete Product,
event if that Product includes multiple modules.

Please do not leave any questions blank. Write “not applicable”
or “N/A” if a question is not relevant to the furnished software
material. Depending on your responses, IBM may require
additional information.

1) Please identify the software material including version,
release, and modification numbers for programs and any
documentation.

 

2) Was any portion of the software material written by anyone
other than you or your employees within the scope of their
employment?

Yes _____ No _____

If YES, provide, as an attachment, the following information:

A) Indicate if the whole software material or only a portion
thereof was written by such party, and identify such portion:

(i) Specify for each involved party the name, address and
citizenship;

(ii) If the party is a company, how did it acquire title to the
software material (e.g., software material was written by
company’s employees within the scope of their employment);

(iii) If the party is an individual, did he/she create the software
material while employed by or under contractual relationship
with another party?

Yes _____ No _____

If YES, provide name and address of the other party and explain
the nature of the contractual relationship:

 

B) How did you acquire title to the software material written by
the other party?

 

3) Are any copyright, confidentiality, or proprietary notice(s)
present on the software material(s)?

Yes ___ No ___

If YES, please describe such notice(s):
4) Was any portion of the software material (e.g., Code,
associated documentation, etc.) derived from preexisting works
(either yours or a third party’s), including any code from
freeware, shareware, electronic bulletin boards, or the Internet?

Yes _____ No _____

If YES, please identify the material, author, owner and
copyright notice, if any, for each of the preexisting materials:

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006



 

5) Does any of the software material (e.g., Code, associated
documentation) include recognizable voice, pictures, icons or
other licenses?

Yes ___No ___

If YES, how did you acquire the rights to use such recognizable
voices, pictures, icons and other licensees?

 

6) Provide as an attachment, an explanation of any other
circumstance which might affect IBM’s ability to reproduce,
distribute and market this software material, including whether
your software material was prepared from any preexisting
materials which have any: (a) confidentiality or trade secret
restrictions to others; (b) known or possible royalty obligations
to others; (c) used other preexisting materials developed for
another party or customer (including government) where you
may not have retained full rights to such other preexisting
materials.

7) You recognize that, for copyright registration or enforcement
of legal rights relating to the furnished software material, IBM
may need you to produce additional information related to the
software material. You hereby agree to cooperate with IBM and
provide such information to IBM at IBM’s request. As an
authorized representative of your company, you hereby certify
him above to be true and accurate.
     
By:     
   

(Authorized Signature)
     
Name:     
   

                (Type or Print)  (Date)
     
Title:     
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Exhibit 10.96

Amendment No. 14
Purchase Agreement

This Amendment No. 14 (“the Amendment”) to the Purchase Agreement (the “Agreement”) dated January 25, 2000 by and among
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc., a corporation organized under the laws of the State of Delaware, U.S.A., and having its
principal place of business at 1745 Technology Drive, San Jose, California 95110 (“Brocade-US”), and Brocade Communications
Switzerland SarL., a corporation organized under the laws of Geneva, and having its principal place of business at 29-31 Route de
l’Aeroport, Case Postale 105 CH-1215 Geneva 15, Switzerland (“Brocade-Switzerland”), (collectively “SUPPLIER”) and EMC
Corporation, (“EMC”), a Massachusetts corporation, is made this 24th day of October, 2005 by and between SUPPLIER and EMC
and commences on the date accepted and executed by SUPPLIER (“Effective Date”). [∗∗]

WHEREAS, the Agreement covers all aspects of EMC purchase and resale of Brocade hardware and software and details both
parties’ responsibilities and obligations in the areas of product delivery, maintenance and support, [∗∗].

WHEREAS, EMC wishes to [∗∗].

WHEREAS, the parties wish to amend the Agreement to allow EMC to provide support to [∗∗];

THEREFORE, in consideration of the above and the other respective promises of the parties set forth herein, the parties hereto agree
as follows:

1) Pricing and Payment. EMC requests that Brocade provide [∗∗] in accordance with the Brocade Service Pricing Work Sheet
(“Brocade Pricing”) attached as Attachment 1. EMC understands that it will only be entitled to receive [∗∗].

 1)  Procedure.

 a.  The products must be the Brocade [∗∗] and the customer must agree to [∗∗]. EMC will document the serial numbers [∗∗].
SUPPLIER will provide [∗∗].

 

 b.  EMC agrees that it will [∗∗] and will manage all [∗∗] prior to escalating any backline issues to Brocade. EMC also
understands that hardware repair is based on a [∗∗], and the [∗∗].

 

 c.  To register a switch the following information must be provided to Brocade:

 •  Switch serial number or WWN;
 

 •  Duration of [∗∗];
 

 •  Support Part Number (per the pricing worksheet); and
 

 •  Purchase Order Number.

 d.  Brocade will send EMC a confirming email and invoice. Brocade will update any entitlement databases. Brocade will also
provide [∗∗] according to the Agreement.

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and
filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Confidential treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portions.

 

Source: BROCADE COMMUNICATIO, 10-K, January 19, 2006



 

3) No Other Changes. All other terms and conditions of the Agreement shall remain unchanged.

4) Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in two or more counterparts, all of which, taken together, shall be regarded as one
and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Amendment No. 14 to OEM Purchase Agreement by their duly
authorized representatives. Such execution of the Amendment may be in three counterparts, each of which shall be an original and
together which shall constitute one and the same instrument.
         
Executed and agreed to:    Executed and agreed to:
         
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.    EMC Corporation
(“Supplier”)       
         
Signature: /s/ Jill Cameron    Signature: /s/ William Monagle
         

         
Name:      Name:   
         

         
Title:  Dir. WW Sales Operations    Title:  VP Corporate Procurement
         

         
Date:  12-15-05    Date:  10/24/05
         

Brocade Communications Switzerland, SarL.
(“Supplier”)
     
Signature: /s/ Ulrich Plechschmidt   
     

     
Name:     
     

     
Title:  VP EMEA and Latin America   
     

     
Date:  12-19-05   
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ATTACHMENT 1
Brocade Pricing

[∗∗]

 

[∗∗]  Certain information on this page has been omitted and
filed separately with the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Confidential treatment has been requested
with respect to the omitted portions.
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Exhibit 12.1

Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(in thousands, except ratios)

                     
  Fiscal Year Ended  

  
October

29,   
October

30,   October 25,   October 26,  October 27, 
  2005   2004   2003   2002   2001  
Earnings (loss) from continuing operations before

taxes  $55,198  $(19,624)  $(134,697)  $111,378  $695,869 
Fixed charges from continuing operations                     

Interest expense and amortization of debt
discount and issuance costs on all
indebtedness   7,693   10,677   13,339   11,427   — 

Interest included in rent   3,578   3,722   7,579   6,679   5,507 
                

Total fixed charges from continuing operations   11,271   14,399   20,918   18,106   5,507 
                

Earnings (loss) before taxes and fixed charges  $66,469  $ (5,225)  $(113,779)  $129,484  $701,376 
                

Ratio of earnings to fixed charges (1)   5.9x  —   —   7.2x  127.4x
Coverage deficiency (2)  $ —  $ 19,624  $ 134,697  $ —  $ — 
                

 

(1)  The ratio of earnings to fixed charges was computed by dividing earnings (loss) from continuing operations before taxes by fixed
charges from continuing operations for the periods indicated. Fixed charges from continuing operations include (i) interest
expense and amortization of debt discount and issuance costs on all indebtedness, and (ii) one-third of all rental expense, which
the Company considers to be a reasonable approximation of the interest factor included in rental expense.

 

(2)  Earnings were inadequate to cover fixed charges. For the years ended October 30, 2004 and October 25, 2003, the Company
needed additional earnings of $19.6 million and $134.7 million, respectively, to achieve a ratio of earnings to fixed charges of
1.0x.
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EXHIBIT 21.1

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS SKYPORT LLC (Delaware)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS INTERNATIONAL FSC

CHINA WFOE

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS HK LTD.
     (HONG KONG)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS K.K.
     (JAPAN)

BROCADE KOREA LTD.
     (KOREA)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SINGAPORE PTE. LTD.
     (SINGAPORE)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS TAIWAN LTD.
     (TAIWAN)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS LUXEMBOURG SARL (LUXEMBOURG)

     BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SWITZERLAND SARL (Switzerland)

          BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SERVICES SWITZERLAND SARL (Switzerland)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS PROPRIETARY LTD.

(AUSTRALIA)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS AUSTRIA GMBH

(AUSTRIA)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS BELGIUM S.P.R.L

(BELGIUM)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS CANADA CORP.

(CANADA)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS DENMARK APS

(DENMARK)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS FRANCE SAS

(FRANCE)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS GMBH

(GERMANY)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS PRIVATE LIMITED

(INDIA)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS ITALY SRL

(ITALY)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS NETHERLANDS B.V.

(THE NETHERLANDS)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SPAIN, S.L.
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(SPAIN)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS UK LTD.

(UNITED KINGDOM)

BROCADE COMMUNICATIONS SYSTEMS (SHENZHEN) CO. LTD.
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Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements on Forms S-8 (Nos. 333-129909, 333-129908, 333-117897,
333-103571, 333-100797, 333-72480, 333-64260, 333-53734, 333-39126, 333-95653, and 333-85187) and on Form S-3
(No. 333-84698) of Brocade Communication Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries (“the Company”) of our report dated January 16, 2006,
with respect to the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of October 29, 2005 and October 30, 2004, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity and comprehensive income (loss), and cash flows for each of the years in
the three-year period ended October 29, 2005, and related financial statement schedule, management’s assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting as of October 29, 2005, and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting as
of October, 29, 2005, which reports appear in the October 29, 2005 annual report on Form 10-K of Brocade Communications
Systems, Inc. and subsidiaries.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Mountain View, California
January 16, 2006
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, Michael Klayko, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 of Brocade Communications Systems,
Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

     d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

     a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: January 18, 2006
   
 
  /s/ Michael Klayko
  

 

Michael Klayko
  Chief Executive Officer
  (Principal Executive Officer)
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EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Richard Deranleau, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005 of Brocade Communications Systems,
Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with
respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in
this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

     a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

     b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

     c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such
evaluation; and

     d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected,
or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over
financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):

     a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

     b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: January 18, 2006
   
 
  /s/ Richard Deranleau
  

 

Richard Deranleau
  Interim Chief Financial Officer
  (Principal Accounting Officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER PURSUANT TO

18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Michael Klayko, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that the Annual Report of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained
in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
     
   
 By:  /s/ Michael Klayko   
  Michael Klayko  
  Chief Executive Officer  
 

I, Richard Deranleau, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that the Annual Report of Brocade Communications Systems, Inc. on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended October 29, 2005
fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that information contained
in such Annual Report on Form 10-K fairly presents in all material respects the financial condition and results of operations of
Brocade Communications Systems, Inc.
     
   
 By:  /s/ Richard Deranleau  
  Richard Deranleau  

  Interim Chief Financial Officer,
VP, Controller and Treasurer  

 
 

_______________________________________________
Created by 10KWizard     www.10KWizard.com
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